
July 27, 2023 

Board Agenda - 1 -

I hereby certify that the following agenda 
was posted at least 72 hours prior to 
the time of the meeting so noticed 
below at 24251 Los Alisos Boulevard, 
Lake Forest, California. 

DENNIS P. CAFFERTY, 
Secretary of the El Toro Water 
District and the Board of Directors 
thereof 

AGENDA 

EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AND 

PUBLIC HEARING 

July 27, 2023 

7:00 p.m. 

BOARDROOM, DISTRICT OFFICE
24251 LOS ALISOS BLVD., LAKE FOREST, CA 92630 

This meeting will be held in person. As a convenience for the public, the meeting may 
also be accessed by Zoom and will be available by either computer or telephone audio 
as indicated below. Because this is an in-person meeting and the virtual component is 
not required, but rather is being offered as a convenience, if there are any technical 
issues during the meeting, this meeting will continue and will not be suspended. 

Members of the public who wish to comment on any item within the jurisdiction of the 
District or on any item on the agenda, may attend the meeting in person at the District’s 
office or may observe and address the Meeting by joining at this link:  
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87056637760  (Meeting ID: 870 5663 7760). 

Members of the public who wish only to listen to the telephonic meeting may dial in at 
the following numbers (669) 900-6833 or (346) 248-7799 with the same Meeting ID 
noted above. Please be advised the Meeting is being recorded. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87056637760


July 27, 2023 

Board Agenda - 2 - 
 

 
 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER – President Havens  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – Director Gaskins 
 
ROLL CALL (Determination of a Quorum) 
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS/PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Members of the public may address the Board at this time or they may reserve this 
opportunity with regard to an item on the agenda, until said item is discussed by the 
Board. Comments on other items will be heard at the time set aside for “COMMENTS 
REGARDING NON-AGENDA ITEMS.” The public may identify themselves when called 
on and limit their comments to three minutes. 

 

ITEMS RECEIVED TOO LATE TO BE AGENDIZED 
 
Determine need and take action to agendize items which arose subsequent to the 
posting of the Agenda. (ROLL CALL VOTE: Adoption of this recommendation requires a 
two-thirds vote of the Board members present, or, if less than two-thirds of the Board 
members are present, a unanimous vote of those members present.) 
 
 
1. Consider Board Member’s Request for Remote Participation (AB 2449) 
 
2. Consent Calendar 

 
(All matters under the Consent Calendar will be approved by one motion unless a 
Board member or a member of the public requests separate action or discussion 
on a specific item) 

 
a. Consider approving the minutes of the June 22, 2023 Board meeting 

 
b. Consider approving the Directors to attend the CASA Annual Conference on 

August 9-11, 2023 in San Diego, CA 
 

c. Consider approving the Directors to attend the CSDA Annual Conference on 
August 28-31 in Monterey, CA 
 

Recommended Action:   The Board will consider approving the above Consent 
Calendar. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



July 27, 2023 

Board Agenda - 3 - 
 

 
 
3. Increases to Certain Water, Sewer and Recycled Water Service Rates and 

Charges (Reference Material Included) 
 
Prior to opening the public hearing, Staff will review and comment on proposed 
amendments to Schedules No. 1-W, 1-S, 2-S, 3-S, and 4-W of the District’s 
Rules and Regulations as it relates to proposed increases to certain water, sewer 
and recycled water service rates and charges.  The proposed increases have 
been incorporated in the District’s approved 2023/24 Operating Budget. 
 
Following today’s public hearing, the Board of Directors will be requested to 
consider taking action to adopt Resolution No. 23-7-2 approving amendments to 
Schedules No. 1-W, 1-S, 2-S, 3-S, and 4-W of the District’s Rules and 
Regulations as it relates to increases to certain water, sewer and recycled water 
service rates and charges. 

 
 
OPEN PUBLIC HEARING 
 
4. Public Hearing Regarding Adoption of Proposed Increases to Certain 

Water, Sewer and Recycled Water Service Rates and Charges  
 

At this time the Board of Directors will conduct a public hearing to receive and 
consider public comments and protests regarding proposed increases to certain 
water, sewer and recycled water service rates and charges. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The Public will be invited to comment on the proposed increase to the District’s 
rates and charges. 

 
CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING 
 
 The Board President will close the Public Hearing at this time. 
 
 
REGULAR SESSION 
 
5. Resolution No. 23-7-2 Adopting Amendments to the District’s Rules and 

Regulations (Reference Material Included) 
 

Staff will review and comment on Resolution 23-7-2 which amends Schedules    
1-W, 1-S, 2-S, 3-S, and 4-W of the District’s Rules and Regulations thereby 
increasing certain water, sewer and recycled water service rates and charges, 
effective August 1, 2023. 
 
 
 
 



July 27, 2023 

Board Agenda - 4 - 
 

 
Recommended Action:  The Board of Directors will consider adopting 
Resolution No. 23-7-2 which Resolution 1) provides for an increase to certain 
water, sewer and recycled water service rates and charges, effective August 1, 
2023, and 2) makes findings and a determination that the action taken in this 
Resolution is exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental 
Water Quality Act. 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 23-7-2 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO THE DISTRICT’S  
RULES AND REGULATIONS WHICH AMENDMENT 

1) PROVIDES FOR AN INCREASE TO 
CERTAIN OF THE DISTRICT’S WATER, SEWER 

& RECYCLED WATER SERVICE RATES AND CHARGES 
AND 

2) MAKES FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS 
THAT THE ACTION TAKEN IN THIS RESOLUTION IS EXEMPT  

FROM THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE CALIFORNIA 
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA) 

 
 

6. Director Reports for Meetings Attended (Oral Report) 
 

 
GENERAL MANAGER INFORMATION ITEMS 

 

7. ACWA 2023 Board Officers Election (Reference Material Included) 
 

Staff will provide an update on the status and process for the ACWA President 
and Vice President election for the 2024-’25 term as well as the election of the 
Region 10 Board. 

 
8. Orange County Grand Jury Report “Historic Rain, Yet Drought Remains” 

(Reference Material Included) 
 
Staff will lead a discussion regarding the Orange County Grand Jury Report titled 
Historic Rain, Yet Drought Remains. 
 

9. General Manager’s Monthly Report (Reference Material Included) 
 

Staff will review and comment on the General Manager’s Monthly Report. 
 
10. Legislative Reports (Reference Material Included) 

Staff and General Counsel will review and comment on the Legislative reports. 
 
 



July 27, 2023 

Board Agenda - 5 - 
 

 

11. Public Education and Outreach Report (Reference Material Included) 

 Staff will review and comment on the Public Education and Outreach report. 
 

12. Water Use Efficiency Report (Reference Material Included) 

Staff will review and comment on the Water Use Efficiency Report. 
 

13. SOCWA Report (Reference Material Included) 

a. SOCWA Board Meeting – July 6, 2023 

b. SOCWA Facilitated Discussion Meeting – July 27, 2023 
 

14. Municipal Water District of Orange County (MWDOC) Report 
(Reference Material Included) 

a. MWDOC Planning/Operations Meeting – July 3, 2023 

b. MWDOC/MET Directors Workshop – July 5, 2023 

c. MWDOC Admin/Finance Meeting – July 12, 2023 

d. MWDOC Board Meeting – July 19, 2023 

e. MWDOC Managers Meeting – July 20, 2023 

f. MWDOC/OCWD Joint Planning Committee Meeting – July 26, 2023 
 

15. Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) Report 
(Reference Material Included) 

a. The Pulse – OC LAFCO 

b. Southwest Region Municipal Service Review – Administrative Review Draft 
 
16. South Orange County Agencies Group Meeting (Reference Material Included) 

a. Report on the July 26, 2023 South Orange County Agencies Group Meeting 
 

17. ISDOC Meetings Report (Reference Material Included) 

a. Report on the July 11, 2023 ISDOC Executive Committee meeting 
 
18. WACO Meetings Report (Reference Material Included) 

a. Report on the July 7, 2023 WACO meeting 

b. Report on the July 18, 2023 WACO Planning meeting 
 
COMMITTEE AND GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
19. Dates to Remember for July/August 2023  (Reference Material Included) 

 
 
COMMENTS REGARDING NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
 



July 27, 2023 

Board Agenda - 6 - 
 

 

 

ATTORNEY REPORT 

CLOSED SESSION 
 
At this time the Board will go into Closed Session as follows: 

 
1. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9 (d) (2) to consult with 

legal counsel and staff – Potential Litigation (two matters). 
 

2. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(a) to consult with legal 
counsel and staff.  Plaintiff, Marlene Jean v. Defendants, Dollar Tree 
Stores, et al./Cross-Complainant, Park Aliso Commercial Center, Ltd, et 
al. v. Cross-Defendant, El Toro Water District, et al., Superior Court of Los 
Angeles Case No. 19STCV25234. [Government Code Section 
54956.9(a)] – Pending Litigation (one matter). 

 
 
REGULAR SESSION 
 
 
REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION (Legal Counsel) 

 
Mr. Granito will provide an oral report on the Closed Session. 

 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
The agenda material for this meeting is available to the public at the District's Administrative Office, which is located 

at 24251 Los Alisos Blvd., Lake Forest, Ca. 92630. If any additional material related to an open session agenda item 

is distributed to all or a majority of the board of directors after this agenda is posted, such material will be made 
available for immediate public inspection at the same location. 

 
Request for Disability-Related Modifications or Accommodations 

 
If you require any disability-related accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in this 
public meeting, please telephone the District's Recording Secretary, Polly Welsch at (949) 837-7050, extension 225 
at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to said meeting. If you prefer, your request may be submitted in writing to El Toro 
Water District, P.O. Box 4000, Laguna Hills, California 92654, Attention: Polly Welsch. 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 1 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 

OF THE 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE 

EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 

June 22, 2023 

 

President Havens called the meeting of the Board of Directors of the ELTORO 

WATER DISTRICT to order at 7:30 a.m.  

 Director Freshley led in the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag. 

Directors KAY HAVENS, MIKE GASKINS, MARK MONIN, KATHRYN 

FRESHLEY, and JOSE VERGARA participated. 

Also present were DENNIS P. CAFFERTY, General Manager, SCOTT 

HOPKINS, Operations Superintendent, JUDY CIMORELL, Human Resources Manager, 

HANNAH FORD, Engineering Manager, VISHAV SHARMA, CFO, SHERRI SEITZ, 

Public Affairs Manager, VU CHU, Water Use Efficiency Analyst, MIKE MIAZGA, IT 

Manager, GILBERT J. GRANITO, General Counsel, GOLNAR FOZI, Special Counsel 

(8:40 a.m.), CAROL MOORE, Laguna Woods City Council member (Zoom), and POLLY 

WELSCH, Recording Secretary. 

Determination of a Quorum 

 Roll Call: 

 Director Monin  aye 
 Director Gaskins  aye 
 Director Freshley  aye 
 Vice President Vergara aye  
 President Havens  aye 
 

 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 2 

 All five Board members are present for the meeting, therefore a quorum was  

determined. 

 

Oral Communications/Public Comments 

 There were no comments. 

Items Received Too Late to be Agendized 

President Havens asked if there were any items received too late to be 

agendized.  Mr. Cafferty replied no. 

Presentation of Awards, Recognitions, Certifications, and Introductions 

 Mr. Cafferty recognized and congratulated Mike Miazga, IT Manager for 20 years 

of service with the District. 

 At approximately 7:41 a.m. Mr. Miazga left the meeting. 

Consent Calendar 

 President Havens asked for a Motion. 

 Motion:  Director Gaskins made a Motion, seconded by Director Freshley and 

carried across the Board to approve the Consent Calendar. 

Roll Call Vote: 

 Director Monin  aye 
 Director Gaskins  aye 
 Director Freshley  aye 
 Vice President Vergara aye 
 President Havens  aye 
 
Director Reports for Meetings Attended 

 Director Freshley stated that she attended the MWDOC Planning/Operations 

meeting, the MWDOC/MET Directors workshop, the MWDOC Board meeting, the 

MWDOC Water Policy Forum dinner, the SOCWA Board meetings, the SOCWA 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 3 

Finance Committee meeting, LAFCO, the Laguna Woods City Council meetings, 

WACO, the ACWA Region 10 meeting, the Mission Viejo Chamber breakfast, the South 

Orange County Watershed meeting, and the District’s regular Board meetings. 

 Vice President Vergara stated that he attended the MWDOC/MET Directors 

workshop, the MWDOC Board meeting, the MWDOC Planning/Operations meeting, the 

MWDOC Admin/Finance meeting, the WateReuse meeting, the Mission Viejo Chamber 

breakfast, the Lake Forest City Council meeting, the ACWA Region 10 meeting, and the 

District’s regular Board meetings. 

 Director Gaskins stated that he attended the WACO meeting, the ISDOC 

Executive Committee meeting, the LAFCO meeting, MWDOC Admin/Finance meeting, 

the ISDOC Quarterly meeting, the MWDOC Board meeting, the MWDOC Water Policy 

Forum dinner, the ACWA Region 10 meeting, and the District’s regular Board meetings. 

 Director Monin stated that he attended the MWDOC/MET Directors workshop, 

the MWDOC Admin/Finance, the MWDOC Planning/Operations meeting, the MWDOC 

Board meeting, WACO, the WACO Planning Committee meeting, the ACWA Region 10 

meeting, the MWDOC Water Policy Forum dinner, the ISDOC Executive Committee 

meeting, the ISDOC Quarterly meeting, OCCOG, the South OC Economic Coalition 

meeting, and the District’s regular Board meetings. 

 President Havens stated that she attended the WACO meeting, the MWDOC 

Planning/Operations meeting, the MWDOC/MET Directors workshop, the South OC 

Watershed Management meeting, the Pres/VP/GM meetings, the Agenda Review, the 

MWDOC Admin/Finance meeting, the MWDOC Water Forum dinner, the ACWA Region 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 4 

10 meeting, an Executive meeting with MNWD, and the District’s regular Board 

meetings. 

General Manager Action Items 

CSDA Board of Directors – Southern Network – Seat C Election 

 Mr. Cafferty stated that the District received information from 3 candidates for 

the Seat C election.  He further stated that the 3 candidates are Arlene Schafer 

(incumbent) from Costa Mesa Sanitary District, Al Nederhood from MWDOC, and 

John Skerbelis from Rubidoux Community Services District. 

 Vice President Vergara proposed voting for Al Nederhood because he feels 

that although Arlene Schafer has done a great job, after 30 years we should give the 

opportunity to another person. 

 Director Monin stated that Arlene Schafer has done a good job on CSDA. 

 Director Freshley and Director Gaskins stated that they agree with Vice 

President Vergara’s suggestion to support Al Nederhood.  President Havens agreed. 

 President Havens asked for a Motion. 

 Motion:  Vice President Vergara made a Motion, seconded by Director Gaskins, 

to direct the General Manager to cast the District’s ballot vote for the California Special 

Districts Association (CSDA) Board of Directors, Southern Network, Seat C for Al 

Nederhood, by the July 14, 2023 deadline. 

 Roll Call Vote: 

 Director Monin  abstain 
 Director Gaskins  aye 
 Director Freshley  aye 
 Vice President Vergara aye  
 President Havens  aye 
 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 5 

 Motion passes 4-0 with 1 abstention. 
 
Resolution No. 23-6-1 Regular Board Meetings Schedule 

 President Havens asked for a Motion. 

 Motion:  Director Monin made a Motion, seconded by Director Freshley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 23-6-1 which amends the meeting time for the July 27, 2023 

Regular Board meeting from 7:30 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. 

 Roll Call Vote: 

 Director Monin  aye 
 Director Gaskins  aye 
 Director Freshley  aye 
 Vice President Vergara aye  
 President Havens  aye 
 

General Manager Information Items 

General Manager’s Monthly Report 

 Mr. Cafferty stated that some time ago the General Manager of Santa Ana 

Watershed Project Authority (SAWPA) presented their Cloud Seeding Program to the 

Board.  He further stated that staff has been discussing with SAWPA the possibility of 

putting in a pilot facility at the R-6 Reservoir site, which we plan to bring to the Board 

for approval next month. 

 Director Monin stated that on the Customer Service Activity report, the numbers 

have come down and are looking better. 

 Mr. Cafferty stated that the OC Grand Jury report will be agendized for 

discussion in July or August.  He further stated that the District is requested but not 

required to reply. 

 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 6 

 Director Monin stated that a new OC Jury comes in in July.  Mr. Cafferty replied 

that the District would need to decide the pluses and minuses in responding and then 

decide whether or not to respond. 

 Director Freshley asked what happened with the Battery report changes.  Mr. 

Cafferty replied that he will investigate. 

Legislative Reports 

 Mr. Cafferty stated that there has been a significant revision to AB 1572 

regarding non-functional turf that MET has been working with the author of the bill. He 

further stated that the Bill author has consented to removing the reference to multi-

family residential in turf that as previously written in the bill would prohibit use of the 

irrigation of that turf water as non-functional turf.  He further stated that with the 

removal of this reference, MET is in support of the bill. 

Public Education and Outreach Report 

 Ms. Seitz stated that ETWD won first place in the Bronze Anvil Awards in the 

newspaper category for our re-branding and outreach to help customers reduce their 

water use.  

 Ms. Seitz stated that the newsletter is going out next week in the ETWD bills, 

to the HOA’s, Laguna Woods E-blast, and the Laguna Woods Globe. 

 Ms. Seitz stated that the Annual Water Quality report was mailed on June 13th 

and June 16th. 

 Director Monin stated that he is interested in presenting on the TV-6 program 

again.  Mr. Seitz will speak to the staff at TV-6 about the possibility of resuming ETWD 

participation on TV-6. 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 7 

 Ms. Seitz stated that MET offers landscape workshops and we will consider 

hosting some of the workshops and staff will hold leak detection workshops. 

Water Use Efficiency Report 

 Mr. Chu stated that customer usage is picking up slightly, however usage was 

notably lower than the previous year.  He further stated that MWDOC’s leak detection 

team was able to complete 45-miles of leak detection in the Laguna Woods Village 

area for ETWD at no cost, and did not find many leaks, and the leaks they did find 

were on the customer’s side. 

 President Havens stated that on page 111 and 112, could the color of the 

Recycled Water be changed to stand out more.  Mr. Chu replied that he will change 

the color to be more robust and purple. 

Recess 

 At approximately 8:52 a.m. the Board took a short recess. Also at this time, 

everyone left the meeting except the Board members, the General Manager, General 

Counsel, Ms. Cimorell, and Special Counsel, Golnar Fozi. 

Closed Session 

 At approximately 9:02 a.m. the Board went into Closed Session with regards to 

both items on the Closed Session agenda.   

Regular Session/Open Session Report 

 At approximately 9:40 a.m. the Regular Session resumed.  Also at this time Ms. 

Ford, Mr. Sharma, and Ms. Welsch returned to the Open Session. 

 Mr. Granito (General Counsel) reported that during the first phase of the Closed 

Session, the District’s Special Counsel, Golnar Fozi and General Manager led a 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 8 

discussion with regard to one matter of potential litigation.  (Noted in Item #1 of today’s 

Closed Session Agenda) No reportable action was taken. 

 During the second phase of the Closed Session, Mr. Granito reported on one 

additional matter of potential litigation.  (Noted in Item #1 of today’s Closed Session 

Agenda).  No reportable action was taken.   

In addition, Mr. Granito reported on the status of the pending litigation (Noted in 

Item #2 of today’s Closed Session Agenda). No reportable action was taken. 

SOCWA Reports 

 Director Freshley stated that at the SOCWA Board meeting they made the 

selection of the Board Chair and Vice Chair.  She further stated that Matt Collings was 

re-elected as Board Chair, and Frank Ury and Scott Goldman as co-Vice Chairs. 

 Mr. Cafferty stated that the SOCWA Board approved the General Fund budget 

for only the first quarter based on the project committee participation methodology that 

has been used for the last few years.   

 Mr. Cafferty stated that he has been attending a series of staff meetings 

between MNWD, SMWD and SCWD. Mr. Cafferty recommended the District support 

the MNWD proposal to operate the Regional Treatment Plant. The Board discussed 

and generally concurred with the MNWD proposal. 

 At approximately 10:15 a.m. Ms. Ford left the meeting. 

MWDOC Reports 

 Vice President Vergara stated that Ms. Akerman’s contract was renewed. 

 

 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 9 

SOCWMA 

 President Havens stated that they discussed the Orange County Storm Water 

program, the budget where we are anticipating $9,000 returned, as the budget was 

reduced 19%.  She further stated that they had a presentation by the Orange County 

Conservation Corps Green Workforce Development and Services. 

LAFCO  

 Director Freshley stated that they discussed MWDOC’s request to be involved 

in the OCWD MSR.  She further stated that the  Fiscal Indicators Report will be 

presented at the CALAFCO meeting. 

ISDOC 

 Director Monin stated that they are working on website maintenance and links 

to access the ISDOC meetings.  He further stated that they discussed scholarships 

for smaller Districts. 

WACO 

 Director Monin stated that there was a presentation on the role of beavers in 

California’s Watersheds. 

COMMITTEE AND GENERAL INFORMATION 

Dates to Remember for June/July 2023 

 There were no comments. 

Comments Regarding Non-Agenda Items 

 There were no comments.  

 

 



June 22, 2023 

Board Mtg 10 

Adjournment 

 There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was 

adjourned at 10:20 a.m. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
   

POLLY WELSCH 
 Recording Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
 ____ 
KAY HAVENS, President of  
the El Toro Water District and the 
Board of Directors thereof 
 
 
 
 
 _ 
DENNIS P. CAFFERTY, Secretary  
of the El Toro Water District and 
the Board of Directors thereof  









































 

Agenda Item No. 3 
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors Meeting Date:  July 27, 2023 

From: Dennis Cafferty, General Manager 

Subject: Increases to Certain Water, Sewer and Recycled Water Service Rates 
and Charges 

 
At the July, 2023 Board meeting, the Board will consider increases to the District’s Water, 
Sewer and Recycled Water service rates and charges. The implementation of these rate 
increases will be accomplished through the modification of several Schedules within the 
District’s Rules and Regulations. 
 
Changes are proposed to the following service rates and charges: 
 

• Potable Water Tiered Water Usage Rate 

• Water Operations & Maintenance Charge 

• Sewer Operations & Maintenance Charge 

• Recycled Water Operations & Maintenance Charge 

• Private Fire Operations & Maintenance Charge 

• Potable Water Capital Replacement & Refurbishment Charge 

• Sewer Capital Replacement & Refurbishment Charge 

• Recycled Water Capital Replacement & Refurbishment Charge 
 

Redline versions of the following Schedules are attached describing the proposed changes 
in the rates. 
 

• Schedule 1-W General Metered Potable Water Service 

• Schedule 1-S General Sewer Service 

• Schedule 2-S 
Commercial, Industrial, Public Authority and Homeowner 
Association Recreational Facility Sewer Service 

• Schedule 3-S Recycled Water Sales and Service 

• Schedule 4-W Private Fire Protection Service 

 
The 2023-24 Proposition 218 Notice is also attached for reference. 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 1 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 

Approved by Resolution 23-7-2                                                                   Effective 08/01/23 
Approved by Resolution 22-7-2                                                                   Effective 08/01/22 
Approved by Resolution 21-6-1                                                                   Effective 07/01/21 
Approved by Resolution 20-9-1                                                                    Effective 10/01/20 
Approved by Resolution 20-1-2                                                                    Effective 01/21/20 
Approved by Resolution 19-6-1                                                                   Effective 07/01/19 
Approved by Resolution 18-6-1                                                                    Effective 07/01/18 
Approved by Resolution 17-6-1                                                                   Effective: 07/01/17 
Approved by Resolution 16-6-2                                                                    Effective: 07/01/16 
Approved by Resolution 15-7-1                                                                    Effective: 08/01/15 

 
Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 2223-7-2 

 

 

GENERAL METERED POTABLE WATER SERVICE 
 

Water Usage Charge: Applicable to all residential and potable irrigation metered 
water service. 

 
Water use is charged on a Water-Budget Based Tiered Conservation Rate Structure.  
Water Budgets for each residential and potable irrigation customer includes an Indoor 
Budget and an Outdoor Budget. 
 
Budgets are based on the following: 
 
Indoor Budget:  
55 gallon / person / day * number of occupancies occupants * number of days in the 
billing                   cycle / 748 gallon per billing units plus approved variances.   
 
Occupancy is assumed to be four residents for single family detached, three residents 
for attached unrestricted and two residents for attached and detached restricted 
residential communities.  Occupancy adjustments will be made where warranted. 
 
The calculation of the Indoor budget is subject to a Drought Factor as determined by the 
Board.  The current Drought Factor is 1.0. 
 
Outdoor Budget:  
Landscape area * weather factor * efficiency factor / 1200 per billing unit plus approved 
variances. 
 
The calculation of the Outdoor budget is subject to a Drought Factor as determined by 
the Board.  The current Drought Factor is 1.0. 

 
The Indoor water budget, as determined above, will be billed at Tier I (“Indoor – 
Efficient”) rates.  The Outdoor water budget, as determined above, will be billed at Tier 
II (“Outdoor – Efficient”) rates. Water use in excess of the Tier I and II water budget 
would be deemed inefficient and/or excessive.  Tier III (“Inefficient”) water use would be 
usage between 100% and 130% of the total Tier I and II water budget and Tier IV 
(“Excessive”) usage would be consumption over Tier III. 
  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 2 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 
Effective August 1, 2022 2023 Potable Water Usage Rates will be: 
     

Tier I – Indoor – Efficient $2.82/CCF$3.00/CCF 
Tier II – Outdoor – Efficient $3.18/CCF$3.37/CCF 
Tier III – Inefficient $6.50/CCF$6.70/CCF 
Tier IV – Excessive $8.35/CCF$8.67/CCF 

 
Water Budget - Variance/Adjustment Process 
 
Adjustments – Individual water budgets are primarily based on permanent residency 
(occupancy) and landscape irrigation area in square feet. 
 

Occupancy - In general, residency is assumed to be as follows 
 

1) Single Family – 4 permanent residenceresidents 

2) Multi-family, unrestricted (including condo, trailer parks and townhomes) 
           - 3 permanent residentsresidence 
3) Multi-family, restricted (restricted due to age limitations)  

– 2 permanent residentsresidence, and 

4) Multi-family, apartments – 2 permanent residentsresidence 

Customers who believe their permanent occupancy differs from the above may 
request an adjustment to their occupancy factor.  All adjustment requests must 
be in writing on forms provided by the District and signed by the customer 
(Account Holder.)  The General Manager may require supporting documentation 
to support a claim for additional permanent occupants. 

 
Requests for additional permanent occupants will be granted based on criteria 

established by the General Manager. 
 

Landscape Irrigation Area – Each customer’s landscape irrigation area was 
established based on the county of Orange Assessor’s parcel data, on-line parcel 
information, customer representations and/or independent measurements.  
 
Customers who believe their landscape irrigation area is incorrect may request 
an adjustment.  All adjustment requests must be in writing on forms provided by 
the District and signed by the customer (Account Holder.) The General Manager 
may require supporting documentation to support a claim for additional 
landscape irrigation area. 
 
Requests for adjustments to landscape irrigation area will be granted based on 
criteria established by the General Manager. 

  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 3 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 
Variances – Water budgets have been developed using industry standards to provide 
all customers with the appropriate amount of water given then current hydrological 
conditions.  If, for any reason a customer believes that their water budget is inadequate 
due to extenuating circumstances they may request a temporary or permanent variance 
for additional water.  All variance requests must be in writing on forms provided by the 
District and signed by the customer (Account Holder.)  The General Manager may 
require supporting documentation to support a claim for an increase in the water 
budget. 
 
Requests for temporary or permanent variances will be granted based on criteria 
established by the General Manager. 
 
General - All requests for variance/adjustments must be in writing and signed by the 
customer (account holder).   The District reserves the right to request additional 
documentation in support of the request.  Approved variances/adjustments will become 
effective at the beginning of the billing period after approval, and will remain active for a 
period of 24 months, at which time the customer will be required to re-confirm the 
circumstances surrounding the original request. 
 
The General Manager must act upon any completed application no later than ten (10) 
days after submittal and may approve, conditionally approve, or deny the request for 
variance/adjustment.  The customer requesting the variance/adjustment must be 
promptly notified in writing of any action taken.  The decision of the General Manager 
will be final. 
 
Potable Water Usage Charge: Applicable to all commercial, institutional and 
industrial (CII) metered water service. 

 
Effective August 1, 20222023, the uniform CII Potable Water Usage Rate will be 
$3.31/CCF$3.49/CCF. 

 
 

Water Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Charge   
 
Effective July August 1, 20212023, the Water O&M Charges are as follows: 

 
 Per Meter 
 Per Month 
 

For 5/8 inch meter $17.46$18.07 

For 3/4 inch meter $23.62$24.72 

For 1 inch meter $35.93$38.02 

For 1 ½ inch meter $66.70$71.27 

For 2 inch meter $128.25$137.76 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 4 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 

10 inch meter $1,360.00 

 

Capital Replacement and Refurbishment (R&R) Charge – Water  

 
Effective July August 1, 20182023, the Capital R&R Charges - Water are as follows: 

 
 Per Meter 
 Per Month 
 

For 5/8 x 3/4 inch meter $5.09$5.56  

For 3/4 inch meter $5.09$8.33 

For 1 inch meter $8.50$13.88 

For 1 ½ inch meter $20.65$27.76 

For 2 inch meter $51.84$55.52 

10 inch meter $640.00 

 

The Water O&M Charge and the Capital R&R Charge are applicable to all active 
general metered water service, which is added to the charge for water used during the 
month computed at the Water Usage Charge. 
 

 

  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 5 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 
 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS: 
 
1. LIFE LINE RATE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM: 

 
Customers providing the District with satisfactory evidence of having a household 
income of $15,000 or less per calendar year may qualify for the Life Line Rate 
Assistance program.  The Life Line Rate Assistance Program provides a waiver for 
the Water O&M Charge for qualified customers.  In order to qualify, a customer 
must submit an application and Statement of Eligibility (Form 3/98 attached). 
 
An approved application is valid for three years from the date of acceptance and is 
not automatically transferred or renewed.   

 
The waiver will apply only to the customer's primary residence. 

 
Proof of eligibility may be required. 

 
2. NON-REGISTERING METERS: 
 

The District may bill the customer for water consumed while the meter was non-
registering.  Billing will be based upon an estimate of the consumption according to 
the customer's prior use during the same season of the year, or upon an estimate 
based upon a reasonable comparison with the use of other customers during the 
same period receiving the same class of service under similar circumstances and 
conditions.  Billing estimation will not exceed two consecutive billings. 

 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 1 of 2 

Schedule No. 1-S 
 

Approved by Resolution No. 23-7-2                                                                       Effective: 08/01/23 

Approved by Resolution No. 22-7-2                                                                       Effective: 08/01/22 

Approved by Resolution No. 21-6-1                                                                       Effective: 07/01/21 

Approved by Resolution No. 18-6-1                                                                       Effective: 07/01/18 

Approved by Resolution No. 17-6-1 Effective: 07/01/17 

Approved by Resolution No. 16-6-2                                                                      Effective: 07/01/16 

Approved by Resolution No. 15-7-1                                                                       Effective: 08/01/15 

Approved by Resolution No. 14-6-2                                                                       Effective: 07/01/14 

Approved by Resolution No. 13-6-2                                                                      Effective: 07/01/13 

Approved by Resolution No. 12-6-3                                                                       Effective: 07/01/12 

Approved by Resolution No. 11-6-3                                                                      Effective: 07/01/11 
 

Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 2223-7-2 

 

 

GENERAL SEWER SERVICE 
 

 
Applicability 
 
Applicable to General Sewer Service. 
 
 
Sewer Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Charge/Rates 

 
Effective August 1, 20222023, the sewer O&M Rates are as follows: 

 
   

User Category User Rate Billing Unit 
 

Single Family Residential  $34.67$37.98 $/Month 

Multi-Family Restricted  $16.47$18.05 $/Month 

Multi-Family Unrestricted  $25.34$27.76 $/Month 

 

Low Strength Commercial $4.10$4.45 $/CCF    

Medium Strength Commercial $5.07$5.54 $/CCF    

High Strength Commercial $9.49$10.58 $/CCF    

Restaurants $5.07$5.65 $/CCF    

  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 2 of 2 

Schedule No. 1-S 
 

 

 

Capital Replacement and Refurbishment (R&R) Charge – Sewer: 

 

Effective August 1, 20222023, the Capital R&R - Sewer Charges are as follows: 
 

User Category User Rate Billing Unit 
 

Single Family Residential $7.09$8.87 $/Month 

Multi-Family Restricted $3.37$4.21 $/Month 

Multi-Family Unrestricted $5.18$6.48 $/Month 

 

Commercial:   

  Low Strength Commercial $0.84$1.04 $/CCF    

  Medium Strength Commercial $1.04$1.29 $/CCF    

  High Strength Commercial $1.93$2.47 $/CCF    

  Restaurants $1.05$1.32 $/CCF    

  Public Authority $1.04 $/CCF 

 

 

Associations, Apartments, Condominiums, and other Multiple Residences 

 

When more than one residential dwelling unit is connected to the system by single 
service connections (meter), the rates per residential dwelling unit, as set forth above, 
shall be due and payable for each and every living or dwelling unit connected to the 
system. 

 
Restricted Multi-Family Residences are residences within developments, which shall, 
pursuant to recorded restrictions or leases, be occupied only by adults. 

 
Unrestricted Multi-Family Residences are all residences other than Restricted Family 
Residences. 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 1 of 4 

Schedule No. 2-S 
 

Approved by Resolution No. 23-7-2                                                                              Effective 08/01/23 
Approved bySupersedes Resolution No. 22-7-2                                                                              Effective 
08/01/22 
Supersedes Resolution No. 09-6-2                                                                               
Supersedes Resolution No. 05-6-2  
Supersedes Resolution No. 03-09-1 
Supersedes Resolution No. 99-02-4 
Supersedes Resolution No. 98-11-1 
Supersedes Resolution No. 98-06-2 
Supersedes Resolution No. 96-06-3 
Supersedes Resolution No. 94-06-2 
Supersedes Resolution No. 93-06-2 

 
 

Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 2223-7-2 

 

 
 

COMMERCIAL, INDUSTRIAL, PUBLIC AUTHORITY AND HOME-
OWNER ASSOCIATION RECREATIONAL FACILITY SEWER SERVICE 

 
 
Applicability 
 
This Rate shall apply to Commercial, Industrial and Public Authority sewer service 
inclusive of Recreational Facilities owned by Homeowners' Associations requiring 
sanitary sewer services (hereinafter referred to as “Customer(s)”.  

 

Capital Replacement and Refurbishment (R&R) Charge 
 

The Capital R&R Charge is billed based on a flow charge which is determined by a 
combination of the quantity of domestic water delivered to the customer combined with 
the classification of the customer’s sewage discharge into Low, Medium, High and 
Restaurant categories. 

 
Sewer Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Charges 
 
(a) The O&M charge to commercial, industrial, public authority and Homeowner 

Association Recreational facility customers shall be based on the amount of 
sewage discharged into the system, the Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD), 
and the total Suspended Solids (TSS). 
 

(b) A minimum O&M charge shall be the amount equal to the minimum flat rate O&M 
charge for a single family residential customer as set forth in Schedule No. 1-S.   
 

(c) The amount of sewage discharged shall be defined and determined in 
accordance with one of the following methods: 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 2 of 4 

Schedule No. 2-S 
 
Method 1: 

 
Customer Accounts shall be classified according to the nature of the business activity 
conducted at the site. Each customer will be assigned to one of four categories of flow 
strength, lowLow, mediumMedium, high High and restaurantRestaurant. These 
categories are based on the BOD and TSS characteristics of the activity occurring at the 
customer’s site. 
 
The volume of sewage returning to the District's Water Recycling Plant shall be based 
upon the quantity of domestic water delivered to the site through a metered water 
service line. 
 
(a) The basic rate for sewer service shall apply where sewage discharge is 

equivalent in strength to ordinary domestic sewage.  For the purpose of these 
rules, ordinary domestic sewage shall be defined as sewage continually having a 
suspended solids concentration not exceeding 300 ppm, a five-day BOD of not 
more than 300 ppm, and having no unusual concentration of chemicals and 
minerals which would have an adverse effect on the District's sewage system. 
 

(b) The District may require from any prospective commercial customer, and prior to 
commencement of service to that customer, a statement as to the quantity and 
quality of sewage to be discharged into its system.  At the option of the District 
the statement will be used to any degree in determining the category of service 
and the charge for service to be charged to the customer.  In the event there is a 
difference between the basis for the O&M Charge determined by the District and 
that received from the prospective customer, the District shall make the final 
determination. 

 

Method 2: 
 
This method shall be used only where water delivered to a customer may be used for 
purposes other than domestic or commercial applications and where an undetermined 
amount of water may not return to the sewer system. 
 
 Example:  A single meter used for irrigation as well a commercial use.  
 
In such cases a Return Factor as determined by the General Manager shall be applied 
to the quantity of water delivered through the customer's water meter before applying 
the appropriate rate for service. 
 

Example:  A basic commercial customer uses 10 ccf for domestic and irrigation 
purposes.  The General Manager determined a return rate factor of .90.  The 
customer’s sewer O&M charge is calculated as follows: 

 
  10ccf x .90 factor x $2.50$5.54 per ccf = $22.50$49.86  

 

 

 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 3 of 4 

Schedule No. 2-S 
 
 
Appeals Process for Classification into a Flow Category  
 
In the event a customer believes their account has been misclassified into a lowLow, 
mediumMedium, highHigh, or restaurant Restaurant flow category, the customer may 
appeal the District's classification. 
 
1. Appeals will be allowed for purposes of determining proper classification only. 

 
2. All appeals must be in writing and in a form acceptable to the District.  Appeals 

are limited to one per 12-month period.  
 

3. Written appeals will be evaluated and acted upon by District Staff. 
 

4. At the District's option, the customer may be required to demonstrate (by 
sampling) that the strength of their actual discharge (BOD and TSS) consistently 
meets the requirements of a classification other than the one determined by the 
District, using District approved sampling methods. 
 

5. If sampling is required all tests must be performed by the District or by a District 
approved contractor/ consultant/lab. 
 

6. The cost associated with testing will be the responsibility of the customer. In the 
event the customer demonstrates to the District's satisfaction that it has been 
misclassified, then the District will reimburse the customer for the cost associated 
with the testing which allowed that conclusion. 
 

7. Customers may, at their cost, request re-testing at any time.  All tests results will 
be averaged and evaluated accordingly. 
 

8. Based on the results of sampling, if required, the Return Factor customer will be 
classified in the commercial rate classification, which is closest to the sample 
results.  This may result in an increase or decrease in rates. 
 

9. Classification changes will become effective retroactive to the date of the original 
classification change, but in no event will classification changes be more than 
three months prior to the date of appeal, nor will rates and/or classifications be 
changed more than once per 12 month period. 
 

10. Staff classification determinations may be appealed to the Board or a committee 
of the Board of Directors, whose decision will be final. 

  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 4 of 4 

Schedule No. 2-S 
 
 

DISCHARGE OF WASTE BRINE 
SOLUTION FROM WATER SOFTENERS 

 
The District currently encourages its customers to voluntarily not use or install self-
generating water softeners and conditioning appliances because these items discharge 
brine solution waste to the District's sewer system. 
 
In the future, the District may adopt an ordinance prohibiting the use and installation of 
self-generating water softeners in accordance with applicable statutes.  See Section 
11686 of the Health and Safety Code of the State of California. 



27 

 

 
EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 

 
 
 
 
 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 

Schedule 3-S 
 
 

RECYCLED WATER SALES & SERVICE 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Approved by Resolution No. 23-7-2                                                    Effective 08/01/23 
Approved by Resolution No. 22-7-2                                                    Effective 08/01/22 
Approved by Resolution No. 21-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/21 
Approved by Resolution No. 20-9-1                                                    Effective 10/01/20 
Approved by Resolution No. 19-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/19 
Approved by Resolution No. 18-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/18 
Approved by Resolution No. 17-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/17 
Approved by Resolution No. 16-6-2                                                    Effective 07/01/16 
Approved by Resolution No. 15-7-1                                                    Effective 08/01/15 
Approved by Resolution No. 14-6-2                                                    Effective 07/01/14 
Approved by Resolution No. 14-3-1                                                    Effective 03/27/14 
Approved by Resolution No. 13-6-2                                                    Effective 07/01/13 
Approved by Resolution No. 12-6-3                                                    Effective 07/01/12 
  
                                         Exhibit A to Resolution 2223-7-2 

 



28 

EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
 

Schedule No. 3-S 

 

 RECYCLED WATER SALES & SERVICE 

 
  
Recycled Water Usage Rates 
 
 
Effective August 1, 2022 2023 the Recycled Water Usage Rate will be 
$2.86/CCF$3.03/CCF. 

 
Recycled Water Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Charge   

 
Effective August 1, 20222023, the Water O&M Charges are as follows: 

 
 Per Meter 
 Per Month 
 

For 5/8 inch meter $17.46$18.07 

For 3/4 inch meter $23.62$24.72 

For 1 inch meter $35.93$38.02 

For 1 ½ inch meter $66.70$71.27 

For 2 inch meter $128.25$137.76 

10 inch meter $1,360.00 

 
Capital Replacement and Refurbishment (R&R) Charge –Recycled Water  

 
Effective August 1, 20222023, the Capital R&R Charges – Recycled Water are as 
follows: 

 
 Per Meter 
 Per Month 
 

For 5/8 x 3/4 inch meter $5.09$5.56  

For 3/4 inch meter $5.09$8.33 

For 1 inch meter $8.50$13.88 

For 1 ½ inch meter $20.65$27.76 

For 2 inch meter $51.84$55.52 

10 inch meter $640.00 

 

 



29 

The Recycled Water O&M Charge and the Capital R&R Charge are applicable to all 
active general metered Recycled Water service, which is added to the charge for 
Recycled Water used during the month computed at the Recycled Water Usage Rate. 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 1 of 2 

Schedule No. 4-W 
 

Approved by Resolution No. 23-7-2 Effective 08/01/23 
Approved by Resolution No. 22-7-2 Effective 08/01/22 
Approved by Resolution No. 21-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/21 
Approved by Resolution No. 18-6-1 Effective 07/01/18 
Approved by Resolution No. 16-6-2 Effective 07/01/16 
Approved by Resolution No. 03-9-1 Effective 10/01/03 

 
Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 2223-7-2 

 

 

PRIVATE FIRE PROTECTION SERVICE 
 

 
APPLICABILITY 
 
Applicable to water service rendered for privately owned fire protection systems other 
than to fire hydrants on private property. 
 
Effective August 1, 2022 2023 the Private Fire Operations and Maintenance Charges 
will be: 
 

 Charge 
Meter Size $/Month 

 
 4” $16.15$17.26 

 6” $23.45$24.79 

 8” $36.04$37.78 

10” $54.97$57.31 

 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS 
 
1. The fire protection service connection will be installed at the expense of the 

applicant. 
 
2. The minimum diameter for fire protection service will be four inches, and the 

maximum diameter will not be more than the diameter of the main to which the 
service is connected. 

 

3. If a distribution main of adequate size to serve a private fire protection system, in 
addition to all other normal services, does not exist in the street or alley adjacent 
to the premises to be served, then a service main from the nearest existing main 
of adequate capacity will be installed at the expense of the applicant. 

 

4. The customer's installation must be such as to effectively separate the fire 
protection system from that of the customer's regular water service. 

 
  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 2 of 5 

Schedule No. 4-W 
 
 
5. As part of the Fire Protection Service installation, there shall be a detector check 

or other similar device acceptable to the District, which will indicate and/or 
accurately measure the water flow. Water deliveries to the privately owned fire 
protection system shall be utilized strictly for fire protection purposes.  
Unauthorized uses include, but are not limited to construction, domestic, and 
landscape uses and water flow resulting from pipeline failures within the private 
fire protection system. Any unauthorized uses will be charged pursuant to the 
rates contained in Schedule 1-W of the District's Rules and Regulations, and/or 
may be grounds for the District to discontinue the Fire Protection Service without 
liability to the District. 

 
6. There shall be no cross connection between the Fire Protection System supplied 

with water through the District's Fire Protection Service to any other source of 
supply without the specific approval of the District.  This specific approval will 
require, at the customer's expenses, a special double check valve installation or 
other device acceptable to the District.  Any such unauthorized cross connection 
may be grounds for immediate disconnection of the Fire Protection Service 
without liability to the District. 

 















 
RESOLUTION NO. 23-7-2 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO THE DISTRICT'S 
RULES AND REGULATIONS WHICH AMENDMENT 

1) PROVIDES FOR AN INCREASE TO CERTAIN 
WATER, SEWER AND RECYCLED WATER SERVICE RATES AND CHARGES  

AND 2) MAKES FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS THAT THE ACTION 
TAKEN IN THIS RESOLUTION IS EXEMPT FROM THE REQUIREMENTS OF 

THE CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA) 
(PUBLIC HEARING – JULY 27 2023) 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the El Toro Water District ("District") at a 
Board Meeting on May 3, 2023, by applicable minute orders (motions) (1) approved the 
2023/24 Operating Budget and (2) established for the required Public Hearing to 
consider adoption of the proposed increases to certain rates and charges; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the District at a Board Meeting on May 22, 
2023, by applicable minute orders (motions) approved the receipt and file of the 
2023/24 Water, Recycled Water, and Wastewater Rate Study Final Report prepared by 
Raftelis Financial Consultants, Inc. ("Raftelis") and (2) approved the 45 day Proposition 
218 Notice which set forth proposed increases to certain rates and charges; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the El Toro Water District has today held a 
public hearing pursuant to the procedural requirements of Proposition 218; and 
 

WHEREAS, the purpose of today's hearing is to determine whether there is 
sufficient written protest so as to preclude the adoption of the proposed water, 
wastewater and recycled water rates and charges; and 
 
 WHEREAS, during today's public hearing, public comments were received and 
written protests were tabulated; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has today carefully reviewed and considered 
the proposed increases to the Potable Tiered Water Usage Rates, the Recycled Water 
Usage Rate, the Water, Sewer, Recycled Water and Private Fire Operations and 
Maintenance Charges and the Water, Sewer and Recycled Water Capital Replacement 
and Refurbishment Charges. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, as follows: 
 
 1. RESOLVED, that the findings and determinations set forth in the 2023/24 
Water, Recycled Water and Wastewater Rate Study Report prepared by Raftelis 
Financial Consultants, Inc. ("Rate Study") are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.  
Said Rate Study is incorporated herein by this reference as though set forth in full and 
made a part of this Resolution. 



 2. RESOLVED FURTHER, that there were not sufficient written protests so 
as to preclude the adoption of the proposed increases to certain water, wastewater and 
recycled water rates and charges as set forth and reflected in Schedules 1-W, 1-S, 2-S, 
3-S and 4-W of the District's proposed amended Rules and Regulations, which are 
attached hereto marked Exhibit "A" and made a part of this Resolution; and 
 
 3. RESOLVED FURTHER, that the proposed amendment to the District's 
Rules and Regulations, and the proposed increases to certain water, wastewater and 
recycled water rates and charges as set forth and reflected in Schedules 1-W, 1-S, 2-S, 
3-S and 4-W of said Rules and Regulations which are attached hereto marked Exhibit 
"A" and made a part of this Resolution, are hereby adopted effective August 1, 2023; 
and 
 
 4. RESOLVED FURTHER, that the action taken herein is exempt from the 
requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  Reference:  Section 
21080 of the Public Resources Code and Section 3.10 of the District's Local Guidelines 
for Implementation of CEQA. 
 

 ADOPTED, SIGNED AND APPROVED this 27th day of July 2023.  
 
 
 
 

KAY HAVENS, President 
El Toro Water District and of 
the Board of Directors 
thereof 

 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 

DENNIS P. CAFFERTY, Secretary 
El Toro Water District and of  
the Board of Directors thereof 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 1 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 

Approved by Resolution 23-7-2                                                                   Effective 08/01/23 
Approved by Resolution 22-7-2                                                                   Effective 08/01/22 
Approved by Resolution 21-6-1                                                                   Effective 07/01/21 
Approved by Resolution 20-9-1                                                                    Effective 10/01/20 
Approved by Resolution 20-1-2                                                                    Effective 01/21/20 
Approved by Resolution 19-6-1                                                                   Effective 07/01/19 
Approved by Resolution 18-6-1                                                                    Effective 07/01/18 
Approved by Resolution 17-6-1                                                                   Effective: 07/01/17 
Approved by Resolution 16-6-2                                                                    Effective: 07/01/16 
Approved by Resolution 15-7-1                                                                    Effective: 08/01/15 

 
Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 23-7-2 

 

 

GENERAL METERED POTABLE WATER SERVICE 
 

Water Usage Charge: Applicable to all residential and potable irrigation metered 
water service. 

 
Water use is charged on a Water-Budget Based Tiered Conservation Rate Structure.  
Water Budgets for each residential and potable irrigation customer includes an Indoor 
Budget and an Outdoor Budget. 
 
Budgets are based on the following: 
 
Indoor Budget:  
55 gallon / person / day * number of occupants * number of days in the billing           
cycle / 748 gallon per billing units plus approved variances.   
 
Occupancy is assumed to be four residents for single family detached, three residents 
for attached unrestricted and two residents for attached and detached restricted 
residential communities.  Occupancy adjustments will be made where warranted. 
 
The calculation of the Indoor budget is subject to a Drought Factor as determined by the 
Board.  The current Drought Factor is 1.0. 
 
Outdoor Budget:  
Landscape area * weather factor * efficiency factor / 1200 per billing unit plus approved 
variances. 
 
The calculation of the Outdoor budget is subject to a Drought Factor as determined by 
the Board.  The current Drought Factor is 1.0. 

 
The Indoor water budget, as determined above, will be billed at Tier I (“Indoor – 
Efficient”) rates.  The Outdoor water budget, as determined above, will be billed at Tier 
II (“Outdoor – Efficient”) rates. Water use in excess of the Tier I and II water budget 
would be deemed inefficient and/or excessive.  Tier III (“Inefficient”) water use would be 
usage between 100% and 130% of the total Tier I and II water budget and Tier IV 
(“Excessive”) usage would be consumption over Tier III. 
  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 2 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 
Effective August 1, 2023 Potable Water Usage Rates will be: 
     

Tier I – Indoor – Efficient $3.00/CCF 
Tier II – Outdoor – Efficient $3.37/CCF 
Tier III – Inefficient $6.70/CCF 
Tier IV – Excessive $8.67/CCF 

 
Water Budget - Variance/Adjustment Process 
 
Adjustments – Individual water budgets are primarily based on permanent residency 
(occupancy) and landscape irrigation area in square feet. 
 

Occupancy - In general, residency is assumed to be as follows 
 

1) Single Family – 4 permanent residents 

2) Multi-family, unrestricted (including condo, trailer parks and townhomes) 
           - 3 permanent residents 
3) Multi-family, restricted (restricted due to age limitations)  

– 2 permanent residents, and 

4) Multi-family, apartments – 2 permanent residents 

Customers who believe their permanent occupancy differs from the above may 
request an adjustment to their occupancy factor.  All adjustment requests must 
be in writing on forms provided by the District and signed by the customer 
(Account Holder.)  The General Manager may require supporting documentation 
to support a claim for additional permanent occupants. 

 
Requests for additional permanent occupants will be granted based on criteria 

established by the General Manager. 
 

Landscape Irrigation Area – Each customer’s landscape irrigation area was 
established based on the county of Orange Assessor’s parcel data, on-line parcel 
information, customer representations and/or independent measurements.  
 
Customers who believe their landscape irrigation area is incorrect may request 
an adjustment.  All adjustment requests must be in writing on forms provided by 
the District and signed by the customer (Account Holder.) The General Manager 
may require supporting documentation to support a claim for additional 
landscape irrigation area. 
 
Requests for adjustments to landscape irrigation area will be granted based on 
criteria established by the General Manager. 

  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 3 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 
Variances – Water budgets have been developed using industry standards to provide 
all customers with the appropriate amount of water given then current hydrological 
conditions.  If, for any reason a customer believes that their water budget is inadequate 
due to extenuating circumstances they may request a temporary or permanent variance 
for additional water.  All variance requests must be in writing on forms provided by the 
District and signed by the customer (Account Holder.)  The General Manager may 
require supporting documentation to support a claim for an increase in the water 
budget. 
 
Requests for temporary or permanent variances will be granted based on criteria 
established by the General Manager. 
 
General - All requests for variance/adjustments must be in writing and signed by the 
customer (account holder).   The District reserves the right to request additional 
documentation in support of the request.  Approved variances/adjustments will become 
effective at the beginning of the billing period after approval and will remain active for a 
period of 24 months, at which time the customer will be required to re-confirm the 
circumstances surrounding the original request. 
 
The General Manager must act upon any completed application no later than ten (10) 
days after submittal and may approve, conditionally approve, or deny the request for 
variance/adjustment.  The customer requesting the variance/adjustment must be 
promptly notified in writing of any action taken.  The decision of the General Manager 
will be final. 
 
Potable Water Usage Charge: Applicable to all commercial, institutional and 
industrial (CII) metered water service. 

 
Effective August 1, 2023, the uniform CII Potable Water Usage Rate will be $3.49/CCF. 

 
 

Water Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Charge   
 
Effective August 1, 2023, the Water O&M Charges are as follows: 

 
 Per Meter 
 Per Month 
 

5/8 inch meter $18.07 

3/4 inch meter $24.72 

1 inch meter $38.02 

1 ½ inch meter $71.27 

2 inch meter $137.76 

10 inch meter $1,360.00 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 4 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 
 

Capital Replacement and Refurbishment (R&R) Charge – Water  

 
Effective August 1, 2023, the Capital R&R Charges - Water are as follows: 

 
 Per Meter 
 Per Month 
 

5/8 meter $5.56  

3/4 inch meter $8.33 

1 inch meter $13.88 

1 ½ inch meter $27.76 

2 inch meter $55.52 

10 inch meter $640.00 

 

The Water O&M Charge and the Capital R&R Charge are applicable to all active 
general metered water service, which is added to the charge for water used during the 
month computed at the Water Usage Charge. 
 

 

  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 5 of 5 

Schedule No. 1-W 
 
 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS: 
 
1. LIFE LINE RATE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM: 

 
Customers providing the District with satisfactory evidence of having a household 
income of $15,000 or less per calendar year may qualify for the Life Line Rate 
Assistance program.  The Life Line Rate Assistance Program provides a waiver for 
the Water O&M Charge for qualified customers.  In order to qualify, a customer 
must submit an application and Statement of Eligibility (Form 3/98 attached). 
 
An approved application is valid for three years from the date of acceptance and is 
not automatically transferred or renewed.   

 
The waiver will apply only to the customer's primary residence. 

 
Proof of eligibility may be required. 

 
2. NON-REGISTERING METERS: 
 

The District may bill the customer for water consumed while the meter was non-
registering.  Billing will be based upon an estimate of the consumption according to 
the customer's prior use during the same season of the year, or upon an estimate 
based upon a reasonable comparison with the use of other customers during the 
same period receiving the same class of service under similar circumstances and 
conditions.  Billing estimation will not exceed two consecutive billings. 

 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 1 of 2 

Schedule No. 1-S 
 

Approved by Resolution No. 23-7-2                                                                       Effective: 08/01/23 

Approved by Resolution No. 22-7-2                                                                       Effective: 08/01/22 

Approved by Resolution No. 21-6-1                                                                       Effective: 07/01/21 

Approved by Resolution No. 18-6-1                                                                       Effective: 07/01/18 

Approved by Resolution No. 17-6-1 Effective: 07/01/17 

Approved by Resolution No. 16-6-2                                                                      Effective: 07/01/16 

Approved by Resolution No. 15-7-1                                                                       Effective: 08/01/15 

Approved by Resolution No. 14-6-2                                                                       Effective: 07/01/14 

Approved by Resolution No. 13-6-2                                                                      Effective: 07/01/13 

Approved by Resolution No. 12-6-3                                                                       Effective: 07/01/12 

Approved by Resolution No. 11-6-3                                                                      Effective: 07/01/11 
 

Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 23-7-2 

 

 

GENERAL SEWER SERVICE 
 

 
Applicability 
 
Applicable to General Sewer Service. 
 
 
Sewer Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Charge/Rates 

 
Effective August 1, 2023, the sewer O&M Rates are as follows: 

 
   

User Category User Rate Billing Unit 
 

Single Family Residential  $37.98 $/Month 

Multi-Family Restricted  $18.05 $/Month 

Multi-Family Unrestricted  $27.76 $/Month 

 

Low Strength Commercial $4.45 $/CCF    

Medium Strength Commercial $5.54 $/CCF    

High Strength Commercial $10.58 $/CCF    

Restaurants $5.65 $/CCF    

  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 2 of 2 

Schedule No. 1-S 
 

 

 

Capital Replacement and Refurbishment (R&R) Charge – Sewer: 

 

Effective August 1, 2023, the Capital R&R - Sewer Charges are as follows: 
 

User Category User Rate Billing Unit 
 

Single Family Residential $8.87 $/Month 

Multi-Family Restricted $4.21 $/Month 

Multi-Family Unrestricted $6.48 $/Month 

 

Commercial:   

  Low Strength Commercial $1.04 $/CCF    

  Medium Strength Commercial $1.29 $/CCF    

  High Strength Commercial $2.47 $/CCF    

  Restaurants $1.32 $/CCF    

   

 

Associations, Apartments, Condominiums, and other Multiple Residences 

 

When more than one residential dwelling unit is connected to the system by single 
service connections (meter), the rates per residential dwelling unit, as set forth above, 
shall be due and payable for each and every living or dwelling unit connected to the 
system. 

 
Restricted Multi-Family Residences are residences within developments, which shall, 
pursuant to recorded restrictions or leases, be occupied only by adults. 

 
Unrestricted Multi-Family Residences are all residences other than Restricted Family 
Residences. 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 1 of 4 

Schedule No. 2-S 
 

Approved by Resolution No. 23-7-2                                                                              Effective 08/01/23 
Supersedes Resolution No. 22-7-2                                                                               
Supersedes Resolution No. 09-6-2                                                                               
Supersedes Resolution No. 05-6-2  
Supersedes Resolution No. 03-09-1 
Supersedes Resolution No. 99-02-4 
Supersedes Resolution No. 98-11-1 
Supersedes Resolution No. 98-06-2 
Supersedes Resolution No. 96-06-3 
Supersedes Resolution No. 94-06-2 
Supersedes Resolution No. 93-06-2 

 
 

Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 23-7-2 

 

 
 

COMMERCIAL, INDUSTRIAL, PUBLIC AUTHORITY AND HOME-
OWNER ASSOCIATION RECREATIONAL FACILITY SEWER SERVICE 

 
 
Applicability 
 
This Rate shall apply to Commercial, Industrial and Public Authority sewer service 
inclusive of Recreational Facilities owned by Homeowners' Associations requiring 
sanitary sewer services (hereinafter referred to as “Customer(s)”.  

 

Capital Replacement and Refurbishment (R&R) Charge 
 

The Capital R&R Charge is billed based on a flow charge which is determined by a 
combination of the quantity of domestic water delivered to the customer combined with 
the classification of the customer’s sewage discharge into Low, Medium, High and 
Restaurant categories. 

 
Sewer Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Charges 
 
(a) The O&M charge to commercial, industrial, public authority and Homeowner 

Association Recreational facility customers shall be based on the amount of 
sewage discharged into the system, the Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD), 
and the total Suspended Solids (TSS). 
 

(b) A minimum O&M charge shall be the amount equal to the minimum flat rate O&M 
charge for a single family residential customer as set forth in Schedule No. 1-S.   
 

(c) The amount of sewage discharged shall be defined and determined in 
accordance with one of the following methods: 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 2 of 4 

Schedule No. 2-S 
 
Method 1: 

 
Customer Accounts shall be classified according to the nature of the business activity 
conducted at the site. Each customer will be assigned to one of four categories of flow 
strength, Low, Medium, High and Restaurant. These categories are based on the BOD 
and TSS characteristics of the activity occurring at the customer’s site. 
 
The volume of sewage returning to the District's Water Recycling Plant shall be based 
upon the quantity of domestic water delivered to the site through a metered water 
service line. 
 
(a) The basic rate for sewer service shall apply where sewage discharge is 

equivalent in strength to ordinary domestic sewage.  For the purpose of these 
rules, ordinary domestic sewage shall be defined as sewage continually having a 
suspended solids concentration not exceeding 300 ppm, a five-day BOD of not 
more than 300 ppm, and having no unusual concentration of chemicals and 
minerals which would have an adverse effect on the District's sewage system. 
 

(b) The District may require from any prospective commercial customer, and prior to 
commencement of service to that customer, a statement as to the quantity and 
quality of sewage to be discharged into its system.  At the option of the District 
the statement will be used to any degree in determining the category of service 
and the charge for service to be charged to the customer.  In the event there is a 
difference between the basis for the O&M Charge determined by the District and 
that received from the prospective customer, the District shall make the final 
determination. 

 

Method 2: 
 
This method shall be used only where water delivered to a customer may be used for 
purposes other than domestic or commercial applications and where an undetermined 
amount of water may not return to the sewer system. 
 
 Example:  A single meter used for irrigation as well a commercial use.  
 
In such cases a Return Factor as determined by the General Manager shall be applied 
to the quantity of water delivered through the customer's water meter before applying 
the appropriate rate for service. 
 

Example:  A basic commercial customer uses 10 ccf for domestic and irrigation 
purposes.  The General Manager determined a return rate factor of .90.  The 
customer’s sewer O&M charge is calculated as follows: 

 
  10ccf x .90 factor x $5.54 per ccf = $49.86  

 

 

 
 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 3 of 4 

Schedule No. 2-S 
 
Appeals Process for Classification into a Flow Category  
 
In the event a customer believes their account has been misclassified into a Low, 
Medium, High, or Restaurant flow category, the customer may appeal the District's 
classification. 
 
1. Appeals will be allowed for purposes of determining proper classification only. 

 
2. All appeals must be in writing and in a form acceptable to the District.  Appeals 

are limited to one per 12-month period.  
 

3. Written appeals will be evaluated and acted upon by District Staff. 
 

4. At the District's option, the customer may be required to demonstrate (by 
sampling) that the strength of their actual discharge (BOD and TSS) consistently 
meets the requirements of a classification other than the one determined by the 
District, using District approved sampling methods. 
 

5. If sampling is required all tests must be performed by the District or by a District 
approved contractor/ consultant/lab. 
 

6. The cost associated with testing will be the responsibility of the customer. In the 
event the customer demonstrates to the District's satisfaction that it has been 
misclassified, then the District will reimburse the customer for the cost associated 
with the testing which allowed that conclusion. 
 

7. Customers may, at their cost, request re-testing at any time.  All test results will 
be averaged and evaluated accordingly. 
 

8. Based on the results of sampling, if required, the Return Factor customer will be 
classified in the commercial rate classification, which is closest to the sample 
results.  This may result in an increase or decrease in rates. 
 

9. Classification changes will become effective retroactive to the date of the original 
classification change, but in no event will classification changes be more than 
three months prior to the date of appeal, nor will rates and/or classifications be 
changed more than once per 12 month period. 
 

10. Staff classification determinations may be appealed to the Board or a committee 
of the Board of Directors, whose decision will be final. 

  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 4 of 4 

Schedule No. 2-S 
 
 

DISCHARGE OF WASTE BRINE 
SOLUTION FROM WATER SOFTENERS 

 
The District currently encourages its customers to voluntarily not use or install self-
generating water softeners and conditioning appliances because these items discharge 
brine solution waste to the District's sewer system. 
 
In the future, the District may adopt an ordinance prohibiting the use and installation of 
self-generating water softeners in accordance with applicable statutes.  See Section 
11686 of the Health and Safety Code of the State of California. 



27 

 

 
EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 

 
 
 
 
 

RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 

Schedule 3-S 
 
 

RECYCLED WATER SALES & SERVICE 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Approved by Resolution No. 23-7-2                                                    Effective 08/01/23 
Approved by Resolution No. 22-7-2                                                    Effective 08/01/22 
Approved by Resolution No. 21-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/21 
Approved by Resolution No. 20-9-1                                                    Effective 10/01/20 
Approved by Resolution No. 19-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/19 
Approved by Resolution No. 18-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/18 
Approved by Resolution No. 17-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/17 
Approved by Resolution No. 16-6-2                                                    Effective 07/01/16 
Approved by Resolution No. 15-7-1                                                    Effective 08/01/15 
Approved by Resolution No. 14-6-2                                                    Effective 07/01/14 
Approved by Resolution No. 14-3-1                                                    Effective 03/27/14 
Approved by Resolution No. 13-6-2                                                    Effective 07/01/13 
Approved by Resolution No. 12-6-3                                                    Effective 07/01/12 
  
                                         Exhibit A to Resolution 23-7-2 

 



28 

EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
 

Schedule No. 3-S 

 

 RECYCLED WATER SALES & SERVICE 

 
  
Recycled Water Usage Rates 
 
Effective August 1, 2023 the Recycled Water Usage Rate will be $3.03/CCF. 

 
Recycled Water Operations & Maintenance (O&M) Charge   

 
Effective August 1, 2023, the Water O&M Charges are as follows: 

 
 Per Meter 
 Per Month 
 

5/8 inch meter $18.07 

3/4 inch meter $24.72 

1 inch meter $38.02 

1 ½ inch meter $71.27 

2 inch meter $137.76 

10 inch meter $1,360.00 

 
Capital Replacement and Refurbishment (R&R) Charge –Recycled Water  

 
Effective August 1, 2023, the Capital R&R Charges – Recycled Water are as follows: 

 
 Per Meter 
 Per Month 
 

5/8 inch meter $5.56  

3/4 inch meter $8.33 

1 inch meter $13.88 

1 ½ inch meter $27.76 

2 inch meter $55.52 

10 inch meter $640.00 

 
The Recycled Water O&M Charge and the Capital R&R Charge are applicable to all 
active general metered Recycled Water service, which is added to the charge for 
Recycled Water used during the month computed at the Recycled Water Usage Rate. 



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 1 of 2 

Schedule No. 4-W 
 

Approved by Resolution No. 23-7-2 Effective 08/01/23 
Approved by Resolution No. 22-7-2 Effective 08/01/22 
Approved by Resolution No. 21-6-1                                                    Effective 07/01/21 
Approved by Resolution No. 18-6-1 Effective 07/01/18 
Approved by Resolution No. 16-6-2 Effective 07/01/16 
Approved by Resolution No. 03-9-1 Effective 10/01/03 

 
Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 23-7-2 

 

 

PRIVATE FIRE PROTECTION SERVICE 
 

 
APPLICABILITY 
 
Applicable to water service rendered for privately owned fire protection systems other 
than to fire hydrants on private property. 
 
Effective August 1, 2023 the Private Fire Operations and Maintenance Charges will be: 
 

 Charge 
Meter Size $/Month 

 
 4” $17.26 

 6” $24.79 

 8” $37.78 

10” $57.31 

 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS 
 
1. The fire protection service connection will be installed at the expense of the 

applicant. 
 
2. The minimum diameter for fire protection service will be four inches, and the 

maximum diameter will not be more than the diameter of the main to which the 
service is connected. 

 

3. If a distribution main of adequate size to serve a private fire protection system, in 
addition to all other normal services, does not exist in the street or alley adjacent 
to the premises to be served, then a service main from the nearest existing main 
of adequate capacity will be installed at the expense of the applicant. 

 

4. The customer's installation must be such as to effectively separate the fire 
protection system from that of the customer's regular water service. 

 
  



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 
Page 2 of 5 

Schedule No. 4-W 
 
 
5. As part of the Fire Protection Service installation, there shall be a detector check 

or other similar device acceptable to the District, which will indicate and/or 
accurately measure the water flow. Water deliveries to the privately owned fire 
protection system shall be utilized strictly for fire protection purposes.  
Unauthorized uses include, but are not limited to construction, domestic, and 
landscape uses and water flow resulting from pipeline failures within the private 
fire protection system. Any unauthorized uses will be charged pursuant to the 
rates contained in Schedule 1-W of the District's Rules and Regulations, and/or 
may be grounds for the District to discontinue the Fire Protection Service without 
liability to the District. 

 
6. There shall be no cross connection between the Fire Protection System supplied 

with water through the District's Fire Protection Service to any other source of 
supply without the specific approval of the District.  This specific approval will 
require, at the customer's expenses, a special double check valve installation or 
other device acceptable to the District.  Any such unauthorized cross connection 
may be grounds for immediate disconnection of the Fire Protection Service 
without liability to the District. 

 



 

Agenda Item No. 7 
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors Meeting Date:  July 27, 2023 

From: Dennis Cafferty, General Manager 

Subject: ACWA 2023 Board Officers Election 

 
ACWA has launched two separate but concurrent election processes for the 2024-’25 
term: the Board officers’ election for President and Vice President and the region board 
elections. 
 
Cathy Green is the sole candidate for President. 
 
There are two candidates for the Vice President position. 
 

• Ernesto “Ernie” A. Avila 

• Michael Saunders 

Biographical information for each of the above candidates is attached. 

The candidates for the Region 10 election are described in the attached ballot which also 
describes the nominating committee’s recommended slate. 

This item is presented for information only. The ACWA election will be agendized at the 
District’s August Board meeting at which the Board will be requested to provide specific 
direction regarding the District’s vote in the ACWA election process. 



ACWA BOARD MEMBER
· ACWA Vice President (2022-current) 
· Executive Committee (2020-current)
· Region 10 Chair (2018-2019)
· Region 10 Vice Chair (2016-2017, 2020-2021)
· Region 10 Board Member (2012-2021)

ACWA COMMITTEES
· Water Quality Committee (2012-current)
· Energy Committee (2019-current)
· State Legislative Committee (2012-2015)

ORANGE COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
· President (2015-2016, 2022-current)
· 1st Vice President (2013, 2014, 2019-2022)
· Director (2010-current)
· Joint Planning Committee: Chair
· Labor Ad Hoc Committee: Chair
· Communications/Legislative Liaison Committee: Vice Chair

CIVIC AND PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
· Santa Ana River Flood Protection Agency: Chair
· CalDesal: Director
· City of Huntington Beach Mayor (2003, 2009)
· Councilwoman (2002-2010)
· Registered Nurse
· Law degree

COMMITMENT · EXPERIENCE · LEADERSHIP

My vision for ACWA is to embrace its motto -- Bringing Water Together -- which, for me, is about unifying ACWA members and 
working collaboratively with diverse stakeholders to find smart solutions to the challenges we are now facing.



 

 

CATHY GREEN BIOGRAPHY________________________________________________________ 

In December of 2021, Cathy Green was elected vice president of the Association of California 
Water Agencies (ACWA) for a two-year term. She has served as an active member of ACWA 
since 2012, including serving on ACWA’s executive committee since 2020, the ACWA Board 
since 2016, and the Region 10 Board from 2012-2021. She held the position of ACWA Region 10 
chair from 2018-2019 and served as vice chair from 2016-2017 and 2020-2021. Cathy Green has 
also served on several ACWA committees including the water quality committee since 2012, the 
energy committee since 2019, and the state legislative committee from 2012-2015. 

Cathy Green was elected to the Orange County Water District (OCWD) Board of Directors in 
November 2010 and was re-elected in 2012, 2016 and 2020. She was selected by the Board to 
serve as its 2015, 2016 and 2023 president. She served as 1st vice president in 2013, 2014 and 
from 2020 to 2022. 

Cathy Green currently serves as vice chair of National Water Research Institute, a 501c3 
nonprofit that collaborates with water utilities, regulators, and researchers in innovative ways 
to help develop new, healthy, and sustainable sources of drinking water. 

Prior to Cathy Green’s service on OCWD’s Board, she was elected to two consecutive terms on 
the Huntington Beach City Council where she served two terms as mayor. Cathy Green has 
been involved as a council liaison and committee member on many city boards, commissions 
and committees. She served on the Orange County Transportation Authority Board and was a 
director of OC Clean Tech. 

Cathy Green serves on the boards of the Huntington Valley Boys and Girls Club and the Orange 
County Explorer Program; serves on the Huntington Beach City School District Medi-Cal 
Collaborative; is a director of the Prime Health Foundation and the Huntington Beach Hospital; 
is a member of the American Legion Unit 133 Auxiliary, Huntington Beach Community 
Emergency Response Team (CERT) and the Elks Lodge 1959; and is on the advisory board of the 
Bolsa Chica Conservancy. She is a founding member of Amigos de Bolsa Chica. 

In addition, her community involvement has included serving as president of the Therapeutic 
Riding Center and the Huntington Beach Community Clinic, chair of the Orange County 
Emergency Medical Care Committee and of Explorer’s/Learning for Life, first aid chair of 
Huntington Beach CERT, and board member of the OC Boy Scouts of America Council and 
American Family Housing. 



 

 

Cathy Green is the recipient of many awards. Her most recent is a 2020 Boys and Girls Clubs of 
America National Service to Youth Award. In 2010, she was the recipient of the Spurgeon 
Award, and, in 2005, she was named Woman of the Year by then State Senator John Campbell. 
Other awards include the 2006 United Way Excellence in Child Care Planning, the 2007 Peace 
Maker Award from the Greater Huntington Beach Interfaith Council and the Golden West 
College Pillar of Achievement Award. She has also been recognized as Huntington Beach’s 
Citizen of the Year by the Huntington Beach Chamber of Commerce, a Huntington Beach 
Soroptimist’s Woman of Distinction and a Bolsa Chica Conservancy Conservator of the Year. 

Cathy Green is a registered nurse and holds a degree in law. As a nurse, she worked in the 
health care areas of intensive care, student health, community health, and patient advocacy. In 
addition to nursing, she gained experience with a variety of environmental projects while 
associated with Lockhart and Associates. 

Cathy Green has been a resident of Huntington Beach since 1970 where she raised her two 
children, Teresa and Tom, with her late husband Peter. 

 



“The Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) truly represents the nexus of knowledge and 
leadership in water for California. We are emerging from difficult times on many fronts, notably a 
multi-year drought and we need to lock into strategies to keep water in the public eye with ACWA and 
member agencies as the trusted sources of information. With over 40 years of experience in the water 
world, I am dedicated to continuing ACWA’s leading role on state-wide water issues, including the 
protection of water rights. United between all water users, we can inform the needed investments 
state-wide in storage, groundwater recharge, conveyance, desalination, recycling, reuse and 
conservation to strengthen our water systems for future generations.” – Ernesto (Ernie) Avila, P.E. 

ACWA BOARD MEMBER 

 Executive Committee of the ACWA Board of
Directors

 ACWA Board of Directors
 ACWA Region 5 Board of Directors
 ACWA Foundation Steering Committee

ACWA COMMITTEES 

 Local Government Committee, Chair
o Property Tax Working Group
o Housing Densification Working Group
o Paving Standards Working Group

 Federal Affairs Committee
 Foundation Fundraising Working Group

CONTRA COSTA WATER DISTRICT 

 Contra Costa Water District, Board President
 Operations & Engineering, Committee Chair
 East Bay Leadership Council, Director
 Los Vaqueros Reservoir Joint Powers

Authority, Director

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

 Vice-President, Avila and Associates
Consulting Engineers, Inc.

 Monterey Peninsula Water Management
District, General Manager

 Director of Engineering, Contra Costa Water
District

 Northern California Salinity Coalition,
Executive Director

 California Urban Water Agencies, Executive
Director



   

 

Ernesto (Ernie) Avila, PE 
Board President 

Contra Costa Water District  
 
 
 
Recent ACWA and Regional Water Coalition Experience 
 
Association of CA Water Agencies (ACWA).  I have had the pleasure of supporting ACWA over twenty 
years at the regional and state level.  My recent ACWA 
experience has included serving on ACWA’s: 
 
• Executive Committee of the ACWA Board of Directors 
• Board of Directors 
• Region 5 Board  
• Local Government Committee (Chair) 

o Property Tax Working Group 
o Housing Densification Working Group 
o Paving Standards Working Group 

• Federal Affairs Committee 
• Foundation Steering Committee 

o Foundation Fundraising Working Group 
 
As part of these efforts, I led ACWA’s assessment of potential water industry impacts associated with 
Sacramento-based housing initiatives including Auxiliary Dwelling Units, Commercial Properties and 
Transit Center Hubs and led a workshop to consider potential ACWA next steps associated with these 
new initiatives and their related changes to water agency fees and charges.  I led the ACWA Region 5 
session on Safe Drinking Water Issues Affecting Disadvantaged Communities, and helped with the 
development of the ACWA New Water System Approval Fact Sheet.  I also participated in the ACWA 
Foundation Steering Committee including several related Ad Hoc committees and contributed to 
Federal Affairs Committee work groups associated with the Water Infrastructure Finance and 
Innovation Act (WIFIA) .   
 
Multi-State Salinity Coalition (MSSC).  For over 20 years, I have served as Program Director and 
Board member of MSSC which consists over 30+ water agencies from New Mexico, northern and 
southern California, Nevada, Colorado, Arizona and Texas.   The MSSC mission is to promote 
advancements in technologies for desalination, reuse, salinity control strategies (watersheds and 
agriculture), water/energy efficiencies and related policies that will assist communities in meeting 
their water needs.  I also helped to establish relationships regarding salinity management and 
desalination with water agencies in Australia, Mexico and Israel.  In February 2023, the MSSC 
awarded me with the MSCC “Salt of the Earth” National Award for outstanding commitment, 
leadership, vision and dedication to our water industry. 



  

1331 CON CORD AVE, CON CORD , CA 94520  |   925-688-8000  |    CCWATER.COM  

Contra Costa Water District (CCWD).  As President of CCWD, I helped to form the coalition of eight 
northern California water agencies that make up the Los Vaqueros Reservoir Joint Powers Authority 
(LVJPA).  Once completed, the expanded reservoir will improve the Bay Area’s regional water supply 
reliability and water quality while protecting Delta fisheries and providing additional Delta 
ecosystem benefits.  I currently serve as the CCWD Director to the LVJPA. 
 
California Urban Water Agencies (CUWA).  As Executive Director, I led CUWA’s effort in the 
development of Department of Water Resources (DWR) Methodologies for Calculating Baseline and 
Compliance Urban Per Capita Water Use as part of the Water Conservation Act of 2009 (Senate Bill 
X7-7) with our southern and northern California water agency members. I also made certain that 
CUWA’s finances and practices were sound and transparent. 
 
Northern California Salinity Coalition.  As Executive Director, I led a coalition of ten San Francisco 
Bay Area water agencies in crafting grant application strategies and DWR outreach that would 
demonstrate the value of supporting watershed management, brackish desalination and 
groundwater project associated with salinity management.  Working with the Coalition agencies, we 
secured the largest Proposition 50 grant funding for our region.   
 
Professional Work Experience (40 years) 
• Vice-President, Avila and Associates Consulting Engineers, Inc. 
• General Manager, Monterey Peninsula Water Management District 
• Director of Engineering, Contra Costa Water District 
• Associate Engineer, East Bay Municipal Water District 
• Construction Manager, CH2M Hill 
• Professional Civil Engineer (California – C41727) 

 
Community Service Experience 
• Contra Costa Water District, President of the Board 
• John Muir Community Health Fund Board of Directors (Treasurer) 
• Association of California Engineering Companies – Chair of the Healthcare Trust (non-profit) 
• Knights of Columbus, Scholarship Chair 
• St. Francis of Assisi School Board, President 
• City of Concord, CA – Planning Commission, Chair 
• City of Concord, CA – Design Review Board 
• City of Walnut Creek, CA – Transportation Commission, Vice-Chair 
 
Education and Related Credentials 
• B.S. – Civil Engineering, Santa Clara University 
• M.B.A. – St. Mary’s College of California 
• Professional Civil Engineer (California – C41727) 
• California Farm Bureau Member 



Michael Saunders, MD
Georgetown Divide Utility District, Director

Candidate ACWA Vice-President
Outline and Statement of Qualifications

Appointed Offices:
Georgetown Divide Public Utility District - Finance Committee (2018)

Elected Offices:
Georgetown Divide Public Utility District - 5 years (2018-2022), (2022-2026)

Served as Treasurer, Vice-President, President
Currently Legislative Liaison

El Dorado County LAFCO - Alternate Special District Commissioner (2019 to present)
Budget Workgroup, Small to MediumWater District MSR workgroup, Recruitment Committee, Grand Jury committee

Regional Offices
Mountain Counties Water Resources Association - WUE workgroup
Regional Water Authority (RWA) - Board Member, Executive Board Member

Regional Activities:
Consumnes, American, Bear, Yuba (CABY) Integrated Regional Water Management Group

Participated in helping to define the vulnerability, economic, and support levels for the communities within El Dorado
County.

State Level Workgroups
Department of Water Resources
DWRWorkgroup Member for Water Use Efficiency Workgroups

● Water Loss Workgroup
● Annual Water Supply and Demand Assessment Workgroup

DWR Stakeholder participant
● County Drought Advisory Group
● Water Use Studies (LAM, Variances; Indoor, Outdoor, CII budgets)

Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA)
Workgroups:

● Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Workgroup
● Headwaters Workgroup
● Water Use Efficiency Workgroup
● State Infrastructure Workgroup

Committees:
● Membership Committee

ACWA Region 3
● ACWA Region 3 Board Member (2022 - present)
● ACWA Region 3 Regional Issue Forum Planning workgroup

○ “Protecting Communities in the New Era of Wildfire: The Important Role of Water Purveyors”



My background includes a Bachelor of Science (BS) in Nutritional Biochemistry from Cornell University
and a Doctor of Medicine (MD) from Howard University. My journey in water issues began with an empty horse
water trough one hot summer day when there was no water. I began as a community volunteer on the Finance
Committee where I began to learn about the finances of my water District. I was elected to the Georgetown Divide
Public Utility District (GDPUD) Board in 2018. I am now in my 5th year as a Board member in my second term of
office. I have served as the Treasurer, Vice-President, and President of the Board. I currently serve as the Board’s
Legislative Liaison.

I learned about water systems, delivery, infrastructure and our issues starting at the local level as a Board
member, becoming more expansive through working with our Urban Water Management Plan and managing the
District’s water supply through drought mandates, water contingency plans, and wildfires. My understanding of the
County water issues began as I actively participated in the Consumnes, American, Bear, Yuba (CABY) Integrated
Regional Water Management Group including helping to define all of the vulnerability, economic, and support levels
for the communities within El Dorado County. At the County level, I am the Alternate Special District Commissioner
for LAFCO. I was part of the LAFCO workgroup for Small to MediumWater Districts Municipal Service Reviews and
I have reviewed all the MSRs for the County learning of all of our County water districts infrastructures, finances,
and challenges. As an Executive board member of the Regional Water Authority, I have had the opportunity to learn
more on groundwater basins, and working on trying to get a Federally recognized water bank and working on
conjunctive use efforts between surface water storage and groundwater storage.

At the State Level, I have worked on the Water Use Efficiency and County Drought Advisory Groups with
the Department of Water Resources (DWR) beginning in 2019. This experience allowed me to understand about
the challenges and issues throughout the State. This also gave me the opportunity to provide recommendations and
solutions specific to rural, mountain counties that were not being addressed and began my active role in advocating
for rural, mountain water agencies.

I have been an active participant with ACWA, attending conferences, workgroups, webinars, regional tours,
board meetings, symposiums. I have been an advocate for issues attending State and Federal symposiums and
legislative days, working and advocating through County, Regional, State and National committees, workgroups,
task forces, legislative meetings, testimonies, letters, coalition letters, and hearings. The work with the DEI
workgroup helped form ACWA’s new foundation.

The ACWA Regional Board has allowed me to play a leadership role in our Region. Working closely with our
regional board members and member agencies, we gathered information on issues in which we were able to work
with ACWA staff to facilitate a meeting with State Water Resource Control Board members. I continue to outreach
and work with our members and agencies to highlight the issues and challenges that our region faces and bring
them to the various committees and workgroups.



OFFICIAL
2024-2025 TERMREGION 10 Board Ballot

Please return completed ballot by 
Sept. 15, 2023

E-mail: regionelections@acwa.com
Mail: ACWA  

980 9th Street, Suite 1000 
Sacramento, CA 95814

General Voting Instructions: 

1  You may either vote for the slate 
recommended by the Region 10 
Nominating Committee, or vote for 
individual candidates to serve as 
chair, vice chair, and board members 
for each county (please note rules & 
regulations for specific qualifications). 
Mark the appropriate box to indicate 
your decision.

2  Complete your agency information. 
The authorized representative is 
determined by your agency in 
accordance with your agency’s policies 
and procedures. 

Region 10 Rules & Regulations: 
The chair and vice chair shall be from 
different counties. At least one of the chair 
or vice chair positions must be an elected/
appointed director from a member agency. 
The region board members shall alternate 
every two years with three from one county 
and two from the other. The county from 
which the chair comes from shall have two 
region board members and the county 
from which the vice chair comes from shall 
have three region board members.

Submitted board candidate bios and 
headshots are available on www.acwa.
com/elections/2023-region-elections/.

AGENCY NAME

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE DATE

1

2

Nominating Committee’s Recommended Slate
 I concur with the Region 10 Nominating Committee’s recommended slate below.

CHAIR: 
• Dana Friehauf, Board Member, Santa Fe Irrigation District (SD)

VICE CHAIR: 
• Charles T. Gibson, Director, Santa Margarita Water District (OC)

BOARD MEMBERS:
• Marice H. DePasquale, Vice President, Board of Directors, Mesa Water District (OC)
• George Murdoch, Vice President, East Orange County Water District (OC)
• Deborah Neev, Commissioner, Laguna Beach County Water District (OC)
• Jose Martinez, General Manager, Otay Water District (SD)
• Jennifer DeMeo, Vice President, Fallbrook Public Utility District (SD)

OR

Individual Board Candidate Nominations 
(See Rules & Regulations before selecting)

 I do not concur with the Region 10 Nominating Committee’s recommended slate. I 
will vote for individual candidates below as indicated.

CANDIDATES FOR CHAIR: (CHOOSE ONE)
 Dana Friehauf, Board Member, Santa Fe Irrigation District (SD)

CANDIDATES FOR VICE CHAIR: (CHOOSE ONE)
 Charles T. Gibson, Director, Santa Margarita Water District (OC)

SAN DIEGO COUNTY CANDIDATES FOR BOARD MEMBERS: (MAX OF 2 CHOICES)
 Alexandra (Ally) Berenter, Senior Manager, External Affairs & Water Policy, 

City of San Diego (SD)
 Manny Delgado, Director, Sweetwater Authority (SD)
 Jennifer DeMeo, Vice President, Fallbrook Public Utility District (SD)
 Jose Martinez, General Manager, Otay Water District (SD)

ORANGE COUNTY CANDIDATES FOR BOARD MEMBERS: (MAX OF 3 CHOICES)
 Marice H. DePasquale, Vice President, Board of Directors, Mesa Water 

District (OC)
 George Murdoch, Vice President, East Orange County Water District (OC)
 Deborah Neev, Commissioner, Laguna Beach County Water District (OC)

THIS BALLOT WAS REVISED ON 7/20/23

http://www.acwa.com/elections/2023-region-elections/
http://www.acwa.com/elections/2023-region-elections/


 

Agenda Item No. 8 
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors Meeting Date:  July 27, 2023 

From: Dennis Cafferty, General Manager 

Subject: Orange County Grand Jury Report “Historic Rain, Yet Drought Remains” 

 
 
The Orange County Grand Jury recently released the attached report titled “Historic Rain, 
Yet Drought Remains”. 
 
The District is requested, but not required, to respond to the findings and certain of the 
recommendations in the report. 
 
Staff will lead a discussion regarding the report and seek concurrence with the Board 
regarding a response.  
 
 



  

 
     

 Historic Rain,  
 Yet Drought Remains 
                                                                                                                                                     

 
County of Orange 

         
        Grand Jury 2022-2023 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 2 of 57 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
SUMMARY ...................................................................................................................... 3 

BACKGROUND .............................................................................................................. 4 
REASON FOR STUDY ................................................................................................... 5 

METHOD OF STUDY ...................................................................................................... 6 

INVESTIGATION AND ANALYSIS.................................................................................. 7 
Climate ........................................................................................................................ 7 

Water Demands ........................................................................................................... 8 

Overview of Water Suppliers and Agencies ................................................................. 9 
Metropolitan Water District (MET) – (Water Wholesaler) ............................................. 9 

Municipal Water District of Orange County (Water Wholesaler) ................................ 11 

Orange County Water District (Water Wholesaler) .................................................... 12 
Water Retailers .......................................................................................................... 12 

State of California Managed Supplies ........................................................................ 14 

Federal Intervention ................................................................................................... 16 
Water Justice ............................................................................................................. 16 

Actions to Secure and Strengthen Supply ................................................................. 17 

Effective Management of Initiatives ........................................................................... 17 
Public Awareness of the Need for Action ................................................................... 20 

Effect on Local Economy ........................................................................................... 21 

Drinking Water Obtained from the Sea ...................................................................... 22 
COMMENDATIONS ...................................................................................................... 24 

FINDINGS ..................................................................................................................... 24 
RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................................. 25 

REQUIRED RESPONSES ............................................................................................ 26 

REQUESTED RESPONSES ......................................................................................... 27 
GLOSSARY .................................................................................................................. 31 

REFERENCES .............................................................................................................. 34 

APPENDIX A: ACTIONS BY LOCAL AGENCIES TO SECURE SUPPLY .................... 38 
Purchase of water rights ............................................................................................ 39 

Utilization of other supplies ........................................................................................ 44 

Water Efficiency to Increase Supply .......................................................................... 44 
APPENDIX B: GRAPHICS OF INTEREST ............................................................................ 45 

BIBLIOGRAPHY ........................................................................................................... 48 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 3 of 57 

NOTICE ......................................................................................................................... 56 

ENDNOTES .................................................................................................................. 56 
 

SUMMARY 
The “atmospheric river” of winter 2022-23 in California, causing floods in the lowlands 
and record snowpack in the mountains, has many people assuming that the “drought is 
over.” This assumption is far from the truth. Drought conditions are here to stay. While 
Orange County dams and reservoirs are currently at full capacity and the Sierra 
snowpack is at its deepest level in many years, there has been limited impact on the 
Western Rockies, the Colorado River, Lake Powell, and Lake Mead from which 
Southern California draws a significant amount of its potable water supply.  

For the purposes of this report, the Orange County Grand Jury differentiated between 
source and supply. The source of water is the ocean and the resultant precipitation.  
The supply of water is how precipitation is captured and delivered to consumers of 
water, including recycling and reuse of this water.   

Climatologists, water experts, and water managers agree we must adapt to climate 
change because longer droughts and extreme weather patterns are inevitable, adding 
urgency towards finding new methods for obtaining additional water sources.  

In Orange County, the lack of available water over the past few years has frequently 
been identified as a “Water Crisis”, yet the phrase has failed to capture the scope of 
how dire the situation is. Generally, people don’t think about having enough water 
because it has been reliably available their entire lives. Throughout the county, there 
are numerous innovative water projects under consideration or development, but they 
may not be timely enough to avoid people running short of water and having to 
conserve much more, ultimately leading to mandated rationing. 

Approximately half of all water used in Southern California is imported from the 
Colorado River and from the California Aqueduct. This imported water is severely 
constrained and unreliable. With infrequent and unreliable amounts of precipitation 
supplying both the Northern California Water Project and the Colorado River, the 
situation is becoming more critical. Several South Orange County cities rely almost 
solely on these imports. Locally, significant efforts are being made to re-use 
wastewater. These efforts are limited by the amount of water available from everyday 
use and do not create a new water source.  

North and Central Orange County are served by a well-managed supply of water in 
underground storage, but it cannot meet the needs of the entire County. South County 
is entirely dependent on imported water.   

The State of California mandated local governments to provide more affordable housing 
and is also promoting higher density development. This does not recognize the 
limitations of the current water supply and its social and economic impacts. The State 
has failed to provide a supply of water to support these mandates.  



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 4 of 57 

Public awareness must be expanded to encourage better management of our water by 
expediting the process for planning and construction of new water sources such as 
desalination and prioritizing funding.  

The Orange County Grand Jury recommends the creation of a “Climate Resiliency 
District” to lessen the County’s dependence on State and regional water projects. Just 
as Orange County supported Measure M and created the Orange County 
Transportation Authority to solve the county’s transportation crisis, the same bold 
leadership is needed to solve the county’s water crisis. 

This report presents information about the current crisis in water planning, existing 
projects to increase the supply of non-potable water for irrigation, and storage issues. 
The report makes recommendations for a reliable source of potable water through 
desalination of ocean water.  

BACKGROUND 
Water is our most precious resource, but due to shifts in climatic weather patterns, the 
reliability of traditional water supplies is under intense pressure in Orange County. Many 
water business insiders are stating privately that these systemic events are now at a 
“crisis” stage, despite the recent precipitation. 

To date, traditional water suppliers in Orange County have not addressed the 
implications of this systemic shift. They have maximized local resources by recycling, 
capturing flood water runoff, and finding new areas for storage. However, they have yet 
to fully develop a transformational drought-resistant water resource outside the status 
quo.  

Numerous past Orange County Grand Jury reports1 have dealt with the internal 
governance and organizational structure or the need for conservation efforts to 
maximize water utilization. This report elaborates on the dependency on outside water 
supplies such as the California Water Project and the Colorado River Basin that provide 
over 50% of our county’s local water supply. South Orange County lacks a bountiful 
aquifer that provides North and Central Orange County with 70% of its water supply.2  

South Orange County depends on imported water for 90% of its needs. These imported 
water supplies are becoming less reliable, with annual reductions occurring in both the 
California Water Project and the Colorado River Basin creating major disruptions. 
Conservation measures have been put in place throughout Orange County to maximize 
existing supplies to help mitigate these concerns. This is simply inadequate to resolve 
the long-term supply issue. One of the ways to resolve this issue is desalination, a 
proven alternative that has not yet been fully implemented in Orange County.  



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 5 of 57 

 
 
REASON FOR STUDY 
The Western United States is experiencing a water crisis. The climate is changing, and 
our supply of water has diminished while our population has increased. This situation 
did not occur overnight and the efforts to mitigate the crisis have been slow and 
ineffective. 

Existing water agencies in Orange County are not adequately structured or managed to 
implement the transformational strategies necessary to create a new source of potable 
water, specifically through desalination. It is possible that a merger of two or more 
agencies could pivot this new source, but they are already performing the functions for 
which they were created and it might be difficult to assimilate new functions. The 
Orange County Grand Jury recommends the creation of a new agency, a Climate 
Resiliency District, to develop and manage this drought-resistant resource.   

 

Local water suppliers, including cities and special districts, are to be commended for 
attempting to meet the crisis within constraints. The Orange County Water District very 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 6 of 57 

successfully manages the ground water basin serving North and Central Orange 
County. These efforts include actively pursuing water transfer and water banking 
agreements outside of Orange County. Local water suppliers need to expand their 
portfolio to meet demands. Additional capture of precipitation, supplying groundwater 
through infiltration, additional storage systems, development of ocean desalination, and 
recycling and reuse of water all need to be considered and improved and implemented.  

The general public, the ultimate users of the water, need to continue their efforts to 
conserve water by installing low-flow toilets and showerheads, appliances that use less 
water, using recycled water for landscape irrigation, and eventually accepting the use of 
recycled water purified for drinking purposes. They also need to support and expedite 
the development of desalination plants to create a new source of water for the future. It 
will be necessary for the water suppliers to develop effective public awareness 
programs to help the public understand the need and desirability of this new paradigm.   

METHOD OF STUDY 
The Orange County Grand Jury (OCGJ) took the following steps in investigating this 
issue: 

• Identified and interviewed key personnel: 
o Persons or entities responsible for providing potable water to their Orange 

County constituents 
o Persons knowledgeable in projects to improve capture, reclamation, 

recycling, delivery, and infrastructure improvements 
o Persons involved in the planning and execution of providing new habitable 

dwellings 
o Persons who are reputable in the field of climatology – past, present, and 

future 
• Reviewed information from the various water districts and interested parties 

including: 
o Orange County Water District (OCW) 
o Orange County Coast Keepers 
o California Department of Water Resources 
o Miscellaneous Water Districts 
o Municipal Water District of Orange County (MWDOC) 
o Metropolitan Water District (MET) 

• Reviewed numerous documents pertaining to this report (see bibliography for 
complete list) 

• Members of the OCGJ toured the following facilities: 
o Municipal Water District of Orange County Headquarters 
o Orange County Water District Ground Water Recovery Facility 
o Metropolitan Water District  

 Headquarters 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 7 of 57 

“The current state of our climate  
is a prolonged drought. To survive, local 

sources of water need to be more resilient. “ 
 

 F.E. Weymouth Water Treatment Plant and Quality Control 
Laboratory 

 Pure Water Southern California Demonstration Plant in Carson 
 

INVESTIGATION AND ANALYSIS 
Climate 

The current state of our climate is a prolonged drought. To survive, local sources of 
water need to be more resilient.  

Throughout Earth’s evolution, there have been and continue to be impacts on its 
climate. The continents have been drifting since there was a super continent, Pangea, 
175 million years ago. The resulting different geographic locations have differing climate 
conditions which are still evolving. These “climate changes” have been extensively 
studied and documented by paleo-climatologists, and their data has been used to 
forecast what climate conditions will most probably be in the future.  

 

 

 

 

 

Today’s scientists and climatologists agree that Earth is changing due to evolutionary 
cycles and that climate warming is being acutely exacerbated and accelerated by the 
effects of human activities. Worldwide, glaciers are receding, sea levels are rising, and 
permafrost melting. Many global regions that were historically self-sufficient for potable 
water are now in periods of extended drought where precipitation is a declining 
resource. Orange County is directly affected by the resulting effects of climate change, 
evidenced by water reduction mandates and the various proposed means and methods 
to capture, recycle, and store more water.  

This report acknowledges climate change and its effects on the people of Orange 
County. It examines whether the current proposed means and methods for securing 
more water are sufficient to sustain the projected growth in the county and support the 
green and vibrant lifestyle to which its inhabitants have become accustomed. 

As evidenced over the past five decades, the durations and resulting expectations from 
the seasons in this geographic region of the U.S. (Western) have dramatically changed.  
Winters have seen declining periods of sustained precipitation, and summers are hotter, 
longer, and drier. This has directly affected the rivers, lakes, streams, dammed 
reservoirs above ground and aquifers below ground that rely on melted snow and rain 
for continued and reliable replenishment. Paleo-climatologists have validated the past 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 8 of 57 

climate drought trends, and today’s climatologists are predicting the same, punctuated 
by infrequent periods of precipitation, like the precipitation events of this past winter 
(2022-23). This all points to the current supplies of water not being dependable.  

Key facts and predictions identified during interviews and the numerous climate articles 
reviewed are: 

• The current Western United States drought is the longest in 1,200 years 

• The drought is likely to continue for the next 100 years. 

• The current Southern California climate is characterized as “drought” but this is 
likely to be interrupted by infrequent wet years. 

• Human activities have affected the climate. The Southern California climate is 
expected to enter a cooler phase based upon long-term historic trends, rather 
than the current warming. 

• Even if carbon emissions are suddenly decreased, the climate could take up to 
100 years to adjust. 

The following graph illustrates the current tendency of the climate. It shows five 
categories: Abnormally Dry (D0), showing areas that may be going into or are coming 
out of drought, and four levels of drought (D1–D4). The darker the color, the deeper the 
drought. It clearly shows increased and more frequent levels of drought for California.  

 
Drought as the norm has reduced precipitation as a source of water and Orange County 
needs to respond to it by providing a more drought resilient supply of water. 

Water Demands 

• In the past fifty years, California’s population has nearly doubled. Water is 
needed, and expected, to sustain the current population in all aspects: quality of 
life, commerce, industry, agriculture, etc., and promote growth and development.  
However, current, and foreseeable circumstances regarding water availability 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 9 of 57 

have severely impacted modern Californians’ expected way of life. To preserve 
the status quo, water reduction mandates are used to facilitate further 
development.  

• Some water agencies are paying farmers to not grow crops. They are 
transferring the farmer’s water rights to the water agency to feed the thirst of 
metropolitan areas. Many projects to capture, transport, and store water have 
been proposed but not yet constructed due to various political and environmental 
obstructions. The projects that have been approved to capture, store, recycle, 
and transport more water will only succeed if there is enough water to do so.  
Precipitation is a declining source of water. Interviews with water experts, e.g., 
wholesalers, retailers, and suppliers have said that “we cannot conserve our way 
out of the drought” but they have yet to make Orange County self-sufficient. 

 
Overview of Water Suppliers and Agencies 

The water supply for Orange County is primarily managed by three entities – Orange 
County Water District (OCWD), Municipal Water District of Orange County (MWDOC), 
and Metropolitan Water District (MET). 

Consumers receive their water from 29 independent water districts and cities. The 
suppliers primarily receive water from either the groundwater basin managed by 
OCWD, directly from MET, or through MWDOC. The water agencies also have 
additional minor supplies of water, including treated surface waters and supplies 
obtained from agreements with other entities. Some of the water agencies provide 
treated wastewater for landscaping and industrial uses (recycling). 

Metropolitan Water District (MET) – (Water Wholesaler) 

The Metropolitan Water District (MET) serves the water needs of Southern California by 
securing and transporting water. This includes overseeing the importation of water from 
the Colorado River Basin since 1941 and the State Water Project since 1971. MET is a 
wholesaler which sells and allocates this water to other water agencies, municipalities,3 
and counties from Ventura to San Diego. Orange County receives its purchased 
allocation through the Municipal Water District of Orange County. Recognizing the long-
term effects of drought and reduced flows from the Colorado river and California 
Aqueduct, the MET has initiated major water conservation and recycling programs to 
make water management a priority. They have attempted to create storage capability 
and negotiate contracts with the agricultural entities within the Colorado basin to limit 
their water usage and acquire their allocations. 

The long-term threat of climate change and historic droughts have challenged MET and 
they have failed to identify new supplies of water beyond their historic charter. The State 
Water Project is delivering only 10% of the historical allocation and the Colorado River 
supply allocation was reduced 25% in 2022. 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 10 of 57 

Metropolitan Water District is in the water movement business and is not historically 
tasked with securing new sources of water. As the leading water agency in Southern 
California, MET has not taken on this responsibility. Their supply of water is dependent 
on precipitation. When the water allocation was reduced from the State Water Project, 
MET had to switch many of its customers to the Colorado River. However, numerous 
articles have documented that the lakes on the Colorado River (Mead and Powell) are 
at the lowest levels since they were built, and their future viability is at question due to a 
decade’s long drought in the west.  

 

The State Water Project4 includes 700 miles of delivery canals (California Aqueduct) 
that serves 27 million people and irrigates 750,000 acres of farmland, which supplies 
fifty percent of the United States’ produce. The project originated in 1960 and although it 
is well maintained, it has not been upgraded in years. The water for the State Water 
Project comes primarily from the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta. When forming its 
water strategies, Orange County needs to recognize that the State Water Project’s 
reliability is in doubt due to its 53-year history of not being adequately maintained.  

The Colorado River has been in the news due to the drought reducing its flow over the 
past twenty years. The agreements regarding the allocation of Colorado River water are 
set to expire in 2026 and are currently being renegotiated. Water levels at Lake Mead 
and Lake Powell have dropped significantly, and experts say it would take at least 10 
years of above average precipitation to restore them. Orange County should simply not 
rely upon the Colorado River as a dependable supply, now or in the future.  

Following numerous interviews and a thorough review of project documentation, the 
Grand Jury reached several conclusions regarding MET programs to replace dwindling 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 11 of 57 

“MET water will not be reliable for at least a decade and Orange 
County needs to consider developing other resources to make up 

for this lack of reliability.”  
 

water supplies. Most notable is that the Carson wastewater reclamation project is years 
away from being completed and 20 years behind similar projects in Orange County. 
Overall, MET cannot be expected to significantly replace the reductions in water 
allocations from the Colorado River and the State Water Project within the next decade.  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Municipal Water District of Orange County (Water Wholesaler) 

The Municipal Water District of Orange County (MWDOC) is primarily a wholesale water 
provider and, to a lesser extent, a water resource development and planning agency for 
nearly 3.2 million Orange County residents, and businesses. MWDOC buys imported 
water from the California State Water Project in Northern California and the Colorado 
River through the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California. MWDOC has four 
representative seats on the Metropolitan Water District (MET) Board. Through its 
member agencies, MWDOC covers all of Orange County except the Cities of Anaheim, 
Fullerton, and Santa Ana. 

Orange County must import water due to limited local water supplies. Central and North 
County import approximately 30% of their water to supplement its existing supply. 
However, South County is highly reliant on the Municipal Water District, as South 
County water districts must import 90% of their water supply from outside of Orange 
County. 

The Municipal Water District of Orange County is extremely important as a wholesaler 
or broker to the retail water districts in Orange County and as a representative of 
Orange County’s interest on the Metropolitan Water District Board.  

MWDOC has completed a comprehensive study of Orange County’s water reliability 
needs that could serve to achieve a climate resilient water supply. The study covers 
MET system reliability and Orange County projects including desalination projects, 
water shed projects, and water banking projects. The study also identifies the crisis 
Orange County is facing – by 2030, eight out of every ten years can be expected to be 
in drought. However, the study is devoid of information about financing and 
implementation, and its conclusions rely too much on MET efforts that are decades 
behind where they should be.   

Based upon this study and MWDOC’s countywide area of responsibility, MWDOC could 
conceivably lead Orange County’s efforts to plan, finance, and implement water source 
and supply projects. 

MWDOC serves no other purpose than to distribute water and has not attempted to 
expand its supply of water beyond its engagement with the MET. Previous Orange 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 12 of 57 

County Grand Juries have recommended that the MWOC and OCWD merge for a more 
efficient and streamlined approach towards water management. 

Orange County Water District (Water Wholesaler) 

The Orange County Water District (OCWD) provides water to 2.5 million residents in 
North and Central Orange County. The District effectively manages the Orange County 
groundwater basin that provides approximately 77% of water used in the region. It 
supplies the 19 cities and retail water agencies in Central and North Orange County 
with potable water. As the sole adjudicator of Orange County’s ground water basin, the 
agency plays a vital role in assuring the aquifer is effectively managed.  

The Orange County Water District has been a true innovator in water management and 
operates the world’s largest water purification replenishment system for indirect potable 
water use. Over 130 million gallons per day are recycled into the Orange County 
aquifer, thus replenishing this vital resource. It has exhausted the wastewater supply 
available for recycling through its comprehensive efforts. 

The management of Orange County’s underground reservoir has been exceptional. 
OCWD has also implemented a regional groundwater banking program to assure long-
term reliability and increasing stormwater capture behind Prado Dam where water 
eventually gets released and recharged into the Orange County aquifer, thus becoming 
part of the local water supply. 

Despite its absolute success at recycling, the Orange County Water District must still 
import 23% of its water brokered by the Municipal Water District of Orange County 
through the Metropolitan Water District. The local Orange County ground water basin is 
simply not large enough to meet demand. 

Water Retailers 

The Irvine Ranch Water District serves a large Orange County populace of 600,000, 
primarily in the Cities of Irvine, Lake Forest, parts of the Cities of Orange, Costa Mesa, 
Tustin, and Newport Beach. IRWD provides water as well as reliable sewage collection 
and treatment. The combination of being a water retailer combined with managing 
sewage treatment has allowed IRWD to implement groundbreaking recycling water 
programs for non-potable use and innovative urban runoff programs. The district relies 
partially on the Orange County basin for its water supply, but also is dependent on 20% 
of imported water from the Municipal Water District of Orange County.  

As an innovator, the IRWD secured rights to the Kern water basin for water storage. 
This storage reduces its reliance on Metropolitan Water District and provides access to 
a potential supply of water in an emergency. Through conservation and water efficiency 
programs, IRWD has reduced overall water consumption year over year allowing 
development to continue to move forward unabated within the jurisdiction it serves. 
However, growth in community development exposes IRWD to shortages as its 
allocation of imported water is determined by Municipal Water District of Orange 
County. 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 13 of 57 

Until the desalination plant comes online, and should 
MWDOC fail to deliver required water, SCWD is highly 

vulnerable to supply disruption. 

The Moulton Niguel Water District serves 170,000 residents in South Orange County, 
and is highly dependent on imported water from the Municipal Water District of Orange 
County (in excess of 90% of its potable water). Therefore, the District has made a major 
effort to drive efficiency and conservation efforts, which have been successful in 
reducing water utilization and continue to allow local development. Negotiations are 
underway with local sanitation districts to attempt to initiate recycling programs for the 
betterment of the community. The collaboration with South Orange County Wastewater 
Authority (SOCWA) has been less than cooperative thereby impeding recycling efforts. 
Should the Municipal Water District of Orange County fail to deliver the required water, 
Moulton Niguel Water District is highly vulnerable to supply disruption. 

The Rancho Santa Margarita Water District (RSMWD) imports 100% of its potable 
water from the Municipal Water District of Orange County and services over 200,000 
residents in south Orange County, primarily the eastern portion of Orange County from 
Mission Viejo to San Clemente. As a result, the District has committed to developing 
local reliable drinking water supplies. RSMWD constantly monitors opportunities to 
enhance its water portfolio. The current major effort is the San Juan Watershed project 
that will capture local stormwater runoff as well as directing recycled water to recharge 
the local underground aquifer.  

Conservation water efficiency efforts have also played a major role to minimize water 
usage. Within RSMWD’s service area, there are major communities being planned. The 
planned communities under development, Los Flores and the Ranch, will add 15,000 
homes or approximately 60,000 additional residents to the District’s customer base. 
With this development the water demand will increase and therefore will increase the 
need to import water. Should Municipal Water District of Orange County fail to deliver 
required water, RSMWD is highly vulnerable to supply disruption. 

The South Coast Water District (SCWD), like other south Orange County water 
districts, is highly dependent on imported water from the MWDOC. SCWD serves 
35,000 residents and 2 million visitors a year. SCWD relies on 90% of its potable water 
being supplied by the MWDOC. SCWD is to be applauded in its attempt to expand its 
efforts to decrease its dependence on imported water. Recently, SCWD was granted 
approval to proceed with an ocean desalination plant of 5 million gallons of water a day. 
The plant is to be built within the next five years. SCWD is working to maximize 
recycling efforts to minimize reliance on imported water. Major conservation and water 
efficiency programs have been implemented locally. Until the desalination plant comes 
online, and should MWDOC fail to deliver required water, SCWD is highly vulnerable to 
supply disruption. 

 

 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 14 of 57 

 

Other Orange County Water Suppliers. Water wholesalers in Orange County work 
with local water retailers to provide water to their residents. The Orange County local 
retailers include 29 cities and local water districts.  

Most of the cities and water agencies have implemented programs to minimize water 
utilization to become more efficient. They are to be applauded for their efforts.  

South Orange County retailers Moulton Niguel Water District, Rancho Santa Margarita 
Water District, and South Coast Water District are highly dependent on the importation 
of water, in excess of 90% of total local demand.  

Irvine Ranch Water District is included because of the unique characteristics that were 
identified during the course of this investigation. Specifically, the Grand Jury noted its 
creativity in securing potential sources of water coupled with the continued development 
of the Irvine Ranch and water required to serve new residents. 

South Orange County retailers are highly dependent on the importation of water for 
more than 90% of local demand. The Grand Jury’s investigatory efforts have included a 
focus on this dependency. 

State of California Managed Supplies 

The State of California is responsible for operating the State Water Project, planning 
and implementation of statewide projects for water supply, State bond financing for 
projects, and management of federal and State funding programs. These have been 
insufficient to address the threats to Orange County water supply. 

Water management in California is very complex. There are numerous constituents 
placing a huge demand on water resources: agriculture, urban centers, industry, 
business, developers, tourism, and residents. This pressure coupled with an antiquated 
water structure with hundreds of water wholesalers and retailers makes a challenging 
dynamic.  

Environmental pressure exacerbates the challenge. The State’s lack of long-term 
solutions to California’s water needs is not new. No new reservoirs have been built 
since the 1970’s when the population was 20 million people. 50 years later, California’s 
population has almost doubled to 39 million. For years, the State has studied proposals 
to secure additional supplies of water by moving water from the Sacramento delta to 
Southern California through the California Water Project, with no discernable results. 
The project is needed to protect the existing water supply and secure additional water 
but has been bogged down by debate about approach and environmental review. 

  



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 15 of 57 

No new reservoirs have been built since 1970 when the 
population was approximately 20 million, yet 

California’s population has almost doubled to 39 
million. 

 

 

 

  

 

In 2014, a bond initiative was passed to provide $7.3 billion in funding for 10 new 
reservoirs and other water related projects, yet the reservoirs have not been completed. 
The recent rains that swept California this winter resulted in billions of gallons of water 
flowing out to sea.5 The California Natural Resources Agency maintains a web page 
that shows the progress of the bond issue.6 The web page shows most of the funds 
have been committed but lacks information regarding what has been accomplished.  

In terms of planning, in August 2022, the California Environmental Protection Agency 
issued a major report entitled “California Water Supply Strategy – Adapting to a Hotter, 
Drier Future, California Agencies.”7 But the strategy does not detail schedules or actions 
or assign resources or funding. In the report, the Newsom administration points out that 
in order to deliver the pace and scale of projects necessary to meet California’s water 
crisis, the State’s regulatory structures must be modernized so that “State agencies can 
assess, permit, fund and implement projects at the pace this climate emergency 
warrants.” The report does not describe how Newsom’s directive is to be understood or 
executed. Other relevant State reports touching upon State water resources include 
those on climate change, water supply assessment, and an analysis of recent droughts. 
While all these reports help identify problems, they provide few and limited actionable 
recommendations. 

The California State Water Control Board is the State’s key water agency, yet its focus 
on water supply is not clear. Other State agencies that have water oversight include: the 
Department of California Water Resources, the California Water Commission, and the 
National Resources Agency, and State Conservancies, such as the Sacramento-San 
Joaquin Delta Conservancy that are involved in water grants and planning. The State 
environmental and river basin authorities also complicate planning and actions. There 
seems to be no coordinated focus on water supply.  

The Sacramento-San Joaquin levees are very important to the State Water Project. 
They protect the integrity of the system. For decades, the levees have been identified 
as needing bolstering, yet this has not been done. If the levees fail or are breached 
there will be an influx of brackish water from the San Joaquin Delta that will contaminate 
the fresh water in the Project, making it unusable. The recent rains have focused the 
need for action, yet nothing is likely to be done anytime soon. As an example, the need 
to capture and store rainwater in aquifers has been recognized for decades, yet the 
recent rainfalls show little has been done.  

Recently, the State initiated the Delta Conveyance Project (DCP). This is a joint powers 
authority formed to help ensure water supply reliability for the State Water Project and 
to adapt to forecasts of future changes in precipitation and seasonal flow patterns due 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 16 of 57 

to climate change. An important part of the DCP is a proposed tunnel under the Delta.  
The concept for the project originated in the 1970s and subsequent versions included 
the Trans-Delta System, Peripheral Canal, Bay Delta Conservation Plan, and the 
California Water Fix (a dual tunnel). The Delta Conveyance Project faces strong 
opposition from environmentalists. The prospect of the project being completed in a 
timely manner, if at all, is doubtful.  

Governor Newsom himself noted the difficulty of getting water projects going in his 
statement at an August 2022 news conference: “The time to get these damn projects is 
ridiculous,” Newsom said. “It’s absurd. It’s reasonably comedic. In so many ways, the 
world we invented from an environmental perspective is now getting in the way of 
moving these projects forward.”8 Projects take decades to accomplish, if they are 
completed at all. The State cannot be relied upon for consistent water delivery in wet or 
dry years. 

Water management in California can best be summed up as always studied but never 
resolved. The impacts of this paralysis mean that Orange County cannot currently rely 
on the State to identify or secure a new source or supplies of water. 

Federal Intervention 

California may have to reduce its reliance on Colorado river water under a proposal by 
the U.S. Department of the Interior, unveiled on April 11, 2023, that upends the 
longstanding system of water rights. The Department proposed two methods for 
reducing water usage by as much as 25% in 2024. The seven states utilizing the 
Colorado river have been negotiating with each other since August 2022 to make 
voluntary cuts. To date no agreement has been reached. 

The U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, part of the U.S. Department of the Interior, warned 
that it would impose large cuts if the states relying on the river did not come up with a 
plan by January 31, 2023. The states failed to do so. Although California has 
experienced an unusually wet winter, this has not changed the Colorado River’s 
longstanding challenges amid a much drier climate.  

The rationing of water from the Colorado River basin appears inevitable at the time of 
this report, disrupting the long-tenured stability of Southern California’s imported water 
supply. It reinforces the idea that the time to act for securing a new source of water for 
Orange County is now. 

Water Justice  

As the demand for water increases, not only to sustain the status quo but also for 
development, equal access to water must also be addressed. What regions will be 
entitled to preserve their way of life and what regions will have to compromise?  

The cost of obtaining and distributing water is equally important to water justice. The 
projects required to ensure a reliable water supply are costly and, if delegated to the 
ratepayers, may have a significant impact on lower income households. Traditionally, 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 17 of 57 

Orange County should develop a funding strategy for 
water projects that is acceptable to rate-payers and does 

not overly burden lower income groups.  
 

major water projects have been financed through state and federal governments or 
through special tax assessments. This is an easier burden on lower income groups than 
strictly through rate structures. Orange County should develop a funding strategy for 
water projects that is acceptable to rate-payers and does not overly burden lower 
income groups.  

 
 
 
  

 

Actions to Secure and Strengthen Supply 

Numerous initiatives and projects have been planned to improve and strengthen the 
existing supply systems:  

1) water banking,  
2) purchasing water rights,  
3) recycling water,  
4) reuse of water for potable purposes,  
5) aquifer management,  
6) utilization of other supplies, and  
7) water efficiency. 

However, these projects are years behind schedule and taking an extraordinarily long 
time to complete. These initiatives are important to point out as efforts, but it must be 
noted that by themselves, they are not solutions to Orange County’s water reliability. 
The Grand Jury’s evaluation of these efforts is included in Appendix A “Local Agency 
Action to Secure Water Supply.” 

The efforts to diversify the water portfolio and make the existing supply more resilient 
are commendable, but a new source is also needed.   

 
Effective Management of Initiatives 

Orange County needs an entity to champion and lead the efforts to develop a water 
source that will enhance the reliability of existing water supplies. Orange County water 
suppliers have completed and are engaged in several projects to improve the resilience 
of our water supply, but efforts for the whole County have been limited. A countywide 
effort to develop a drought-resistant source of water is necessary due to climate 
change. 

Effective countywide management of water resources would alleviate the jurisdictional 
issues that have hampered the development of recycled water in South County 
including shared use of the aquifer for all of Orange County.  A Climate Resiliency 
District could serve this purpose. 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 18 of 57 

A Climate Resiliency District is authorized by the Climate Resilience District Act, 
codified in California Government Code Sections 62300-62312.  Section 62301 
describes the legislative intent of the Act: 

It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this division to provide the ability for 
local governments to create districts for the purpose of addressing climate 
change effects and impacts through activities and actions that include mitigation 
and adaptation, as necessary and appropriate, to achieve all of the following: 

(a) Providing a sustained and certain level and source of funding at the local 
level. 

(b) Allowing activities and actions on an appropriate geographic basis. 

(c) Facilitating the receipt and use of federal, state, local, and private funds. 

The purpose of the Climate Resiliency District would be to promote a project that 
addresses drought, including multiuse land repurposing, groundwater replenishment, 
groundwater storage, or conjunctive use.9 It is envisioned that a Climate Resiliency 
District would be capable of planning and financing water source projects such as 
desalination that are beyond the means of existing Orange County water agencies. 

There were concerns about a Climate Resiliency District expressed by some water 
district leaders interviewed by the Grand Jury. They stated that a Climate Resiliency 
District might be another level of bureaucracy that could impede the pursuit and 
development of their own projects. However, these concerns would carry more weight if 
planned projects were actually being implemented. 

Alternative structural entities could be a joint powers authority (JPA) created for this 
purpose, either spearheaded by Orange County Water District (OCWD) or Municipal 
Water District of Orange County (MWDOC), or a collaborative effort between both.  

The Joint Exercise of Powers Act, codified in California Government Code Section 6500 
et seq., authorizes two or more public agencies, by agreement, to exercise any power 
common to the agencies to provide more effective or efficient government services or to 
solve a service delivery problem. A JPA could plan, finance, and implement water 
source and water supply projects. Similarly, Orange County Transportation Authority 
(OCTA) was created in 1991 to fund, plan, and implement transit and capital projects. 
OCTA has been successful in solving some of Orange County’s transportation needs. A 
JPA focused on Orange County’s water needs could similarly succeed.  

Forming a JPA to comprehensively address all of Orange County’s water needs would 
ultimately require the cooperation of 29 entities including special water districts and 
cities that supply water. The political effort required for this cooperation would be 
significant and would require a new approach towards such collaboration.  

Either separately or cooperatively, OCWD or MWDOC could take the lead for the 
planning, financing, and implementing of water source and supply projects to the benefit 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 19 of 57 

for all of Orange County. Unifying the water districts is also a possibility, as previously 
reported by the 2021-2022 Grand Jury.10  

Through its member agencies, MWDOC covers all of Orange County except the Cities 
of Anaheim, Fullerton, and Santa Ana. MWDOC has completed a comprehensive study 
of Orange County’s water reliability needs that could serve as means to achieve a 
climate resilient water supply.11 The study covers MET system reliability and Orange 
County projects including desalination projects, watershed projects, and water banking 
projects. The study clearly identifies that Orange County is facing a water crisis, and 
forewarns that by the year 2030, eight out of every ten years can be expected to be dry. 
Based upon this study and MWDOC’s countywide charter, MWDOC could accept 
responsibility to lead Orange County’s efforts to plan, finance, and implement water 
source and supply projects. However, the study would need to be updated, as it is 
totally devoid of financing and implementation data, and it relies too much on MET 
efforts that are decades behind where they should be.   

Orange County needs a champion to lead the efforts to develop a water source and to 
enhance the reliability of existing water supplies. OCWD and MWDOC have planned 
but failed to implement a solution, and a joint powers authority requires a level of 
political cooperation that may not be possible with 29 separate water agencies. 
Therefore, the County of Orange should initiate the Climate Resiliency District to plan, 
finance, and implement water supply projects to meet future conditions and needs. 

 

 Orange County needs a champion to lead the efforts to 
develop a water source and to enhance the reliability of 

existing water supplies 
 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 20 of 57 

Public Awareness of the Need for Action 

 
 

Public awareness of the consequences of current and future climate change is 
important as a catalyst for adapting to the change. In the past several months, there 
have been numerous newspaper and magazine articles on water concerns in California 
and the Western United States. There have also been at least two television 
documentaries. Many local water agencies have included fact sheets and other 
information on their web pages and in monthly statements warning of the water “crisis”.  
These messages have resulted in increased public awareness but more needs to be 
done. Public education to promote projects to address the crisis is a must. 

As a result of increased public awareness, water agencies have noticed a decrease in 
per-capita water usage. The public is using water more efficiently. However, several 
Grand Jury interviewees noted that we cannot conserve our way out of the drought. 
Solving Orange County’s future water shortfall through conservation alone would 
require drastic changes in water usage and would likely meet strong public resistance.  
Additional efforts are needed to inform the public of potential lifestyle changes if 
additional water sources and supplies are not developed. 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 21 of 57 

 

Some water agencies in Orange County have conducted public campaigns to make the 
public aware of the need to increase rates. The rate increases are for projects to 
increase the water supply and source resiliency of the agency. South Coast Water 
District’s outreach to its customers has been most notable and enabled the District to 
proceed with community support for the Doheny Desalination Project.  

The public needs to be galvanized to move forward. The Grand Jury recommends that 
the County Board of Supervisors lead a countywide campaign to mobilize the public in 
support of new water sources that will make the supply systems more efficient and 
resilient.  

Effect on Local Economy 

If no new sustainable source of potable water is developed there will be an adverse 
impact on Orange County. While North Orange County has an underground aquifer with 
a substantial amount of water, South County is almost entirely dependent upon external 
supplies. Major strides have been made in recycling water for industrial and landscaping 
purposes, but there is still a shortage of potable water with the only current source of 
“new” water being the Doheny Desalination plant, which will take years to complete and 
probably not begin operations until 2028. Capital costs of building a desalination plant 
are generally beyond the capability of a single water district. 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 22 of 57 

… experts predict an eventual shortage of water would 
result in a moratorium on development. 

 

Water supplies collected through precipitation are the most economical but the most 
unreliable. There are insufficient storage facilities in Orange County for capturing 
precipitation and there are no aquifers in South County.  

The State of California has mandated that municipalities create new housing 
opportunities, particularly low-income housing. Developers are required to install water 
saving features such as low-flow toilets and showers, water-saving washing machines 
and drought-resistant landscaping, all of which increase the cost of building. These 
features do not offset the effects of the drought, and experts predict an eventual 
shortage of water would result in a moratorium on development. 

Businesses and industries such as retailers, manufacturers, and theme parks rely on 
clean and dependable water. If they cannot depend on the local suppliers their 
enterprises are at risk. Homeowners, as ratepayers, are likely to see increases in their 
water bills due to increased costs of purchased water by the wholesalers and retailers.  

Severe drought, causing major reductions in river flow, has an adverse effect on 
hydroelectric plants resulting in shortages of power to the grid. Developing an 
alternative source of water (desalination) reduces the reliance on this supply for 
consumption, thus making more available for power generation.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Drinking Water Obtained from the Sea 

South Orange County imports 90% of its drinking water, with most of it currently coming 
from the Colorado River. The allotment of water from the river is at serious risk and will 
likely be significantly reduced. In recent years, not enough precipitation has fallen to 
meet Orange County’s drinkable water needs, and there is no way to make it rain or 
snow.  

Seawater can be made into fresh potable water in a process called desalination, one of 
the solutions being considered to resolve this looming crisis. However, the Grand Jury 
determined that desalination is not being implemented fast enough. Although ocean 
desalination currently requires an initial capital investment and high operating costs and 
raises environmental challenges, critics acknowledge it would make a significant 
contribution to Orange County’s water portfolio.12  

Desalination is being used increasingly around the world to provide people with needed 
freshwater.13 According to the International Desalination Association, more than 300 
million people around the globe receive their water from desalination plants.14 

Multiple desalination plants are under consideration in California, with only a few in 
operation. The Carlsbad Desalination Plant, near San Diego, provides approximately 
ten percent of the freshwater used in the region, and Santa Barbara is currently 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 23 of 57 

upgrading an older plant. Recently, two new seawater plants have received approval to 
begin construction: one on the Monterey Peninsula, and the Doheny Plant in Dana 
Point. Orange County must consider the benefits of a high-capacity facility as a means 
towards self-sufficiency. 

Current challenges to desalination include planning, construction costs, impact on 
marine life from saltwater intake, high energy demands, operating complexities, difficulty 
of cycling plants on and off, and disposal of concentrated salt brine.  

Desalination challenges are mitigated by creating economies of scale with high volume 
production and careful planning, selecting suitable locations, and technological 
improvements. For example, the Carlsbad plant produces 50 million gallons per day or 
more than 56,000 acre feet (AF) per year. The plant started operation in 2015 and 
reports that it produces water for ½ cent per gallon, or $1600 per AF, in large part due 
to its high volume.15 For comparison, the MWDOC published rate as of January 1, 
2023, is $1,209 per acre foot.16 If Orange County were to establish a similar facility, it 
would offset the need for imported water and allow imported water to be redirected to 
other Southern California communities relying on importation, such as Inland Empire. 

The length of time to plan, obtain permits, and construct a desalination plant can take 
decades. A proposed plant at Huntington Beach was in planning and permitting for over 
twenty years and ultimately was not approved. South Coast Water District began the 
initial steps for the Doheny Plant at Dana Point in 2016 and it is expected to be in 
operation by 2028.   

Unless the State of California initiates methods for expediting the planning and approval 
processes, it can take at least as long as these two projects for any new ocean 
desalination plants. The State has shown it can accelerate the approval process as 
evidenced by the approval of SoFi Stadium17 in record time by enacting legislation that 
expedited the permit and environmental requirements without compromise. 

It is well known that desalination has an impact on the environment, and we are 
fortunate to live in a state where protecting the environment is important. Engineers and 
water experts are researching how to integrate more renewable energy into the next 
generation of plants. The environmental impacts and costs of desalination should be 
compared against the full environmental impacts and costs of importing water from 700 
miles away, not just wholesale rate costs as is usually done.  

Orange County cannot continue to rely on imported water, nor can it ignore the fact that 
there is an immediate need to take advantage of the ocean as a drought-resistant 
source of water. According to the Grand Jury’s research and interviews, the 
environmental concerns, surrounding intake and outflow of saltwater, and high 
electricity demand are being met as evidenced by the Doheny approval, therefore 
allowing desalination plants to operate. Orange County should embrace desalination as 
a major part of an overall local plan, not just a last resort. 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 24 of 57 

COMMENDATIONS 
South Coast Water District is to be commended for its strategic foresight. The District 
has recently gained approval for the Doheny Ocean Desalination Project for which they 
initiated feasibility studies in 2008. The plant is now anticipated to be operational in 
2028. The Doheny Ocean Desalination Project is a new, reliable, local, and drought-
proof water supply. The Doheny Ocean Desalination Project is the first desalination 
project in the State of California to be fully compliant with the California Ocean Plan.18 

Orange County Water District successfully manages the aquifer under Central and 
North Orange County for the benefit of multiple water suppliers. It has also built the 
Groundwater Recovery System (GWRS) to treat wastewater to potable levels for 
supplementing the aquifer. Recently, it expanded and commissioned the GWRS. The 
Orange County Grand Jury commends OCWD for its work.  

The water suppliers for Orange County have undertaking numerous initiatives to 
increase the resiliency of their water supplies. The Orange County Grand Jury 
commends these suppliers for their efforts and encourages them to continue pursuing 
expanded opportunities.  

The Orange County public has significantly reduced the per-capita water usage through 
conservation efforts. This is important to maximizing the water supply. The Orange 
County Grand Jury commends the public for these efforts. 

The Orange County Grand Jury commends the leadership of MWDOC and OCWD for 
their continued negotiations regarding merger.  

The Orange County Grand Jury commends the Southern California news media for their 
continued efforts in reporting on the critical nature of our water supply.  

FINDINGS 
In accordance with California Penal Code Sections 933 and 933.05, the 2022-2023 
Grand Jury requires (or, as noted, requests) responses from each agency affected by 
the findings presented in this section. The responses are to be submitted to the 
Presiding Judge of the Superior Court. 

Based on its investigation titled “Historic Rain, Yet Drought Remains,” the 2022-2023 
Orange County Grand Jury has arrived at the 12 principal findings, as follows: 
 
F1 Future water supplies are impacted by climate change and current supplies will 

not meet future demands. 

F2  Climatologists predict future extended periods of low moisture with occasional 
wet years. 

F3 Climate change is inevitable and is exacerbated by human behavior. 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 25 of 57 

F4 South Orange County relies primarily on the importation of water. 

F5 Local water suppliers recognize that enhanced stormwater capture and storage, 
wastewater recycling, and infrastructure improvements will not be sufficient to 
address the long-term forecast of drought and its effects on supply. 

F6  There is significant water infrastructure planning, but inadequate implementation. 

F7  The review and approval process for major water capital projects is cumbersome 
and overly restrictive. 

F8  Failing to find solutions to water shortages will have a significant impact on the 
Orange County economy. 

F9  Continued development in Orange County creates additional water supply needs. 

F10 Conservation and efficient use of water is essential. 

F11 Increased outreach and public education are necessary. 

F12 Desalination has proven to be technologically and environmentally feasible and is 
slowly being embraced as a drought-resistant source of water. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
In accordance with California Penal Code Sections 933 and 933.05, the 2022-2023 
Grand Jury requires (or as noted, requests) responses from each agency affected by 
recommendations presented in this section. The responses are to be submitted to the 
Presiding Judge of the Superior Court. 
 
Based on its investigation titled “Historic Rain, Yet Drought Remains,” makes the 
following four recommendations:  
 
R1 The County of Orange Board of Supervisors should take a leadership role by the 

end of calendar year 2023 to explore the establishment of a “Climate Resiliency 
District” or Joint Powers Authority to fund and expedite implementation of a 
drought-resistant source of water. F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F12 

R2  Orange County water agencies should expedite the planning, development, and 
construction of desalination plants over the next five years to insure a sustainable 
and reliable drought-resistant source of water. F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, 
F11, F12 

R3  The County of Orange and all Orange County cities should formulate an 
emergency development moratorium plan in anticipation of the Colorado River 
water supply being constrained. The emergency moratorium plan should be 
developed by the end of calendar year 2023. F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, 
F10, F11, F12 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 26 of 57 

R4  Orange County water agencies should update their public communication 
strategies, by calendar year end 2023, to inform the public of lifestyle changes if 
additional water sources are not developed. F10, F11, F12 

REQUIRED RESPONSES 
Findings – 90 Day Response Required 

County of Orange Board of 
Supervisors 

F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Municipal Water District of 
Orange County  

F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Orange County Water District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Irvine Ranch Water District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Moulton Niguel Water District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Santa Margarita Water District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

South Coast Water District 
 

F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

 
Recommendations – 90 Day Response Required 

County of Orange Board of 
Supervisors 
 

R1, R3 

Municipal Water District of 
Orange County  
 

R2, R4 

Orange County Water District R2, R4 

Irvine Ranch Water District R2, R4 

Moulton Niguel Water District R2, R4 

Santa Margarita Water District R2, R4 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 27 of 57 

Recommendations – 90 Day Response Required 

South Coast Water District 
 

R2, R4 

  

REQUESTED RESPONSES 
 
Findings – 90 Day Response Requested 

East Orange County Water 
District 
 

F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

El Toro Water District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Anaheim F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Santa Ana F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Fullerton F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Emerald Bay Service District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Golden State Water Company  F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Laguna Beach County Water 
District 

F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Mesa Water District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Serrano Water District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Trabuco Canyon Water District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Yorba Linda Water District F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of San Juan Capistrano F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of San Clemente F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Tustin F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Fountain Valley F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 28 of 57 

Findings – 90 Day Response Requested 

City of Westminster F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of La Habra F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Brea F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Buena Park F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of La Palma F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Seal Beach F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Huntington Beach F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Garden Grove F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

City of Newport Beach F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Santa Ana Water Shed Project 
Authority 
 

F1, F2, F3, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

Metropolitan Water District of 
Southern California 

F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12 

  

  

  

 
Recommendations – 90 Day Response Requested 

East Orange County Water 
District 
 

R2, R3, R4 

El Toro Water District R2, R3, R4 

City of Anaheim R2, R3, R4 

City of Santa Ana R2, R3, R4 

City of Fullerton R2, R3, R4 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 29 of 57 

Recommendations – 90 Day Response Requested 

Emerald Bay Service District R2, R3, R4 

Golden State Water Company  R2, R4 

Laguna Beach County Water 
District 
 

R2, R3, R4 

Mesa Water District R2, R3, R4 

Serrano Water District R2, R3, R4 

Trabuco Canyon Water District R2, R3, R4 

Yorba Linda Water District R2, R3, R4 

City of San Juan Capistrano R2, R3, R4 

City of San Clemente R2, R3, R4 

City of Tustin R2, R3, R4 

City of Fountain Valley R2, R3, R4 

City of Westminster R2, R3, R4 

City of La Habra R2, R3, R4 

City of Brea R2, R3, R4 

City of Buena Park R2, R3, R4 

City of La Palma R2, R3, R4 

City of Seal Beach R2, R3, R4 

City of Huntington Beach R2, R3, R4 

City of Garden Grove R2, R3, R4 

City of Newport Beach R2, R3, R4 

Santa Ana Water Shed Project 
Authority 
 

R2, R3 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 30 of 57 

Recommendations – 90 Day Response Requested 

Metropolitan Water District of 
Southern California 
 

R2, R3, R4 

  

  

  

 
 
  

  



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 31 of 57 

GLOSSARY  
Acre-feet 
 
The unit of volume typically used to describe the quantity of water stored in large 
reservoirs and aquifers and delivered through large conveyance systems for irrigation 
use and for treating for public use. An acre-foot is one surface acre that is one foot deep 
and is equal to 325,851 gallons.  
 
Aquifer 
 
An underground layer or body of permeable rock, sediment, or soil that can store and 
yields water. Orange County has a large aquifer underlying North and Central County.  
 
California State Water Project (CSWP) 
 
A multi-purpose water storage and delivery system that extends more than 705 miles 
and includes a collection of canals, pipelines, and reservoirs to deliver water to 27 
million Californians, 750,000 acres of farmland, and businesses throughout the state. 
 
Conjunctive Use 
 
Using surface water in wet years and storing as groundwater for use in dry years. 
Surface water is injected directly into aquifers and wells to be used as needed as part of 
groundwater banking or is stocked in ponds or basins and then allowed to percolate 
naturally into aquifers. 
 
Desalination 
  
The process of removing salt from brackish water or seawater. For the purposes of this 
report, desalination is used primarily in terms of sea or ocean water. 
 
Direct Potable Water Reuse 
 
The process by which recycled wastewater is treated to a high degree suitable for potable 
use and placed directly into potable distribution systems. California has recently created 
regulations for direct potable water reuse. 
 
Drought  
 
A prolonged period of low or no rainfall that causes water scarcity and affects    
ecosystems, agriculture, and human health. 
  



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 32 of 57 

 
Gray Water  
Wastewater from bathtubs, shower drains, sinks, washing machines and dishwashers; 
however, some plumbing codes exclude water from sink and dishwasher as being 
classified as gray water. 
 
Ground Water Recovery System (GWRS) 
 
Operated by Orange County Water District, the system takes highly treated wastewater 
that would have previously been discharged into the Pacific Ocean and purifies it to 
potable standards. 
 
Potable Water Reuse Indirect 
 
Treatment of water such as recycled wastewater, to a high degree suitable for potable 
purposes and uses an environmental buffer, such as a lake, river, or a 
groundwater aquifer, before the water is treated again and utilized as potable water. 
This process is used by Orange County Water District at GWRS to treat water and 
replenish the aquifer under North and Central Orange County.  
 
Recycled Water 
 
Water reuse (also commonly known as water recycling or water reclamation) reclaims 
water from a variety of sources then treats and reuses it for beneficial purposes such as 
agriculture and irrigation, potable water supplies, groundwater replenishment, industrial 
processes, and environmental restoration. For the purposes of this report, recycled 
water comes primarily from highly treated wastewater. 
 
Reverse Osmosis 
 
A process of producing pure water by forcing it through a semipermeable membrane 
that only allows water to pass. It is the primary method for large scale desalination and 
is also used as one of the final treatment steps for producing potable water from 
wastewater.  
 
Sustainability 
 
The long-term viability of a community or practice. 
 
Urban Runoff 
 
As commonly referred to in Orange County, surface runoff during dry weather of 
landscape irrigation, and car washing created by urbanization. It can also refer to the 
stormwater runoff over impervious surfaces (roads, parking lots and sidewalks). The 
concern with urban runoff is possible contamination of surface and groundwater.  
 
  



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 33 of 57 

Water Banking  
 
The practice of forgoing water deliveries during certain periods, and “banking” either the 
right to use the water in the future or saving it for someone else to use in exchange for a 
fee or delivery in kind. Typically, in Southern California, it is stored in aquifers. 
 
Water Source 
 
As used in this report, a water source is defined as the ocean or precipitation. 
 
Water Suppliers 
 
As used in this report, water suppliers include water districts and cities that provide water 
to the public. 
 
Water Supply 
 
As used in this report, water supply includes water derived from a water source and that 
is stored, conveyed, and utilized by the public. 
  



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 34 of 57 

 

REFERENCES 
 

• 10 You Tube Videos posted by Orange County Water District, posted between 
2015 and recent 

• 14 YouTube Videos Posted by Municipal Water District of Orange County over 
last 5 years 

• 2 YouTube Videos posted by Santa Margarita Water District 2020 
• 3 YouTube Videos regarding OC’s Largest Recycled Water Reservoir posted by 

Santa Margarita Water District 2020 
• 5 YouTube videos posted by ABC regarding OC Water issues, between 2018 

and recent 
• A Review of Water Demands for the Orange County Water District by James 

Fryer, Environmental Scientist July 2016 
• A Study of Deep Aquifers Underlying Orange County, United State Geological 

Survey 1969 
• ACWA Communications Committee Water Reuse Terminology 2016 
• Assessing Risk to the National Critical Functions as a Result of Climate Change, 

Homeland Security, 2022 
o California Department of Conservation 
o California Department of Fish and Wildlife 
o California Department of Water Resources 

• California Department of Water Resources | Natural Resources Agency Drought 
In California Report 2021 

• California Department of Water Resources 2022 Annual Water Supply And 
Demand Assessment Summary Report 

• California National Resources Agency Report to the Legislature on the 2012–
2016 Drought 

• California Natural Resources Agency Department of Water Resources 2022 
Urban Community Drought Relief Grant Program Guidelines and Proposal 
Solicitation Package 

• California Natural Resources Agency Department of Water Resources 2022 
Integrated Regional Water Management Grant Program Guidelines 

• California Senate Bill No. 852 Climate Resilience District 2021 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 35 of 57 

• California State Water Boards – Water Rights Frequently Asked Questions Web 
Page 

o California State Water Resources Control Board 
• California Water Boards - Ocean Plan Requirements for Seawater Desalination 

Facilities 
o California Water Commission 

• California’ Water Supply Strategy – Adapting to a Hotter, Drier Future, 4 
California Agencies, August 2022 

• Clean Water Act Section 3 l 2(f) Application by the California State Water 
Resources Control Board 

• Climate Change 2022 Mitigation of Climate Change Intergovernmental Panel On 
Climate Change 

o Colorado River Board of California 
o County of Orange 

• Delta Flood Risk Management Delta Protection Commission State of California 
Assessment District Feasibility Study And Delta Levee Financing Option 2018 

• EPA The Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) Doheny 
Ocean Desalination Project Funding Information 

• How water works in Orange County, web page by Orange County Water District 
https://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/ 
https://www.drought.gov/forecasts 
https://www.weather.gov/riw/drought 

• Indicators Of Climate Change In California Fourth Edition November 2022 
California Environmental Protection Agency 

o Irvine Ranch Water District 
• Local water providers, web page by Orange County Water District  
• Major Water Conveyance Facilities, Map by Metropolitan Water District of 

Southern California 
• Map of Orange County Water Agencies from Municipal Water District of Orange 

County 
o Mesa Water District 
o Metropolitan Water District of Southern California 

• Metropolitan Water District Presentation Emergency Conservation Program for 
the SWP Dependent Areas 2022 

• Metropolitan Water District Water Glossary Web Page 
o Moulton Niguel Water District 

https://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/
https://www.drought.gov/forecasts
https://www.weather.gov/riw/drought


  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 36 of 57 

o Municipal Water District of Orange County 
• MWDOC 2020 Water Shortage Contingency Plan 
• MWDOC Announcement Newsom administration releases draft EIR to 

modernize Delta Conveyance 
• MWDOC Directors Support Legislation to Streamline Approval of Storage 

Projects Statement 
• National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Related Links on Climate, 

Drought https://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/ 
• Numerous Related YouTube Postings 
• OC Water Reliability Study MWDOC 2018 
• OCWD Webinar – Preparing for Maximum Stormwater Capture while 

Safeguarding the Region from Flooding 2022 
o Orange County Water District 

• Orange County Water District 2018 Information Brochure  
• Orange County Water District Act 2018  
• Orange County Water District Coastal Aquifers Merger Zones 2002 
• Orange County Water District Depth to Shallow most groundwater map, 1997 
• Orange County Water District Groundwater Contours Map 2020 
• Orange County Water District Surface Water Recharge Facilities Map 2018 
• Orange County Water District Three-Layer Basin Model Extent Map 2015 
• Orange County Water District Well Locations 2018 

o Others, not noted 
• Pacific Institute The Untapped Potential of California’s Urban Water Supply: 

Water Efficiency, Water Reuse, and Stormwater Capture 2022 
• Pacific Institute Water Resilience Brief 2021 
• Public Policy Institute of California Managing California’s Water From Conflict to 

Reconciliation 2021 
• Public Policy Institute of California Paper on Storing Water 2018 

o Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy 
o Santa Ana Water Shed Project Authority 
o Santa Margarita Water District 
o South Coast Water District 

• South Coast Water District Doheny Ocean Desalination Project Water Cost 
Analysis Executive Summary 2021 

• Stanford University Report Growth in California and Water 2012 

https://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/


  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 37 of 57 

• The following websites were referred to: 
• The Untapped Potential of California’s Water Supply: Efficiency, Reuse, and 

Stormwater Pacific Institute June 2006 
• Treehugger - What Is Desalination? How Does It Impact the Environment? 2021 
• Various information regarding 2014 Water Bond 
• Water Advisory Committee of Orange County – monthly reports 
• Water Education Foundation – Conjunctive Use 
• Webinar OCWD A Regional Update on Southern California Water Supplies 2022 
• Webinar OCWD Take It to the (Water) Bank: Ensuring Regional Water Supply 

Reliability 2022 
o Yorba Linda Water District 

• You Tube Posting, OCSD Replenishing precious Ground Water, Black and 
Vetch, 2013 

• YouTube Posting, Michelson Water Recycling Plant, Irvine Ranch Water District 
2009 

• YouTube Video, Research in Action, Orange County Water District Reuse, 
posted by the Water Research Foundation 2022 
 

  



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 38 of 57 

 

APPENDIX A: ACTIONS BY LOCAL 
AGENCIES TO SECURE SUPPLY 
Water Banking:  

Water banking may help with droughts but is only a part of the solution and it has yet to 
prove itself.  
 
Water banking is being pursued Metropolitan Water District and various water suppliers.  
Simply put, water banking is a voluntary, market-based tool that could facilitate water 
transactions between willing sellers and buyers. Water right owners, who are willing to 
free up some of their water in a particularly dry year or years, would temporarily lease it 
to those who simply cannot afford to be without water. Water banking also takes water 
during periods when it is available and stores it.  Banking water during wet years 
provides water districts with a cushion of protection during droughts. It also conserves 
any unused water, rather than letting it run out to the sea or be lost to evaporation. The 
storage is usually done in aquifers and generally not within the individual agencies area.  
The water banking agreements can be complex and depend upon broad cooperation 
among various agencies for delivery and storage.   
 

Conjunctive use is a 
catchphrase for 
coordinated use of surface 
water and groundwater. 
The state considers water 
banking a “conjunctive 
use” and  
encourages such uses.19 
 
On a statewide level, 
California has 517 
groundwater basins. 

Stanford’s Water in the West institute estimates that the capacity of underground water 
storage in California is at least 20 times greater than that of the state’s reservoirs and 
lakes. However, the means to store surplus water and return it in dry years is 
lacking. The Sustainable Groundwater Management Act of 2014 has created the 
opportunity to expand recharge basins and banking particularly in agricultural areas but 
to date, action is lagging. 
 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 39 of 57 

The largest water banking project 
underway that affects Orange 
County is the Santa Ana River 
Conservation and Conjunctive 
Use Program (SARCCUP). It is a 
regional program that involves 
several agencies in Orange 
County, Riverside County, and 
San Bernardino County. While a 
logical program to undertake, 
there are technical and 
distribution issues that must be 
worked out and these items may 

take several years.  
 
A more controversial banking program is 
the Cadiz project. The Cadiz Water 
Project is a water supply project to 
manage the groundwater basin underlying 
a portion of the Cadiz and Fenner Valleys 
in California’s Mojave Desert. At least one 
water agency in Orange County has 
considered this program as a potential 
source of water to meet their needs. The 
program has been promoted since 1997 
and has yet to move forward. There are several environmental concerns with the 
program and concerns about transferring water between basins, particularly one under 
a desert. The Cadiz project currently is not viable supply of water.   
 
There are criticisms of water banking and its effect on local communities. A Georgetown 
Environmental Law Review article in March 2022 stated, “While advocates of water 
banking believe its market-based approach will efficiently allow a reduction of use of 
water, especially during droughts, opponents may cite some examples of how letting the 
market take over may be detrimental to local communities.” Such concerns are valid 
and need to be considered prior to relying on water banking as the only solution to 
ensure water supply during times of drought. 
 
Purchase of water rights 

 
Temporary transfers of water from one water user to another have been used 
increasingly as a way of meeting statewide water demands, particularly in drought 
years. This has been done through the purchase of water rights. There are numerous 
articles concerning the possible negative effects of this practice, including the effects on 
less wealthy communities and agricultural. Due to these concerns, this practice should 
be limited. Farms in western Arizona are growing alfalfa – one of the most water-



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 40 of 57 

intensive crops – in an area where there's a shortage of water. Some farms are foreign-
owned and are shipping the crop to Saudi Arabia, where it's illegal to grow because it 
takes too much water.20 

Water sources cannot be bought or sold but the water taken from a lake, river, stream, 
or creek, or from underground supplies for a beneficial use, requires you have a water 
right.21  The right to use that water can be conveyed on a temporary basis. Temporary 
transfers of water from one water user to another have been used increasingly as a way 
of meeting water demands, particularly in drought years.  
 
During interviews, the Grand Jury found the purchase of water rights to be widespread.  
Agencies stated the cost of acquiring water rights is significantly less than developing 
new sources. The practice includes asking agricultural users to allow their land to lay 
fallow.   
 
There are numerous articles about making the agriculture industry more efficient.  
These effects, if they occur, will take time and be costly. Taking water from a major 
industry to satisfy urban demands is inherently wrong and will not solve the problem of 
extended drought.  
 
Recycling Water 

Recycled water offers Orange County a way to reduce water requirements but is limited 
by the amount of wastewater that can be recycled which in turn is dependent upon 
available water supply. It is an important piece of Orange County water resiliency but 
not a solution itself.   
 
Recycled water is wastewater that has been treated to a level acceptable for 
landscaping and certain other industrial uses. The regulations regarding the use and 
stand for treatment of recycled water are referred to as Title 22.22 Orange County has 
been a leader in recycling of water through Orange County Water District and Irvine 
Ranch Water District.23 Irvine Ranch Water District reports that 25% of the water it 
supplies is recycled.  Recycled water replaces the need for using potable water. 
 
Currently, various water districts are expanding their recycling systems by constructing 
additional reservoirs and distribution systems. The cities and water districts in Orange 
County have also been active in sponsoring legislation that supports recycling of water.  
 
South Orange County Wastewater Authority (SOCWA) treats and distributes for reuse 
roughly six billion gallons of water every year.24 However, not all SOCWA treatment 
plants are recycling as much as feasible, most notably the JB Latham Treatment Plant 
does not recycle any treated wastewater.  During the interviews, different agencies 
noted there are jurisdictional friction that is being worked on to increase recycling and 
potentially water reuse in South Orange County. The Grand Jury strongly encourages 
cooperation or mergers that would increase recycling in South Orange County. 
 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 41 of 57 

In summary, water recycling is an important part of Orange County’s water supply and 
needs to be utilized to the maximum extent. However, it will not resolve water resiliency 
issues by itself and it relies on existing sources of water.  
  
Reuse of Water for Potable Purposes 

Reusing wastewater for potable purposes is an important part of North Orange County’s 
water portfolio. Orange County Water District produces 130 million gallons of indirect 
reuse water per day. However, the amount reused water is dependent upon the 
diminishing supplies within Orange County.  
 
Water reuse is used to enhance water security, sustainability, and resilience. The 
process of using treated wastewater for drinking water is called potable water reuse. 
Potable water reuse provides another option for expanding a region’s water supply 
portfolio. 
 
There are two types of potable water reuse: 

• Indirect potable reuse: Uses an environmental buffer, such as a lake, river, or a 
groundwater aquifer, before the water is treated at a drinking water treatment 
plant. 

• Direct potable reuse: Involves the treatment and distribution of water without an 
environmental buffer.25 

 
Orange County Water District has been providing indirect potable reuse. In the mid-
1990s, OCWD began the planning and construction that created the Groundwater 
Replenishment System to produce indirect potable water. The process built upon an 
earlier process to produce water to prevent groundwater intrusion. The process took 
over ten years to implement and the system is working well. However, it should be noted 
as being limited because it relies upon a declining supply and it is a lengthy process.  
 
Interviewees have noted that OCWD is considering direct potable reuse. The State of 
California is currently enacting regulations to enable direct potable reuse. One of the 
advantages of direct potable reuse is the elimination of the loss due to evaporation at 
the percolation ponds and the efficiency of direct use.   
 
In summary, water reuse is a vital part of the portfolio of water for Orange County to 
insure water resiliency. Water reuse should also be expanded to the practical extent 
possible. The time to complete such projects is lengthy and needs to be started 
immediately. However, reuse is only part of the water needed by Orange County and 
the source problem needs to be addressed. 
 
Aquifer Management 

Managing the aquifer underneath North Orange County created a highly resilient source 
of water, but it is challenged by the climate change. The main and supplemental 
supplies of water are diminishing with less precipitation. The use of the aquifer for wet 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 42 of 57 

weather storage has not met it potential due to challenges in trapping rainwater and 
runoff. The aquifer has not been made a regular source of water for all of Orange 
County which could ease South Orange County’s supply problems.   
 
The aquifer supplies approximately 72% of the water for North and Central Orange 
County. The aquifer is primarily supplied by runoff in the Santa Ana River and 
supplemented with water from the OCWD’s Groundwater replenishment project and 
water purchased through MWDOC and MET.   
 
OCWD has done well managing the aquifer for North and Central Orange County with 
existing flows. It has also taken steps to increase the supply of water by working with the 
Corps of Engineers to better manage the flow of water in the Prado Reservoir, 
expanding the groundwater replenishment system, and participating in the Santa Ana 
River Conservation and Conjunctive Use Program.26 All of these steps reinforce the 
ability of the basin to supply water but do not in themselves assure an increased supply 
water.  
 
South Orange County can only receive water during times of emergencies but does not 
have regular access to the water. Interviewees noted there was a lack of ability to move 
water to South Orange County. Because South Orange County is almost 100% 
dependent upon water imported from MET, this is highly problematic during drought.  
 

The Santa Ana River 
water basin covers San 
Bernardino and 
Riverside Counties as 
well as Orange County.  
The Santa Ana 
Watershed Project 
Authority (SAWPA) 
works to maintain the 
water quality in the 
Santa Ana River and is 
actively working on 
drought responses.  
According to its web 
site, “SAWPA’s work in 
the Santa Ana River 

Watershed advances projects and programs that build water resiliency and promote 
collaborative, innovative responses to water planning, all of which help address drought 
conditions.”27 SAWPA also prepared a water shed management plan.28 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 43 of 57 

 
Weather modification 
and promoting water 
efficiency are the 
primary drought 
responses of SAWP.  
Through weather 
modification (cloud 
seeding) it hopes to 
achieve 5% more 
precipitation in 
specific types of 
storms.  

 
The water efficiency approach is to help implement water use efficiency programs and 
conservation-based rate structures.29 We were provided with no specifics regarding 
what percentage can be saved, but through interviews the Grand Jury learned that the 
savings are between 15% to 30%.   
 
None of the initiatives by SAWPA are likely to have an impact on water supplies during 
prolonged California drought. Interviewees consistently stated that we cannot conserve 
our way out of a drought. 
 
Adding to the concern about the Santa Ana River ground water supply basin is the 
Inland Empire’s future demands on the water. Development is rapidly taking place and 
surface water sources and water agencies are recycling water to greater degrees rather 
than discharging treated wastewater to the Santa Ana River.30 The Inland Empire 
communities are largely dependent upon Metropolitan Water District supplies which are 
subject to drought. 
 
Orange County Water District only has rights to withdrawing an adjudicated amount of 
34,000-acre feet of water from the Santa Ana River. This is approximately half of the 
70,000-acre feet typically used to manage the aquifer levels. OCWD typically purchases 
30% of the water added to the aquifer from MWDOC. The water MWDOC supplies 
comes from Metropolitan Water District (MET). During late 2022, MET reduced the 
water from Northern California Sources to 5% of previous amounts. The water MET 
receives from the Colorado River is endangered as discussed elsewhere.  
 
In summary, the Central and North Orange County aquifer has limits on its ability to 
supply water to Orange County. These include dependencies on water from 
Metropolitan Water District, which has had problems supplying water, and a potentially 
dwindling supply of water from the Santa Ana River. The aquifer is not a supply of water 
for South Orange County. The aquifer limitations reinforce the need for Orange County 
to provide for a more drought-resistant supply of water. 
 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 44 of 57 

Utilization of other supplies 

Besides the North/Central Orange County aquifer and those obtained from Metropolitan 
Water District, there are other insignificant supplies of water. These include surface 
water captured in Irvine Lake and the San Juan Creek Groundwater Basin in South 
Orange County. Neither of these are significant supplies of water. 
 
Water Efficiency to Increase Supply 

Orange County Water Districts have found they can reduce the immediate need for 
increasing water supplies by more efficient use of water. This certainly stretches the 
water supplies, but it is limited in its ability. Future water needs will require more than 
just efficient water use. 
 
During the recent drought from 2011 to late 2022, Orange County Water Suppliers 
reduced the per-capita water use significantly by more efficient water use and 
conservation. This has allowed development to continue to occur even as the water 
supply was reduced.  
 
Irvine Ranch Water District (IRWD) customers reduced their water use from 89 gallons 
per capita in 2007 to 67 gallons per capita in 2021.31 The area served by IRWD is a 
newer area where much of the landscaping is irrigated by recycled water and is drought 
tolerant. The IRWD also has extensive use of water saving plumbing in homes.  Older 
areas of Orange County have also reduced per-capita water use.  North and Central 
Orange County reduced water use from 330 acre-feet in water year 1999-2000 to 230 
acre-feet in water year 2022-202332 while the population grew slightly.33  
 
Water efficiency savings have been achieved by adopting water saving devices, 
changes in landscape practices, greater recycling of water, tiered water rates (higher 
users, higher rates) and the public’s participation.  Water suppliers have worked with 
users to identify the need for greater efficiency by promoting these changes.  The State 
of California also mandated a 20 percent reduction in urban per-capita water use by 
2020 in the Water Conservation Act of 2009. 
 
The change to efficient use of water will need to become the future standard as water 
supplies diminish and as housing development increases.  However, it is not reasonable 
to expect greater efficiency to make up for the reduction in supply caused by climate 
change.   Several of the interviewees and many of the reference documents the Grand 
Jury reviewed stated Orange County cannot conserve its way out of a drought.  
 
Besides the significant reduction in per-capita water use, greater savings may be made 
by more drastic changes in lifestyle.  None of the information supplied by water 
suppliers and reviewed by the Grand Jury addressed these changes.  As an example of 
lifestyle changes, areas such as Phoenix and Las Vegas have either adopted or are in 
the process of adopting drastic restrictions on landscape water use as a long-term 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 45 of 57 

climate mitigation.  Among these restrictions is a moratorium on development by 
restricting new water connections.34    
 
Continue efficient water use is needed for the future. Orange County has made 
significant changes in per-capita water use by being efficient, but any additional savings 
will only come through changes to lifestyle. This needs to be made clear to residents if 
additional efficiency is to be achieved, but even additional efficiency will not mitigate the 
effects of climate on Orange County’s current water supply. Ocean desalination is 
recommended as the ultimate answer to an untapped source of water and can secure 
Orange County’s future. 
 

APPENDIX B: graphics of interest 

Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, Municipal Water District Orange 
County and Orange County Water District Information Sheets 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 46 of 57 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 47 of 57 

 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 48 of 57 

BIBLIOGRAPHY   
 
Abigail M. Johnson, Water Banking: A Potential Solution or Misguided Idea, Georgetown Law 
Review, March 13, 2022 
 
Adam Beam, State debates what to do with water from recent storms, Associated Press Article, 
February 15, 2023 
 
Alastair Bland, Colorado River water users convening amid crisis concerns, Associated Press 
Article, December 13, 2022 
 
Alastair Bland, Is California’s drought over? Water providers still predict shortages next year, 
Cal Matters, December 13, 2022 
 
Alejandra Borunda, The drought in the western U.S. could last until 2030, National Geographic , 
October 27, 2022 
 
Allison Armstrong, Information Officer, New Report Shows Continued Water Conservation Is 
Key to Enabling Suppliers to Meet Demand, State Department of Water Resources, November 
28, 2022 
 
Amelia Bates, Tribes in the Colorado River Basin are fighting for their water. States wish they 
wouldn’t, High Country News, November 16, 2022 
 
Amie Davis, Better Than Running Out of Water – Desalination Plants in Australia, The 
Guardian, September 19, 2019 
 
Andy Restrepo, Is the California drought over? What’s the situation after the latest snowstorms?,  
USA Today , February 28, 2023 
 
Annie Snyder, Shrinking Colorado River hands Biden his first climate brawl, Poltico, February 
4, 2023 
 
Avery Arena, The Colorado River Is in Crisis. It’s Not Just About Water., Slate, February 14, 
2023 
 
Ben Tracy, Investors Buying Water Rights, CBS Evening News , January 31, 2023 
 
Brandon Pho, Is Poseidon’s Huntington Beach Desal Plant Proposal Gone for Good?, Voice of 
Orange County, July 6, 2022 
 
Brendan O'Leary, California reservoirs are taking radical new steps to save rainwater before 
droughts: ‘We need to prepare’, NPR, January 30, 2023 
 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 49 of 57 

Brooke Staggs, Key vote for Doheny desalination plant coming Thursday, Orange County 
Register, October 11, 2022 
 
Brooke Staggs, Coastal Commission approves ocean desalination plant off Orange County coast, 
Orange County Register, October 14, 2022 
 
Brooke Staggs, County, Cities fall short on climate change planning, Orange County Register, 
January 26, 2023 
 
Brooke Staggs, Doheny desalination plant in Dana Point clears final regulatory hurdle, Southern 
California News Group - OCR, December 9, 2022 
 
Brooke Staggs, Lake (Big Bear) has risen 2 feet in week, but its still low, Orange County 
Register, January 21, 2023 
 
Brooke Staggs, Mesa Water digs deep to sustain district, Orange County Register, July 26, 2022 
Brooke Staggs, New federal funds will help Southern California weather megadrought, Orange 
County Register, August 19, 2022 
 
Caleigh Wells, This climate solution saves water and creates solar energy, KCRW, November 
28, 2022 
 
Camille von Kaenel, Shrinking Colorado River hands Biden his first climate brawl, POLITICO, 
February 23, 2023 
 
Christopher Flavelle, As the Colorado River shrinks, Washington prepares to spread the pain, 
New York Times, January 30, 2023 
 
Clara Harter, Kristy Hutchings, Tyler Shaun Evans, Water officials issue warning, Orange 
County Register, December 15, 2022 
 
Contributing Editor, VP Touts Water Conservation, Orange County Register, January 21, 2023 
 
Craig Miller and Paul Helliker, California’s water supply goes beyond the current drought, 
Orange County Register, June 18, 2022 
 
Dan Walters, California may reallocate shrinking water supply, Cal Matters, October 18, 2022 
 
Dan Walters, Opinion - Another step toward agreement on California’s water, Cal Matters, 
November 16, 2022 
 
Daniel Amarante and Daniel Manzo, Extreme drought nearly eliminated in California in wake of 
atmospheric rivers, ABC News, January 12, 2023 
 
Daniel Gligich, Valadao rolls out sweeping overhaul of Calif. water policy, The San Joaquin 
Valley Sun, January 10, 2023 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 50 of 57 

 
Daniel Porter, Why Isn't Desalination the Answer to All California's Water Problems? The New 
Humanitarian , December 15, 2015 
 
Don Thompson, Water use drops 10% in July as state deals with drought, Orange County 
Register, September 8, 2022 
 
Editorial Board, Editorial - Consolidate water boards in our region, Orange County Register, 
October 28, 2022 
 
Editorial Board, Editorial - Desal plant rightly gets the green light, Orange County Register, 
October 26, 2022 
 
Editorial Board, Editorial - Flooding shows the need for storage, Orange County Register, 
January 4, 2023 
 
Editorial Panel, Editorial – States Climate Strategy Lacks Clear Direction, Orange County 
Register, January 17, 2023 
 
Editorial Panel, Opinion – Water is a Terrible Thing to Waste, Los Angeles Times, January 18, 
2023 
 
Edward Ring, Opinion - Harvesting the deluge is an opportunity for Californians,– California 
Policy Center, January 12, 2023 
 
Elizabeth Weise and Dinah Voyles-Pulvec, Are California's storms normal, or is climate change 
making them worse? What experts say., USA Today, January 10, 2023 
 
Elizbeth Weise, Water crisis in West: Massive reservoir Lake Powell hits historic low water 
level, USA Today, February 20, 2023 
 
Emily Pontecorvo, The West’s Biggest Source of Renewable Energy Depends on Water. Will it 
Survive the Drought? Gist, October 18, 2022 
 
Ethan Baron, Keeping California's head above water - Scientist helps companies adapt to 
growing risk of drought, flood and climate change, Bay Area News Group, January 15, 2023 
 
George Skelton, Opinion Column: Shrinking water supply will mean more fallow fields in the 
San Joaquin Valley, Los Angeles Times, February 20, 2023 
 
Gianna Melillo, Here’s how California is trying to hold on to its rainwater, The Hill, January 17, 
2023 
 
Gina Ayala – Media Contact, Four Pfas Treatment Facilities In Orange Begin Operation, 
Treating Up To 7,500 Gallons Of Water Per Minute, Orange County Water District Press 
Release, October 10, 2022 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 51 of 57 

 
Greg Hass, Lake Mead and Lake Powell are swelling. Here is what that means for the water 
supply, The Hill, April 21, 2023  
 
Gregory Pierce, Nicholas Chow, Kyra Gmoser-Daskalakis, Peter Roquemore, and Nichole Heil, 
Analyzing Southern California Supply Investments from a Human Right to Water Perspective, 
UCLA Luskin Center for Innovation Part of The Proposed Poseidon Ocean Water Desalination 
Plant in Orange County, UCLA Review, April 2019 
 
Haley Smith and Ian James, Drought emergency declared for all Southern California, Los 
Angeles Times, December 14, 2022 
 
Haley Smith, Los Angeles is running out of water, and time. Are leaders willing to act? Los 
Angeles Times, October 13, 2022 
 
Haley Smith, Nearly 20% of California water agencies could see shortages if drought persists, 
state report shows, Los Angeles Times, November 30, 2022 
 
Haley Smith, Recent storms give drought-weary California cause for hope, but will they 
continue? Los Angeles Times, December 13, 2022 
 
Haley Smith, Water savings just a drop, experts say, Los Angeles Times, September 16, 2022 
 
Haley Smith, With all this rain and snow, can California really still be in a drought? Look 
deeper, Los Angeles Times, February 22, 2023 
 
Hayley Smith, They used to call California ocean desalination a disaster. But water crisis brings 
new look, Los Angeles Times, November 7, 2022 
 
Hayley Smith, Why Southern California is still imposing water restrictions despite so much rain, 
Los Angeles Times, February 6, 2023 
 
Ian James, Depletion of groundwater is accelerating in California's Central Valley, study finds, 
Los Angeles Times, December 27, 2021 
 
Ian James, Growing fears of ‘dead pool’ on Colorado River as drought threatens Hoover Dam 
water, Los Angeles Times, December 16, 2022 
 
Ian James, Molly Hennessy-Fiske, Sean Greene, Gina Ferazz, The Colorado River is Overused 
and Shrinking, Los Angeles Times Continuing Articles, February 1, 2023 
 
Ian James, More water restrictions likely as California pledges to cut use of Colorado River 
supply, Los Angeles Times, October 6, 2022 
 
Jake Bittle, Water thieves abound in dry California. Why are they so hard to catch? Grist, 
December 1, 2022 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 52 of 57 

 
Jeff Gritchen, Before and After Photos Irvine Lake, Local Irvine Publications, January 25, 2023 
 
Jelena Jezdimirovic and Ellen Hanak, How California’s Water Bond Is Being Spent, Public 
Policy Institute of California, December 2017 
 
Jess Thomson, Is Lake Mead Filling Back Up? Newsweek, February 1, 2023 
 
Joel B. Pollok, Lake Mead and Lake Powell, Reservoir Article, Los Angeles Times, February 5, 
2023 
 
John Addison, Lessons from Orange County, California's water strategy, Greenbiz - John 
Addison, Meeting of the Minds, January 2, 2019 
 
Jonathan J. Cooper and Kathleen Ronayne, Arizona’s Kelly slams California on Colorado River 
use, Associated Press, October 27, 2022 
 
Joshua Frank, The Truth About the California Water Crisis, Counterpunch, June 15, 2022 
 
Jules Bernstein, From drought to deluge: What's next for California? PhysOrg, April 10, 2023 
 
Julia Jacobo and Daniel Manzo, Megadrought out West expected to intensify, expand east: 
NOAA, ABC News, April 21, 2022 
 
Julia Jacobo, Are rising water prices amid the Western megadrought inevitable? Yes, but it's 
complicated, experts say, ABC News, June 13, 2022 
 
Julia Jacobo, Bodies of water all over North America are drying up due to drought, climate 
change: Experts, ABC News, October 19, 2022 
 
Julia Jacobo, Southwest experiencing driest conditions in at least 1,200 years due to climate 
change, new study finds, ABC News, February 14, 2022 
 
Julia Sizek with Kim Stringfellow, The Trouble with Cadiz, The Mojave Dispatch reporting on 
Mojave Project, February 2018 
 
Karen Breslau, Mark Chediak and Kim Chipman, Recent storms show risk in state's outdated 
plumbing, Bloomberg, Reprinted Orange County Register, January 15, 2023 
 
Kathleen Ronayne and Suman Naishadham, California releases its own plan for Colorado River 
cuts, Associated Press Article, February 1, 2023 
 
Kathleen Ronayne, Audit: State too slow to fix contaminated water systems, AP in Orange 
County Register, July 27, 2022 
 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 53 of 57 

Kathleen Ronayne, California should invest tens of billions of dollars in water recycling, storage 
and desalination over the next two decades to shore up its supply as the state gets drier and 
hotter, Gov. Gavin Newsom said in a proposal released Thursday., Associated Press, August 11, 
2022 
 
Kathleen Ronayne, State plans for scaled back giant water tunnel, Associated Press, July 28, 
2022 
 
Keith Schneider, Lack of water may doom shift to desert living, New York Times, January 1, 
2023 
 
Kurt Snibbe, As Orange County is increasing restrictions on water use, it may not feel like it, but 
drought here is less severe than many places around the world, Orange County Register, August 
27, 2022 
 
Kurt Snibbe, Here’s why the desalination plant in Doheny was approved and Huntington Beach’s 
wasn’t, Orange County Register, October 23, 2022 
 
Larry Wilson, Editorial No wet people without wetlands, Orange County Register, September 5, 
2022 
 
Laura Baisas, We're only 8 years away from stronger El Niño and La Niña events, Popular 
Science, November 18, 2022 
 
Lior Novik, There will be no water shortage in Israel, Jerusalem Post, May 5, 2023 
 
Loren Sommer, Emily Kwong, Rebecca Ramirez, Berly McCoy, California's flooding reveals 
we're still building cities for the climate of the past, National Pubic Radio, January 20, 2023 
 
Martin Wisckol, Cost of Poseidon desalinated water gets renewed scruting, Orange County 
Register, March 31, 2022 
 
Mike Anderson, Graham Fogg, Susan De Anda, Ellen Hanak, 3 reasons why California's drought 
isn't really over, despite all the rain, National Public Radio, March 23, 2023 
 
Ned Kleiner, Op-Ed: Why California wasn't prepared for the atmospheric rivers, Los Angeles 
Times, January 25, 2023 
 
News Editor, California’s drought disaster is turning into an economic disaster: ‘It’s 
unprecedented’, Fox News, December 6, 2022 
 
Nihar Patel, Drought-stricken CA increasingly turning to desalination of ocean water, National 
Public Radio, November 28, 2022 
 
OCWD Members, Water Supply Reliability Expected to Improve at Prado Dam, Association of 
California Water Agencies, August 25, 2021 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 54 of 57 

 
Paul Cook, 1 billion gallons of rainwater captured at Irvine Lake, Irvine Standard, February 2023 
 
Paul Rogers, Newsom calls for funding for water, Bay Area News Group, August 11, 2022 
 
Rachel Becker, Another California desalination plant approved — the most contentious one yet, 
Cal Matters, November 17, 2022 
 
Rachel Becker, How Can California Boost Its Water Supply? Cal Matters, November 7, 2022 
 
Rachel Becker, Tunnel vision: What’s next for the governor’s plan to re-plumb the Delta? Cal 
Matters, June 22, 2022 
 
Rachel Ramirez, More than 70 water agencies in California could face water shortages in the 
coming months, state report shows, CNN, December 1, 2022 
 
Raquel Becker, Four in a row: California drought likely to continue, Cal Matters, September 28, 
2022, Water savings go only so far State needs 'all of the above' drought strategy, mayor says, 
Los Angeles Times, September 2, 2022 
 
Raymond Zhong, Officials warn of coming California megastorm, New York Times, August 15, 
2022 
 
Rene Marsh, This California city paid $1.1 million to keep faucets running through March as the 
price of water skyrockets, CNN, November 1, 2022 
 
Rob Jordan, Reasons for hope amid California’s drought, Water in the West News, October 27, 
2021 
 
Robert Reid, The new1.6 billion gal. reservoir is the largest facility of its kind in Orange County 
and the first to be constructed there in decades., American Society Civil Engineers CE Magazine, 
October 2022 
 
Robyn White, Lake Mead Water Levels Over Time Shown in Before and After Pictures, 
Newsweek, January 3, 2023 
 
Robyn White, Lake Mead Water Levels Over Time Shown in Before and After Pictures, Los 
Angeles Times, January 3, 2023 
 
Robyn White, Why Is the Colorado River Drying Up? Newsweek, December 21, 2022 
 
Sammy Roth, These farmers dominate the Colorado River. Cross them at your own peril, Boiling 
Point republished Los Angeles Times, January 19, 2023 
 
Sammy Roth, Want to solve climate change? Open more land to solar, industry leader says, Los 
Angeles Times, December 1, 2022 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 55 of 57 

 
Sammy Roth, Want to solve climate change? This California farm kingdom holds a key, Los 
Angeles Times, January 17, 2023 
 
Sharon Udasin , DRIED UP: In California, desalination offers only partial solution to growing 
drought, The Hill, December 5, 2022 
 
Staff Drinking water from the sea, THE WEEK, February 17, 2023 
 
Staff, Remarkable recovery at Northern California's most beleaguered reservoir, CBS San 
Francisco, February 19, 2023 
 
Staff, Sites Reservoir Is a Solution to California’s Megadrought, South Coast Water District, 
November 5, 2022 
 
Stan Metz and Felicia Fonseca, Deadline looms for western states to cut Colorado River use by 
about 15%, Associated Press, August 17, 2022 
 
Stephen Katz, For Potable Reuse, Innovation Drives Adaptation, Waterworld, December 2022 
 
Steven Greenhut, Editorial - Enviros just want to make everyonemiserable, Orange County 
Register, January 15, 2023 
 
Steven Greenhut, Editorial - Will Our State Get Water Policy Right, Orange County Register, 
July 31, 2022 
 
Stuart Snell, World-first major desalination field study finds minimal marine impact, UNSW 
Sydney, September 20, 2018 
 
Teri Sforza, Build more houses! Use less water! California, can you have it both ways? Orange 
County Register, July 18, 2022 
 
Teri Sforza, Editorial You’re not saving enough water, Southern California, Orange County 
Register, July 11, 2022 
 
Teri Sforza, One OC water agency fights for its life in face of consolidation desires, Orange 
County Register, February 10, 2023 
 
Teri Sforza, Who are Orange County’s biggest water or wasters? Here’s the list, Orange County 
Register, August 14, 2022 
 
Teri Sforza, Who’s cracking down on water wasters in OC? Orange County Register, November 
23, 2022 
 
Thomas Elias, Opinion - California will resist bullying along the Colorado River, Letter in Los 
Angeles Times, February 17, 2023 



  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 56 of 57 

 
Times Editorial Board, Editorial: An unfair plan to cut California’s use of Colorado River water, 
Los Angeles Times, February 26, 2023 
 
Tom Coleman, Editorial Water Conservation is not enough, Orange County Register, January 1, 
2023 
 
Various, A Water War Is Brewing Over the Dwindling Colorado River, Washington Post, 
December 27, 2022 
 
White, Robyn, Biden Says Climate Change Could Dry Up Colorado River. Is It Possible? 
Newsweek, March 15, 2023  
 
 

NOTICE 
Reports issued by the Grand Jury do not identify individuals interviewed. 
Penal Code section 929 requires that reports of the Grand Jury not 
contain the name of any person or facts leading to the identity of any 
person who provides information to the Grand Jury.   

 

ENDNOTES 
1 The Groundwater Replenishment System - Providing Water for The Future. 2003-2004; Water Budgets, Not Water 
Rationing 2007-2008; “Paper Water” — Does Orange County Have A Reliable Future?  2008-2009; Orange County 
Water Sustainability: Who Cares? 2012-2013; Sustainable and Reliable Orange County Water Supply: Another 
Endangered Species? 2013-2014; Increasing Water Recycling: A Win-Win for Orange County 2014-2015 
 
2 Metropolitan Water District Web Site See Metropolitan Water District Web Site MWD | Homepage (mwdh2o.com) 
 
3 See Metropolitan Water District Web Site https://www.mwdh2o.com 
 
4 California Department of Water Resources State Water Project Web Page State Water Project (ca.gov) 
 
5Washington Examiner Article “$2.7 billion bond fund to build water reservoirs sits idle in California” dated August 16, 
2021 
 
6 Natural Resources Bond Accountability Web Page Proposition One (ca.gov) 
 
7 California Environmental Protection Agency – Indicators of Climate Change in California – 4th Addition, California’s 
Water Supply Strategy – Adapting to A Hotter, Drier Future – Introduction – August 2022. 
 

 

https://www.mwdh2o.com/
https://water.ca.gov/Programs/State-Water-Project


  HISTORIC RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS 

 

 
ORANGE COUNTY GRAND JURY 2022 I 2023  Page 57 of 57 

 
 
8 Newsom calls for funding for water – Bay Area News Group Article dated August 11, 2022 
 
9 California Government Code (Beginning with Section 62300) to Title 6 of the Government Code 
 
10 Water in Orange County Needs “One Voice” Orange County Grand Jury Report 2021-2022 
 
11 018 OC Study Report Final Report_02-01-2019 td with apendices.pdf (mwdoc.com) 
 
12 See Treehugger Sustainability for All article dated April 15, 2021 
 
13 United States Geological Survey Web Page on Desalination | U.S. Geological Survey (usgs.gov) 
 
14 International Desalination Association web page IDA | The Global Desalination and Water Reuse Community 
(idadesal.org) 
 
15 Claude Lewis Carlsbad Desalination Plant, “Homepage.” https://www.carlsbaddesal.com 
 
16 Municipal Water District of Orange County webpage Water Rates and Charges | MWDOC 
 
17 SoFi Stadium is a sports and entertainment destination built in Inglewood, California 
 
18 Ocean Plan Requirements for Seawater Desalination Facilities by the California Water Boards – State Water 
Resources Control Board 
 
19 Conjunctive Use - Water Education Foundation 
 
20 Ben Tracy, Saudi company draws unlimited Arizona ground water amid drought, CBS News 
 
21 California State Water Control Boards Web Site – Water Rights Page 
 
22 Water Recycling and Title 22 - Water Education Foundation 
 
23 50 Years of Recycled Water (irwd.com) 
 
24 Recycled Water | SOCWA 
 
25 Potable Water Reuse and Drinking Water | US EPA 
 
26 Drought - Orange County Water District (ocwd.com) 
 
27 Drought Response - SAWPA - Santa Ana Watershed Project Authority 
 
28 Wic07Aone-one-watershed-plan-update.pdf (OCWD.com) 
 
29 Water Conservation Portal - California Statutes | California State Water Resources Control Board 
 
30 Recycled Water Service - Eastern Municipal Water District (emwd.org) 
 
31 See Irvine Range Water District web site IRWDis 
 
32 See Water Advisory Committee of Orange County Water Supply Report Dated March 3, 2023 
 
33 USA Facts Orange County, CA population by year, race, & more | USAFacts 
 
34 Water shortages threaten development throughout the West – AZMirrow Article dated June 10, 20 
 



GENERAL MANAGER'S REPORT 
 

June 2023 

 

I. OFFICE OF THE GENERAL MANAGER 
 

• MWDOC / OCWD Joint Planning Committee Meeting 

• MWDOC Board Meeting 

• MWDOC Managers Meetings 

• MWDOC Policy Forum Dinner 

• SOCWA Facilitated Discussion Meetings 

• Meeting with Rich Shintaku – South Coast Water District 

• Meeting with Dan Ferons – Santa Margarita Water District 

• Meeting with Mike Dunbar – Emeral Bay Service District 

• Meeting with Sarah Hodge – ACWA 

• ACWA Region 10 Event 

• R-6 Cover & Liner Replacement Project Construction Meetings 

• Meeting with Chris Dull – President of Brady  

• MNWD Executive Officers Meeting 

• South Orange County Agencies Group Meeting 

• Meeting with ETWD President & Vice President 

• ETWD Agenda Review Meeting 

• ETWD All Employee Meeting 

• ETWD Community Informational Meetings 

• ETWD Regular Engineering & Finance Committee Meetings 

• ETWD Regular Board Meeting 

 
 
II. DOMESTIC AND RECYCLED WATER SALES 
 

Actual domestic sales for the year-to-date as of June 30, 2023 are 5,790.67 acre-
feet. This compares to year-to-date budgeted domestic sales of 6,700 acre-feet. 
The year-to-date variation in actual to budgeted sales reflects a decrease of 909.33 
acre-feet. Actual sales are 995.47 acre-feet lower than last year-to-date actual sales 
for the same period. 

 
Actual recycled sales for the year-to-date as of June 30, 2023 are 1,065.56 acre-
feet. This compares to year-to-date budgeted recycled sales of 1,485 acre-feet. 
The year-to-date variation in actual to budgeted sales reflects a decrease of 419.44 
acre-feet. Actual sales are 566.42 acre-feet lower than last year-to-date actual 
sales for the same period. 



0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

A
cr

e 
F

ee
t

F.Y. 2022-2023

POTABLE WATER SALES

Budget

Actual

0

50

100

150

200

250

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

A
cr

e 
F

ee
t

F.Y. 2022-2023

RECYCLED WATER SALES

Budget

Actual

Year to Date:

Total Budget  
6,700.00 AF

YTD Budget
6,700.00 AF

Actual
5,790.67 AF      

Under Budget
909.33 AF

Year to Date:

Total Budget  
1,485.00 AF

YTD Budget
1,485.00 AF

Actual
1,065.56 AF      

Under Budget
419.44 AF 



JUNE 2023

Customer Service Activity Report

Regular Service Calls JUNE 2023 JUNE 2022 Telephone Calls JUNE 2023 JUNE 2022

Serviceman Dispatched to Read, 

Connect/Disconnect Service 86 93

Change of Service:                               

Connections and Disconnections 80 89

Field Investigations: Billing / Payments & Graph Inquires 165 211

Check for leaks - calls to CS 

Office:(irrigation,meter,street leaks)

Assistance with online payments and 

ETWD's portal (cc, e-checks, other.) 33 10

  Customer Responsible 15 22

  District Responsible 11 7 Variance / Adjustment Inquiries 4 24

  None found/other
18 13

Variance / Adjustment Requests 

Processed 7 4

High Reads Checked - High Consumption 

(Billing Dept.) 47 11

Ordinance Infraction / Water Waste 

Complaints 0 3

   Cust Leaks: 11  No Leaks: 36

Check Stopped Slowed Meters-Low 

Consumption (Billing) 32 2
Outside Utility Districts

59 67

Re-Check Read
6 9

Phone calls Transfer to other 

Departments within ETWD 63 58

Ordinance Infraction 1 7 Phone calls for the Board of Directors 0 0

Recycled Water 0 0 Recycled Water 0 2

Water Quality:  Taste / Odor / Color  2 3 Water Quality Taste - Odor - Color 0 4

Phone response: _2_  Field response: _1_ Leaks / Breaks 17 14

Construction (Hydrant) Meters issued 2 2 Construction Meter calls (Hydrant) 3 3

Sewer - Odor/Stoppage/ Manhole Covers 1 5 Sewer Problems (odor / spills) 1 5

Meter Box:  Lids / Covers  Replaced 20 19

Meter Box Clean, Digout
5 1

Backflow / Cross Connection 

(questions or yearly testing forms) 1 3

Raised Meter Box

1 4

ETWD facilities inquiries: 

Boxes/Covers/Lids/Hydrants/Pump 

Stations/Graffiti/ "Gen. Maint" 6 14

Trim Bushes / Meter Obstruction 36 60

General Maintenance Response
9 3

Tyco (ADT) Calls                            

(Alarms to ETWD facilities) 0 0

Fire Hydrants:  Hit / Leaks / Caps 1 0 ATT Calls (access to tower sites) 0 3

Pressure(psi) Checks / Reads 2 3 SCE Calls (access to tower sites) 0 1

CSSOV (Angle Meter/Ball Valve/Gate 

Valve/Globe Valve) chk,repair,replaced 10 11

Pager Calls specifically for Pump 

Stations - SCADA 1 0

AMS angle-meter-stop replace/repair 0 1

Bees Removed 1 4

Backflow / Cross Connection 3 5 Payment Extensions 31 29

Fogged Registers
4 21

Delinquent Payment Calls to 

Customer 's prior to shut off per billing 

calendar (automatic courtesy dialer)  38 27

OMCOP: Old Meter Change - Out Program 
2 2

Return Calls from customers left on 

our voice mail system. Ext 500 12 18

Other: (uncommon non-maintenance calls) 7 11 Email Correspondence: 58 79

On-Call After Hrs. CS  Response
23 18

Maintenance Service Order Requests 

(bees, psi, fogged-dirty registers) 4 13

# Posting Notice & 24 Hr. Door Hangers 

Hung 89 92

Misc. (other: employment, deliveries, 

sales calls) 33 24

#Shut Offs/Disconnect for Non-Payment 

(DNP) 15 1
Payment Processing Fee Complaints

0 0

Removed Meter
0 1

Customers Complaints non bill 

related. 0 0

New Meter 0 0 Billing Disputes 0 0

Unread Meters 1 12
Total Field Investigations 450 443 Total Telephone Calls 616 705

 

Uncollectible Accounts: Credit Card Payments JUNE 2023 JUNE 2022

Budget YTD 20,000.00$ 20,000.00$ REGULAR 1,238 $230,224.12 1,093 $232,421.28

Actual YTD 10,891.00$ 2,097.00$   



June-23

Flow, Units G.C. Irrigation Main Distribution WRP Irrigation/Utility Total, Production

Avg. Daily Q, MGD 0.328 1.191 0.088 1.607

Total Q, MG 9.844 35.731 2.647 48.222

Total Acre Feet 30.210 109.654 8.123 147.987

(WRP) Tertiary Treatment Plant

On 7/1, a total of 198,700 gallons of potable make-up water was used to supplement the demand of recycled water.

Total Recycled Water Production

Note: A total of 2,339,700 gallons of potable make-up water was used to supplement the demand for recycled water in June 2023.

On 6/23, a total of 594,000 gallons of potable water was used to supplement the demand of recycled water.

On 6/24, a total of 575,000 gallons of potable water was used to supplement the demand for recycled water.

On 6/29, a total of 720,000 gallons of potable water was used to supplement the demand for recycled water.

On 6/30, a total of 252,000 gallons of potable water was used to supplement the demand for recycled water.



Wednesday, July 12, 2023

Weekly Water Quality System Status
Generated On:7/12/2023 10:36:37 AM

THE METROPOLITAN WATER DISTRICT OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA No violations of State or Federal regulations were recorded during the current period.

0.04

100
357

11~

3.1*
7.1**

0.05
45
433
20~
ND*

1.7**

0.80**

ND*

45~

402

48
0.03

0.08

56
377

49~

ND*

0.04

100
202
48~

2.3*

5.3**

3.3

0

1^^

0

0

0

0

0
0

0

ND
1

607
OOS

277^
OOS

2

280

2

ND

423

38

177

4

2
344

ND

ND

1.7

OOS OOS

ND

OOS

2.56

0.50**
WATER QUALITY INFORMATION LINE: (800) 354-4420 
VISIT MWD ON THE WEB AT http://www.mwdh2o.com

*Bromate values are from sample date 7/3/2023.

NOTES AND COMMENTS

**Bromate maximum contaminant level is an RAA of 10 µg/L.

~THM values are from sample date 6/20/2023.  Diemer plant is from sample date 6/27/2023.

^TDS value is from the latest Table D report.

^^One location in the Central Pool, SCF-0, had a low chlorine residual of 1.57 mg/L on 7/10/2023.

MWD water quality goals meet or exceed all State and Federal regulations.

TOT. Cl  < 1.8 (mg/L)

TOT. Cl  < 1.8 (mg/L)

TOT. Cl  < 1.8 (mg/L)

CASTAIC LAKE
(JENSEN INF)

2

2

2

Tier 4

Tiers 8 & 9

Tier 4

Twr. 1

Tier 4

Lwr. Twr.
OOS OOS OOS

2-MIB (ng/L)

(µg/L)



 As of: June 25, 2023

This report is produced by the Water Resource Management Group and contains information from various federal, state, and local agencies. 

The Metropolitan Water District of Southern California cannot guarantee the accuracy or completeness of this information. 

Readers should refer to the relevant state, federal, and local agencies for additional or for the most up to date water supply information. 

Reservoirs, lakes, aqueducts, maps, watersheds, and all other visual representations on this report are not drawn to scale. 

Questions? Email mferreira@mwdh2o.com

https://www.mwdh2o.com/WSCR

1.7

2.4
2.7

2.3

1.2
0.9

1.3

2.5 2.5

3.1 3.2

2.6

M
ill

io
n

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

Calendar Year

MWD Storage Reserve Levels
Estimated Balance Storage Balance Emergency Storage

WATER SUPPLY CONDITIONS REPORT
Water Year 

2022-2023
Colorado River 

Resources

State Water Project 

Resources

450

500

550

600

650

700

750

800

850

T
h

o
u

s
a

n
d

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

Diamond Valley Lake Storage

Metropolitan Resources

25

75

125

175

225

T
h

o
u

s
a

n
d

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

Lake Mathews Storage

25

30

35

40

45

50

T
h

o
u

s
a

n
d

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

Lake Skinner Storage

Highlights

• SWP allocation is 100% of contractual amounts (Table A)

• Lake Oroville and San Luis Reservoir are both at capacity

Projected CRA Diversions – 764,000 AFSWP Table A – 100% - 1,911,500 AF 

35

%

31

%

WY

CO

UT

AZ
NM

Upper 

Colorado 

River Basin

124%
(% of normal) 

Powell

9.28 MAF

38%

Mead
8.09 MAF

31%

1,055.59 ft

95%
74%

Oroville
3.52 MAF

San Luis
Total: 2.02 MAF
SWP: 1.06 MAF

Castaic
309 TAF

Diamond Valley
598 TAF

Capacity: 810 TAF

Capacity: 182 TAFCapacity: 44 TAF

57 TAF 

more than 

last year

Same as 

last year

32 TAF 

more than 

last year

165%

199%
Peak Snowpack
(as % of normal April 1)

Northern Sierra

319% 
Peak Snowpack 

(as % of normal April 1)

Southern Sierra

122%
(% of normal)

8-Station

160%
(% of normal)

5-Station

191%
(% of normal) 

133%
(% of normal) 

San Diego

100%

99%

Los Angeles

3,579.76 ft

Peak Snowpack
(as % of normal April 1)

MWD WSDM Storage
Calendar Year 2023

2023 Put 

Capacity

Colorado River Aqueduct Delivery System 400 TAF

State Water Project System 621 TAF

In-Region Supplies and WSDM Actions 392 TAF

Other Programs 171 TAF

Total WSDM Storage Put Capacity 1,584 TAF

* As of June 22, 2023

* As of June 22, 2023

https://www.mwdh2o.com/WSCR
https://www.bewaterwise.com/reservoir-water-storage/2.2.4_reservoir_storage.pdf
https://www.bewaterwise.com/reservoir-water-storage/2.2.4_reservoir_storage.pdf
https://www.bewaterwise.com/reservoir-water-storage/2.2.4_reservoir_storage.pdf
https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/WCIS/AWS_PLOTS/basinCharts/POR/PREC/assocHUC2/14_Upper_Colorado_Region.html
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/hourly/levels.html
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/hourly/levels.html
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail.action?resid=ORO
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail.action?resid=SNL
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail.action?resid=CAS
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail?resid=DMV
https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/WCIS/AWS_PLOTS/basinCharts/POR/WTEQ/assocHUC2/14_Upper_Colorado_Region.html
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/snowapp/sweq.action
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/snowapp/sweq.action
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/cgi-progs/products/TAB_ESI.pdf
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/cgi-progs/products/TAB_FSI.pdf
https://www.weather.gov/wrh/climate?wfo=lox
https://www.weather.gov/wrh/climate?wfo=sgx
https://mwdh2o.legistar.com/View.ashx?M=F&ID=12035078&GUID=A7E88E16-F0BE-4E3D-AB3D-4085FA35B1FD


* Chance of required DCP contribution by Metropolitan. Volume is 

average contribution when needed. 

Likelihood based on results from the April 2023 CRMMS in Ensemble 

Model/CRSS model run. Includes DCP Contributions. 

Lake Mead Surplus/Shortage Outlook

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

W
a
te

r 
C

o
n

te
n

t 
(i

n
)

Northern Sierra Snowpack

Normal 2022-2023

0%

88%

167% 176%

67%

196%

37% 67%
90%

0

4

8

12

16

20

P
re

c
ip

it
a

ti
o

n
 (

in
)

8 Station Index Precipitation

Average Monthly Precip Actual Precip to Date

83% 89%

140%

193%

97%

159%

113%

67%
169%

0

2

4

6

P
re

c
ip

it
a

ti
o

n
 (

in
)

Upper Colorado Precipitation

Average Monthly Precip Actual Precip to Date
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

W
a
te

r 
C

o
n

te
n

t 
(i

n
)

Upper Colorado Snowpack

Normal 2022-2023

3

5

7

9

11

13

15

M
ill

io
n

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

Lake Powell Storage

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

M
ill

io
n

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

Lake Mead Storage

Level 1 Shortage

Level 2 Shortage

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

M
ill

io
n

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

Oroville Reservoir Storage

2021-2022 2022-2023

Enhanced Flood Pool (Wet Index) Original Flood Boundaries

0

10

20

30

40

M
ill

io
n

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

Water Year

Sacramento River Runoff

0

5

10

15

20

M
ill

io
n

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

Water Year

Powell Unregulated Inflow

0.0

0.3

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.5

1.8

2.1

M
ill

io
n

 A
c
re

-F
e

e
t

San Luis Reservoir Storage

Total storage 2022-2023 SWP storage 2022-2023

Total Last Year

SWP Last Year

SWP Capacity 1.06 MAF

Capacity: 3.54 MAF

Capacity: 2.04 MAF Capacity: 26.1 MAF

Capacity: 24.3 MAF

380
420
460

J F M A M J J A S O N DT
h

o
u

s
a

n
d

  
A

c
re

-F
e

e
t

Date of Forecast

PVID/Yuma Agricultural Use

2023

TBD

Put (+) / Take (-)
Calendar Year
Projected Lake Mead ICS

0%

122%

241%
189%

126%

280%

2%
42%

100%
0

4

8

12

16

20

P
re

c
ip

it
a

ti
o

n
 (

in
)

5 Station Index Precipitation

Average Monthly Precip Actual Precip to Date

Colorado River ResourcesState Water Project Resources
As of: 06/25/2023 As of: 06/25/2023

Peak 

Snowpack:

199% of April 1 

1.76 MAF 

more than 

last year

516 TAF 

more SWP 

storage than 

last year

63.9 in 

122% of 

normal 

62.7 in 

160% of 

normal

2.44 MAF 

more than 

last year

877 TAF 

more than 

last year

28.8 in   

124% of 

normal

Forecasted  

Use for 2023: 

403 TAF

https://www.mwdh2o.com/WSCR https://www.mwdh2o.com/WSCR

Forecast: 

137% of 

normal

Forecast: 

144% of 

normal

Record Low (2021)
Annual Forecasted for 2023

Long Term Average
Long Term Average

Last Year

Minimum Power Pool

Peak 

Snowpack: 

165% of April 1

2023 2024 2025 2026

Surplus 0% 0% 0% 0%

Shortage 100% 93% 57% 47%
Metropolitan 

DCP*

3%      

180 TAF

16%    

252 TAF

2023

Other SWP Supplies

Carryover

Article 21 

Calendar Year

39,000 acre-feet 

134,000 acre-feet

https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/riverops/crss-5year-projections.html
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/riverops/crss-5year-projections.html
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/snowapp/sweq.action
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/precipapp/get8SIPrecipIndex.action
https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/WCIS/AWS_PLOTS/basinCharts/POR/PREC/assocHUC2/14_Upper_Colorado_Region.html
https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/WCIS/AWS_PLOTS/basinCharts/POR/WTEQ/assocHUC2/14_Upper_Colorado_Region.html
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/hourly/levels.html
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/hourly/levels.html
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail.action?resid=ORO
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/reportapp/javareports?name=B120DIST
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/weekly.pdf
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail.action?resid=SNL
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/hourly/forecast.pdf
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/precipapp/get5SIPrecipIndex.action
http://www.mwdh2o.com/WSCR
http://www.mwdh2o.com/WSCR
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/riverops/crss-5year-projections.html


EL TORO WATER DISTRICT

COLLECTION SYSTEM ACTIVITY REPORT

2023

MONTHLY ANNUAL

0 16

0 3

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 19

FOOTAGE
CHEMICAL

USED

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

FOOTAGE

0

0

0

0

MONTHLY 

FOOTAGE

TOTAL 

CYCLE 

FOOTAGE

TOTAL 

CYCLE 

COMPLETE

PERCENT  

OF CYCLE 

COMPLETE 

PERCENT 

OF WEEKS 

INTO THE 2 

YEAR 

CYCLE 

3,009 344,431 155,777 45% 23%

36,666 263,336 36,666 14% 23%

0 7,728 0 0% 23%

0 0

39,675 615,495 192,443 31% 23%

16,864 98,675

56,539 291,118

MONTHLY 

FOOTAGE

TOTAL 

CYCLE

TOTAL 

CYCLE 

COMPLETE

PERCENT 

CYCLE 

COMPLETE 

PERCENT 

OF WEEKS 

INTO THE 5  

YEAR 

CYCLE 

4,518 344,431 213,674 62% 36%

0 263,336 3,321 1% 36%

0 7,728 17,270 223% 36%

0 0

0 0

4,518 615,495 234,265 38% 36%

3

0

Water Tank Fills  57 57,000

MONTH ENDING: JUNE

ODOR COMPLAINTS LOCATION, ORIGIN, ACTION: 

Outside Laguna Woods Village

Laguna Woods Village

New World

Private System

Other:  WRP

TOTAL

ROOT FOAMING COMMENTS

Outside Laguna Woods Village

Laguna Woods Village

New World

Other

TOTAL

ROOT CUTTING   COMMENTS:

Outside Laguna Woods Village

Laguna Woods Village

New World

Outside Laguna Woods Village

TOTAL

HYDRO-CLEANING 
1

Outside Laguna Woods Village

Laguna Woods Village

New World

Private System

TOTAL

Hot Spots

COMBINED TOTALS:

TV INSPECTIONS
 2

MATHIS WESTLINE DELTA 

Flow Meter/Sampling

1. The Hydrocleaning Objective is a 2 Year Cycle to Clean the Entire System. 

    The current cycle began on 07/01/2022

2   The TV Inspection Objective is a 5 Year Cycle to Inspect the Entire System. 

The current cycle began on 01/25/2021

Laguna Woods Village

New World

Private System

Other

TOTAL

Wet Well Cleaning



The quality and safety of drinking water in the U.S. is regulated by the federal government through the U.S.

Environmental Protection agency (USEPA).  In California, those standards are enforced by the California

Department of Public Health (CDPH).  Water Quality parameters must meet both primary and secondary

water quality standards as established by the CDPH.

PRIMARY STANDARDS -  are intended to protect public health against substances in the

water that may be harmful to humans if consumed for long periods of time.

SECONDARY STANDARDS -  are to ensure esthetic qualities of water such as taste, odor

or clarity.  Rather than its healthfulness, these standards govern substances that may

influence consumer acceptance of water.

Given that 100% of ETWD's potable water resource is fully treated and delivered by Metropolitan Water 

District of southern California (MWDSC) through an enclosed and protected conveyance system, the majority

of the State and federal primary and secondary source water quality monitoring requirements are performed

by MWDSC.  The District's physical responsibility for water quality monitoring is associated with the distribution

system.  To monitor the distribution system water quality the District utilizes both in house and outside lab

services.  Routine distribution analysis conforming to CDPH requirements is conducted for the following

constituents:

1)  Microbiological - The number of microbiological samples and the frequency of analysis during the month

is based on the population and/or service connections served.  Utilizing a population of

50,000, the CDPH requires that 20 "representative" samples be collected and analyzed

for coliform bacteria.  The objective is to maintain water quality that is absent of coliform

bacteria which is a general indicator for the existence of fecal coliform.

2)  Chlorine  - The chlorine residual monitoring is performed in conjunction with the microbiological 

     Residual monitoring.  The CDPH requirement for treated surface water mandates that the distri-

bution system maintain a "detectable" residual.  The number of and frequency of sampling

is determined utilizing the same formula applied to microbiological requirements.  At a 

minimum, we are obligated to collect and analyze for chlorine residual each time we collect

the representative microbiological samples.  Per EPA Disinfectants & Disinfection Byproduct 

Rule (D/DBP), which was effective January 2002, requires quarterly reporting for all sampling.

3) TTHM & HAA5 The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) published the Stage 2 Disinfectants and

Stage 2 DBPR Disinfection Byproducts Rule (Stage 2 DBPR) on January 4, 2006. The Stage 2 DBPR builds

Compliance on existing regulations by requiring water systems to meet disinfection byproduct (DBP)*

maximum contaminant levels (MCLs) at each monitoring site in the distribution system to

better protect public health.  The Stage 2 DBP rule is intended to reduce potential cancer and

reproductive and developmental health risks from disinfection byproducts (DBPs) in drinking

water, which form when disinfectants are used to control microbial pathogens.

This final rule strengthens public health protection for customers of systems that deliver

disinfected water by requiring such systems to meet maximum contaminant levels as an  

average at each compliance monitoring location (instead of as a system-wide average as in

previous rules) for two groups of DBPs, trihalomethanes (TTHM) and five haloacetic acids (HAA5).

The rule targets systems with the greatest risk and builds incrementally on existing rules.

This regulation will reduce DBP exposure and related potential health risks and provide more

equitable public health protection.  The Stage 2 DBPR is being released simultaneously with the 

Long Term 2 Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule to address concerns about risk tradeoffs 

between pathogens and DBPs. 

         EL TORO WATER DISTRICT

          MONTHLY POTABLE WATER QUALITY REPORT



The mandatory requirement under the Stage 2 DBP rule, known as an Initial Distribution System 

Evaluation (IDSE) was completed by ETWD in 2008 and a Stage 2 monitoring plan has been 

approved by CDPH.  Full Stage 2 compliance begins in 2012.  The IDSE identified the locations

with high disinfection byproduct concentrations.  These locations will then be used by the  

District as the 8 sampling sites for Stage 2 DBP rule compliance monitoring.  Compliance with 

the maximum contaminant levels for two groups of disinfection byproducts (TTHM and HAA5) 

will be calculated for each monitoring location in the distribution system.  This approach, 

referred to as the locational running annual average (LRAA), differs from current requirements,  

which determine compliance by calculating the running annual average of samples from all   

monitoring locations across the system.  The Stage 2 DBP rule also requires each system to 

determine if they have exceeded an operational evaluation level, which is identified using their 

compliance monitoring results. The operational evaluation level provides an early warning of  

possible future MCL violations, which allows the system to take proactive steps to remain in  

compliance.  A system that exceeds an operational evaluation level is required to review their 

operational practices and submit a report to the state that identifies actions that may be taken  

to mitigate future high DBP levels, particularly those that may jeopardize their compliance with 

the DBP MCLs.

4)  Physical  - Physical Quality analysis is associated with the esthetic qualities of the finished water.

     Quality Primarily, we are performing analysis for taste, odor and Turbidity (Clarity).  In accordance

with CDPH requirements, the District collects a minimum of 15 samples per month.

5)  Nitrites  - Although the chloramine disinfection process has been effective in controlling TTHM levels,

it requires increased monitoring and adjustment as a result of its susceptibility to the 

Nitrification process.  Nitrification is a biological process caused by naturally occurring

ammonia oxidizing bacteria.  Nitrification in chloraminated drinking water can have various

adverse impacts on water quality, the most serious of which is the loss of total chlorine

residual which is required by the CDPH and the subsequent potential to increase bacteria-

iological activity within the finished or treated water system.  MWD has developed an 

effective nitrification monitoring and prevention program which ETWD staff have adopted

and incorporated into the District's daily water quality monitoring and action plan.  The

number and frequency of this type of monitoring is not currently regulated by CDPH.  

Staff monitor the level of nitrites in source water, reservoirs and the distribution system

daily and weekly in conjunction with the microbiological and chlorine sampling program.

A nitrite level of between 0.015 and 0.030 would signal an alert.  > 0.030 would require 

action such as the addition of chlorine to produce a chloramine residual.

EL TORO WATER DISTRICT

MONTHLY POTABLE WATER QUALITY ANALYSIS

MONTH: June  YEAR :  2023

CONSTITUENT                INSIDE LAB            OUTSIDE LAB

ANALYSIS MCL NO.    RESULTS NO.   RESULTS

1  Microbiological    Pres/Absence 143 Absence Average

2  Chlorine (ppm)  In Field  Detectable Resid 140 Average = 1.46 ppm 

3  TTHM (ppb)       (Stage 2)  80 ppb 8 32.05 ppm

3  HAA5   (ppb)       (Stage 2) 60 ppb 8 13.09 ppm

4  Physical Quality: RANGE

Turbidity (ppm) 5 NTU 20 0.00 to 0.05 Res.

Odor 3 Units 20 ND<1

Color 15 Units 20 ND<5

Temperature No standard 20 68°F To 75°F

5 Nitrite (Alert/Action level) ppm  0.015 to 0.030 ppm 126 0.001  to 0.182

To ensure water quality compliance, the District annually performs approximately 8,750 water quality 

analytical evaluations of the samples collected from the distribution system.



Abbreviations:

RES Indicates that the nitrification was isolated to a reservoir and treated

ND None detected

Pres/Absence Presence (P) or Absence (A) related to a positive or negative bacteriological result

MCL Maximum Contaminant Level

NTU Nephelometric Turbidity Units, a measure of the suspended material in the water

ppm Parts per million

ppb Parts per billion

Total Coliform No more than 5% of the monthly samples may be total coliform-positive

N/A Not available



EL TORO RD

P
K

W
Y

SANTA

R
D

M
U

IRLAN
DS

LAKE FOREST D
R

TRABUCO

JERONIMO RD

A
LI

C
IA

EL TORO R
D

LA PAZ RD

ALISO CREEK RD

C
A

B
O

T

EL TORO RD

PKWY

ALIC
IA

P
K

W
Y

BLVD

TORO

EL

RD

M
O

U
L

T
O

N

PKWY

MARGARITA PKW
Y

M
A

R
G

U
E

R
IT

E

R
D

HWY 241

M
O

U
LTO

N

P
K

W
Y

ALIS
O

 C
REEK

A
LI

SO

CREEK

LAKE FOREST

LAGUNA HILLS

MISSION VIEJO

LAGUNA HILLS

LAGUNA WOODS

ALISO VIEJO

I-5  FREEW
AY

I-5  FREEWAY

I-5  FR
EEW

A
Y

LAKE FOREST

MISSION VIEJO

RAILRO
AD

R
A

ILR
O

A
D

ALISO CREEK RD

EL TORO RD

R-15

/ A

MPR

1 / A

R-14

/ A/ A

R-13

/ A

OC-77

R-10

/ A

/ A

R-16R-3

/ A
R-17

/ AR-2

/ A

R-18

/ A

R-19

/ A

RES-2

/ A

RES-1

/ A

RES-3

/ A

R-1

/ A

R-4

/ A
RES-4

/ A

R-5

/ A

R-6

/ A / A

R-7 R-8

/ A

R-9

/ A

/ A

R-12

/ A

R-11

/ A

RES-6 OUTLET

4

4

4

4

4

4

4
4

4

44

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

MICROBIOLOGICAL MONITORING

A = ABSENCE
P = PRESENCE (POSITIVE)

June

2023

DATA LEGEND

MID
630

SAMPLE POINT

# TESTS / RESULT

ULTRA HIGH
800-920

R-6
620

HIGH
645-720

REDUCED HIGH
537

SPARTAN
620-710

LOW 1
484

LOW 2
465

LOW 3
409

SHENANDOAH
894

GRAVITY
570

CHERRY
770-815

PRESSURE ZONE LEGEND

roryh
Text Box
* Res-6 is offline due to CIP project: "R-6 Reservoir Floating Cover" therefore samples were not taken

roryh
Text Box
N/A*



EL TORO RD

P
K

W
Y

SANTA

R
D

M
U

IRLAN
DS

LAKE FOREST D
R

TRABUCO

JERONIMO RD

A
LI

C
IA

EL TORO R
D

LA PAZ RD

ALISO CREEK RD

C
A

B
O

T

EL TORO RD

PKWY

ALIC
IA

P
K

W
Y

BLVD

TORO

EL

RD

M
O

U
L

T
O

N

PKWY

MARGARITA PKW
Y

M
A

R
G

U
E

R
IT

E

R
D

HWY 241

M
O

U
LTO

N

P
K

W
Y

ALIS
O

 C
REEK

A
LI

SO

CREEK

LAKE FOREST

LAGUNA HILLS

MISSION VIEJO

LAGUNA HILLS

LAGUNA WOODS

ALISO VIEJO

I-5  FREEW
AY

I-5  FREEWAY
I-5  FR

EEW
A

Y

LAKE FOREST

MISSION VIEJO

RAILRO
AD

R
A

ILR
O

A
D

R-1

mg/L

RES-3

mg/L

RES-4

mg/L

RES-1

mg/L

RES-2

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L
mg/L

/          /
mg/L

mg/L

mg/Lmg/L

mg/L

mg/L

mg/Lmg/L

mg/L

R-15

mg/L

R-14

mg/L

RES-6 OUTLET

mg/L

R-13

mg/L

OC-77

mg/L

mg/L

R-11

mg/L

R-10

R-16R-3
R-17

R-2

R-18

R-19

R-4 R-5

R-6 R-7 R-8
R-9

R-12

MPR

mg/L

RES-5

mg/L
1.93 2.08 2.14

/          /

/          /

/          /
/          / /          /

/          /

/          /

/          /

/          /

/          /

/          /

/          /

/          /
/          / /          /

/          / /          / /          /
/          /

/          /

/          /

/          /

/          /

/          /

/          /

1.67

1.45 1.93 2.16

0.00

#DI

V/0! 0.00

1.62 1.90 2.09

1.53 1.77 1.93

0.28 1.54 2.18

1.90 2.09 2.40

0.58 0.91 1.24

1.11 1.40 1.85

0.98 1.24 1.81

1.28 1.64 1.98

0.93 1.37 1.68

0.83 1.39 1.65

1.14 1.48 1.64

1.69 1.81 1.96

1.80 1.88 1.97

1.46 1.82 2.18

1.36 1.64 1.97

1.27 1.61 1.82

1.49 1.83 2.07

1.33 1.58 1.88

1.79 2.08 2.81

1.39 1.57 1.85

0.55 0.71 0.92

0.90 1.07 1.28

0.47 0.72 0.99

LOS ALISOS BLVD

mg/L

BAKER (MNWD)

/          /1.96 2.06 2.12

CHLORINE RESIDUAL MONITORING

DATA LEGEND

June

2023

PRESSURE ZONE LEGEND
GRAVITY
570

SHENANDOAH
894

CHERRY
770-815

LOW 1
484

LOW 2
465

LOW 3
409

HIGH
645-720

REDUCED HIGH
537

SPARTAN
620-710

MID
630

ULTRA HIGH
800-920

R-6
620

MIN / AVG / MAX
mg/L

MCL 4.0 mg/L
MIN 0.2 mg/L

SAMPLE POINT

roryh
Text Box
* Res-6 is offline due to CIP project: "R-6 Reservoir Floating Cover"

roryh
Snapshot

roryh
Snapshot

roryh
Snapshot

roryh
Snapshot

roryh
Text Box
*



EL TORO RD

P
K

W
Y

SANTA

R
D

M
U

IRLAN
DS

LAKE FOREST D
R

TRABUCO

JERONIMO RD

A
LI

C
IA

EL TORO R
D

LA PAZ RD

ALISO CREEK RD

C
A

B
O

T

EL TORO RD

PKWY

ALIC
IA

P
K

W
Y

BLVD

TORO

EL

RD

M
O

U
L

T
O

N

PKWY

MARGARITA PKW
Y

M
A

R
G

U
E

R
IT

E

R
D

HWY 241

M
O

U
LTO

N

P
K

W
Y

ALIS
O

 C
REEK

A
LI

SO

CREEK

LAKE FOREST

LAGUNA HILLS

MISSION VIEJO

LAGUNA HILLS

LAGUNA WOODS

ALISO VIEJO

I-5  FREEW
AY

I-5  FREEWAY

I-5  FR
EEW

A
Y

LAKE FOREST

MISSION VIEJO

RAILRO
AD

R
A

ILR
O

A
D

R-1

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L
mg/L

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L

mg/Lmg/L

mg/L

R-15

mg/L

R-14

mg/L

R-13

mg/L

MPR

mg/L

mg/L

R-11

mg/L

R-10

R-16R-3
R-17

R-2

R-18

R-19

R-4

R-5

R-6 R-7 R-8
R-9

R-12

0.69

0.71

0.77

0.74

0.75

0.74

0.72
0.78

0.76

0.77

0.74

0.74

0.77

0.77

0.74

0.76

0.75

0.75

0.76

0.75

FLUORIDE  MONITORING

SAMPLE POINT

TOTAL
mg/L

DATA LEGEND

OPTIMUM LEVEL

0.7 - 1.3
mg/L

June 2023

GRAVITY
570

SHENANDOAH
894

CHERRY
770-815

LOW 1
484

LOW 2
465

LOW 3
409

SPARTAN
620-710

REDUCED HIGH
537

HIGH
645-720

MID
630

ULTRA HIGH
800-920

R-6
620

PRESSURE ZONE LEGEND



EL TORO RD

P
K

W
Y

SANTA

R
D

M
U

IRLAN
DS

LAKE FOREST D
R

TRABUCO

JERONIMO RD

A
LI

C
IA

EL TORO R
D

LA PAZ RD

ALISO CREEK RD

C
A

B
O

T

EL TORO RD

PKWY

ALIC
IA

P
K

W
Y

BLVD

TORO

EL

M
O

U
L

T
O

N

PKWY

MARGARITA PKW
Y

M
A

R
G

U
E

R
IT

E

R
D

HWY 241

M
O

U
LTO

N

P
K

W
Y

ALIS
O

 C
REEK

A
LI

SO

CREEK

LAKE FOREST

LAGUNA HILLS

MISSION VIEJO

LAGUNA HILLS

LAGUNA WOODS

ALISO VIEJO

I-5  FREEW
AY

I-5  FREEWAY

I-5  FR
EEW

A
Y

LAKE FOREST

MISSION VIEJO

RAILRO
AD

R
A

ILR
O

A
D

R-1

mg/L

RES-3

mg/L

RES-4

mg/L

RES-1

mg/L

RES-2

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L

mg/L

R-15

mg/L

RES-6 OUTLET

mg/L

R-13

mg/L

R-11

mg/L

R-16

R-2

R-5

OC-77

mg/L

MPR

mg/L

mg/L

R-17

RES-5

mg/L0.068

0.005 0.006 0.008

/         /

/         /

/         /

/         /

/         /

/         //         /

/         /

/         /

/         /

/         /

/         /

/         /

/         /
/         /

0.000

#DIV/

0! 0.000

0.026 0.061 0.098

0.002 0.069 0.132

0.001 0.003 0.008

0.016 0.034 0.085

0.002 0.007 0.013

0.066 0.110 0.156

0.099 0.150 0.179

0.056 0.111 0.137

0.030 0.064 0.115

0.038 0.046 0.060

0.005 0.013 0.025

0.036 0.071 0.085

0.096 0.143 0.182

RD

LOS ALISOS BLVD

mg/L

BAKER (MNWD)

0.003 0.007 0.009/          /

NITRITE  MONITORING

DATA LEGEND
SAMPLE POINT
MIN / AVG / MAX

mg/L

ACTION  LEVEL
0.03
mg/L
MCL
1.0

mg/L

June

2023

GRAVITY
570

SHENANDOAH
894

CHERRY
770-815

LOW 1
484

LOW 2
465

LOW 3
409

SPARTAN
620-710

REDUCED HIGH
537

HIGH
645-720

MID
630

ULTRA HIGH
800-920

R-6
620

PRESSURE ZONE LEGEND

roryh
Text Box
* Res-6 is offline due to CIP project: "R-6 Reservoir Floating Cover"

roryh
Snapshot

roryh
Snapshot

roryh
Snapshot

roryh
Snapshot

roryh
Text Box
*



EL TORO RD

P
K

W
Y

SANTA

R
D

M
U

IRLAN
D

S

LAKE FOREST D
R

TRABUCO

JERONIMO RD

A
LI

C
IA

EL TORO R
D

LA PAZ RD

ALISO CREEK RD

C
A

B
O

T

EL TORO RD

PKWY

ALIC
IA

P
K

W
Y

BLVD

TORO

EL

RD

M
O

U
L

T
O

N

PKWY

MARGARITA PKW
Y

M
A

R
G

U
E

R
IT

E

R
D

HWY 241

M
O

U
LTO

N

P
K

W
Y

ALIS
O

 C
REEK

A
LI

SO

CREEK

LAKE FOREST

LAGUNA HILLS

MISSION VIEJO

LAGUNA HILLS

LAGUNA WOODS

ALISO VIEJO

I-5  FREEW
AY

I-5  FREEWAY

I-5  FR
EEW

A
Y

LAKE FOREST

MISSION VIEJO

RAILRO
AD

R
A

ILR
O

A
D

SITE 3

ppb

ppb

ppb

ppb

SITE 2

ppb

SITE 5

ppb

SITE 7

ppb

SITE 8

SITE 4

SITE 1

ppb

SITE 6

33.0

34.0

34.0

30.3

31.2

28.5

33.9

31.5

DATA LEGEND
SAMPLE POINT

TOTAL
ppb

STAGE 2 TOTAL TRIHALOMETHANES (TTHM) MONITORING

MCL

80
ppb

2nd QUARTER 2023

GRAVITY
570

SHENANDOAH
894

CHERRY
770-815

LOW 1
484

LOW 2
465

LOW 3
409

SPARTAN
620-710

REDUCED HIGH
537

HIGH
645-720

MID
630

ULTRA HIGH
800-920

R-6
620

PRESSURE ZONE LEGEND



EL TORO RD

P
K

W
Y

SANTA

R
D

M
U

IRLAN
DS

LAKE FOREST D
R

TRABUCO

JERONIMO RD

A
LI

C
IA

EL TORO R
D

LA PAZ RD

ALISO CREEK RD

C
A

B
O

T

EL TORO RD

PKWY

ALIC
IA

P
K

W
Y

BLVD

TORO

EL

RD

M
O

U
L

T
O

N

PKWY

MARGARITA PKW
Y

M
A

R
G

U
E

R
IT

E

R
D

HWY 241

M
O

U
LTO

N

P
K

W
Y

ALIS
O

 C
REEK

A
LI

SO

CREEK

LAKE FOREST

LAGUNA HILLS

MISSION VIEJO

LAGUNA HILLS

LAGUNA WOODS

ALISO VIEJO

I-5  FREEW
AY

I-5  FREEWAY

I-5  FR
EEW

A
Y

LAKE FOREST

MISSION VIEJO

RAILRO
AD

R
A

ILR
O

A
D

SITE 3

SITE 2

SITE 5

SITE 7

SITE 8

SITE 4

SITE 1

SITE 6

17.0

11.3

22.2

10.6

11.6

14.0

9.5

8.5

ppb

ppb

ppb

ppb

ppb

ppb

ppbppb

DATA LEGEND
SAMPLE POINT

TOTAL
ppb
MCL

60
ppb

STAGE 2 HALOACETIC ACIDS (HAA5) MONITORING
2nd QUARTER 2023

GRAVITY
570

SHENANDOAH
894

CHERRY
770-815

LOW 1
484

LOW 2
465

LOW 3
409

SPARTAN
620-710

REDUCED HIGH
537

HIGH
645-720

MID
630

ULTRA HIGH
800-920

R-6
620

PRESSURE ZONE LEGEND

ND : NONE
DETECTED



EL TORO WATER DISTRICT

UNAUTHORIZED DISCHARGE SUMMARY

 YEAR OF 2023

CONTAINED SPILLED CONTAINED SPILLED

January No Spill

February No Spill

March No Spill

April No Spill

May No Spill

LEGEND 0 0 0 0

S.DC  = San Diego Creek RES. =  Residential                               

S.D.    =  Storm Drain C.      =  Commercial     

A.C.   =  Aliso Creek        S.B.   =  Siphon

G.B.   =  Grease Blockage P.F.   =  Power Failure

S.        =  Sticks

B.P,  =  Broken Pipe

U.W.  =  Untreated  Water

P.       =  Paper R.       =  Roots

SPILL VOLUME (PUBLIC)                

Gallons

REGULATORY 

NOTIFICATION AND 

RESPONSE

R.S.  =  Rocks

C.W.D. = Calcium Water Deposits

DATE PUBLIC / PRIVATE 
SPILL 

TYPE
LOCATION  REASON

IMMEDIATE 

CORRECTIVE 

MEASURES

SPILL VOLUME (PRIVATE)                        

Gallons

POST-INCIDENT 

PREVENTIVE 

MEASURES

RWQCB DISCHARGED TO



WILL SERVE SUMMARY REPORT

June 2023

PROJECT NAME PROJECT DESCRIPTION PHASE CFF

Arbors Access Ramp Adding a 1-1/2” water service connection with backflow protection and 

connecting to the existing sewer system

Construction 28,785$                  

Burger Town Sewer 

Connection

Addition of a 4" sewer lateral Construction -$                       

Laguna Woods City Hall-

Library Project

Addition of a 2,100 sq ft single story library with relocated fire service and 

relocating a fire hydrant

Close-Out 4,391$                    

The Village at Laguna Hills 

(Demo Phase)

Demolition of the various sized water services, irrigation services, fire services, 

and sewer services at the former mall site.

Close-Out -$                       

The Village at Laguna Hills 

(Retail Phase)

Installation of various sized water, fire, and sewer services at the former mall 

site.

Plan Check -$                       

The Village at Laguna Hills 

(Central Residential Phase)

Installation of various sized water, fire, and sewer services at the former mall 

site.

Plan Check -$                       

The Village at Laguna Hills 

(Southern Residential Phase)

Installation of various sized water, fire, and sewer services at the former mall 

site.

Plan Check -$                       

Womens Health Pavilion New construction of a health pavilion with water services, irrigation services, 

sewer services, and fire water services.

Close-Out 21,856$                  

Laguna Hills Inn Fire Sprinkler 

Upgrade

Fire System upgrades including conversion of a fire hydrant to private and 

addition of a 6-inch DCDA

Construction -$                       

Mercado El Rey Expansion Expansion of the market Plan Check Not Yet Calculated

Moulton Parkway Commercial 

Kitchens

Upgrade the existing domestic service, sewer service and installation of a 

DCDA.

Plan Check Not Yet Calculated

Oakbrook Village REI Addition of a backflow prevention device Construction -$                       

Moulton Plaza Optum 

Physical Therapy

Addition of a backflow prevention device Construction -$                       

Lunar Orthodontics Addition of a backflow prevention device Construction -$                       

25376 Maximus Group Home Upgrading the water service Plan Check Not Yet Calculated



WRP BATTERY STORAGE SYSTEM

MONTHLY REPORT

June 2023 Year 4

BILLING PERIOD BILL SAVINGS NET SAVINGS
08/12/22 - 09/12/22 $ 8,142.76 $ 6,552.76
09/13/22 - 10/12/22 $ 2,943.86 $ 1,353.86
10/13/22 - 11/13/22 $ 2,083.92 $ 493.92
11/13/22 - 12/13/22 $ 1,960.66 $ 370.66
12/14/22 - 01/12/23 $ (3,571.97) $ (5,161.97)
01/12/23 - 02/12/23 $ 311.28 $ (1,278.72)
02/11/23 - 03/14/23 $ 2,755.08 $ 1,165.08
03/14/23 - 04/12/23 $ 1,994.90 $ 404.90
04/12/23 - 05/11/23 $ (558.88) $ (2,148.88)
05/11/23 - 06/12/23 $ 6,377.33 $ 4,787.33

TOTAL $ 22,438.94 $ 6,538.94



Sewerage Treatment Plant

23542 Moulton Pkwy, Laguna Woods, CA 92637

Savings Report - 2023-06           May 11, 2023 - Jun 12, 2023

SCE TOU 8 Option D (< 2kV)

Demand Charges Before Storage After Storage Savings

Maximum Demand Charges 1,105kW $23,392.55 943kW $19,964.60 162kW $3,427.95

Summer On-Peak 674kW $9,624.30 523kW $7,470.97 151kW $2,153.33

Winter Mid-Peak (Weekdays) 691kW $4,542.90 634kW $4,166.32 57kW $376.58

Sub-total $37,559.74 $31,601.88 $5,957.86

Energy Charges Before Storage After Storage Savings

Summer Mid-Peak 10,944kWh $1,832.77 7,385kWh $1,236.83 3,558kWh $595.94

Summer Off-Peak 123,278kWh $15,526.93 145,171kWh $18,284.24 (21,892)kWh $(2,757.31)

Summer On-Peak 19,431kWh $3,516.17 4,492kWh $812.91 14,938kWh $2,703.26

Winter Mid-Peak 53,959kWh $7,100.43 28,255kWh $3,718.03 25,704kWh $3,382.40

Winter Off-Peak 138,830kWh $18,196.46 159,158kWh $20,860.86 (20,328)kWh $(2,664.40)

Winter Super Off-Peak 82,969kWh $7,096.37 92,795kWh $7,936.78 (9,826)kWh $(840.41)

Sub-total $53,269.12 $52,849.65 $419.47

Other Monthly Charges Before Storage After Storage Savings

Customer and Other $348.63 $348.63 $ -

Sub-total $348.63 $348.63 $ -

Total Before Storage After Storage Savings

$91,177.49 $84,800.16 $6,377.33

Note: The above data is calculated by Genability using utility meter data. If there were any gaps in the utility data, they were filled with Stem

meter data. Your actual utility bill may look different from the data displayed above due to either issues in the utility data we were provided or in

the Stem meter data collected. Some discrepancies are normal and to be expected. For this reason, Stem completes a thorough review of all

data and reconciles discrepancies by comparing the Genability calculations of the energy storage system cost savings and total bill values with

your utility bills. If you have an outstanding performance guarantee term, any discrepancies identified are adjusted for differences and reflected in

your true up term statement.



1 

To: Board of Directors, Municipal Water District of Orange County 

From: Natural Resource Results 

RE: Monthly Board Report – June 2023 

Appropriations 

The House is moving forward with the fiscal year 2024 appropriations process, marking up a 

handful of bills and moving them through the committee process, including Department of 

Homeland Security and the Energy and Water bill which funds the Bureau of Reclamation. 

House Republican chose to cut spending below the levels agreed to in the debt limit deal, which 

puts them on a collision course with the Senate. Some items of note from the Energy and Water 

bill include the following: 

• $48.5 million for the CVPIA Restoration Fund (FY23 enacted = $45.7 million)

• $0 for the WaterSMART Aquatic Ecosystem Restoration Program (FY23 enacted = $5

million)

• $13.6 million for WaterSMART Grants (FY23 enacted = $65 million)

• $2.25 million for WaterSMART Cooperative Watershed Management (FY23 enacted =

$5 million)

• $50 million for the Drought Contingency Plan (FY23 enacted = $50 million)

• $19.5 million for Salinity Control Title I (FY23 enacted = $20.3 million)

• $6 million for Salinity Control Title II (FY23 enacted = $6 million)

• $24 million for WaterSMART Drought Response (FY23 enacted = $38 million)

• $2 million for Salton Sea Research (FY23 enacted = $2 million)

• $19 million for Desal and Water Purification (FY23 enacted = $17 million)

• $134 million for the WIIN Act Storage Account (FY23 enacted = $134 million)

The bill also includes the full text of Congressman Valadao’s WATER for California Act, which 

has been discussed in previous reports but would mandate that the CVP and SWP be operated in 

accordance with the 2019 biological opinions. 

Unfortunately, Congresswoman Kim’s earmark request for WEROC’s mobile EOC was not 

included in the Department of Homeland Security bill. There were not any water agencies that 

received funding for EOCs and the overwhelming majority of funding for EOCs went to states, 

counties, and local governments. 

Feinstein Legislation 

Item No. 2a

Page 59 of 138



 2 

Senator Feinstein has introduced her comprehensive water bill, the STREAM Act (S. 2162) 

which was informally included in last month’s report and is cosponsored by Senator Kelly (D-

AZ) and Senator Sinema (D-AZ). Broadly speaking, the legislation authorizes funding for 

surface and groundwater storage, water recycling, desalination, and ecosystem restoration. Many 

California water agencies have endorsed the bill. Text of the bill and a section by section are 

included for reference. 

 

She also introduced a bill to fund repairs of the three major canals in California – the Friant Kern 

Canal, the Delta Mendota Canal, and the California Aqueduct – to address the damage done by 

subsidence. The bill also authorizes additional funding for the San Joaquin River Restoration 

Program. 

 

We anticipate that the Senate Energy and Natural Resources Committee will hold an oversight 

and legislative hearing focused on water in early July when Congress returns. Senator Feinstein’s 

bills could be included in that hearing. 

 

WOTUS 

Following the Supreme Court decision in Sackett v. EPA, which significantly narrowed the scope 

of WOTUS, there has been significant uncertainty around what constitutes a jurisdictional water 

and what doesn’t. The Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) has put a pause on jurisdictional 

determinations, throwing a massive wrench in the regulatory world. The Corps has not publicly 

released any guidance on how it will implement the Clean Water Act following the ruling but in 

a congressional hearing last week, Assistant Secretary of the Army for Civil Works, Mike 

Connor, stated that the Administration intends to finalize a new WOTUS rule based on the 

Sackett decision by September 1st. 

 

 

 

Page 60 of 138



1 
 

Section-by-Section Analysis of “STREAM Act” 

Draft, May 2023 

• Section 1, Short Title; Table of Contents, indicates that this Act may be cited as the “Support 

To Rehydrate the Environment, Agriculture, and Municipalities Act” or the “STREAM Act”. 

 

• Section 2, Definitions, includes important definitions of key terms, including: 

 

o Non-Federal storage project, which is any project in a Reclamation State that— 

(A) involves the construction, expansion, or repair by an eligible entity of— 

(i) a surface or groundwater storage project that is not federally owned; 

(ii) a facility that is not federally owned conveying water to or from surface or 

groundwater storage; or 

(iii) a natural water retention and release project; and 

(B) provides a benefit in meeting any obligation under applicable Federal law 

(including regulations).  Section 2(9). 

o Natural water retention and release projects, which use primarily natural processes and 

features, like wetlands, to allow increased utilization of existing storage facilities through 

aquifer recharge, floodplain retention, and altering the timing of runoff.  Besides 

enhancing water supplies, these multi-benefit projects typically also promote ecosystem 

restoration and flood protection.  Section 2(8). 

 

o Federal benefits.  Section 2(8).  As applied to storage, water recycling, and desalination 

projects, this term means  

1) public benefits provided directly by the project;  

2) fish and wildlife or water quality public benefits provided by the implementation of a 

watershed restoration plan approved together with the project, if there is an increased 

Federal commitment to pay for public benefits in the watershed as compared to such 

Federal commitments prior to the date of approval of the project; or 

3) water supply benefits identified pursuant to reclamation law.  

o Public benefits.  Section 2(10).  This term is defined to include: 

 

1) traditional non-reimbursable costs - fish/wildlife including refuges, flood control, 

recreation, water quality, etc.; 

2) drinking water supply for disadvantaged communities; 

3) emergency drinking water supply used in response to a gubernatorial disaster 

declaration; and 

4) energy benefits, including the value of associated greenhouse gas reductions and any 

reduction in energy costs for federal taxpayers. 

  

Page 61 of 138



2 
 

Many of these key terms are further discussed below in the analysis of section 103, Storage and 

Conveyance Projects. 

 

Title I, Infrastructure Development 

• Section 101, Storage and Conveyance Projects 

o This section authorizes funding for non-Federal storage projects.  It uses the Title 

XVI precedent of non-reimbursable funding for water supply where the project 

provides multiple benefits including environmental benefits within the watershed.   

 

o Section 101 is framed as an amendment to the provisions of section 4007 of the Water 

Infrastructure Improvements for the Nation Act (43 U.S.C. 390b note; Public Law 114-

322).    

 

o Section 101 extends section 4007 as applied to State-led storage projects, but does not 

extend section 4007 as applied to Federally-owned storage projects. 

 

o Section 4007(b)(1) as amended would replace the term “State-led storage project” with 

“non-Federal storage project”, because tribes are eligible to seek funding for such 

projects. 

 

o Surface and groundwater storage, conveyance, and natural water retention and release 

projects are eligible per the definition of “non-Federal storage projects” in section 2(9). 

 

o Section 4007(b)(2) as amended would authorize construction of non-Federal storage 

projects other than natural water retention and release projects if 

▪ The eligible entity demonstrates that the project is feasible and provides a Federal 

benefit; 

▪ The eligible entity has sufficient funding to complete the project and is solvent; and 

▪ The Governor of the relevant State (or sponsoring Indian tribe for tribal projects) 

supports Federal funding of the project. 

 

o Section 4007(b)(3) would continue to require compliance with environmental laws for 

Federal participation in a non-Federal storage project.  

o Section 4007(b)(4) would continue to authorize the Secretary to rely on reports prepared 

by the non-Federal entity as long as the Secretary retained responsibility for making the 

determinations in paragraph 4007(b)(2).   

o Section 4007(b)(5) as amended would authorize natural water retention and release 

projects: 

▪ for projects costing less than $10 million, the eligible entity must show that the 

project will help optimize the storage or delivery of water in a watershed in which a 

Bureau of Reclamation facility is located; and 

Page 62 of 138



3 
 

▪ for projects costing over $10 million, there must also be a credible estimate of the 

quantify of the storage benefit.   

o Section 4007(b)(6) as amended would limit the Federal cost-share to $250 million for 

non-Federal storage projects authorized by this section.   

 

o Sections 4007(b)(7) and (8) as amended address the maximum Federal cost-share and 

reimbursability of Federal funding: 

o The Federal cost-share shall not exceed 25 percent of the total cost of the project 

(with the exception of natural water retention and release projects, which can have up 

to a 90% Federal cost-share). 

o Any funding under the program for the value of public benefits shall be 

considered nonreimbursable. 

o Public benefits are defined in Section 2(10) as either 

1) public benefits provided directly by the project; or 

2) fish and wildlife or water quality public benefits provided by the 

implementation of a watershed restoration plan approved together with the 

project, if there is an increased Federal commitment to pay for public benefits in the 

watershed as compared to such Federal commitments prior to the date of approval of 

the project. 

o Water supply benefits are generally reimbursable, except that water supply 

benefits are nonreimbursable up to the extent that the value of the water supply 

benefits is equal to the value of public benefits described above that are fish and 

wildlife or water quality benefits. 

o To give an example, this means that if a project sponsor is seeking $100 million in 

federal funding for a $400 million non-Federal storage project, the sponsor can get 

that $100 million funding on a non-reimbursable basis if there is $50 million in public 

benefits from either the project itself or other projects as part of a watershed 

restoration plan approved with the project, and then an equal $50 million in water 

supply benefits from the project if the public benefits include at least $50 million in 

fish and wildlife or water quality benefits.  Some examples of fish and wildlife or 

water quality benefits from a watershed plan could include: 

o water leasing during a dry year, water sharing agreements, water banking, 

ongoing water conservation, and related activities if they provide fish and 

wildlife or water quality benefits; 

o environmental restoration projects; and 

o natural water retention and release projects. 

 

▪ If nonreimbursable funding is less than 25 percent of the total cost of the eligible 

project, the Secretary may provide reimbursable funds to an eligible entity for 

the value of any water supply benefits identified pursuant to reclamation law (as 

described in section 2(6)(D)) up to the limit of 25 percent of the total project cost. 

 

Page 63 of 138



4 
 

o Section 4007(b)(9) as amended would establish funding priority for a project that has 2 or 

more of the following: 1) substantial multiple benefits, 2) reductions in environmental 

impacts from water projects, 3) multi-state benefits, 4) collaborative development and 

support by multiple stakeholders; or 5) is located in a watershed where an integrated, 

comprehensive watershed management plan. 

o Section 4007(e) as amended would authorize $750 million total in funding from FY 2025 

through FY 2029 for: 

1) non-Federal storage projects, including natural water retention and release projects, 

authorized pursuant to the provisions of this section;  

2) storage projects that are eligible for study funding under section 40902(a)(1) of the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, if for such projects the funding under this section 

is provided in accordance with the provisions of section 40902(b) and (c) of the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act; and   

3) storage projects that have received construction funding under section 40902(a)(2) of 

the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, if for such projects the funding under this 

section is provided in accordance with the provisions of section 40902(b) and (c) of the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act.   

Any carryover storage funding appropriated pursuant to section 4007 of the WIIN Act 

may be used for the three categories of projects described above. 

Because the $750 million authorization in this section would become the general 

source of storage funding provided through annual appropriations, we believe it is 

appropriate to allow this pot to be used for projects that are eligible for study 

funding under the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act.  In addition, if projects 

are partly funded for construction under the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs 

Act, we believe it is appropriate to use this general pot of storage annual 

appropriations to provide funding to move these projects closer to the completion of 

construction that has already begun.  Note that if any funding from this storage pot is 

used for projects authorized to receive funding under the Infrastructure Investment and 

Jobs Act, then the restrictions on which projects can receive funding and the cost-sharing 

and reimbursability rules from section 40902 of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs 

Act would all apply to that funding. 

Under the amended section 4007(e), Congress does not need to approve funding awards 

for specific projects through designating the project by name in an enacted appropriations 

bill.  Reclamation can award funding to projects from available appropriations, after 

competitively evaluating grant applications from eligible projects. 

 

o Subsection 101(b) of the STREAM Act is a conforming amendment which reflects the 

fact that the STREAM Act is amending and extending sections 4007, 4009(a) and 

4009(c) of the WIIN Act, so they no longer expire in 2021. 

 

Page 64 of 138



5 
 

o Subsection 101(c) amends section 40902(a)(2)(C)(i) of IIJA to make potentially eligible 

for construction funding under IIJA two projects whose feasibility studies were 

authorized by IIJA, the Verde Reservoirs Sediment Mitigation Project and the Tualatin 

River Basin Project.  The projects will have to comply with the requirements of section 

40902(a)(2) of IIJA to become eligible for construction funding under IIJA.  

 

o Subsection 101(d) grandfathers Federal and non-Federal storage projects that receive 

construction funding under the $1.15 billion in storage funding in IIJA so they do not 

need further authorization to complete construction.  Absent this provision, partly built 

projects might have to stop in the middle of construction to get Congressional 

authorization when section 40902 of IIJA expires in 2026. 

 

o Subsection 101(e) reauthorizes the CALFED legislation through fiscal year 2027.  

• Section 102, Annual Report to Congress 

 

o This section requires the Commissioner of Reclamation to submit an annual report 

to Congress transmitting feasibility reports on Federal storage projects, and non-

Federal storage projects with a federal investment exceeding $250 million, for 

Congress to consider whether to authorize the projects. 

 

o The basic idea of this section is modeled on the Section 7001 report that the Army Corps 

of Engineers submits to Congress for WRDA projects. 

 

• This section is intended to expedite approval of projects requiring Congressional 

authorization, by facilitating a “Reclamation WRDA” package of projects approved by 

the House and Senate authorizing committees.  If Congress chooses, this “Reclamation 

WRDA” package could be added to the WRDA bill each Congress. 

 

• Section 103, Competitive Grant Program for the Funding of Water Recycling Projects, 

reauthorizes and amends the Title XVI competitive grant program for water recycling 

projects established in 2016 pursuant to the WIIN Act (Subtitle J, Public Law 114-322). 

There are three key differences from the competitive grant program for water recycling 

authorized in the WIIN Act:  

1) The authorization of appropriations has been increased to $300 million over 5 

years, as compared to the prior $100 million over 5 years. Subsection (g).   

 

2) Congress does not need to approve funding awards for specific projects through 

designating the project by name in an enacted appropriations bill. 

 

▪ Reclamation can award funding to projects from available appropriations, 

after competitively evaluating grant applications from eligible projects.  

 

3) The draft bill raises the maximum federal funding contribution for each Title XVI 

project to $50 million from the current ceiling of $20 million in 1996 prices. 

Page 65 of 138



6 
 

Subsection (b)(1).  

 

▪ The cap remains $20 million in 1996 prices for projects that have received that 

amount as of December 31, 2021. 

 

▪ The maximum federal cost-share remains at 25% (up to the new maximum 

federal contribution of $50 million). 

 

• Section 104, Desalination Project Development, reauthorizes and amends the competitive 

grant program for desalination projects established in 2016 pursuant to the WIIN Act. 

 

o There are three key differences from the competitive grant program for desalination 

authorized in the WIIN Act:  

1) The authorization of appropriations has been increased to $150 million over 5 

years, as compared to the prior $30 million over 5 years.  At least $10 million is set 

aside for rural desalination projects. Subparagraph (F)(i). 

2) Congress does not need to approve funding awards for specific projects through 

designating the project by name in an enacted appropriations bill. 

 

▪ Reclamation can award funding to projects from available appropriations, after 

competitively evaluating grant applications from eligible projects. 

 

3) The bill establishes priority criteria for which projects to fund. Subsection (b).   

o Subparagraph (B)(ii) includes provisions from former Senator Udall and former 

Representative Torres Small’s 2019 Western Water Security Act (S. 2718/HR 4891) on 

rural desalination projects.   

 

o Just as for non-federal storage projects and natural water retention and release projects, the 

following are required to obtain funding for desalination projects (subparagraph (C)): 

1) The Governor of the affected state supports federal funding of the project, and the 

project is included in a state-approved plan; and 

 

2) For construction funding, the state or local sponsor determines, and Reclamation 

concurs, that the project is feasible, and sufficient funding is available to complete it. 

o The definition of an eligible project: 

 

▪ Makes clear that public private partnerships are eligible for funding as long as a state 

or local government entity pays either for the construction of the project or the water 

provided by the project. Subparagraph (A)(i). 

 

▪ Also allows any “organization with water or power delivery authority” to apply for 

funding if that organization constructs, operates and maintains the project.  

Subparagraph (A)(i).  This language comes from the definition of an “eligible 

Page 66 of 138



7 
 

applicant” in section 9502 of the Secure Water Act. 

 

• Section 105, Drinking Water Assistance for Disadvantaged Communities 

 

o This section authorizes an additional $100 million for the Bureau of Reclamation’s 

program to provide drinking water assistance to disadvantaged communities in 

section 50231 of the Inflation Reduction Act. 

 

o The Secretary is encouraged to use at least a portion of the funds authorized by this 

section to incorporate into multiple benefit projects features or facilities to assist in 

providing domestic water supplies to disadvantaged communities. Subsection (b)(2). 

 

• Section 106, Extraordinary Operation and Maintenance Work; Project Modification 

 

o This section amends the existing Aging Infrastructure Program (Public Law 111-11, Title 

IX, Subtitle G) to authorize projects to not only repair aging Bureau of Reclamation 

facilities, but to modify the facilities to achieve increased public benefits and other project 

benefits.  

 

o Congress appropriated $3.2 billion for the Aging Infrastructure Program in the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. 

 

o If we are spending this much money to retool Reclamation infrastructure for the needs of 

the 21st century, the Secretary should have the authority to modify the projects to achieve 

increased public benefits and other project benefits, where she believes it is appropriate to 

do so. 

 

o Paragraph (2) of the new subsection (e) establishes a few basic principles for any project 

modification: 

 

▪ It shall add no more than 25% of the project cost for projects costing over $100 

million, or no more than $25 million for projects costing under $100 million 

(projects exceeding these thresholds would need to be authorized by Congress); 

 

▪ At least 50% of the new benefits provided by the modification of the project must 

be public benefits (note that “new benefits” is a term defined in paragraph (1)); and 

 

▪ In order to undertake a project modification, the Secretary shall obtain the consent 

of: 

 

➢ The transferred works operating entity if the project involved is a transferred 

works; and 

 

➢ Any project beneficiary that would experience an adverse impact from the 

operation of the modified project (note that “adverse impact” is a term defined 

Page 67 of 138



8 
 

in paragraph (1)). 

 

▪ If the modified project creates a new project beneficiary, the Secretary cannot 

subsequently reoperate the project to increase the benefits to that new beneficiary 

without the consent of any project beneficiaries that would experience an adverse 

impact. 

 

▪ The costs of planning, design and environmental compliance of the modified 

project shall be allocated in accordance with Reclamation procedures, with the 

caveat that any project beneficiary who does not receive any increase in long-term 

average annual water deliveries as a result of the modification shall not be 

allocated any reimbursable portion of these costs. 

 

o Paragraph (3) sets up a process for the Secretary to obtain consent for a modified project 

from project beneficiaries that would experience an adverse impact.  If the necessary 

consent is not obtained within twelve months of the date consent is requested, the 

extraordinary maintenance of the project shall proceed without the modification, subject to 

one twelve-month extension to obtain required consents at the Secretary’s discretion. 

 

o Paragraph (4) addresses the reallocation of costs based on project changes and increased 

public benefits.  Public benefits shall be non-reimbursable, and the cost allocation of 

reimbursable costs to each project beneficiary shall reflect the changes in benefits that the 

project is providing to that beneficiary.  

 

o Paragraph (5) addresses incentives to participate in modified projects where public 

benefits are increased, but not water contractor benefits. 

 

▪ The water contractors will face strong disincentives to participate in these projects.  

Some contractors may see their benefits reduced.  All contractors will have to 

accept significant delay in obtaining the benefits of the restoration of these 

projects.  It will take significant time to modify the projects in a manner that the 

contractors can accept, and then to conduct environmental compliance on the 

proposed modification.  The contractors will also have to accept modified project 

operations that give increased priority to public benefits. 

 

▪ To offset these disincentives for water contractors to participate in projects which 

increase just public benefits, the bill reduces the reimbursable costs for such 

modified projects by 15%.  The result is that each project beneficiary will pay 85% 

of the reimbursable costs for the modified project that the beneficiary would 

otherwise have been allocated. 

 

▪ This paragraph sets up a financial incentive for water contractors to support 

modified projects that solely increase environmental and other public benefits 

without increasing water diversions or other water supply benefits.  Without 

this financial incentive, I expect water contractors will generally oppose such 

Page 68 of 138



9 
 

modification of the projects that they rely on for water deliveries.  

 

▪ This paragraph is also consistent with the provision of some non-reimbursable 

benefits for water supply in the context of other authorizations for projects that 

provide both water supply and substantial public benefits in a watershed: 

 

➢ Title XVI provides 25% non-reimbursable benefits for projects providing water 

supply that have watershed benefits through the use of recycled water; 

 

➢ The large-scale water recycling program that Congress just authorized in the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act provides up to 75% non-reimbursable 

benefits for projects that likewise provide both water supply and watershed 

benefits through the use of recycled water; 

 

➢ Section 103 of this bill provides non-reimbursable benefits for non-Federal 

storage and conveyance projects to the extent that they provide increased 

public benefits in the watershed.   

 

▪ Given the inevitability of increasingly severe and lengthy droughts as the West’s 

climate changes, it will be essential to provide incentives to collaborate on multi-

benefit projects that bring agricultural, environmental, and urban interests 

together to address the very serious challenge of maintaining sufficiently reliable 

water supply for all.  This proposed amendment to the Aging Infrastructure 

Program seeks to increase incentives for such necessary collaboration. 

 

• Section 107, Use of Revenue to Improve Drought Resilience or Dam Safety 

 

o Issue: Pursuant to the Sale of Water for Miscellaneous Purposes Act of 1920 (43 USC 

521), the Warren Act of 1911 (43 USC 525), and corresponding Bureau of Reclamation 

(BOR) policy, any revenue from the sale of surplus water must be deposited into the 

Reclamation Fund and credited to capital repayment of the associated project. Under 

existing law, revenue from the sale of water continues to flow to the Reclamation Fund 

even after water users completed capital repayment of their project.  As a result, there is 

no longer any benefit to the contractor from sale of surplus water unless the contractor 

receives another federal loan on the project.  

  

o Importance:  Across the West, drought is stressing many water systems and new 

constraints often lead to water scarcity even in normal years. This is being compounded 

by aging BOR facilities that require significant investment to ensure they can continue to 

operate in a safe and effective fashion, especially as dams and other facilities are forced 

to withstand more variable and severe precipitation event as a result of climate change. 

Congress has responded to these challenges over the years by authorizing the Safety of 

Dams (SOD), Extraordinary Maintenance (XM), and other programs that assist water 

users in upgrading and repairing existing infrastructure by allowing for extended 

repayment of costs through contracts that are distinct from the capital repayment 

Page 69 of 138



10 
 

obligations for the original construction of BOR projects.  

 

o Despite the fact that operational flexibility and conservation are growing increasingly 

important in water management, existing Reclamation law provides very little incentive 

for paid-out BOR contactors that either have occasional surplus water or could create 

surplus water through system upgrades to make the investments or undertake the lengthy 

marketing and contracting necessary to realize a sale. This is especially true for projects 

that are currently in need of improvements that will increase drought resiliency or dam 

safety or are repaying Reclamation for SOD or XM projects and can’t use any 

incremental revenues to help cover payments.   

 

o Solution: This section changes existing law to ensure that water users are able to apply 

revenues derived from the temporary sale of surplus water to infrastructure to improve 

drought resiliency or dam safety and for other existing BOR repayment obligations. This 

change to the treatment of revenue will incentivize water utilities to make water available 

to relieve water shortages in their region, improve project drought resiliency, improve 

dam safety, and accelerate repayment of existing obligations.  

Title II, Improved Technology and Data 

• Section 201, Reauthorization of the Transboundary Aquifer Assessment Program 

 

o This section reauthorizes the United States-Mexico Transboundary Aquifer Assessment 

Act (42 U.S.C. 1962 note; Public Law 109-448). 

 

o This section derives from former Senator Udall and former Representative Torres Small’s 

2019 Western Water Security Act (S. 2718/HR 4891).   

Title III, Ecosystem Restoration and Protection 

• Section 301, Ecosystem Restoration 
 

o This section makes limited amendments to the competitive grant program for habitat 

restoration projects established in section 40907 of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs 

Act. 

 

o Subsection (a) adds definitions of two new terms, “Committee” and “Project”.  The term 

“Committee” describes the “Integrated Water Management Leadership Committee” 

described more fully in subsection (c). 

 

o Subsection (b) amends section 40907(c)(1) of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act 

(Public Law 117–58) to direct that Interior: 

 

“(B) may not provide a grant to carry out a habitat restoration project the purpose of 

which is to meet existing environmental mitigation or compliance obligations that are 

express requirements of a permit or order issued under Federal or State law, unless such 

Page 70 of 138



11 
 

requirements expressly contemplate reliance on Federal funding in performance of the 

requirements.” 

o Subsection (c) supplements the $100 million provided to the competitive grant program 

for habitat restoration in the bipartisan infrastructure law with:  

1) An authorization of $150 million total for the competitive grant program from fiscal 

year 2025 through fiscal year 2029; and 

2) An authorization of $100 million total from fiscal year 2025 through fiscal year 2029 

for other grants, contracts, and agreements to achieve the habitat restoration purposes 

of this section and consistent with its requirements, as authorized in this section. 

3) Among other purposes, this $100 million could be used to ensure that when 

Sacramento Valley rice growers sell their water and idle their crops, some water is 

left behind and applied to bare fields in late summer and early fall to create shallow 

flooded habitat during a critical shorebird migration period.  See subsection (f) of 

amended section 40907 of the amended Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. 

o Subsection (c) also directs the Secretary to establish an Integrated Water Management 

Federal Leadership Committee which coordinates federal agency efforts to implement 

integrated water management projects, if requested to do so for a particular project by an 

eligible entity or qualified non-government organization partner.  

 

o Finally, subsection (c) requires the Secretary to comply with applicable environmental 

laws in implementing this section. 

 

• Section 302, Performance-based Restoration Authority 

 

o Multiple large- and small-scale ecosystem restoration projects have been authorized 

or are required by law, yet implementation of these projects often stalls when 

federal agencies have competing priorities or don’t have the resources or technical 

experience to undertake them successfully. This section expedites the implementation 

of certain types of habitat and ecosystem restoration projects by authorizing the 

Secretary of the Interior (Secretary) to enter into performance-based financial 

arrangements for the delivery of ecological targets and outcomes by experienced 

non-federal entities. This section does not create a new program, but instead allows the 

use of performance-based financial arrangements under the Secretary’s existing 

ecosystem and habitat restoration authorities.  It is needed to both expedite completion of 

many restoration projects—including large, multi-year projects—and to clarify that 

performance-based financial mechanisms are an authorized use of federal funds for such 

projects. The section additionally furthers the goals of reducing costs to the federal 

government in undertaking such projects and increasing flexibility in the administration 

of funding for such projects, consistent with federal acquisition regulations.  

 

o In General. Subsection (b) authorizes the Secretary, in implementing existing authorities 

under Federal law related to habitat and ecosystem restoration, to—  

(1)  enter into performance-based contracts, grant agreements, and cooperative 

Page 71 of 138



12 
 

agreements for habitat and ecosystem restoration, mitigation, and enhancement 

projects where ecological targets and outcomes are  

▪ clearly defined, 

▪ agreed upon in advance, and 

▪ capable of being successfully achieved 

(2) enter into performance-based contracts with eligible restoration providers 

experienced in financing and completing successful ecological habitat and 

restoration, mitigation, and enhancement activities. 

(3) provide grant and award agreements for habitat and ecosystem restoration, 

mitigation, and enhancement projects as described in paragraph (1) and allow for 

the use of performance-based tools in such agreements.  

(4) provide pass-through financing for funds granted or awarded to non-federal 

third parties utilizing performance-based contracts for projects authorized under 

paragraph (1). 

(5) use performance-based financial mechanisms for multi-year projects.  

 

o Guidelines. Subsection (c) directs the Secretary to—   

(1) develop guidelines for using performance-based financing and to consult with 

experienced external organizations in developing such guidelines. Such 

consultation shall not constitute or require establishing a committee under the 

Federal Advisory Committee Act. Guidelines shall include guidance on 

▪ appropriate proposal and project evaluation criteria, 

▪ restoration provider eligibility criteria, 

▪ criteria for defining achievable ecological outcomes, and  

▪ determination of restoration provider financial assurances sufficient to 

ensure ecological outcomes will be successfully achieved. 

 

o Identification of Eligible Projects. Subsection (d) directs the Secretary to identify 

opportunities for using performance-based financing for projects authorized in subsection 

(b)(1) and issue a request for proposals from eligible restoration providers to undertake 

such projects.  

 

o Certification. Under subsection (e), the Secretary shall certify that work was completed in 

accordance with ecological requirements and outcomes previously agreed to. 

 

o Technical Assistance. Subsection (f) authorizes the Secretary to provide technical 

assistance to restoration providers for studies, design, engineering, and permitting. 

 

o Rule of Construction. Subsection (g) clarifies that nothing in the section authorizes the 

Secretary to waive any obligation of the Secretary or non-Federal parties under federal 

environmental law. 

 

o Non-Federal Funding. Subsection (h) authorizes use of performance-based financing 

under the act for non-federal project cost shares, on the condition that the non-federal 

cost-share responsibility remains with the non-federal party. 

 

Page 72 of 138



13 
 

o Cost Share. Subsection (i) clarifies that nothing in the section shall affect a cost-sharing 

requirement under Federal law that is applicable to a project carried out under the 

performance-based restoration authority established under subsection (a). 

 

o Mitigation.  Subsection (j) clarifies that nothing in this section shall authorize Federal 

funding to meet existing environmental mitigation or compliance obligations that are 

express requirements of a permit or order issued under Federal or State law, unless such 

requirements expressly contemplate reliance on Federal funding in performance of the 

requirements 

 

o Report. Subsection (k) requires the Secretary to  

 

(1) issue and submit to Congress a report describing results of, and impediments to, 

the use of performance-based financing within 3 years of the date of enactment, 

and 

 

(2) address such impediments, if any—to the extent practicable—and to protect the 

public interest and investment in projects financed under the Act. 

 

 

Title IV, Miscellaneous 

• Section 401, Amendments to Drought Program Under the Reclamation States Emergency 

Drought Relief Act of 1991 

 

o Droughts have become more frequent than when the Reclamation States Emergency 

Drought Relief Act was enacted in 1991.  As a result, some amendments appear 

appropriate to the Act to reflect the increased frequency of droughts. 

 

o The existing Act limits permanent facilities that it authorizes to groundwater wells. 

 

o Given the increased frequency of droughts, it seems more efficient to install a greater 

number of permanent facilities than to frequently install and remove temporary facilities. 

 

o Subsection (a) therefore provides authorization during a declared drought emergency for 

any permanent facilities or projects up to a federal investment of $30 million that are 

supported by the relevant State (or tribe if the facility is on an Indian reservation). 

 

o The $30 million threshold comes from the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, which  

creates a precedent authorizing Interior to proceed with projects up to $30 million 

without Congressional authorization of the specific projects (in that Act this precedent is 

applied to small storage projects). 

 

o Subsection (a) also requires that a well drilled to minimize losses and damages from 

drought conditions must either 1) align with applicable local, state, or regional 

groundwater sustainability goals; or 2) support drinking water supplies for a 

Page 73 of 138



14 
 

disadvantaged community or Tribe. 

 

o Subsection (a) further addresses the problem of drought shortfalls in environmental 

funding programs like the Central Valley Improvement Act that derive their funding from 

per acre fees in water delivered. 

 

o Because their funding varies by the amount of water delivered, these programs provide 

substantially less environmental funding precisely when the funding is most needed, 

during droughts. 

 

o Subsection (a) would authorize non-reimbursable funding to make up these shortfalls, 

without affecting the Secretary’s legal obligations to the environment or existing 

authority to make up shortfalls in environmental funding in non-drought years. 

 

o Subsection (b) amends the existing Act to clarify that it applies to drought emergencies 

declared for portions of States, and does not require drought emergencies to apply to an 

entire State. 

 

o Subsection (b) also extends the Reclamation States Emergency Drought Relief Act 

authorization to 2031.  

 

o Subsection (c) amends the Secure Water Act of 2009 to provide that an application for 

WaterSMART funding to drill a groundwater well for municipal supply to minimize 

losses and damages from drought conditions shall not increase the applicant’s net water 

use beyond the period of any drought emergency, unless the groundwater well is for the 

purpose of supplying drinking water for a disadvantaged community or Tribe, or if the 

new groundwater use is partially offset by aquatic habitat enhancement during the 

drought period, or over the long-term, including a future drought period. 

 

• Section 402, Environmental Compliance 

 

o This section requires the Act to be implemented consistent with applicable State law and 

Federal environmental law. 

 

• Section 403, Effect 

 

o This section provides that nothing in this Act shall interfere with any obligation of a State 

under the Rio Grande Compact or any other intertstate compact approved by Congress. 

Page 74 of 138



1 
 

Section-by-Section Analysis of “STREAM Act” 

Draft, May 2023 

• Section 1, Short Title; Table of Contents, indicates that this Act may be cited as the “Support 

To Rehydrate the Environment, Agriculture, and Municipalities Act” or the “STREAM Act”. 

 

• Section 2, Definitions, includes important definitions of key terms, including: 

 

o Non-Federal storage project, which is any project in a Reclamation State that— 

(A) involves the construction, expansion, or repair by an eligible entity of— 

(i) a surface or groundwater storage project that is not federally owned; 

(ii) a facility that is not federally owned conveying water to or from surface or 

groundwater storage; or 

(iii) a natural water retention and release project; and 

(B) provides a benefit in meeting any obligation under applicable Federal law 

(including regulations).  Section 2(9). 

o Natural water retention and release projects, which use primarily natural processes and 

features, like wetlands, to allow increased utilization of existing storage facilities through 

aquifer recharge, floodplain retention, and altering the timing of runoff.  Besides 

enhancing water supplies, these multi-benefit projects typically also promote ecosystem 

restoration and flood protection.  Section 2(8). 

 

o Federal benefits.  Section 2(8).  As applied to storage, water recycling, and desalination 

projects, this term means  

1) public benefits provided directly by the project;  

2) fish and wildlife or water quality public benefits provided by the implementation of a 

watershed restoration plan approved together with the project, if there is an increased 

Federal commitment to pay for public benefits in the watershed as compared to such 

Federal commitments prior to the date of approval of the project; or 

3) water supply benefits identified pursuant to reclamation law.  

o Public benefits.  Section 2(10).  This term is defined to include: 

 

1) traditional non-reimbursable costs - fish/wildlife including refuges, flood control, 

recreation, water quality, etc.; 

2) drinking water supply for disadvantaged communities; 

3) emergency drinking water supply used in response to a gubernatorial disaster 

declaration; and 

4) energy benefits, including the value of associated greenhouse gas reductions and any 

reduction in energy costs for federal taxpayers. 

  

Page 75 of 138



2 
 

Many of these key terms are further discussed below in the analysis of section 103, Storage and 

Conveyance Projects. 

 

Title I, Infrastructure Development 

• Section 101, Storage and Conveyance Projects 

o This section authorizes funding for non-Federal storage projects.  It uses the Title 

XVI precedent of non-reimbursable funding for water supply where the project 

provides multiple benefits including environmental benefits within the watershed.   

 

o Section 101 is framed as an amendment to the provisions of section 4007 of the Water 

Infrastructure Improvements for the Nation Act (43 U.S.C. 390b note; Public Law 114-

322).    

 

o Section 101 extends section 4007 as applied to State-led storage projects, but does not 

extend section 4007 as applied to Federally-owned storage projects. 

 

o Section 4007(b)(1) as amended would replace the term “State-led storage project” with 

“non-Federal storage project”, because tribes are eligible to seek funding for such 

projects. 

 

o Surface and groundwater storage, conveyance, and natural water retention and release 

projects are eligible per the definition of “non-Federal storage projects” in section 2(9). 

 

o Section 4007(b)(2) as amended would authorize construction of non-Federal storage 

projects other than natural water retention and release projects if 

▪ The eligible entity demonstrates that the project is feasible and provides a Federal 

benefit; 

▪ The eligible entity has sufficient funding to complete the project and is solvent; and 

▪ The Governor of the relevant State (or sponsoring Indian tribe for tribal projects) 

supports Federal funding of the project. 

 

o Section 4007(b)(3) would continue to require compliance with environmental laws for 

Federal participation in a non-Federal storage project.  

o Section 4007(b)(4) would continue to authorize the Secretary to rely on reports prepared 

by the non-Federal entity as long as the Secretary retained responsibility for making the 

determinations in paragraph 4007(b)(2).   

o Section 4007(b)(5) as amended would authorize natural water retention and release 

projects: 

▪ for projects costing less than $10 million, the eligible entity must show that the 

project will help optimize the storage or delivery of water in a watershed in which a 

Bureau of Reclamation facility is located; and 

Page 76 of 138



3 
 

▪ for projects costing over $10 million, there must also be a credible estimate of the 

quantify of the storage benefit.   

o Section 4007(b)(6) as amended would limit the Federal cost-share to $250 million for 

non-Federal storage projects authorized by this section.   

 

o Sections 4007(b)(7) and (8) as amended address the maximum Federal cost-share and 

reimbursability of Federal funding: 

o The Federal cost-share shall not exceed 25 percent of the total cost of the project 

(with the exception of natural water retention and release projects, which can have up 

to a 90% Federal cost-share). 

o Any funding under the program for the value of public benefits shall be 

considered nonreimbursable. 

o Public benefits are defined in Section 2(10) as either 

1) public benefits provided directly by the project; or 

2) fish and wildlife or water quality public benefits provided by the 

implementation of a watershed restoration plan approved together with the 

project, if there is an increased Federal commitment to pay for public benefits in the 

watershed as compared to such Federal commitments prior to the date of approval of 

the project. 

o Water supply benefits are generally reimbursable, except that water supply 

benefits are nonreimbursable up to the extent that the value of the water supply 

benefits is equal to the value of public benefits described above that are fish and 

wildlife or water quality benefits. 

o To give an example, this means that if a project sponsor is seeking $100 million in 

federal funding for a $400 million non-Federal storage project, the sponsor can get 

that $100 million funding on a non-reimbursable basis if there is $50 million in public 

benefits from either the project itself or other projects as part of a watershed 

restoration plan approved with the project, and then an equal $50 million in water 

supply benefits from the project if the public benefits include at least $50 million in 

fish and wildlife or water quality benefits.  Some examples of fish and wildlife or 

water quality benefits from a watershed plan could include: 

o water leasing during a dry year, water sharing agreements, water banking, 

ongoing water conservation, and related activities if they provide fish and 

wildlife or water quality benefits; 

o environmental restoration projects; and 

o natural water retention and release projects. 

 

▪ If nonreimbursable funding is less than 25 percent of the total cost of the eligible 

project, the Secretary may provide reimbursable funds to an eligible entity for 

the value of any water supply benefits identified pursuant to reclamation law (as 

described in section 2(6)(D)) up to the limit of 25 percent of the total project cost. 

 

Page 77 of 138



4 
 

o Section 4007(b)(9) as amended would establish funding priority for a project that has 2 or 

more of the following: 1) substantial multiple benefits, 2) reductions in environmental 

impacts from water projects, 3) multi-state benefits, 4) collaborative development and 

support by multiple stakeholders; or 5) is located in a watershed where an integrated, 

comprehensive watershed management plan. 

o Section 4007(e) as amended would authorize $750 million total in funding from FY 2025 

through FY 2029 for: 

1) non-Federal storage projects, including natural water retention and release projects, 

authorized pursuant to the provisions of this section;  

2) storage projects that are eligible for study funding under section 40902(a)(1) of the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, if for such projects the funding under this section 

is provided in accordance with the provisions of section 40902(b) and (c) of the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act; and   

3) storage projects that have received construction funding under section 40902(a)(2) of 

the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, if for such projects the funding under this 

section is provided in accordance with the provisions of section 40902(b) and (c) of the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act.   

Any carryover storage funding appropriated pursuant to section 4007 of the WIIN Act 

may be used for the three categories of projects described above. 

Because the $750 million authorization in this section would become the general 

source of storage funding provided through annual appropriations, we believe it is 

appropriate to allow this pot to be used for projects that are eligible for study 

funding under the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act.  In addition, if projects 

are partly funded for construction under the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs 

Act, we believe it is appropriate to use this general pot of storage annual 

appropriations to provide funding to move these projects closer to the completion of 

construction that has already begun.  Note that if any funding from this storage pot is 

used for projects authorized to receive funding under the Infrastructure Investment and 

Jobs Act, then the restrictions on which projects can receive funding and the cost-sharing 

and reimbursability rules from section 40902 of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs 

Act would all apply to that funding. 

Under the amended section 4007(e), Congress does not need to approve funding awards 

for specific projects through designating the project by name in an enacted appropriations 

bill.  Reclamation can award funding to projects from available appropriations, after 

competitively evaluating grant applications from eligible projects. 

 

o Subsection 101(b) of the STREAM Act is a conforming amendment which reflects the 

fact that the STREAM Act is amending and extending sections 4007, 4009(a) and 

4009(c) of the WIIN Act, so they no longer expire in 2021. 

 

Page 78 of 138



5 
 

o Subsection 101(c) amends section 40902(a)(2)(C)(i) of IIJA to make potentially eligible 

for construction funding under IIJA two projects whose feasibility studies were 

authorized by IIJA, the Verde Reservoirs Sediment Mitigation Project and the Tualatin 

River Basin Project.  The projects will have to comply with the requirements of section 

40902(a)(2) of IIJA to become eligible for construction funding under IIJA.  

 

o Subsection 101(d) grandfathers Federal and non-Federal storage projects that receive 

construction funding under the $1.15 billion in storage funding in IIJA so they do not 

need further authorization to complete construction.  Absent this provision, partly built 

projects might have to stop in the middle of construction to get Congressional 

authorization when section 40902 of IIJA expires in 2026. 

 

o Subsection 101(e) reauthorizes the CALFED legislation through fiscal year 2027.  

• Section 102, Annual Report to Congress 

 

o This section requires the Commissioner of Reclamation to submit an annual report 

to Congress transmitting feasibility reports on Federal storage projects, and non-

Federal storage projects with a federal investment exceeding $250 million, for 

Congress to consider whether to authorize the projects. 

 

o The basic idea of this section is modeled on the Section 7001 report that the Army Corps 

of Engineers submits to Congress for WRDA projects. 

 

• This section is intended to expedite approval of projects requiring Congressional 

authorization, by facilitating a “Reclamation WRDA” package of projects approved by 

the House and Senate authorizing committees.  If Congress chooses, this “Reclamation 

WRDA” package could be added to the WRDA bill each Congress. 

 

• Section 103, Competitive Grant Program for the Funding of Water Recycling Projects, 

reauthorizes and amends the Title XVI competitive grant program for water recycling 

projects established in 2016 pursuant to the WIIN Act (Subtitle J, Public Law 114-322). 

There are three key differences from the competitive grant program for water recycling 

authorized in the WIIN Act:  

1) The authorization of appropriations has been increased to $300 million over 5 

years, as compared to the prior $100 million over 5 years. Subsection (g).   

 

2) Congress does not need to approve funding awards for specific projects through 

designating the project by name in an enacted appropriations bill. 

 

▪ Reclamation can award funding to projects from available appropriations, 

after competitively evaluating grant applications from eligible projects.  

 

3) The draft bill raises the maximum federal funding contribution for each Title XVI 

project to $50 million from the current ceiling of $20 million in 1996 prices. 

Page 79 of 138



6 
 

Subsection (b)(1).  

 

▪ The cap remains $20 million in 1996 prices for projects that have received that 

amount as of December 31, 2021. 

 

▪ The maximum federal cost-share remains at 25% (up to the new maximum 

federal contribution of $50 million). 

 

• Section 104, Desalination Project Development, reauthorizes and amends the competitive 

grant program for desalination projects established in 2016 pursuant to the WIIN Act. 

 

o There are three key differences from the competitive grant program for desalination 

authorized in the WIIN Act:  

1) The authorization of appropriations has been increased to $150 million over 5 

years, as compared to the prior $30 million over 5 years.  At least $10 million is set 

aside for rural desalination projects. Subparagraph (F)(i). 

2) Congress does not need to approve funding awards for specific projects through 

designating the project by name in an enacted appropriations bill. 

 

▪ Reclamation can award funding to projects from available appropriations, after 

competitively evaluating grant applications from eligible projects. 

 

3) The bill establishes priority criteria for which projects to fund. Subsection (b).   

o Subparagraph (B)(ii) includes provisions from former Senator Udall and former 

Representative Torres Small’s 2019 Western Water Security Act (S. 2718/HR 4891) on 

rural desalination projects.   

 

o Just as for non-federal storage projects and natural water retention and release projects, the 

following are required to obtain funding for desalination projects (subparagraph (C)): 

1) The Governor of the affected state supports federal funding of the project, and the 

project is included in a state-approved plan; and 

 

2) For construction funding, the state or local sponsor determines, and Reclamation 

concurs, that the project is feasible, and sufficient funding is available to complete it. 

o The definition of an eligible project: 

 

▪ Makes clear that public private partnerships are eligible for funding as long as a state 

or local government entity pays either for the construction of the project or the water 

provided by the project. Subparagraph (A)(i). 

 

▪ Also allows any “organization with water or power delivery authority” to apply for 

funding if that organization constructs, operates and maintains the project.  

Subparagraph (A)(i).  This language comes from the definition of an “eligible 

Page 80 of 138



7 
 

applicant” in section 9502 of the Secure Water Act. 

 

• Section 105, Drinking Water Assistance for Disadvantaged Communities 

 

o This section authorizes an additional $100 million for the Bureau of Reclamation’s 

program to provide drinking water assistance to disadvantaged communities in 

section 50231 of the Inflation Reduction Act. 

 

o The Secretary is encouraged to use at least a portion of the funds authorized by this 

section to incorporate into multiple benefit projects features or facilities to assist in 

providing domestic water supplies to disadvantaged communities. Subsection (b)(2). 

 

• Section 106, Extraordinary Operation and Maintenance Work; Project Modification 

 

o This section amends the existing Aging Infrastructure Program (Public Law 111-11, Title 

IX, Subtitle G) to authorize projects to not only repair aging Bureau of Reclamation 

facilities, but to modify the facilities to achieve increased public benefits and other project 

benefits.  

 

o Congress appropriated $3.2 billion for the Aging Infrastructure Program in the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. 

 

o If we are spending this much money to retool Reclamation infrastructure for the needs of 

the 21st century, the Secretary should have the authority to modify the projects to achieve 

increased public benefits and other project benefits, where she believes it is appropriate to 

do so. 

 

o Paragraph (2) of the new subsection (e) establishes a few basic principles for any project 

modification: 

 

▪ It shall add no more than 25% of the project cost for projects costing over $100 

million, or no more than $25 million for projects costing under $100 million 

(projects exceeding these thresholds would need to be authorized by Congress); 

 

▪ At least 50% of the new benefits provided by the modification of the project must 

be public benefits (note that “new benefits” is a term defined in paragraph (1)); and 

 

▪ In order to undertake a project modification, the Secretary shall obtain the consent 

of: 

 

➢ The transferred works operating entity if the project involved is a transferred 

works; and 

 

➢ Any project beneficiary that would experience an adverse impact from the 

operation of the modified project (note that “adverse impact” is a term defined 

Page 81 of 138



8 
 

in paragraph (1)). 

 

▪ If the modified project creates a new project beneficiary, the Secretary cannot 

subsequently reoperate the project to increase the benefits to that new beneficiary 

without the consent of any project beneficiaries that would experience an adverse 

impact. 

 

▪ The costs of planning, design and environmental compliance of the modified 

project shall be allocated in accordance with Reclamation procedures, with the 

caveat that any project beneficiary who does not receive any increase in long-term 

average annual water deliveries as a result of the modification shall not be 

allocated any reimbursable portion of these costs. 

 

o Paragraph (3) sets up a process for the Secretary to obtain consent for a modified project 

from project beneficiaries that would experience an adverse impact.  If the necessary 

consent is not obtained within twelve months of the date consent is requested, the 

extraordinary maintenance of the project shall proceed without the modification, subject to 

one twelve-month extension to obtain required consents at the Secretary’s discretion. 

 

o Paragraph (4) addresses the reallocation of costs based on project changes and increased 

public benefits.  Public benefits shall be non-reimbursable, and the cost allocation of 

reimbursable costs to each project beneficiary shall reflect the changes in benefits that the 

project is providing to that beneficiary.  

 

o Paragraph (5) addresses incentives to participate in modified projects where public 

benefits are increased, but not water contractor benefits. 

 

▪ The water contractors will face strong disincentives to participate in these projects.  

Some contractors may see their benefits reduced.  All contractors will have to 

accept significant delay in obtaining the benefits of the restoration of these 

projects.  It will take significant time to modify the projects in a manner that the 

contractors can accept, and then to conduct environmental compliance on the 

proposed modification.  The contractors will also have to accept modified project 

operations that give increased priority to public benefits. 

 

▪ To offset these disincentives for water contractors to participate in projects which 

increase just public benefits, the bill reduces the reimbursable costs for such 

modified projects by 15%.  The result is that each project beneficiary will pay 85% 

of the reimbursable costs for the modified project that the beneficiary would 

otherwise have been allocated. 

 

▪ This paragraph sets up a financial incentive for water contractors to support 

modified projects that solely increase environmental and other public benefits 

without increasing water diversions or other water supply benefits.  Without 

this financial incentive, I expect water contractors will generally oppose such 

Page 82 of 138



9 
 

modification of the projects that they rely on for water deliveries.  

 

▪ This paragraph is also consistent with the provision of some non-reimbursable 

benefits for water supply in the context of other authorizations for projects that 

provide both water supply and substantial public benefits in a watershed: 

 

➢ Title XVI provides 25% non-reimbursable benefits for projects providing water 

supply that have watershed benefits through the use of recycled water; 

 

➢ The large-scale water recycling program that Congress just authorized in the 

Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act provides up to 75% non-reimbursable 

benefits for projects that likewise provide both water supply and watershed 

benefits through the use of recycled water; 

 

➢ Section 103 of this bill provides non-reimbursable benefits for non-Federal 

storage and conveyance projects to the extent that they provide increased 

public benefits in the watershed.   

 

▪ Given the inevitability of increasingly severe and lengthy droughts as the West’s 

climate changes, it will be essential to provide incentives to collaborate on multi-

benefit projects that bring agricultural, environmental, and urban interests 

together to address the very serious challenge of maintaining sufficiently reliable 

water supply for all.  This proposed amendment to the Aging Infrastructure 

Program seeks to increase incentives for such necessary collaboration. 

 

• Section 107, Use of Revenue to Improve Drought Resilience or Dam Safety 

 

o Issue: Pursuant to the Sale of Water for Miscellaneous Purposes Act of 1920 (43 USC 

521), the Warren Act of 1911 (43 USC 525), and corresponding Bureau of Reclamation 

(BOR) policy, any revenue from the sale of surplus water must be deposited into the 

Reclamation Fund and credited to capital repayment of the associated project. Under 

existing law, revenue from the sale of water continues to flow to the Reclamation Fund 

even after water users completed capital repayment of their project.  As a result, there is 

no longer any benefit to the contractor from sale of surplus water unless the contractor 

receives another federal loan on the project.  

  

o Importance:  Across the West, drought is stressing many water systems and new 

constraints often lead to water scarcity even in normal years. This is being compounded 

by aging BOR facilities that require significant investment to ensure they can continue to 

operate in a safe and effective fashion, especially as dams and other facilities are forced 

to withstand more variable and severe precipitation event as a result of climate change. 

Congress has responded to these challenges over the years by authorizing the Safety of 

Dams (SOD), Extraordinary Maintenance (XM), and other programs that assist water 

users in upgrading and repairing existing infrastructure by allowing for extended 

repayment of costs through contracts that are distinct from the capital repayment 

Page 83 of 138



10 
 

obligations for the original construction of BOR projects.  

 

o Despite the fact that operational flexibility and conservation are growing increasingly 

important in water management, existing Reclamation law provides very little incentive 

for paid-out BOR contactors that either have occasional surplus water or could create 

surplus water through system upgrades to make the investments or undertake the lengthy 

marketing and contracting necessary to realize a sale. This is especially true for projects 

that are currently in need of improvements that will increase drought resiliency or dam 

safety or are repaying Reclamation for SOD or XM projects and can’t use any 

incremental revenues to help cover payments.   

 

o Solution: This section changes existing law to ensure that water users are able to apply 

revenues derived from the temporary sale of surplus water to infrastructure to improve 

drought resiliency or dam safety and for other existing BOR repayment obligations. This 

change to the treatment of revenue will incentivize water utilities to make water available 

to relieve water shortages in their region, improve project drought resiliency, improve 

dam safety, and accelerate repayment of existing obligations.  

Title II, Improved Technology and Data 

• Section 201, Reauthorization of the Transboundary Aquifer Assessment Program 

 

o This section reauthorizes the United States-Mexico Transboundary Aquifer Assessment 

Act (42 U.S.C. 1962 note; Public Law 109-448). 

 

o This section derives from former Senator Udall and former Representative Torres Small’s 

2019 Western Water Security Act (S. 2718/HR 4891).   

Title III, Ecosystem Restoration and Protection 

• Section 301, Ecosystem Restoration 
 

o This section makes limited amendments to the competitive grant program for habitat 

restoration projects established in section 40907 of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs 

Act. 

 

o Subsection (a) adds definitions of two new terms, “Committee” and “Project”.  The term 

“Committee” describes the “Integrated Water Management Leadership Committee” 

described more fully in subsection (c). 

 

o Subsection (b) amends section 40907(c)(1) of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act 

(Public Law 117–58) to direct that Interior: 

 

“(B) may not provide a grant to carry out a habitat restoration project the purpose of 

which is to meet existing environmental mitigation or compliance obligations that are 

express requirements of a permit or order issued under Federal or State law, unless such 

Page 84 of 138



11 
 

requirements expressly contemplate reliance on Federal funding in performance of the 

requirements.” 

o Subsection (c) supplements the $100 million provided to the competitive grant program 

for habitat restoration in the bipartisan infrastructure law with:  

1) An authorization of $150 million total for the competitive grant program from fiscal 

year 2025 through fiscal year 2029; and 

2) An authorization of $100 million total from fiscal year 2025 through fiscal year 2029 

for other grants, contracts, and agreements to achieve the habitat restoration purposes 

of this section and consistent with its requirements, as authorized in this section. 

3) Among other purposes, this $100 million could be used to ensure that when 

Sacramento Valley rice growers sell their water and idle their crops, some water is 

left behind and applied to bare fields in late summer and early fall to create shallow 

flooded habitat during a critical shorebird migration period.  See subsection (f) of 

amended section 40907 of the amended Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. 

o Subsection (c) also directs the Secretary to establish an Integrated Water Management 

Federal Leadership Committee which coordinates federal agency efforts to implement 

integrated water management projects, if requested to do so for a particular project by an 

eligible entity or qualified non-government organization partner.  

 

o Finally, subsection (c) requires the Secretary to comply with applicable environmental 

laws in implementing this section. 

 

• Section 302, Performance-based Restoration Authority 

 

o Multiple large- and small-scale ecosystem restoration projects have been authorized 

or are required by law, yet implementation of these projects often stalls when 

federal agencies have competing priorities or don’t have the resources or technical 

experience to undertake them successfully. This section expedites the implementation 

of certain types of habitat and ecosystem restoration projects by authorizing the 

Secretary of the Interior (Secretary) to enter into performance-based financial 

arrangements for the delivery of ecological targets and outcomes by experienced 

non-federal entities. This section does not create a new program, but instead allows the 

use of performance-based financial arrangements under the Secretary’s existing 

ecosystem and habitat restoration authorities.  It is needed to both expedite completion of 

many restoration projects—including large, multi-year projects—and to clarify that 

performance-based financial mechanisms are an authorized use of federal funds for such 

projects. The section additionally furthers the goals of reducing costs to the federal 

government in undertaking such projects and increasing flexibility in the administration 

of funding for such projects, consistent with federal acquisition regulations.  

 

o In General. Subsection (b) authorizes the Secretary, in implementing existing authorities 

under Federal law related to habitat and ecosystem restoration, to—  

(1)  enter into performance-based contracts, grant agreements, and cooperative 

Page 85 of 138



12 
 

agreements for habitat and ecosystem restoration, mitigation, and enhancement 

projects where ecological targets and outcomes are  

▪ clearly defined, 

▪ agreed upon in advance, and 

▪ capable of being successfully achieved 

(2) enter into performance-based contracts with eligible restoration providers 

experienced in financing and completing successful ecological habitat and 

restoration, mitigation, and enhancement activities. 

(3) provide grant and award agreements for habitat and ecosystem restoration, 

mitigation, and enhancement projects as described in paragraph (1) and allow for 

the use of performance-based tools in such agreements.  

(4) provide pass-through financing for funds granted or awarded to non-federal 

third parties utilizing performance-based contracts for projects authorized under 

paragraph (1). 

(5) use performance-based financial mechanisms for multi-year projects.  

 

o Guidelines. Subsection (c) directs the Secretary to—   

(1) develop guidelines for using performance-based financing and to consult with 

experienced external organizations in developing such guidelines. Such 

consultation shall not constitute or require establishing a committee under the 

Federal Advisory Committee Act. Guidelines shall include guidance on 

▪ appropriate proposal and project evaluation criteria, 

▪ restoration provider eligibility criteria, 

▪ criteria for defining achievable ecological outcomes, and  

▪ determination of restoration provider financial assurances sufficient to 

ensure ecological outcomes will be successfully achieved. 

 

o Identification of Eligible Projects. Subsection (d) directs the Secretary to identify 

opportunities for using performance-based financing for projects authorized in subsection 

(b)(1) and issue a request for proposals from eligible restoration providers to undertake 

such projects.  

 

o Certification. Under subsection (e), the Secretary shall certify that work was completed in 

accordance with ecological requirements and outcomes previously agreed to. 

 

o Technical Assistance. Subsection (f) authorizes the Secretary to provide technical 

assistance to restoration providers for studies, design, engineering, and permitting. 

 

o Rule of Construction. Subsection (g) clarifies that nothing in the section authorizes the 

Secretary to waive any obligation of the Secretary or non-Federal parties under federal 

environmental law. 

 

o Non-Federal Funding. Subsection (h) authorizes use of performance-based financing 

under the act for non-federal project cost shares, on the condition that the non-federal 

cost-share responsibility remains with the non-federal party. 

 

Page 86 of 138



13 
 

o Cost Share. Subsection (i) clarifies that nothing in the section shall affect a cost-sharing 

requirement under Federal law that is applicable to a project carried out under the 

performance-based restoration authority established under subsection (a). 

 

o Mitigation.  Subsection (j) clarifies that nothing in this section shall authorize Federal 

funding to meet existing environmental mitigation or compliance obligations that are 

express requirements of a permit or order issued under Federal or State law, unless such 

requirements expressly contemplate reliance on Federal funding in performance of the 

requirements 

 

o Report. Subsection (k) requires the Secretary to  

 

(1) issue and submit to Congress a report describing results of, and impediments to, 

the use of performance-based financing within 3 years of the date of enactment, 

and 

 

(2) address such impediments, if any—to the extent practicable—and to protect the 

public interest and investment in projects financed under the Act. 

 

 

Title IV, Miscellaneous 

• Section 401, Amendments to Drought Program Under the Reclamation States Emergency 

Drought Relief Act of 1991 

 

o Droughts have become more frequent than when the Reclamation States Emergency 

Drought Relief Act was enacted in 1991.  As a result, some amendments appear 

appropriate to the Act to reflect the increased frequency of droughts. 

 

o The existing Act limits permanent facilities that it authorizes to groundwater wells. 

 

o Given the increased frequency of droughts, it seems more efficient to install a greater 

number of permanent facilities than to frequently install and remove temporary facilities. 

 

o Subsection (a) therefore provides authorization during a declared drought emergency for 

any permanent facilities or projects up to a federal investment of $30 million that are 

supported by the relevant State (or tribe if the facility is on an Indian reservation). 

 

o The $30 million threshold comes from the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, which  

creates a precedent authorizing Interior to proceed with projects up to $30 million 

without Congressional authorization of the specific projects (in that Act this precedent is 

applied to small storage projects). 

 

o Subsection (a) also requires that a well drilled to minimize losses and damages from 

drought conditions must either 1) align with applicable local, state, or regional 

groundwater sustainability goals; or 2) support drinking water supplies for a 

Page 87 of 138



14 
 

disadvantaged community or Tribe. 

 

o Subsection (a) further addresses the problem of drought shortfalls in environmental 

funding programs like the Central Valley Improvement Act that derive their funding from 

per acre fees in water delivered. 

 

o Because their funding varies by the amount of water delivered, these programs provide 

substantially less environmental funding precisely when the funding is most needed, 

during droughts. 

 

o Subsection (a) would authorize non-reimbursable funding to make up these shortfalls, 

without affecting the Secretary’s legal obligations to the environment or existing 

authority to make up shortfalls in environmental funding in non-drought years. 

 

o Subsection (b) amends the existing Act to clarify that it applies to drought emergencies 

declared for portions of States, and does not require drought emergencies to apply to an 

entire State. 

 

o Subsection (b) also extends the Reclamation States Emergency Drought Relief Act 

authorization to 2031.  

 

o Subsection (c) amends the Secure Water Act of 2009 to provide that an application for 

WaterSMART funding to drill a groundwater well for municipal supply to minimize 

losses and damages from drought conditions shall not increase the applicant’s net water 

use beyond the period of any drought emergency, unless the groundwater well is for the 

purpose of supplying drinking water for a disadvantaged community or Tribe, or if the 

new groundwater use is partially offset by aquatic habitat enhancement during the 

drought period, or over the long-term, including a future drought period. 

 

• Section 402, Environmental Compliance 

 

o This section requires the Act to be implemented consistent with applicable State law and 

Federal environmental law. 

 

• Section 403, Effect 

 

o This section provides that nothing in this Act shall interfere with any obligation of a State 

under the Rio Grande Compact or any other intertstate compact approved by Congress. 

Page 88 of 138



To: MWDOC
From: Syrus Devers, Best Best & Krieger
Date: June 27th, 2023
Re: State Legislative Report

Legislative Report

The last two weeks of June were big ones for both legislation and the budget. Here are the highlights.

The water rights bills:

AB 460 (Bauer-Kahan): This bill would give the SWRCB the power to issue restraining orders on par
with a court’s power to issue Temporary Restraining Orders. It is not over but opponents smell blood in
the water. At the last moment the author pulled the bill from the June 27th hearing date in Senate Natural
Resources and Water when it was apparent the bill lacked the necessary 6th vote to get out of committee.
Holdouts on the Democrat side include Senators Padilla (San Diego), Hurtado (Central Valley), and
Eggman (Stockton). The last scheduled hearing for the committee is July 10th. That is how long
Bauer-Kahan has to negotiate for the needed vote, but that’s a long time in the Legislature.

AB 1337 (Wicks): This bill overturns the court holding in the Curtailment Cases and allows SWRCB to
enforce water rights against pre-1914 water right holders. Originally set for June 21st, the bill was pulled
and reset for the final hearing date of July 10th. The bill has not been amended in the last month, but
there is talk in the halls that this bill is enjoying broader support than its counterpart AB 460.

SB 389 (Allen): This bill would grant the SWRCB sweeping powers to demand information to support a
water right claim. In order to get the bill off the Senate Floor after a tough first vote, Allen agreed to take
the more punitive sections out of the bill, although written amendments have yet to be adopted.
According to stakeholders, Allen agreed to remove the section allowing for forfeiture of a water right for
which there was insufficient proof, and eliminated placing the burden of proof on the holder of the right,
which were the two most objectionable provisions of the bill. No hearing had been set at the time this
report was prepared.

Item No. 2b

Page 89 of 138



The Budget:

This report was prepared the day after a late-night deal on the State Budget was struck, so few details
were available.

In 2022, California faced unprecedented budget surpluses which led the Governor and the Legislature to
set aside the maximum possible savings, give Californians refunds, and spent record amounts on climate
adaptation programs. The total budget spending plan in 2022 was $308 billion. So how did our governor
and legislators deal with a $31.5 billion deficit? By rolling up their sleeves and…spending $3 billion
more than last year.

Sarcasm aside, there are some real numbers behind the budget total, but at first glance it can be a head
scratcher. Compared to last year, the budget has to cover a $31.5 billion deficit and the $3 billion in
additional spending, or about $35 billion, give or take. Here is how it works:

● Lower revenues mean lower constitutionally required, non-discretionary spending. That is worth
about $4.8 billion (call it $5B).

● Defer $8 billion in planned spending from last year’s budget. (This is where water programs can
be impacted.)

● Borrow $6 billion from special funds.
● Increase taxes on managed care plan providers for another $8 billion.
● Make up the rest ($8B) by counting on an automatic increase in the gas tax and a variety of other

pots of money.

Just like that, the deficit is covered without tapping the reserve account. Is it budget sleight-of-hand that
cannot be sustained? Yes, but it works for now. Who knows? The stock market seems bullish at the
moment so maybe we just need to stay afloat long enough to catch some economic luck. If things do not
go well, then we start tapping the reserves.

What happens to water related spending programs in the Budget?

It’s too soon for ananalysis. Water was barely mentioned in the press releases that accompanied the
announcement of a budget deal. Funds were cut that included spending on water related programs, but
we do not have details on precisely which programs within larger budget funds will be reduced. That
kind of detail will be found in Budget Trailer Bills in the coming weeks.

We do know Governor Newsom dropped the Delta Conveyance from a list of major projects that he
wanted to expedite with a streamlined permit process. While not exactly a budget item, it was a part of
his package of Budget Trailer Bill proposals he released back in May.

Page 90 of 138



MWDOC Workshop 
Bill Matrix 

Prepared by Syrus Devers, June 27th, 2023 

A. Priority Support/Oppose

  AB 334 (Rubio, Blanca D)   Public contracts: conflicts of interest. 
Status: 6/14/2023-Re-referred to Com. on JUD.  
Calendar:  7/6/2023  Upon adjournment of Session - 1021 O Street, Room 2100  SENATE JUDICIARY, UMBERG, 
THOMAS, Chair 

Summary: Current law prohibits members of the Legislature and state, county, district, judicial district, and city officers 
or employees from being financially interested in any contract made by them in their official capacity, or by any body or 
board of which they are members. Current law authorizes the Fair Political Practices Commission to commence an 
administrative or civil action against persons who violate this prohibition, as prescribed, and includes provisions for the 
collection of penalties after the time for judicial review of a commission order or decision has lapsed, or if all means of 
judicial review of the order or decision have been exhausted. Current law identifies certain remote interests in contracts 
that are not subject to this prohibition and other situations in which an official is not deemed to be financially interested 
in a contract. Existing law makes a willful violation of this prohibition a crime. This bill would establish that an 
independent contractor, who meets specified requirements, is not an officer for purposes of being subject to the 
prohibition on being financially interested in a contract. 

Position  Priority  

Support  
A. Priority
Support/Oppose

Notes 1:  Support position adopted June 7th 

  AB 460 (Bauer-Kahan D)   State Water Resources Control Board: water rights and usage: interim relief: procedures. 
Status: 6/7/2023-Referred to Coms. on N.R. & W. and JUD.  
Calendar:  6/27/2023  9 a.m. - 1021 O Street, Room 2100  SENATE NATURAL RESOURCES AND WATER, MIN, 
DAVE, Chair 

Summary: Current law authorizes the State Water Resources Control Board to investigate all streams, stream systems, 
lakes, or other bodies of water, take testimony relating to the rights to water or the use of water, and ascertain whether 
water filed upon or attempted to be appropriated is appropriated under the laws of the state. Current law requires the 
board to take appropriate actions to prevent waste or the unreasonable use of water. This bill would authorize the board, 
in conducting specified investigations or proceedings to inspect the property or facilities of a person or entity, as 
specified. The bill would authorize the board, if consent is denied for an inspection, to obtain an inspection warrant, as 
specified, or in the event of an emergency affecting public health and safety, to conduct an inspection without consent or 
a warrant.  

Position  Priority  

Opposition  
A. Priority
Support/Oppose

  AB 557 (Hart D)   Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences. 
Status: 6/19/2023-From committee chair, with author's amendments: Amend, and re-refer to committee. Read second 
time, amended, and re-referred to Com. on JUD.  
Calendar:  6/27/2023  Upon adjournment of Session - 1021 O Street, Room 2100  SENATE JUDICIARY, UMBERG, 
THOMAS, Chair 

Item No. 2e

Page 96 of 138



 

  

Summary: The Ralph M. Brown Act requires, with specified exceptions, that all meetings of a legislative body of a 
local agency, as those terms are defined, be open and public and that all persons be permitted to attend and participate. 
The act contains specified provisions regarding providing for the ability of the public to observe and provide comment. 
The act allows for meetings to occur via teleconferencing subject to certain requirements, particularly that the legislative 
body notice each teleconference location of each member that will be participating in the public meeting, that each 
teleconference location be accessible to the public, that members of the public be allowed to address the legislative body 
at each teleconference location, that the legislative body post an agenda at each teleconference location, and that at least 
a quorum of the legislative body participate from locations within the boundaries of the local agency’s jurisdiction. The 
act provides an exemption to the jurisdictional requirement for health authorities, as defined. This bill would revise the 
authority of a legislative body to hold a teleconference meeting under those abbreviated teleconferencing procedures 
when a declared state of emergency is in effect. Specifically, the bill would extend indefinitely that authority in the 
circumstances under which the legislative body either (1) meets for the purpose of determining whether, as a result of the 
emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees, or (2) has previously 
made that determination.  

        
        Position   Priority            

        Support   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  Support adopted April 5th 
   
  

  AB 735 (Berman D)   Workforce development: utility careers. 

  
Status: 5/19/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(5). (Last location was APPR. SUSPENSE FILE on 
5/10/2023)(May be acted upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: Would establish the High Road Utility Careers (HRUC) program, to be administered by the California 
Workforce Development Board, to connect existing resources with individuals interested in careers in the utility sector 
and ensure a continued reliable workforce for California utilities. The bill would require the board to administer the 
HRUC program through partnerships with statewide water, wastewater, and energy utility associations and to coordinate 
the program with existing and future programs and initiatives administered by the board, including high road training 
partnerships, in order to align interested individuals with available resources. The bill would require the HRUC program, 
upon appropriation by the Legislature, to dedicate funding and resources toward accomplishing specified goals, 
including connecting workers to high-quality jobs or entry-level work with defined routes to advancement and increasing 
skills and opportunities while expanding pipelines for low-income populations.  

        
        Position   Priority            

        Support   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  Support adopted April 5th 
   
  

  AB 755 (Papan D)   Water: public entity: cost-of-service analysis. 
  Status: 6/14/2023-Referred to Com. on N.R. & W.  

  
Calendar:  7/10/2023  Upon adjournment of Military and Veterans Affairs Committee - 1021 O Street, Room 
2200  SENATE NATURAL RESOURCES AND WATER, MIN, DAVE, Chair 
 

  

Summary: Current law authorizes a public entity that supplies water at retail or wholesale within its service area to 
adopt, in accordance with specified procedures, and enforce a water conservation program. This bill would require a 
public entity, as defined, that conducts a cost-of-service analysis, as defined, to identify the total incremental costs 
incurred by all the major water users, as described, in the single-family residential class and the total incremental costs 
that would be avoided if major water users met a specified efficiency goal. The bill would also require both of those 
costs to be made publicly available by posting the information in the public entity’s cost-of-service analysis. 

        
        Position   Priority            

        Opposition   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  Oppose position adopted May 3rd 
   
  

  AB 838 (Connolly D)   California Water Affordability and Infrastructure Transparency Act of 2023. 

  
Status: 5/19/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(5). (Last location was APPR. SUSPENSE FILE on 
4/19/2023)(May be acted upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: The California Safe Drinking Water Act requires the State Water Resources Control Board to administer 
provisions relating to the regulation of drinking water to protect public health. Current law declares it to be the 
established policy of the state that every human being has the right to safe, clean, affordable, and accessible water 
adequate for human consumption, cooking, and sanitary purposes. The act prohibits a person from operating a public 
water system unless the person first submits an application to the state board and receives a permit to operate the system, Page 97 of 138



as specified. The act requires a public water system to submit a technical report to the state board as a part of the permit 
application or when otherwise required by the state board, as specified, and to submit the report in the form and format 
and at intervals specified by the state board. This bill would require, beginning January 1, 2025, and thereafter at 
intervals determined by the state board, public water systems to provide specified information and data related to 
customer water bills and efforts to replace aging infrastructure to the state board. 

        
        Position   Priority            

        Opposition   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

   
  

  AB 1337 (Wicks D)   State Water Resources Control Board: water diversion curtailment. 
  Status: 6/21/2023-In committee: Hearing postponed by committee.  

  
Calendar:  7/10/2023  Upon adjournment of Military and Veterans Affairs Committee - 1021 O Street, Room 
2200  SENATE NATURAL RESOURCES AND WATER, MIN, DAVE, Chair 
 

  
Summary: Under existing law, the diversion or use of water other than as authorized by specified provisions of law is a 
trespass, subject to specified civil liability. This bill would expand the instances when the diversion or use of water is 
considered a trespass. This bill contains other related provisions and other existing laws. 

        
        Position   Priority            

        Opposition   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  Oppose adopted April 5th 
   
  

  AB 1572 (Friedman D)   Potable water: nonfunctional turf. 
  Status: 6/21/2023-In committee: Hearing postponed by committee.  

  
Calendar:  7/3/2023  10 a.m. - 1021 O Street, Room 1200  SENATE NATURAL RESOURCES AND WATER, MIN, 
DAVE, Chair 
 

  

Summary: Would make legislative findings and declarations concerning water use, including that the use of potable 
water to irrigate nonfunctional turf is wasteful and incompatible with state policy relating to climate change, water 
conservation, and reduced reliance on the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta ecosystem. The bill would direct all appropriate 
state agencies to encourage and support the elimination of irrigation of nonfunctional turf with potable water.  

        
        Position   Priority            

        
Oppose unless 
amended   

A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  OUA adopted April 5th 
   
  

  AB 1594 (Garcia D)   Medium- and heavy-duty zero-emission vehicles: public agency utilities. 
  Status: 6/14/2023-Referred to Coms. on E.Q. and TRANS.  

  
Calendar:  7/5/2023  9:30 a.m. - 1021 O Street, Room 1200  SENATE ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY, ALLEN, 
BENJAMIN, Chair 
 

  

Summary: Executive Order No. N-79-20 establishes the goal of transitioning medium- and heavy-duty vehicles in 
California to zero-emission vehicles by 2045 for all operations where feasible and by 2035 for drayage trucks, and 
requires the State Air Resources Board to develop and propose medium- and heavy-duty vehicle regulations to meet that 
goal.This bill would require any state regulation that seeks to require, or otherwise compel, the procurement of medium- 
and heavy-duty zero-emission vehicles by a public agency utility to ensure that those vehicles can support a public 
agency utility’s ability to maintain reliable water and electric services, respond to disasters in an emergency capacity, 
and provide mutual aid assistance statewide and nationwide, among other requirements. The bill would define a public 
agency utility to include a local publicly owned electric utility, a community water system, and a wastewater treatment 
provider, as specified. This bill contains other existing laws. 

        
        Position   Priority            

        Support   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  Support adopted May 3rd 
   
  

  AB 1637 (Irwin D)   Local government: internet websites and email addresses. 
  Status: 6/14/2023-Referred to Com. on GOV. & F.  

  
Calendar:  6/28/2023  9 a.m. - 1021 O Street, Room 1200  SENATE GOVERNANCE AND 
FINANCE, CABALLERO, ANNA, Chair 

Page 98 of 138



 

  

Summary: The California Constitution authorizes cities and counties to make and enforce within their limits all local, 
police, sanitary, and other ordinances and regulations not in conflict with general laws and further authorizes cities 
organized under a charter to make and enforce all ordinances and regulations in respect to municipal affairs, which 
supersede inconsistent general laws. This bill, no later than January 1, 2027, would require a local agency, as defined, 
that maintains an internet website for use by the public to ensure that the internet website utilizes a “.gov” top-level 
domain or a “.ca.gov” second-level domain and would require a local agency that maintains an internet website that is 
noncompliant with that requirement to redirect that internet website to a domain name that does utilize a “.gov” or 
“.ca.gov” domain. This bill, no later than January 1, 2027, would also require a local agency that maintains public email 
addresses to ensure that each email address provided to its employees utilizes a “.gov” domain name or a “.ca.gov” 
domain name. By adding to the duties of local officials, the bill would impose a state-mandated local program. This bill 
contains other related provisions and other existing laws. 

        
        Position   Priority            

        Watch   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  No longer applies to special districts 
   
  

  SB 23 (Caballero D)   Water supply and flood risk reduction projects: expedited permitting. 

  
Status: 5/19/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(5). (Last location was APPR. SUSPENSE FILE on 
5/15/2023)(May be acted upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: Current law prohibits an entity from substantially diverting or obstructing the natural flow of, or substantially 
changing or using any material from the bed, channel, or bank of, any river, stream, or lake, or deposit or dispose of 
debris, waste, or other material containing crumbled, flaked, or ground pavement where it may pass into any river, 
stream, or lake, except under specified conditions, including requiring the entity to send written notification to the 
Department of Fish and Wildlife regarding the activity in the manner prescribed by the department. This bill would 
require a project proponent, if already required to submit a notification to the department, to submit to the department the 
certified or adopted environmental review document, as applicable, for the activity in the notification. The bill would 
require the department, under prescribed circumstances, to take certain actions within specified timelines, or within a 
mutually agreed-to extension of time. 

        
        Position   Priority            

        Support   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  Support position approved on 3/1/2023 
   
  

  SB 366 (Caballero D)   The California Water Plan: long-term supply targets. 
  Status: 6/8/2023-Referred to Com. on W., P., & W.  

  
Calendar:  7/11/2023  9 a.m. - State Capitol, Room 447  ASSEMBLY WATER, PARKS AND 
WILDLIFE, BAUER-KAHAN, REBECCA, Chair 
 

  

Summary: Current law requires the Department of Water Resources to update every 5 years the plan for the orderly and 
coordinated control, protection, conservation, development, and use of the water resources of the state, which is known 
as “The California Water Plan.” Current law requires the department to include a discussion of various strategies in the 
plan update, including, but not limited to, strategies relating to the development of new water storage facilities, water 
conservation, water recycling, desalination, conjunctive use, water transfers, and alternative pricing policies that may be 
pursued in order to meet the future needs of the state. Current law requires the department to establish an advisory 
committee to assist the department in updating the plan. This bill would revise and recast certain provisions regarding 
The California Water Plan to, among other things, require the department to instead establish a stakeholder advisory 
committee and to expand the membership of the committee to include tribes, labor, and environmental justice interests. 
The bill would require the department, in coordination with the California Water Commission, the State Water 
Resources Control Board, other state and federal agencies as appropriate, and the stakeholder advisory committee to 
develop a comprehensive plan for addressing the state’s water needs and meeting specified long-term water supply 
targets established by the bill for purposes of “The California Water Plan.”  

        
        Position   Priority            

        Support   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

   
  

  SB 389 (Allen D)   State Water Resources Control Board: determination of water right. 
  Status: 6/15/2023-Referred to Com. on W., P., & W.  

  
Summary: Would, upon specified findings, authorize the State Water Resources Control Board to investigate the 
diversion and use of water from a stream system to determine whether the diversion and use are based upon 
appropriation, riparian right, or other basis of right, as specified.  Page 99 of 138



        
        Position   Priority            

        Opposition   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  Oppose adopted April 5th 
   
  

  SB 687 (Eggman D)   Water Quality Control Plan: Delta Conveyance Project. 

  
Status: 5/19/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(5). (Last location was APPR. SUSPENSE FILE on 
5/8/2023)(May be acted upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: Would require the State Water Resources Control Board to adopt a final update of the 1995 Water Quality 
Control Plan for the San Francisco Bay/Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Estuary, as provided, before the board may 
consider a change in point diversion or any other water rights permit or order for the Delta Conveyance Project. The bill 
would also, if, after completing the update of the plan and in compliance with existing law, the board approves a change 
in point of diversion or any other water rights permit or order associated with the Delta Conveyance Project, prohibit the 
operation of the Delta Conveyance Project unless and until the updated plan is fully implemented. The bill would specify 
that these provisions do not constitute an authorization for or approval of funding for the Delta Conveyance Project or 
any other project that includes isolated Delta conveyance facilities, and do not reduce any statutory or other regulatory 
conditions or permit requirements for Delta conveyance projects. 

        
        Position   Priority            

        Opposition   
A. Priority 
Support/Oppose   

         

     Notes 1:  Oppose adopted per Policy Principles. 
 

 

  B. Watch 

 
 
 
   
  

  AB 30 (Ward D)   Atmospheric rivers: research: reservoir operations. 

  
Status: 6/26/2023-From committee chair, with author's amendments: Amend, and re-refer to committee. Read second 
time, amended, and re-referred to Com. on APPR.  

  
Calendar:  7/3/2023  10 a.m. - 1021 O Street, Room 2200  SENATE APPROPRIATIONS, PORTANTINO, 
ANTHONY, Chair 
 

  

Summary: Current law establishes the Atmospheric Rivers: Research, Mitigation, and Climate Forecasting Program in 
the Department of Water Resources. Current law requires the department, upon an appropriation for purposes of the 
program, to research climate forecasting and the causes and impacts that climate change has on atmospheric rivers, to 
operate reservoirs in a manner that improves flood protection, and to reoperate flood control and water storage facilities 
to capture water generated by atmospheric rivers. This bill would rename that program the Atmospheric Rivers Research 
and Forecast Improvement Program: Enabling Climate Adaptation Through Forecast-Informed Reservoir Operations and 
Hazard Resiliency (AR/FIRO) Program. The bill would require the department to research, develop, and implement new 
observations, prediction models, novel forecasting methods, and tailored decision support systems to improve 
predictions of atmospheric rivers and their impacts on water supply, flooding, post-wildfire debris flows, and 
environmental conditions.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 62 (Mathis R)   Statewide water storage: expansion. 

  
Status: 5/19/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(5). (Last location was APPR. SUSPENSE FILE on 
5/10/2023)(May be acted upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: Current law establishes within the Natural Resources Agency the State Water Resources Control Board and 
the California regional water quality control boards. Current law requires the work of the state board to be divided into at 
least 2 divisions, known as the Division of Water Rights and the Division of Water Quality. This bill would establish a 
statewide goal to increase above- and below-ground water storage capacity by a total of 3,700,000 acre-feet by the year 
2030 and a total of 4,000,000 acre-feet by the year 2040. The bill would require the Department of Water Resources, in 
consultation with the state board, to take reasonable actions to promote or assist efforts to achieve the statewide goal, as 

Page 100 of 138



provided. The bill would require the department, beginning July 1, 2027, and on or before July 1 every 2 years thereafter 
until January 1, 2043, in consultation with the state board, to prepare and submit a report to the Legislature on the 
progress made to achieve the statewide goal.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 66 (Mathis R)   Natural Resources Agency: water storage projects: permit approval. 

  
Status: 5/19/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(5). (Last location was APPR. SUSPENSE FILE on 
4/19/2023)(May be acted upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: Current law establishes the Natural Resources Agency, composed of departments, boards, conservancies, and 
commissions responsible for the restoration, protection, and management of the state’s natural and cultural resources. 
Current law establishes in the agency the Department of Water Resources, which manages and undertakes planning with 
regard to water resources in the state. This bill would require the agency, and each department, board, conservancy, and 
commission within the agency, to take all reasonable steps to approve the necessary permits for specified projects that 
meet certain employment conditions within 180 days from receiving a complete permit application.  

        
        Position   Priority            
           B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 249 (Holden D)   Water: schoolsites: lead testing: conservation. 

  
Status: 6/22/2023-From committee chair, with author's amendments: Amend, and re-refer to committee. Read second 
time, amended, and re-referred to Com. on E.Q.  

  
Calendar:  7/5/2023  9:30 a.m. - 1021 O Street, Room 1200  SENATE ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY, ALLEN, 
BENJAMIN, Chair 
 

  

Summary: Would require a community water system that serves a schoolsite, as defined, to test for lead in the potable 
water system outlets of the schoolsite before January 1, 2027, except for potable water system outlets in buildings that 
were either constructed after January 1, 2010, or modernized after January 1, 2010, and all faucets and other end point 
devices used for providing potable water were replaced as part of the modernization. The bill would require the 
community water system to report its findings to the applicable schoolsite or local educational agency and to the state 
board. The bill would require the local educational agency or schoolsite, if the lead level exceeds a specified level at a 
schoolsite, to notify the parents and guardians of the pupils who attend the schoolsite, take immediate steps to make 
inoperable and shut down from use all potable water system outlets where the excess lead levels may exist, and work to 
ensure that a lead-free source of drinking water is provided for pupils, as specified. The bill would require a community 
water system to test a potable water system outlet that replaces an outlet that is found to have excess levels of lead. The 
bill would require a community water system to prepare a sampling plan for each schoolsite where lead sampling is 
required under these provisions, as specified. The bill would require the schoolsite, local education agency, and state 
board to make the results of schoolsite lead sampling publicly available by posting the results on its internet website. The 
bill would require a schoolsite and a local educational agency, if an internet website is not maintained, to provide the 
results upon request. By imposing additional duties on local agencies, this bill would impose a state-mandated local 
program.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 277 (Rodriguez D)   Extreme Weather Forecast and Threat Intelligence Integration Center. 
  Status: 6/26/2023-Read second time and amended. Re-referred to Com. on G.O.  

  
Calendar:  7/11/2023  9 a.m. - 1021 O Street, Room 1200  SENATE GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATION, DODD, 
BILL, Chair 
 

  

Summary: Would establish the State-Federal Flood Operations Center within the Department of Water Resources and 
would authorize the department to administer the center in the department’s divisions, offices, or programs. The bill 
would provide that the purpose of the center is to function as the focal point for gathering, analyzing, and disseminating 
flood and water-related information to stakeholders and would authorize the center to take specified actions for that 
purpose, including to function during emergency situations to enable the department to centrally coordinate statewide 
emergency responses. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 305 (Villapudua D)   California Flood Protection Bond Act of 2024. 
  Status: 6/14/2023-Referred to Coms. on N.R. & W. and GOV. & F.  

Page 101 of 138



  

Summary: Would enact the California Flood Protection Bond Act of 2024 which, if approved by the voters, would 
authorize the issuance of bonds in the amount of $4,500,000,000 pursuant to the State General Obligation Bond Law for 
flood protection projects, as specified. The bill would provide for the submission of these provisions to the voters at the 
November 5, 2024, statewide general election. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 338 (Aguiar-Curry D)   Public works: definition. 
  Status: 6/14/2023-Referred to Com. on L., P.E. & R.  

  

Summary: Current law requires that, except as specified, not less than the general prevailing rate of per diem wages, 
determined by the Director of Industrial Relations, be paid to workers employed on public works projects. Existing law 
defines the term “public works” for purposes of requirements regarding the payment of prevailing wages to include 
construction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair work done under contract and paid for using public funds, 
except as specified. Current law makes a willful violation of laws relating to the payment of prevailing wages on public 
works a misdemeanor. This bill would, commencing January 1, 2025, expand the definition of “public works” to include 
fuel reduction work done under contract and paid for in whole or in part out of public funds performed as part of a fire 
mitigation project, as specified. The bill would limit those provisions to work that falls within an apprenticable 
occupation in the building and construction trades for which an apprenticeship program has been approved and to 
contracts in excess of $100,000. The bill would delay the application of those provisions until January 1, 2026, for 
nonprofits.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 340 (Fong, Vince R)   California Environmental Quality Act: grounds for noncompliance. 

  
Status: 4/28/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(2). (Last location was NAT. RES. on 2/9/2023)(May be acted 
upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) prohibits an action or proceeding from being brought in 
a court to challenge the approval of a project by a public agency unless the alleged grounds for noncompliance are 
presented to the public agency orally or in writing by a person during the public comment period provided by CEQA or 
before the close of the public hearing on the project before the issuance of the notice of determination. This bill would 
require the alleged grounds for noncompliance with CEQA presented to the public agency in writing be presented at 
least 10 days before the public hearing on the project before the issuance of the notice of determination. The bill would 
prohibit the inclusion of written comments presented to the public agency after that time period in the record of 
proceedings and would prohibit those documents from serving as basis on which an action or proceeding may be 
brought. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 676 (Bennett D)   Water: general state policy. 
  Status: 6/22/2023-In committee: Hearing postponed by committee.  

  
Calendar:  7/10/2023  Upon adjournment of Military and Veterans Affairs Committee - 1021 O Street, Room 
2200  SENATE NATURAL RESOURCES AND WATER, MIN, DAVE, Chair 
 

  

Summary: Current law establishes various state water policies, including the policy that the use of water for domestic 
purposes is the highest use of water and that the next highest use is for irrigation. This bill would specify that the use of 
water for domestic purposes includes water use for human consumption, cooking, sanitary purposes, and care of 
household livestock, animals, and gardens. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 1072 (Wicks D)   Water conservation and efficiency: low-income residential customers. 

  
Status: 5/19/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(5). (Last location was APPR. SUSPENSE FILE on 
5/17/2023)(May be acted upon Jan 2024) 

  
Summary: Would declare the policy of the state that all residents have access to water conservation and efficiency 
programs. The bill would also set forth related findings including that reaching the state’s environmental justice goals 
and commitments requires designing climate adaptation programs so that all households may participate.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            

Page 102 of 138



   
  

  AB 1205 (Bauer-Kahan D)   Water rights: sale, transfer, or lease: agricultural lands. 
  Status: 5/31/2023-Referred to Com. on N.R. & W.  

  
Calendar:  7/10/2023  Upon adjournment of Military and Veterans Affairs Committee - 1021 O Street, Room 
2200  SENATE NATURAL RESOURCES AND WATER, MIN, DAVE, Chair 
 

  
Summary: Would find and declare that speculation or profiteering by an investment fund in the sale, transfer, or lease of 
an interest in any surface water right or groundwater water right previously put to beneficial use on agricultural lands 
within the state is a waste or an unreasonable use of water. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 1567 
(Garcia D)   Safe Drinking Water, Wildfire Prevention, Drought Preparation, Flood Protection, Extreme Heat 
Mitigation, Clean Energy, and Workforce Development Bond Act of 2024. 

  Status: 6/14/2023-Referred to Coms. on N.R. & W. and GOV. & F.  

  

Summary: Would enact the Safe Drinking Water, Wildfire Prevention, Drought Preparation, Flood Protection, Extreme 
Heat Mitigation, Clean Energy, and Workforce Development Bond Act of 2024, which, if approved by the voters, would 
authorize the issuance of bonds in the amount of $15,995,000,000 pursuant to the State General Obligation Bond Law to 
finance projects for safe drinking water, wildfire prevention, drought preparation, flood protection, extreme heat 
mitigation, clean energy, and workforce development programs.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 1573 (Friedman D)   Water conservation: landscape design: model ordinance. 
  Status: 6/21/2023-In committee: Hearing postponed by committee.  

  
Calendar:  7/3/2023  10 a.m. - 1021 O Street, Room 1200  SENATE NATURAL RESOURCES AND WATER, MIN, 
DAVE, Chair 
 

  

Summary: The Water Conservation in Landscaping Act provides for a model water efficient landscape ordinance that is 
adopted and updated at least every 3 years by the Department of Water Resources, unless the department makes a 
specified finding. Current law requires a local agency to adopt the model ordinance or to adopt a water efficient 
landscape ordinance that is at least as effective in conserving water as the updated model ordinance, except as specified. 
Current law specifies the provisions of the updated model ordinance, as provided. Current law includes a related 
statement of legislative findings and declarations. This bill would require the updated model ordinance to include 
provisions that require that plants included in a landscape design plan be selected based on their adaptability to climatic, 
geological, and topographical conditions of the project site, as specified. The bill would also exempt landscaping that is 
part of ecological restoration projects that do not require a permanent irrigation system, mined-land reclamation projects 
that do not require a permanent irrigation system, and existing plant collections, as part of botanical gardens and 
arboretums open to the public, from the model ordinance. The bill would require the updated model ordinance to include 
provisions that require that all new or renovated nonresidential areas install plants that meet specified criteria, and that 
prohibit the inclusion of nonfunctional turf in nonresidential landscape projects after January 1, 2026.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  AB 1648 (Bains D)   Water: Colorado River conservation. 

  
Status: 4/28/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(2). (Last location was W.,P. & W. on 3/16/2023)(May be 
acted upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: Would prohibit the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California and the Department of Water and 
Power of the City of Los Angeles from achieving a reduction in, or conservation of, Colorado River water consumption 
required by an agreement with specified entities through increased water deliveries or imports from other regions of 
California, including the San Joaquin Valley and the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta. The bill would require the Colorado 
River Board of California, the Department of Water Resources, and the State Water Resources Control Board to use their 
existing authority to enforce these provisions. The bill would specify that these provisions apply retroactively to January 
1, 2023, and apply to any agreement entered into on or after that date. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  ACA 2 (Alanis R)   Public resources: Water and Wildfire Resiliency Act of 2023. 
  Status: 4/20/2023-Referred to Coms. on W., P., & W. and NAT. RES.  

Page 103 of 138



  

Summary: Would establish the Water and Wildfire Resiliency Fund within the State Treasury, and would require the 
Treasurer to annually transfer an amount equal to 3% of all state revenues that may be appropriated as described from the 
General Fund to the Water and Wildfire Resiliency Fund. The measure would require the moneys in the fund to be 
appropriated by the Legislature and would require that 50% of the moneys in the fund be used for water projects, as 
specified, and that the other 50% of the moneys in the fund be used for forest maintenance and health projects, as 
specified. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Out for Analysis   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 3 (Dodd D)   Discontinuation of residential water service: public water system. 

  
Status: 6/21/2023-From committee: Do pass and re-refer to Com. on APPR. (Ayes 7. Noes 2.) (June 20). Re-referred to 
Com. on APPR.  

  

Summary: Current law authorizes the State Water Resources Control Board to provide for the deposit into the Safe and 
Affordable Drinking Water Fund of certain moneys and continuously appropriates the moneys in the fund to the state 
board for grants, loans, contracts, or services to assist eligible recipients. This bill would require the board to, upon 
appropriation by the Legislature, expend moneys to provide training statewide to community water systems with 
between 15 and 200 service connections to meet compliance with the Water Shutoff Protection Act.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Out for Analysis   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 48 (Becker D)   Building Energy Savings Act. 

  
Status: 6/8/2023-From committee with author's amendments. Read second time and amended. Re-referred to Com. on 
U. & E.  

  
Calendar:  6/28/2023  1:30 p.m. - State Capitol, Room 437  ASSEMBLY UTILITIES AND ENERGY, GARCIA, 
EDUARDO, Chair 
 

  

Summary: Current law requires each utility to maintain records of the energy usage data of all buildings to which they 
provide service for at least the most recent 12 complete calendar months, and to deliver or otherwise provide that 
aggregated energy usage data for each covered building, as defined, to the owner, as specified. Current law requires the 
State Energy Resources Conservation and Development Commission (Energy Commission) to adopt regulations 
providing for the delivery to the Energy Commission and public disclosure of benchmarking of energy use for covered 
buildings, and specifies that this requirement does not require the owner of a building with 16 or fewer residential utility 
accounts to collect or deliver energy usage information to the Energy Commission. This bill would additionally specify 
that the requirement does not require the owner of a building with less than 50,000 square feet of gross floor space to 
collect or deliver energy usage information to the Energy Commission.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 57 (Gonzalez D)   Utilities: disconnection of residential service. 

  
Status: 4/28/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(2). (Last location was E. U., & C. on 3/22/2023)(May be 
acted upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: Would require an electrical corporation, local publicly owned electric utility, gas corporation, local publicly 
owned gas utility, water corporation, or local agency that owns a public water system to postpone the disconnection of a 
customer’s residential service for nonpayment of a delinquent account when the temperature will be 32 degrees 
Fahrenheit or cooler, or 95 degrees Fahrenheit or warmer, within the utility’s service area during the 24 hours after that 
service disconnection would occur, as specified. The bill would require each of those utilities to notify its residential 
ratepayers of that requirement and to create an online reporting system available through its internet website, if it has 
one, that enables its residential ratepayers to report when their utility service has been disconnected in violation of that 
requirement, as specified. The bill would require the PUC to establish a citation program to impose a penalty on an 
electrical corporation or gas corporation that violates that requirement, and require each local publicly owned electric 
utility and local publicly owned gas utility to annually report to the State Energy Resources Conservation and 
Development Commission the number of residential service connections it disconnected for nonpayment of a delinquent 
account. The bill would authorize the State Water Resources Control Board to enforce the requirement that a water 
corporation and local agency that owns a public water system postpone a disconnection of a customer’s residential 
service, as specified. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 66 (Hurtado D)   Water Quality, Supply, and Infrastructure Improvement Act of 2014: Drinking Water Capital 

Page 104 of 138



Reserve Fund: administration. 

  
Status: 4/28/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(2). (Last location was E.Q. on 3/29/2023)(May be acted upon 
Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: The Water Quality, Supply, and Infrastructure Improvement Act of 2014 bond act provides that the sum of 
$260,000,000 is to be available for grants and loans for public water system infrastructure improvements and related 
actions to meet safe drinking water standards, ensure affordable drinking water, or both, as specified. Current law 
requires the State Water Resources Control Board to deposit up to $2,500,000 of the $260,000,000 into the Drinking 
Water Capital Reserve Fund, to be available upon appropriation by the Legislature. Current law requires the state board 
to administer the Drinking Water Capital Reserve Fund for the purpose of serving as matching funds for disadvantaged 
communities and requires the state board to develop criteria to implement this provision. This bill would require the state 
board to provide an analysis of the criteria to implement that provision to the Senate Committee on Natural Resources 
and Water and Assembly Committee on Water, Parks, and Wildlife on January 1, 2025, and every 2 years thereafter. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 69 
(Cortese D)   California Environmental Quality Act: local agencies: filing of notices of determination or 
exemption. 

  
Status: 6/22/2023-From committee with author's amendments. Read second time and amended. Re-referred to Com. on 
NAT. RES. June 26 set for first hearing canceled at the request of author.  

  
Calendar:  7/10/2023  2:30 p.m. - State Capitol, Room 447  ASSEMBLY NATURAL RESOURCES, RIVAS, LUZ, 
Chair 
 

  

Summary: The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires a local agency that approves or determines to 
carry out a project subject to CEQA to file a notice of determination with the county clerk of each county in which the 
project will be located, as provided. CEQA authorizes a local agency that determines that a project is not subject to 
CEQA to file a notice of exemption with the county clerk of each county in which the project will be located, as 
provided. CEQA requires the county clerk to make the notice available for public inspection and post the notice within 
24 hours of receipt in the office or on the internet website of the county clerk, as specified. CEQA requires an action or 
proceeding challenging an act or decision of a public agency, including a local agency, on the grounds of noncompliance 
with CEQA to be commenced within certain time periods, as specified. This bill would require a local agency to file a 
notice of determination with the State Clearinghouse in the Office of Planning and Research in addition to the county 
clerk of each county in which the project will be located. The bill would authorize a local agency to file a notice of 
exemption with the State Clearinghouse in the Office of Planning and Research in addition to the county clerk of each 
county in which the project will be located. The bill would require the notice, including any subsequent or amended 
notice, to be posted both in the office and on the internet website of the county clerk and by the Office of Planning and 
Research on the State Clearinghouse internet website within 24 hours of receipt. The bill would specify that the posting 
of the notice by the Office of Planning and Research would not affect the applicable time periods to challenge an act or 
decision of a local agency, as described above. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 231 (Hurtado D)   Department of Water Resources: water supply forecasting. 

  
Status: 6/19/2023-From committee with author's amendments. Read second time and amended. Re-referred to Com. on 
W., P., & W.  

  

Summary: Would require the Department of Water Resources, on or before December 31, 2025, to establish a formal 
process for annually evaluating and improving the accuracy of its water supply forecasts, adopt a new water supply 
forecasting model that better addresses the effects of climate change, implement a formal policy and procedures for 
documenting its operational plans for the state’s water supply and its rationale for its operating procedures, and develop a 
comprehensive, long-term plan for mitigating and responding to the effects of drought. The bill would require the 
department to prepare, and submit to the Legislature, quarterly reports on its progress toward meeting these 
requirements. The bill would require the department to review and update the plan for mitigating and responding to the 
effects of drought on or before December 31, 2026, and annually thereafter. The bill would require the department, 
commencing in 2026 and annually thereafter, to present specified information at an open and public meeting, including 
the department’s operational decisions and their rationale for the state’s water supply during the preceding water year. 
The bill would require the department to include the information presented at the meeting in a report, make the report 
publicly available on the department’s internet website, and submit the report to the Legislature. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 272 (Laird D)   Sea level rise: planning and adaptation. 
  Status: 6/20/2023-From committee: Do pass and re-refer to Com. on APPR. (Ayes 10. Noes 1.) (June 19). Re-referred to Page 105 of 138



Com. on APPR.  

  

Summary: Current law creates within the Ocean Protection Council the California Sea Level Rise State and Regional 
Support Collaborative to provide state and regional information to the public and support to local, regional, and other 
state agencies for the identification, assessment, planning, and, where feasible, the mitigation of the adverse 
environmental, social, and economic effects of sea level rise within the coastal zone, as provided. This bill would require 
a local government, as defined, lying, in whole or in part, within the coastal zone, as defined, or within the jurisdiction of 
the San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission, as defined, to implement sea level rise planning and 
adaptation through either submitting, and receiving approval for, a local coastal program, as defined, to the California 
Coastal Commission or submitting, and receiving approval for, a subregional San Francisco Bay shoreline resiliency 
plan to the San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission, as applicable, on or before January 1, 2034, 
as provided. By imposing additional requirements on local governments, the bill would impose a state-mandated local 
program. The bill would require local governments that receive approval for sea level rise planning and adaptation on or 
before January 1, 2029, to be prioritized for sea level rise funding, upon appropriation by the Legislature, for the 
implementation of projects in the local government’s approved sea level rise adaptation plan.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 315 (Hurtado D)   Groundwater: groundwater sustainability agencies: probationary basins. 

  
Status: 5/19/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(5). (Last location was APPR. SUSPENSE FILE on 
5/1/2023)(May be acted upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: The Sustainable Groundwater Management Act authorizes the State Water Resources Control Board to 
designate specified basins as probationary basins if certain conditions are met, including, but not limited to, that the 
Department of Water Resources, in consultation with the board, determines that a groundwater sustainability plan is 
inadequate or that the groundwater sustainability program is not being implemented in a manner that will likely achieve 
the sustainability goal. Current law requires the board, if it designates a basin as a probationary basin pursuant to 
specified conditions, to identify the specific deficiencies and potential remedies. Current law authorizes the board to 
request the department, within 90 days of the designation, to provide technical recommendations to local agencies to 
remedy the deficiencies and to develop an interim plan for the probationary basin one year after the designation, as 
specified. This bill would require any groundwater sustainability agency that hires a third-party consulting firm to ensure 
that the integrity of the science being used to develop a groundwater sustainability plan is protected and the data is not 
sold. The bill would delete the authorizations for the board to request technical recommendations from the department. 
The bill would additionally place various requirements on the board in working with a groundwater sustainability 
agency, including, among other things, requiring the board to provide clear benchmarks and guidance for groundwater 
sustainability agencies to improve their groundwater management plans.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 865 (Laird D)   Municipal water districts: automatic exclusion of cities. 

  
Status: 4/28/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(2). (Last location was GOV. & F. on 3/1/2023)(May be acted 
upon Jan 2024) 

  

Summary: Current law authorizes a governing body of a municipal water district to adopt an ordinance excluding any 
territory annexed to a metropolitan water district organized under the Metropolitan Water District Act, if the territory is 
annexed prior to the effective date of the formation of the municipal water district. Current law requires the Secretary of 
State to issue a certificate reciting the passage of the ordinance and the exclusion of the area from the municipal water 
district within 10 days of receiving a certified copy of the ordinance. This bill would extend the number of days the 
Secretary of State has to issue a certificate to 14 days. 

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
   
  

  SB 867 
(Allen D)   Drought, Flood, and Water Resilience, Wildfire and Forest Resilience, Coastal Resilience, Extreme 
Heat Mitigation, Biodiversity and Nature-Based Climate Solutions, Climate Smart Agriculture, Park Creation 
and Outdoor Access, and Clean Energy Bond Act of 2024. 

  Status: 6/22/2023-Read second time and amended. Re-referred to Com. on NAT. RES.  

  
Calendar:  7/10/2023  2:30 p.m. - State Capitol, Room 447  ASSEMBLY NATURAL RESOURCES, RIVAS, LUZ, 
Chair 
 

  

Summary: Would enact the Drought, Flood, and Water Resilience, Wildfire and Forest Resilience, Coastal Resilience, 
Extreme Heat Mitigation, Biodiversity and Nature-Based Climate Solutions, Climate Smart Agriculture, Park Creation 
and Outdoor Access, and Clean Energy Bond Act of 2024, which, if approved by the voters, would authorize the 
issuance of bonds in the amount of $15,500,000,000 pursuant to the State General Obligation Bond Law to finance 
projects for drought, flood, and water resilience, wildfire and forest resilience, coastal resilience, extreme heat Page 106 of 138



mitigation, biodiversity and nature-based climate solutions, climate smart agriculture, park creation and outdoor access, 
and clean energy programs.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   B. Watch            
 

 

  C. Spot Bill 

 
 
 
   
  

  AB 422 (Alanis R)   Natural Resources Agency: statewide water storage: tracking. 

  
Status: 4/28/2023-Failed Deadline pursuant to Rule 61(a)(2). (Last location was W.,P. & W. on 2/9/2023)(May be acted 
upon Jan 2024) 

  
Summary: Would require the Natural Resources Agency, on or before June 1, 2024, to post on its publicly available 
internet website information tracking the progress to increase statewide water storage, and to keep that information 
updated.  

        
        Position   Priority            
        Watch   C. Spot Bill            
 

Total Measures: 40 

Total Tracking Forms: 40 

Page 107 of 138



M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n

 W
a

te
r 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
o

f 
S

o
u

th
er

n
 C

a
li

fo
rn

ia
 

S
ta

te
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 M
a

tr
ix

 

J
u

n
e 

1
2

, 
2

0
2

3
 –

 F
ir

st
 Y

ea
r
 o

f 
L

eg
is

la
ti

v
e 

S
es

si
o

n
 

B
il

l 
N

u
m

b
er

 

A
u

th
o

r 

A
m

en
d

ed
 D

a
te

 

L
o

ca
ti

o
n

 

T
it

le
-S

u
m

m
a
ry

 
M

W
D

 P
o
si

ti
o
n

 
E

ff
ec

ts
 o

n
 M

et
ro

p
o
li

ta
n

 

A
B

 4
0

0
 

B
.
R

u
b

io
 (

D
 –

B
a

ld
w

in
 P

a
rk

)

S
p

o
n

so
rs

: 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 S
ta

te
 

A
ss

o
ci

at
io

n
 o

f 

C
o

u
n

ti
es

, 

L
ea

g
u

e 
o

f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
it

ie
s 

A
m

en
d

ed
 

5
/1

/2
0

2
3
 

S
en

at
e 

G
o

v
er

n
an

ce
 a

n
d

 

F
in

an
ce

 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

L
o

ca
l 

a
g
en

cy
 d

es
ig

n
-b

u
il

d
 p

ro
je

ct
s:

 

a
u

th
o

ri
za

ti
o
n

. 

T
h

is
 m

ea
su

re
 w

o
u
ld

 e
x
te

n
d
 t

h
e 

ex
is

ti
n
g
 s

u
n
se

t 

d
at

e 
to

 J
an

u
ar

y
 1

, 
2
0

3
1

, 
fo

r 
th

e 
u
se

 o
f 

d
es

ig
n

-

b
u

il
d

 a
s 

a 
d
el

iv
er

y
 m

et
h
o
d
 f

o
r 

p
u
b
li

c 
w

o
rk

s 

co
n

tr
ac

ts
. 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 

B
as

ed
 o

n
  

O
ct

o
b
er

 2
0
2
1
 

B
o
ar

d
 A

ct
io

n
 

M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n
’s

 c
u

rr
en

t 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 t
o

 u
se

 d
es

ig
n

-b
u
il

d
 

u
n

d
er

 A
B

 1
8
4

5
 (

C
al

d
er

o
n

, 
C

H
. 

2
7

5
, 

2
0

2
2
) 

w
il

l 

su
n

se
t 

o
n

 J
an

u
ar

y
 1

, 
2

0
2

8
. 
T

h
e 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
s 

o
f 

th
is

 b
il

l 

w
o

u
ld

 a
ll

o
w

 M
et

ro
p
o

li
ta

n
 t

o
 u

se
 d

es
ig

n
-b

u
il

d
 f

o
r 

fu
tu

re
 p

ro
je

ct
s 

th
ro

u
g

h
 J

an
u

ar
y

 1
, 
2

0
3

1
. 

A
B

 1
5

7
2

 

F
ri

ed
m

a
n

 (
D

 -
 

G
le

n
d

a
le

) 

S
p

o
n

so
rs

: 

H
ea

l 
th

e 
B

ay
, 

N
at

io
n
al

 R
es

o
u
rc

es
 

D
ef

en
se

 C
o
u
n
ci

l 

A
m

en
d

ed
 

0
5

/1
8
/2

0
2

3
 

In
 S

en
at

e 

P
o

ta
b

le
 w

a
te

r:
 n

o
n

fu
n

ct
io

n
a
l 

tu
rf

. 

T
h

is
 m

ea
su

re
 p

ro
h
ib

it
s 

th
e 

u
se

 o
f 

p
o
ta

b
le

 w
at

er
 

fo
r 

th
e 

ir
ri

g
at

io
n
 o

f 
n
o
n

-f
u
n
ct

io
n
al

 t
u
rf

 l
o
ca

te
d
 

o
n

 c
o
m

m
er

ci
al

, 
in

d
u
st

ri
al

, 
in

st
it

u
ti

o
n
al

 a
n
d
 

m
u

lt
if

am
il

y
 r

es
id

en
ti

al
 p

ro
p
er

ti
es

 b
y
 s

p
ec

if
ie

d
 

d
at

es
. 

T
h

is
 m

ea
su

re
 w

o
u
ld

 a
ls

o
 r

eq
u
ir

e 
th

e 
S

ta
te

 

W
at

er
 R

es
o
u
rc

es
 C

o
n
tr

o
l 

B
o
ar

d
 t

o
 e

st
ab

li
sh

 

co
m

p
li

an
ce

 a
n
d
 c

er
ti

fi
ca

ti
o
n
 r

eq
u
ir

em
en

ts
 b

y
 

Ju
ly

 1
,2

0
2
6

. 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 

C
o
n

si
d

er
 C

o
-

S
p

o
n

so
rs

h
ip

 i
f 

a
m

en
d

ed
 

B
as

ed
 u

p
o
n
 

A
p
ri

l 
2
0
2
3
 

B
o
ar

d
 a

ct
io

n
 

T
h

is
 b

il
l’

s 
in

te
n
t 

is
 c

o
n

si
st

en
t 

w
it

h
 M

et
ro

p
o
li

ta
n
’s

 

ef
fo

rt
s 

to
 c

o
n
se

rv
e 

w
at

er
 a

n
d

 r
ed

u
ce

 n
o
n

-f
u

n
ct

io
n

al
 

tu
rf

 i
n

 t
h

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
ar

ea
. 

B
as

ed
 o

n
 i

n
p

u
t 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e 

B
o

ar
d

 a
n

d
 m

em
b

er
 a

g
en

ci
es

, 
M

et
ro

p
o

li
ta

n
 i

s 
se

ek
in

g
 

am
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o
 e

x
cl

u
d

e 
m

u
lt

i-
fa

m
il

y
 r

es
id

en
ti

al
 

b
u

il
d

in
g
s 

an
d
 p

ro
te

ct
 t

h
e 

au
th

o
ri

ty
 a

n
d

 l
o

ca
l 

co
n

tr
o
l 

o
f 

p
u

b
li

c 
w

at
er

 s
y

st
em

s.
  
 

A
B

 1
5

7
3

 

F
ri

ed
m

a
n

 (
D

 -
 

G
le

n
d

a
le

) 

S
p

o
n

so
r:

 

E
ar

th
 A

d
v
o
ca

cy
 

A
m

en
d

ed
 o

n
 

5
/1

8
/2

3
 

In
 S

en
at

e 

W
a

te
r 

co
n

se
rv

a
ti

o
n

: 
la

n
d

sc
a
p

e 
d

es
ig

n
: 

m
o
d

el
 

o
rd

in
a

n
ce

. 

T
h

is
 m

ea
su

re
 w

o
u
ld

 r
eq

u
ir

e 
th

e 
u
p
d
at

ed
 m

o
d
el

 

w
at

er
 e

ff
ic

ie
n

t 
la

n
d
sc

ap
e 

o
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

al
l 

p
la

n
ts

 i
n

st
al

le
d
 i

n
 n

ew
 o

r 
re

n
o
v
at

ed
 

n
o

n
re

si
d
en

ti
al

 a
re

as
 t

o
 b

e 
at

 l
ea

st
 2

5
%

 l
o
ca

l 

n
at

iv
e 

p
la

n
ts

 b
eg

in
n
in

g
 J

an
u
ar

y
 1

, 
2
0
2
6
, 

5
0
%

 

b
eg

in
n
in

g
 J

an
u
ar

y
 1

, 
2
0
3
0
, 
an

d
 7

5
%

 b
eg

in
n
in

g
 

Ja
n

u
ar

y
 1

, 
2
0

3
5
. 

 T
h
is

 m
ea

su
re

 w
o
u
ld

 a
ls

o
 

p
ro

h
ib

it
 t

h
e 

u
se

 o
f 

n
o
n
fu

n
ct

io
n
al

 t
u
rf

 i
n
 

n
o

n
re

si
d
en

ti
al

 l
an

d
sc

ap
e 

p
ro

je
ct

s 
af

te
r 

Ja
n
u
ar

y
 

1
, 
2

0
2

6
. 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 

B
as

ed
 u

p
o
n
 

2
0
2
3
 L

eg
is

la
ti

v
e 

P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 a
n
d
 

P
ri

n
ci

p
le

s,
 

ad
o
p
te

d
 

D
ec

em
b
er

 2
0
2
2
 

T
h

is
 m

ea
su

re
 i

s 
co

n
si

st
en

t 
to

 M
et

ro
p
o

li
ta

n
’s

 e
ff

o
rt

 t
o

 

ad
d

re
ss

 t
h

e 
re

d
u
ct

io
n

 o
f 

n
o
n

fu
n

ct
io

n
al

 t
u
rf

 w
it

h
in

 i
ts

 

se
rv

ic
e 

ar
ea

. 
M

et
ro

p
o
li

ta
n
 s

ta
ff

 i
d

en
ti

fi
ed

 

im
p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 c
h

al
le

n
g

es
 a

n
d

 w
er

e 
ab

le
 t

o
 w

o
rk

 

w
it

h
 t

h
e 

au
th

o
r’

s 
o
ff

ic
e 

to
 b

ri
n

g
 M

et
ro

p
o

li
ta

n
 t

o
 a

 

su
p

p
o

rt
 p

o
si

ti
o
n

. 
  

M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n
’s

 r
eq

u
es

te
d

 a
m

en
d
m

en
ts

 i
n

cl
u

d
ed

: 
(1

) 

re
m

o
v

al
 o

f 
th

e 
.3

 p
la

n
t 

fa
ct

o
r,

 (
2
) 

re
d

u
ct

io
n

 o
f 

th
e 

n
at

iv
e 

p
la

n
t 

re
q

u
ir

em
en

t 
fr

o
m

 7
5

 p
er

ce
n
t 

to
 5

0
 

p
er

ce
n

t,
 w

it
h
 a

 p
h
as

ed
 a

p
p
ro

ac
h

 f
ro

m
 2

5
 p

er
ce

n
t 

u
p

 

to
 5

0
 p

er
ce

n
t,

 a
n

d
 (

3
) 

re
q
u

ir
e 

w
at

er
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
t 

ir
ri

g
at

io
n

 m
et

h
o

d
s.

  

A
B

 1
6

4
8

 
A

m
en

d
ed

 o
n

 

3
/1

6
/2

0
2

3
 

W
a

te
r:

 C
o
lo

ra
d

o
 R

iv
er

 C
o
n

se
r
v
a
ti

o
n

. 
O

p
p

o
se

 
T

h
is

 m
ea

su
re

 a
ff

ec
ts

 M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n
’s

 f
le

x
ib

il
it

y
 w

it
h

 

it
s 

en
ti

re
 w

at
er

 p
o

rt
fo

li
o

, 
in

cl
u

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

in
te

g
ra

te
d

 

Ite
m

 N
o.

 2
f

Page 108 of 138



M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n

 W
a

te
r 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
o

f 
S

o
u

th
er

n
 C

a
li

fo
rn

ia
 

S
ta

te
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 M
a

tr
ix

 

J
u

n
e 

1
2

, 
2

0
2

3
 –

 F
ir

st
 Y

ea
r
 o

f 
L

eg
is

la
ti

v
e 

S
es

si
o

n
 

 
B

a
in

s 
(D

 -
 

B
a

k
er

sf
ie

ld
) 

 A
ss

em
b

ly
 W

at
er

, 

P
ar

k
s,

 a
n

d
 

W
il

d
li

fe
 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

 T
w

o
 Y

ea
r 

B
il

l 

 

T
h

is
 m

ea
su

re
 w

o
u
ld

 s
p
ec

if
ic

al
ly

 p
ro

h
ib

it
 

M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n
 a

n
d
 L

A
D

W
P

 a
ch

ie
v
in

g
 f

ed
er

al
ly

 

re
q

u
ir

ed
 r

ed
u
ct

io
n
s 

o
n
 C

o
lo

ra
d
o
 R

iv
er

 r
es

o
u
rc

es
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 i

n
cr

ea
se

d
 w

at
er

 d
el

iv
er

ie
s 

fr
o
m

 o
th

er
 

re
g

io
n

s 
o
f 

C
al

if
o
rn

ia
, 
in

cl
u
d
in

g
 t

h
e 

D
el

ta
, 

re
tr

o
ac

ti
v
el

y
 a

s 
o
f 

Ja
n
u
ar

y
 1

, 
2
0
2
3
. 

B
as

ed
 u

p
o
n

 

2
0
2
3
 L

eg
is

la
ti

v
e 

P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 a
n
d
 

P
ri

n
ci

p
le

s,
 

ad
o
p
te

d
 

D
ec

em
b
er

 2
0
2
2
 

w
at

er
 r

es
o

u
rc

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
an

d
 t

h
e 

A
n
n

u
al

 

O
p

er
at

in
g
 P

la
n

. 
M

et
ro

p
o
li

ta
n

’s
 r

el
ia

b
il

it
y

 a
n

d
 i

ts
 

ab
il

it
y

 t
o

 m
ee

t 
d

em
an

d
s 

w
o
u

ld
 a

ls
o

 b
e 

im
p
ai

re
d

 b
y
 

re
st

ri
ct

io
n
s 

o
n

 M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n
’s

 d
is

cr
et

io
n

 t
o

 d
ev

el
o

p
 

cr
ea

ti
v

e 
p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s 

w
it

h
 i

ts
 S

ta
te

 W
at

er
 P

ro
je

ct
 a

n
d

 

C
o

lo
ra

d
o

 R
iv

er
 B

as
in

 s
ta

k
eh

o
ld

er
s.

  

S
B

 3
6

6
 

C
a

b
a

ll
er

o
 (

D
 -

 

M
er

ce
d

) 

 S
p

o
n

so
rs

: 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 U
ti

li
ti

es
 

A
ss

o
ci

at
io

n
, 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
o
u
n
ci

l 

fo
r 

E
n
v

ir
o
n
m

en
ta

l 

an
d

 E
co

n
o
m

ic
 

B
al

an
ce

, 
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 

S
ta

te
 A

ss
o
ci

at
io

n
 

o
f 

C
o

u
n
ti

es
 

A
m

en
d

ed
  

 5
/2

3
/2

0
2

3
 

   A
ss

em
b

ly
 

T
h

e 
C

a
li

fo
rn

ia
 W

a
te

r 
P

la
n

: 
lo

n
g
-t

er
m

 s
u

p
p

ly
 

ta
rg

et
s.

 

T
h

is
 m

ea
su

re
 w

o
u
ld

 r
ev

is
e 

th
e 

C
al

if
o
rn

ia
 W

at
er

 

P
la

n
 t

o
 r

eq
u
ir

e 
th

e 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
o
f 

W
at

er
 

R
es

o
u

rc
es

 t
o
 u

p
d
at

e 
th

e 
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 W

at
er

 P
la

n
 

b
y

 D
ec

em
b
er

 3
1
, 
2
0
2
8
, 

an
d
 e

v
er

y
 f

iv
e 

y
ea

rs
 

af
te

r,
 t

o
 i

n
cl

u
d
e 

es
ta

b
li

sh
in

g
 a

 l
o
n
g

-t
er

m
 w

at
er

 

su
p

p
ly

 t
ar

g
et

 f
o
r 

2
0
5
0

 a
n
d
 d

is
cu

ss
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
e 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

o
f 

sp
ec

if
ie

d
 w

at
er

 s
u
p
p
ly

 s
o
u
rc

es
 

to
 m

ee
t 

d
em

an
d
. 
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

, 

if
 A

m
en

d
ed

 

 B
as

ed
 u

p
o
n
 

2
0
2
3
 L

eg
is

la
ti

v
e 

P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 a
n
d
 

P
ri

n
ci

p
le

s,
 

ad
o
p
te

d
 

D
ec

em
b
er

 2
0
2
2
 

T
h

e 
in

te
n
t 

o
f 

th
is

 b
il

l 
is

 t
o

 h
el

p
 m

o
d

er
n
iz

e 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

’s
 w

at
er

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

p
ra

ct
ic

es
 a

n
d

 p
ro

v
id

e 

lo
n

g
-t

er
m

 r
el

ia
b

le
 s

u
p
p

li
es

 i
n

 r
es

p
o

n
se

 t
o

 t
h

e 
cu

rr
en

t 

cl
im

at
e 

ch
al

le
n

g
es

. 
 M

et
ro

p
o

li
ta

n
 i

s 
se

ek
in

g
 

cl
ar

if
y

in
g

 a
m

en
d
m

en
ts

 t
h

at
 i

n
cl

u
d

e:
 (

1
) 

en
su

ri
n

g
 t

h
e 

2
0

5
0

 t
ar

g
et

 w
il

l 
re

fl
ec

t 
st

at
ew

id
e,

 r
eg

io
n

al
, 

an
d

 l
o
ca

l 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 e

ff
o

rt
s.

 T
h
is

 a
m

en
d

m
en

t 
w

il
l 

en
su

re
 t

h
at

 

re
g

io
n

al
 a

n
d

 l
o

ca
l 

ef
fo

rt
s 

ar
e 

p
ro

p
er

ly
 c

o
n

si
d

er
ed

 a
n
d

 

in
co

rp
o

ra
te

d
 i

n
 t

h
e 

n
ew

 2
0
5

0
 w

at
er

 s
u
p

p
ly

 t
ar

g
et

s.
  

S
B

 6
5

9
 

A
sh

b
y
 (

D
 –

 

S
a

cr
a
m

en
to

) 

 S
p

o
n

so
rs

: 

S
ac

ra
m

en
to

 

R
eg

io
n

al
 W

at
er

 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

  

 

A
m

en
d

ed
 

5
/1

8
/2

0
2

3
 

 A
ss

em
b

ly
 

C
a

li
fo

rn
ia

 W
a
te

r 
S

u
p

p
ly

 S
o
lu

ti
o
n

s 
A

ct
 o

f 

2
0

2
3

. 
T

h
is

 b
il

l 
w

o
u
ld

 r
eq

u
ir

e 
th

e 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
o
f 

W
at

er
 R

es
o
u
rc

es
 t

o
 d

ev
el

o
p
 a

 g
ro

u
n
d
w

at
er

 

re
ch

ar
g
e 

p
la

n
 b

y
 J

an
u
ar

y
 1

, 
2
0
2

6
, 

to
 c

re
at

e 

ad
d

it
io

n
al

 g
ro

u
n
d
w

at
er

 r
ec

h
ar

g
e 

ca
p
ac

it
y

. 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

, 
if

 

A
m

en
d

ed
 

 B
as

ed
 u

p
o
n
 

2
0
2
3
 L

eg
is

la
ti

v
e 

P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 a
n
d
 

P
ri

n
ci

p
le

s 

ad
o
p
te

d
 

D
ec

em
b
er

 2
0
2
2

. 

 

T
h

is
 b

il
l 

is
 i

n
te

n
d

ed
 t

o
 a

d
d

re
ss

 c
h

al
le

n
g

es
 i

n
 w

at
er

 

su
p

p
ly

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

d
u

e 
to

 a
 s

h
if

ti
n

g
 c

li
m

at
e.

 T
h

is
 

b
il

l 
w

il
l 

fu
rt

h
er

 e
le

v
at

e 
th

e 
im

p
o

rt
an

ce
 o

f 

g
ro

u
n

d
w

at
er

 i
n
 t

h
e 

st
at

e’
s 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 e

ff
o

rt
s,

 w
h
ic

h
 

p
ro

v
id

es
 o

th
er

 b
en

ef
it

s 
su

ch
 a

s 
re

d
u

ci
n

g
 f

lo
o

d
 r

is
k
s 

an
d

 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
fo

r 
en

v
ir

o
n

m
en

ta
l 

fl
o

w
s.

 

T
h

is
 b

il
l 

d
o
es

 n
o
t 

in
cl

u
d

e 
fu

n
d

in
g

 b
u

t 
d

o
es

 s
et

 a
 

fu
n

d
in

g
 t

ar
g
et

 f
o

r 
in

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re
 o

r 
p
o

li
cy

 

im
p
ro

v
em

en
ts

 a
s 

p
ar

t 
o
f 

th
e 

ac
ti

o
n

 p
la

n
. 
S

u
g

g
es

te
d

 

am
en

d
m

en
ts

 i
n
cl

u
d

e:
 1

) 
ad

d
in

g
 a

 f
u

n
d
in

g
 t

ar
g

et
 f

o
r 

in
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 i
m

p
ro

v
em

en
ts

 b
y

 2
0

2
5
, 

an
d

 2
) 

Id
en

ti
fy

in
g

 t
h
e 

lo
n

g
-t

er
m

 r
ec

h
ar

g
e 

fu
n

d
in

g
 n

ee
d

s 
fo

r 

2
0

4
0

 a
n

d
 b

ey
o

n
d

. 

Page 109 of 138



M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n

 W
a

te
r 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
o

f 
S

o
u

th
er

n
 C

a
li

fo
rn

ia
 

S
ta

te
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n

 M
a

tr
ix

 

J
u

n
e 

1
2

, 
2

0
2

3
 –

 F
ir

st
 Y

ea
r
 o

f 
L

eg
is

la
ti

v
e 

S
es

si
o

n
 

 
S

B
 6

8
7

  

E
g

g
m

a
n

 (
D

 -
 

S
to

c
k

to
n

) 

   

A
m

en
d

ed
 

5
/2

/2
0

2
3
 

  S
en

at
e 

 

A
p

p
ro

p
ri

at
io

n
s 

 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e:
 H

el
d

 

o
n

 S
u

sp
en

se
 

 

W
a

te
r 

Q
u

a
li

ty
 C

o
n

tr
o
l 

P
la

n
: 

D
el

ta
 

C
o

n
v

ey
a
n

ce
 P

ro
je

ct
. 

T
h

is
 m

ea
su

re
 w

il
l 

re
q
u
ir

e 
th

e 
S

ta
te

 W
at

er
 

R
es

o
u

rc
es

 C
o
n
tr

o
l 

B
o
ar

d
 t

o
 a

d
o
p
t 

a 
fi

n
al

 u
p
d
at

e 

o
f 

th
e 

B
ay

-D
el

ta
 W

at
er

 Q
u
al

it
y
 C

o
n
tr

o
l 

P
la

n
 

b
ef

o
re

 t
h

e 
B

o
ar

d
 m

ay
 c

o
n
si

d
er

 a
 c

h
an

g
e 

in
 t

h
e 

p
o

in
t 

o
f 

d
iv

er
si

o
n
 o

r 
an

y
 o

th
er

 w
at

er
 r

ig
h
ts

 

p
er

m
it

 o
r 

o
rd

er
 f

o
r 

th
e 

D
el

ta
 C

o
n
v
ey

an
ce

 

P
ro

je
ct

. 
 

O
p

p
o
se

 

 B
as

ed
 u

p
o
n
 

2
0
2
3
 L

eg
is

la
ti

v
e 

P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 a
n
d
 

P
ri

n
ci

p
le

s,
 

ad
o
p
te

d
 

D
ec

em
b
er

 2
0
2
2
 

M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

s 
u

p
d
at

in
g

 t
h

e 
W

at
er

 Q
u

al
it

y
 

C
o

n
tr

o
l 

P
la

n
 t

o
 p

ro
te

ct
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l 
u
se

s 
in

 t
h

e 
D

el
ta

. 

H
o

w
ev

er
, 
th

is
 b

il
l 

w
o

u
ld

 r
es

u
lt

 i
n

 h
al

ti
n

g
 o

r 
d

el
ay

in
g

 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 e

ff
o

rt
s 

o
n
 t

h
e 

D
el

ta
 C

o
n

v
ey

an
ce

 P
ro

je
ct

 a
n

d
 

p
o

te
n
ti

al
ly

 p
re

v
en

t 
th

e 
p
ro

je
ct

 f
ro

m
 o

p
er

at
in

g
 i

f 

ap
p

ro
v
ed

. 
 

S
B

 7
0

6
 

C
a

b
a

ll
er

o
 (

D
-

M
er

ce
d

) 

 S
p

o
n

so
rs

: 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 S
ta

te
 

A
ss

o
ci

at
io

n
 o

f 

C
o

u
n

ti
es

; 
C

o
u
n
ty

 

o
f 

S
an

 D
ie

g
o
; 

D
es

ig
n

 B
u
il

d
 

In
st

it
u

te
 o

f 

A
m

er
ic

a 
W

es
te

rn
 

P
ac

if
ic

 C
h
ap

te
r;

 

L
ea

g
u

e 
o

f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 C
it

ie
s 

A
m

en
d

ed
 

4
/1

0
/2

0
2

3
 

 A
ss

em
b

ly
 L

o
ca

l 

G
o

v
er

n
m

en
t 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

P
u

b
li

c 
co

n
tr

a
ct

s:
 p

ro
g
re

ss
iv

e 
d

es
ig

n
-b

u
il

d
: 

lo
ca

l 
a

g
en

ci
es

. 
 T

h
is

 b
il

l 
w

o
u
ld

 e
x
p
an

d
 t

h
e 

ty
p

es
 o

f 
p
ro

je
ct

s 
th

at
 c

an
 b

e 
u
se

d
 f

o
r 

p
ro

g
re

ss
iv

e 
d
es

ig
n

-b
u
il

d
, 
an

d
 a

u
th

o
ri

ze
s 

al
l 

ci
ti

es
, 
co

u
n
ti

es
, 
ci

ty
 a

n
d
 c

o
u
n
ti

es
, 

an
d
 s

p
ec

ia
l 

d
is

tr
ic

ts
 t

o
 u

se
 p

ro
g
re

ss
iv

e 
d
es

ig
n

-b
u
il

d
 f

o
r 

p
ro

je
ct

s 
th

ro
u
g
h
 J

an
u
ar

y
 1

, 
2
0
3
0
. 

 I
n
 a

d
d
it

io
n
, 

fo
r 

an
y

 l
o

ca
l 

ag
en

cy
 t

h
at

 u
se

s 
th

e 
p
ro

g
re

ss
iv

e-

d
es

ig
n

 b
u
il

d
 p

ro
ce

ss
 m

u
st

 s
u
b
m

it
 a

 r
ep

o
rt

 t
o
 t

h
e 

L
eg

is
la

tu
re

. 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 

 B
as

ed
 u

p
o
n
 

2
0
2
3
 L

eg
is

la
ti

v
e 

P
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 a
n
d
 

P
ri

n
ci

p
le

s,
 

ad
o
p
te

d
 

D
ec

em
b
er

 2
0
2
2
 

C
u

rr
en

tl
y

, 
p

ro
g

re
ss

iv
e 

d
es

ig
n

-b
u

il
d

 e
li

g
ib

le
 p

ro
je

ct
s 

ar
e 

li
m

it
ed

 t
o

 w
as

te
w

at
er

 t
re

at
m

en
t 

fa
ci

li
ti

es
, 
p

ar
k

 

an
d

 r
ec

re
at

io
n
al

 f
ac

il
it

ie
s,

 s
o

li
d

 w
as

te
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 

fa
ci

li
ti

es
 a

n
d

 w
at

er
 r

ec
y

cl
in

g
 f

ac
il

it
ie

s.
  

 H
o

w
ev

er
, 

th
is

 b
il

l 
w

il
l 

n
o

w
 a

u
th

o
ri

ze
 M

et
ro

p
o
li

ta
n

 t
o

 a
d

d
re

ss
 

o
th

er
 p

h
y
si

ca
l 

st
ru

ct
u

re
s 

an
d

 n
ee

d
s 

to
 f

u
rt

h
er

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 

M
et

ro
p

o
li

ta
n
’s

 o
p

er
at

io
n

s 
fo

r 
re

li
ab

le
 w

at
er

 s
u

p
p
ly

 

d
el

iv
er

ie
s 

th
ro

u
g
h

o
u

t 
it

s 
se

rv
ic

e 
ar

ea
. 

   

 

Page 110 of 138



 

Agenda Item No. 11 
 

 

 
STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors Meeting Date:  July 27, 2023 

From: Sherri Seitz, Public Affairs Manager 

Subject: Public Education and Outreach Report    

 

Bill Message 

 

Customer July/August bill message: 

Fall is the perfect time to plant California Friendly and drought tolerant plants.  Start 

planning now by visiting https://etwd.com/conservation/landscape-workshops/ to sign up 

for free online landscape classes on a variety of landscape topics. 

 

Prop 218 Community Meetings 

ETWD held the first of two Prop 218 community informational meetings on Wednesday, 

July 12, 2023 by Zoom.  We had two customers attend virtually and received positive 

feedback from Ms. Brady sharing that Dennis’s presentation was well put together and that 

ETWD has a responsible budget. The second Prop 218 community meeting is scheduled 

for July 19, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 

Laguna Woods Television 

President Kay Havens will be interviewed by the new host of LWVT, Michael Taylor on 

Friday, July 21, 2023 during the “This Day” segment.  President Havens will discuss 

ETWD services, ETWD staff certifications/education, El Toro Regional Reservoir and 

Water Supply updates.  Going forward Directors will be scheduled on the last Friday of 

every month.  A draft rotation schedule will be distributed. 

Community Advisory Group Meeting 

ETWD’s next quarterly Community Advisory Group Meeting is scheduled for Thursday, 

August 10, 2023.  Topics will include Water Quality, the El Toro Regional Reservoir Liner 

and Cover Replacement Project and two new segments, a Community Information Forum 

https://etwd.com/conservation/landscape-workshops/


 
Public Education and Outreach Report 
Page 2 
 
 

and Department Spotlight that will highlight the ETWD management team.  We will also 

solicit feedback on what topics attendees would like to hear about in future CAG meetings. 

Community Events: 

Supervisor Foley’s All Electeds’ Quarterly Meeting 

Directors Freshley, Monin and Gaskins attended Supervisor Foley’s first quarterly “All 

Electeds’” meeting. The meeting’s purpose was for Supervisor Foley to meet the elected’s, 

share ideas and discuss events and projects in the 5th District. Supervisor Foley’s next 

quarterly meetings will be held on October 12, 2023 and January 11, 2024. Meetings will 

rotate in various cities. 

City of Mission Viejo National Night Out 

On Tuesday, August 1, 2023, ETWD staff will provide water with ETWD’s Emergency 

Water Trailer and water conservation information to the attendees at the City of Mission 

Viejo’s National Night Out from 5:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. at Pavion Park, 24501 Pavion, 

Mission Viejo, CA 92691. 



 

    Agenda Item No. 12 
 
 
 
  

 
 

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors          Meeting Date:  July 27, 2023 

From: Vu Chu, Water Use Efficiency Analyst 

Subject: Water Use Efficiency Report 

 
Rebate Programs: 
 
The SoCal WaterSmart regional rebate program is available to ETWD customers provided 
by the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, the Municipal Water District of 
Orange County and ETWD. 
 
The following tables reflect the ETWD customer device rebates available to customers from 
July 2022 through June 30, 2024. 
 
Select device purchases are eligible for rebates while meeting eligibility requirements and 
subject to funding availability.  Rebate information can be found at 
www.etwd.com/conservation/rebates. 
 
Residential Rebate Programs: 
 

Device MET 
Rebate 

MWDOC 
Grant 

ETWD 
Rebate 

Total Rebate 
(up to) 

High Efficiency Clothes 
Washer 

$85  $115 $200 

Premium High Efficiency 
Toilet 

$40  $60 $100 

Rotating Sprinkler Nozzles 
(min 30 per home) 

$2 ea   $2 

Smart Irrigation Timer $80 $100 $70 $250 

Turf Removal Program (up to 
5,000 sq ft)* 

$2 sq. ft. $1 sq. ft. $1 sq. ft. $4 sq. ft. 

Soil Moisture Sensor System 
<1 Acre 
>1 Acre 

 
$80 

$35/station 

 
$100 

 
$70 

 
$250 

$35/station 



 
Water Use Efficiency Report 
Page 2 
 
 
Hose Bib Irrigation Controller $35   $35  

Rain Barrels 
Cisterns 
(200 -500 gallon) 
(501-999 gallon) 
(1,000 gallon or more) 

$35 
 

$250 
$300 
$350 

  $35 
 

$250 
$300 
$350 

Spray to Drip Irrigation (up to 
5,000 sf of converted area per 
fiscal year) 

 $0.50 sq. 
ft. 

$0.25 sq. 
ft. 

$0.75 sq. ft. 

*Designated recycled water sites are not eligible for turf removal rebates.  MWDOC Grant funding based on 
availability. ETWD has discontinued funding of synthetic turf rebates. 
 
Commercial Rebate Programs: 
 

Device MET 
Rebate 

MWDOC 
Grant 

ETWD 
Rebate 

Total Rebate 
(up to) 

Premium High Efficiency 
Toilet  
 

$40   $40 

Multi-family Premium 
High Efficiency Toilet  
 

$40   $40 

Zero Water/Ultra Low 
Water Urinal 

$200   $200 

Plumbing Flow Control 
Valve 
(min. 10) 

$5   $5 

Smart Irrigation 
Timer/Central Computer 
Irrigation Controller/Soil 
Moisture Sensor 
System/Hose Bib 
Irrigation Controller 

$35/station   $35/station 

Rotating Sprinkler 
Nozzles (minimum 
quantity of 15) 

$2   $2 

Rotating Nozzles – 
Large Rotary 

$13   $13 

Turf Removal Program 
(up to 50,000 sq ft MET-
MWDOC/up to 10,000 sq. 
ft. ETWD funding)* 

$2 sq. ft*   $2 sq. ft.* 

Spray to Drip Irrigation 
(up to 45,000 sq. ft) 

 $0.50 sq. ft.  $0.50 sq. ft. 

*Designated recycled water sites are not eligible for turf removal rebates.  Synthetic turf is not eligible for 
the turf removal rebate.  Additional commercial rebates available online at ocwatersmart.com.  MWDOC 
Grant funding based on availability. 
 



 
Water Use Efficiency Report 
Page 3 
 
 
Actual Customer Rebates Analysis: 
 
The following ETWD residential customer and commercial customer device rebates were 
approved by the Metropolitan Water District and the Municipal Water District of Orange 
County during the month of June 2023. 
 
Residential  
Device Rebates  
  

Rebates 
Approved 

June 
2023 

ETWD 
Amount 

Paid  

MET 
Amount  

Paid 

Total  
Rebate 

Paid 

High Efficiency Clothes 
Washer 

2 $230 $170 $400.00 

Weather Based Irrigation  
Controller  

1    $90.60 

 

The following ETWD rebates for Turf Removal Program and Spray-To-Drip Program that 
have been paid during the current fiscal year 2022/2023. 
 

Turf Removal Program 
 

Total sq.ft. 
Paid 

ETWD 
Supplementa

l Amount 

ETWD Supplemental 
Rebate Total 

Turf Removal 
Residential & Commercial 

26,103 $1 sq. ft. 
 

$18,364.00 

Spray-To-Drip  
Residential & Commercial  

19,850 $0.25 sq. ft. $2,977.75 

 
Water Use Efficiency Plan Update: 
 

The District Water Budget-Based Tiered Conservation Rate Structure (WBBTCRS) pricing 
structure is the primary plan that gives customers the incentive needed to be efficient. The 
Plan efforts initially will concentrate on those customers continually in the Inefficient and 
Excessive Tiers (Tiers 3 and 4).  During June 2023, residential customers accounted for 
65% of Tier 3 usage and dedicated irrigation accounted for 35%. For Tier 4, residential 
customers accounted for 39% and dedicated irrigation accounted for 61% during the same 
period.  

Total Consumption Comparison to Evapotranspiration (ET) Factor: 

Included in this month’s Water Use Efficiency Report is a chart comparing the current fiscal 
year consumption and ET factor to the fiscal 2021/22 consumption and ET factor. There was 
a 17.51% reduction in total consumption reflected in June 2023 versus June 2022. The ET 
factor decreased from 7.21 to 4.57 during the same period.  



 
Water Use Efficiency Report 
Page 4 
 
 
ETWD Tier Consumption Information and Usage Information Compared to Previous 
Years:  

The following graphs highlight ETWD year-to-date consumption and consumption by tier for 
the current fiscal year compared to 2021-2022 fiscal year. ETWD water usage compared to 
2013 and 2020 are also included.  

 

 



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

FY 2021-2022 326,076 285,955 325,642 257,784 218,693 219,231 154,838 190,655 203,970 245,962 249,225 278,011

FY 2022-2023 302,569 265,312 295,875 243,292 215,271 183,731 151,223 147,895 137,806 158,858 191,244 229,339

% Change -7.21% -7.22% -9.14% -5.62% -1.56% -16.19% -2.33% -22.43% -32.44% -35.41% -23.26% -17.51%

FY 21/22 ET 7.16 6.35 5.01 4.00 2.99 1.60 2.69 3.61 4.83 5.58 5.97 7.21

FY 22/23 ET 7.15 6.91 5.23 3.60 2.92 1.82 2.02 2.75 3.02 4.69 3.80 4.57

-3.00

-1.00

1.00

3.00

5.00

7.00

9.00

11.00

13.00

15.00

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

ET
 F

ac
to

r

C
o

n
su

m
p

ti
o

n
 in

 C
C

F

Total Consumption Comparison



Residential
Laguna

Woods Village
Multi Family Trailer Parks Condo

Irrigation -
Functional

Irrigation -
Recreational

Commercial
Recycled

Water
Public

Authority
Private Fire Flooding

Tier IV 1,315 221 707 527 425 4,356 713 0 0 0 0 0

Tier III 2,221 395 964 238 565 2,110 220 0 0 0 0 0

Tier II 14,570 7,497 758 320 196 20,975 9,341 0 0 0 0 0

Tier I 48,868 47,786 18,069 5,115 8,708 0 0 29,341 28,147 2,388 6 424

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

Bi
lli

ng
 U

ni
ts

June 2023 Water Sales



Residential
Laguna Woods

Village
Multi Family Trailer Parks Condo

Irrigation -
Functional

Irrigation -
Recreational

Commercial Recycled Water Public Authority Private Fire Flooding

Tier IV 13,320 3,707 8,032 4,655 3,613 28,768 3,272 0 0 0 0 0

Tier III 19,637 5,380 9,930 3,102 5,048 18,679 2,829 0 0 0 0 0

Tier II 174,781 99,093 11,048 5,096 2,157 254,252 93,802 0 0 0 0 0

Tier I 537,167 488,827 208,544 58,417 105,309 0 0 324,902 355,192 23,740 133 5,175

0

25,000

50,000

75,000

100,000

125,000

150,000

175,000

200,000

225,000

250,000

275,000

300,000

325,000

350,000

375,000

400,000

425,000

450,000

475,000

500,000

525,000

550,000

575,000

600,000

625,000

650,000

675,000

700,000

725,000

750,000

775,000

800,000

Bi
lli

ng
 U

ni
ts

Year-to-Date Water Sales as of June 2023



Third United Mutual 50 GRF

 22,691  35,554  1,247  1,743

Tier 4 174 - 1 7

Tier 3 256 139 2 81

Tier 2 3,331 7,798 5 1,655

Tier 1 18,930 27,617 1,239 -

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

 35,000

 40,000

Bi
lli

ng
 U

ni
ts

Laguna Woods Village
June 2023 Water Sales 

Total

Third United Mutual 50 GRF

258,577 370,313 15,605 21,788

Tier 4 2,034 1,496 19 254

Tier 3 3,572 1,874 229 1,066

Tier 2 44,541 101,778 125 20,468

Tier 1 208,430 265,165 15,232 0

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

Bi
lli

ng
 U

ni
ts

Laguna Woods Village
Year-to-Date Water Sales 

June 2023

Total



Third United Mutual 50 GRF
LWV Golf

Course

 40,165  37,257  1,782  3,816  13,160

Tier 4 174 - 1 7

Tier 3 256 139 2 81

Tier 2 3,331 7,798 5 1,655

Tier 1 18,930 27,617 1,239 -

RW 17,474 1,703 535 2,073 13,160

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

 35,000

 40,000

 45,000

Bi
lli

ng
 U

ni
ts

Laguna Woods Village
June 2023 Water & RW Sales 

Third United Mutual 50 GRF
LWV Golf

Course

484,069 388,444 19,921 45,189 108,968

Tier 4 2,034 1,496 19 254

Tier 3 3,572 1,874 229 1,066

Tier 2 44,541 101,778 125 20,468

Tier 1 208,430 265,165 15,232 0

RW 225,492 18,131 4,316 23,401 108,968

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

Bi
lli

ng
 U

ni
ts

Laguna Woods Village
Year-to-Date Water & RW Sales 

June 2023

Total Total



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 326,076 285,955 325,642 257,784 218,693 219,231 154,838 190,655 203,970 245,962 249,225 278,011

2022-2023 302,569 265,312 295,875 243,292 215,271 183,731 151,223 147,895 137,806 158,858 191,244 229,339

% Change -7.21% -7.22% -9.14% -5.62% -1.56% -16.19% -2.33% -22.43% -32.44% -35.41% -23.26% -17.51%

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000
Co

ns
um

pt
io

n 
in

 C
CF

ETWD Total Consumption 



YTD Start  Jul  Aug  Sep  Oct  Nov  Dec  Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun

2021-2022 0 326,076 612,031 937,673 1,195,457 1,414,150 1,633,381 1,788,219 1,978,874 2,182,844 2,428,806 2,678,031 2,956,042

2022-2023 0 302,569 567,881 863,756 1,107,048 1,322,319 1,506,050 1,657,273 1,805,168 1,942,974 2,101,832 2,293,076 2,522,415

% Change -7.21% -7.21% -7.88% -7.40% -6.49% -7.80% -7.32% -8.78% -10.99% -13.46% -14.37% -14.67%

0

400,000

800,000

1,200,000

1,600,000

2,000,000

2,400,000

2,800,000

3,200,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
ETWD Fiscal YTD Consumption 



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 139,359 122,453 136,854 124,965 122,664 123,677 108,947 117,323 113,871 131,677 122,149 128,990

2022-2023 134,454 118,834 135,394 121,831 120,874 113,473 106,216 101,615 95,661 110,733 110,633 128,546

% Change -3.52% -2.96% -1.07% -2.51% -1.46% -8.25% -2.51% -13.39% -15.99% -15.91% -9.43% -0.34%

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000
Co

ns
um

pt
io

n 
in

 C
CF

Tier I Consumption 



YTD Start  Jul  Aug  Sep  Oct  Nov  Dec  Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun

2021-2022 0 139,359 261,812 398,666 523,631 646,295 769,972 878,919 996,242 1,110,113 1,241,790 1,363,939 1,492,929

2022-2023 0 134,454 253,288 388,682 510,513 631,387 744,860 851,076 952,691 1,048,352 1,159,085 1,269,718 1,398,264

% Change -3.52% -3.26% -2.50% -2.51% -2.31% -3.26% -3.17% -4.37% -5.56% -6.66% -6.91% -6.34%

0

300,000

600,000

900,000

1,200,000

1,500,000

1,800,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Tier I Fiscal YTD Consumption 



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 134,929 115,782 124,822 83,711 50,681 48,390 14,202 38,183 55,520 73,496 88,075 105,265

2022-2023 121,621 102,525 105,292 72,718 50,151 30,663 11,482 15,388 13,515 17,051 46,166 53,657

% Change -9.86% -11.45% -15.65% -13.13% -1.05% -36.63% -19.15% -59.70% -75.66% -76.80% -47.58% -49.03%

21/22 ET 7.16 6.35 5.01 4.00 2.99 1.60 2.69 3.61 4.83 5.58 5.97 7.21

22/23 ET 7.15 6.91 5.23 3.60 2.92 1.82 2.02 2.75 3.02 4.69 3.80 4.57

0.00

3.00

6.00

9.00

12.00

15.00

0

30,000

60,000

90,000

120,000

150,000

180,000

ET
 F

ac
to

r

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Tier II Consumption 



YTD Start  Jul  Aug  Sep  Oct  Nov  Dec  Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun

2021-2022 0 134,929 250,711 375,533 459,244 509,925 558,315 572,517 610,700 666,220 739,716 827,791 933,056

2022-2023 0 121,621 224,146 329,438 402,156 452,307 482,970 494,452 509,840 523,355 540,406 586,572 640,229

% Change -9.86% -10.60% -12.27% -12.43% -11.30% -13.50% -13.64% -16.52% -21.44% -26.94% -29.14% -31.38%

0

300,000

600,000

900,000

1,200,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Tier II Fiscal YTD Consumption 



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 7,745 7,539 12,001 8,353 7,903 8,837 4,659 5,036 4,464 4,780 4,226 5,123

2022-2023 5,402 5,705 8,432 7,778 6,967 6,151 4,537 3,253 3,149 2,948 3,570 6,713

% Change -30.25% -24.33% -29.74% -6.88% -11.84% -30.39% -2.62% -35.41% -29.46% -38.33% -15.52% 31.04%

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

12,000

15,000
Co

ns
um

pt
io

n 
in

 C
CF

Tier III Consumption 



YTD Start  Jul  Aug  Sep  Oct  Nov  Dec  Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun

2021-2022 0 7,745 15,284 27,285 35,638 43,541 52,378 57,037 62,073 66,537 71,317 75,543 80,666

2022-2023 0 5,402 11,107 19,539 27,317 34,284 40,435 44,972 48,225 51,374 54,322 57,892 64,605

% Change -30.25% -27.33% -28.39% -23.35% -21.26% -22.80% -21.15% -22.31% -22.79% -23.83% -23.37% -19.91%

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Tier III Fiscal YTD Consumption 



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 5,764 5,204 8,936 7,644 8,249 9,876 4,890 4,236 3,296 3,661 3,731 4,265

2022-2023 4,560 5,219 7,361 7,727 7,241 7,582 5,643 2,695 3,030 2,532 3,513 8,264

% Change -20.89% 0.29% -17.63% 1.09% -12.22% -23.23% 15.40% -36.38% -8.07% -30.84% -5.84% 93.76%

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

12,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Tier IV Consumption 



YTD Start  Jul  Aug  Sep  Oct  Nov  Dec  Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun

2021-2022 0 5,764 10,968 19,904 27,548 35,797 45,673 50,563 54,799 58,095 61,756 65,487 69,752

2022-2023 0 4,560 9,779 17,140 24,867 32,108 39,690 45,333 48,028 51,058 53,590 57,103 65,367

% Change -20.89% -10.84% -13.89% -9.73% -10.31% -13.10% -10.34% -12.36% -12.11% -13.22% -12.80% -6.29%

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Tier IV Fiscal YTD Consumption 



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 93,074 80,564 89,925 72,091 69,650 59,624 51,544 61,264 58,702 68,137 70,108 74,847

2022-2023 86,607 74,169 83,523 70,756 63,356 54,100 48,008 48,670 40,687 52,066 55,989 66,974

% Change -6.95% -7.94% -7.12% -1.85% -9.04% -9.26% -6.86% -20.56% -30.69% -23.59% -20.14% -10.52%

35,000

45,000

55,000

65,000

75,000

85,000

95,000

105,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Single Family Residents Consumption 

*Total Fiscal Year Change: -12.32% 



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 41,906 36,772 40,686 36,434 37,516 35,770 37,230 34,779 33,437 37,644 36,016 36,930

2022-2023 40,893 35,378 39,659 35,949 35,277 33,501 35,420 32,782 30,992 36,378 32,130 36,592

% Change -2.42% -3.79% -2.52% -1.33% -5.97% -6.34% -4.86% -5.74% -7.31% -3.36% -10.79% -0.92%

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

50,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Multi Family Residents Consumption 

*Total Fiscal Year Change: -4.53%



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 79,847 70,246 80,369 66,201 46,260 60,948 35,450 44,279 52,904 65,308 64,062 73,696

2022-2023 71,755 62,259 67,619 55,197 52,565 43,857 36,038 33,935 34,694 36,736 46,453 55,899

% Change -10.13% -11.37% -15.86% -16.62% 13.63% -28.04% 1.66% -23.36% -34.42% -43.75% -27.49% -24.15%

25,000

35,000

45,000

55,000

65,000

75,000

85,000

95,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Laguna Woods Village Consumption 

(Excluding Dedicated Irrigation) 

*Total Fiscal Year Change: -19.28%



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 34,571 31,313 38,871 30,750 26,696 26,703 21,106 23,681 24,737 29,879 27,496 30,433

2022-2023 32,509 29,263 35,438 29,659 27,823 24,307 22,802 23,280 21,469 24,043 24,968 29,341

% Change -5.96% -6.55% -8.83% -3.55% 4.22% -8.97% 8.04% -1.69% -13.21% -19.53% -9.19% -3.59%

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF
Commercial Consumption 

*Total Fiscal Year Change: -6.16%



Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

2021-2022 72,970 63,396 71,633 49,947 36,071 34,438 8,474 24,456 32,108 42,525 47,995 58,170

2022-2023 66,782 60,477 65,678 48,152 34,035 26,411 8,412 7,564 8,982 8,084 29,310 37,715

% Change -8.48% -4.60% -8.31% -3.59% -5.64% -23.31% -0.73% -69.07% -72.03% -80.99% -38.93% -35.16%

21/22 ET 7.16 6.35 5.01 4.00 2.99 1.60 2.69 3.61 4.83 5.58 5.97 7.21

22/23 ET 7.15 6.91 5.23 3.60 2.92 1.82 2.02 2.75 3.02 4.69 3.80 4.57

-3.00

0.00

3.00

6.00

9.00

12.00

15.00

1,000

21,000

41,000

61,000

81,000

101,000

ET
 F

ac
to

r

Co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

in
 C

CF

Dedicated Irrigation Consumption (including LWV) 

*Total Fiscal Year Change: -25.93%



ETWD WATER USAGE COMPARED TO 2013

-21% -17%
-6%

-17% -15% -14% -13% -14%
-23%

-15% -16%

-33% -31% -32%
-21%

-53%

-38%
-30% -32%

-15%

-7% -10%

-12%

-9% -9% -10% -11% -15%

-13%

-12% -11%

-8%
-4%

-1%

-5%

-1%

-8%

-8%
-11%

-10%

-60%

-50%

-40%

-30%

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

Jul-22

Aug-22

Sep-22

O
ct-22

N
ov-22

D
ec-22

Jan-23

Feb-23

M
ar-23

Apr-23

M
ay-23

Jun-23

TO
TAL SAVIN

G
S

Potable Water Recycled Water



ETWD WATER USAGE COMPARED TO 2020



I hereby certify that the following Agenda was posted at least 72 
hours prior to the time of the Board Meeting so noticed below, at 
the usual agenda posting location of the South Orange County  
Wastewater Authority (SOCWA) and at www.socwa.com. 

Danita Hirsh, Assistant Secretary 
SOCWA and the Board of Directors thereof 

Regular Meeting of The  
South Orange County Wastewater Authority 

Board of Directors 

July 6, 2023 
8:30 a.m. 

PHYSICAL MEETING LOCATION: 
South Orange County Wastewater Authority 

34156 Del Obispo Street 
Dana Point, CA  92629 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING ROOM IS WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE. IF YOU REQUIRE ANY SPECIAL DISABILITY RELATED 
ACCOMMODATIONS, PLEASE CONTACT THE SOUTH ORANGE COUNTY WASTEWATER AUTHORITY SECRETARY’S OFFICE AT (949) 234-
5452 AT LEAST SEVENTY-TWO (72) HOURS PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED MEETING TO REQUEST SUCH ACCOMMODATIONS.  THIS AGENDA 
CAN BE OBTAINED IN ALTERNATE FORMAT UPON REQUEST TO THE SOUTH ORANGE COUNTY WASTEWATER AUTHORITY’S SECRETARY 
AT LEAST SEVENTY-TWO (72) HOURS PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED MEETING.  MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC HAVE THE OPTION TO 
PARTICIPATE IN AND MAY JOIN THE MEETING REMOTELY VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE FOR VISUAL INFORMATION ONLY (USE ZOOM LINK 
BELOW) AND BY TELECONFERENCE FOR AUDIO PARTICIPATION (USE PHONE NUMBERS BELOW).  THIS IS A PHONE-CALL MEETING AND 
NOT A WEB-CAST MEETING, SO PLEASE REFER TO AGENDA MATERIALS AS POSTED ON THE WEBSITE AT  WWW.SOCWA.COM. ON YOUR 
REQUEST, EVERY EFFORT WILL BE MADE TO ACCOMMODATE PARTICIPATION.  FOR PARTIES PARTICIPATING REMOTELY, PUBLIC 
COMMENTS WILL BE TAKEN DURING THE MEETING FOR ORAL COMMUNICATION IN ADDITION TO PUBLIC COMMENTS RECEIVED BY 
PARTIES PARTICIPATING IN PERSON. COMMENTS MAY BE SUBMITTED PRIOR TO THE MEETING VIA EMAIL TO ASSISTANT SECRETARY 
DANITA HIRSH AT DHIRSH@SOCWA.COM WITH THE SUBJECT LINE “REQUEST TO PROVIDE PUBLIC COMMENT.” IN THE EMAIL, PLEASE 
INCLUDE YOUR NAME, THE ITEM YOU WISH TO SPEAK ABOUT, AND THE TELEPHONE NUMBER YOU WILL BE CALLING FROM SO THAT THE 
COORDINATOR CAN UN-MUTE YOUR LINE WHEN YOU ARE CALLED UPON TO SPEAK. THOSE MAKING PUBLIC COMMENT REQUESTS 
REMOTELY VIA TELEPHONE IN REAL-TIME WILL BE ASKED TO PROVIDE YOUR NAME, THE ITEM YOU WISH TO SPEAK ABOUT, AND THE 
TELEPHONE NUMBER THAT YOU ARE CALLING FROM SO THE COORDINATOR CAN UN-MUTE YOUR LINE WHEN YOU ARE CALLED UPON TO 
SPEAK. ONCE THE MEETING HAS COMMENCED, THE CHAIR WILL INVITE YOU TO SPEAK AND ASK THE COORDINATOR TO UN-MUTE YOUR 
LINE AT THE APPROPRIATE TIME.

AGENDA ATTACHMENTS AND OTHER WRITINGS THAT ARE DISCLOSABLE PUBLIC RECORDS DISTRIBUTED TO ALL, OR A MAJORITY OF, 
THE MEMBERS OF THE SOUTH ORANGE COUNTY WASTEWATER AUTHORITY BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN CONNECTION WITH A MATTER 
SUBJECT FOR DISCUSSION OR CONSIDERATION AT AN OPEN MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ARE AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC 
INSPECTION IN THE AUTHORITY ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE LOCATED AT 34156 DEL OBISPO STREET, DANA POINT, CA (“AUTHORITY 
OFFICE”) OR BY PHONE REQUEST MADE TO THE AUTHORITY OFFICE AT 949-234-5452.  IF SUCH WRITINGS ARE DISTRIBUTED TO 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS LESS THAN SEVENTY-TWO (72) HOURS PRIOR TO THE MEETING, THEY WILL BE AVAILABLE IN 
THE RECEPTION AREA OF THE AUTHORITY OFFICE AT THE SAME TIME AS THEY ARE DISTRIBUTED TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
SENT TO ANY REMOTE PARTICIPANTS REQUESTING EMAIL DELIVERY OR POSTED ON SOCWA’S WEBSITE.  IF SUCH WRITINGS ARE 
DISTRIBUTED IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO, OR DURING, THE MEETING, THEY WILL BE AVAILABLE IN THE MEETING ROOM OR IMMEDIATELY 
UPON VERBAL REQUEST TO BE DELIVERED VIA EMAIL TO REQUESTING PARTIES PARTICIPATING REMOTELY. 

THE PUBLIC MAY PARTICIPATE REMOTELY BY VIRTUAL MEANS.  FOR AUDIO OF MEETING USE THE CALL 
IN PHONE NUMBERS BELOW AND FOR VIDEO USE THE ZOOM LINK BELOW. 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://socwa.zoom.us 

Meeting ID: 865 6793 0307 
Passcode: 835262 

Dial by your location: 
+1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)
+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago)

Find your local number: https://socwa.zoom.us/u/keChkALr7F  
i

http://www.socwa.com/
http://www.socwa.com/
mailto:dhirsh@socwa.com
https://socwa.zoom.us/j/86567930307?pwd=QkJ2dFpoblI1TG96bkR4OGtKNEtjdz09
https://socwa.zoom.us/u/keChkALr7F


South Orange County Wastewater Authority 
Board of Directors Meeting  

July 6, 2023 

Agenda 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

Members of the public may address the board regarding an item on the agenda or may
reserve this opportunity during the meeting at the time the item is discussed by the board.
There will be a three-minute limit for public comments.

4. APPROVAL OF BOARD MEMBER REQUEST FOR REMOTE PARTICIPATION

ACTION Board Discussion/Direction and Action.

PAGE NO 
5. CONSENT CALENDAR

A. Minutes of Board of Directors  ............................................................................................... 1 

1. Board of Directors Meeting of May 18, 2023
2. Board of Directors Meeting of June 1, 2023

ACTION The Board will be requested to approve subject Minutes. 

B. Minutes of Project Committee 2  ............................................................................................ 13 

• Project Committee 2 Meeting of April 18, 2023

ACTION The PC 2 Board will be requested to approve subject Minutes, 
and the Board will be requested to receive and file subject 
Minutes. 

C. Minutes of Finance Committee   ............................................................................................ 16 

1. Finance Committee Meeting of April 18, 2023
2. Finance Committee Meeting of May 16, 2023

ACTION The Board will be requested to receive and file subject Minutes. 

D. Consideration of Approval of Various Unapproved Minutes, Disbursements, and
Financial Reports  ................................................................................................................. 21 

ACTION Staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve and 
receive and file the various open items. 

E. Financial Reports for the Month of April 2023 ...................................................................... 76 

The reports included are as follows: 

1. Summary of Disbursements for April 2023 (Exhibit A)
2. Schedule of Funds Available for Reinvestment (Exhibit B)
 Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)

ii



South Orange County Wastewater Authority 
Board of Directors Meeting  

July 6, 2023 

Agenda 

 

PAGE NO 

3. Schedule of Cash and Investments (Exhibit C)
4. Capital Schedule (Exhibit D)
 Capital Projects – Graph (Exhibit D-1)

5. Budget vs. Actual Expenses:
 Operations and Environmental Summary (Exhibit E-1)
 Operations and Environmental by PC (E-1.2)
 Residual Engineering, after transfer to Capital (Exhibit E-2)
 Administration (Exhibit E-3)
 Information Technology (IT) (Exhibit E-4)

ACTION The Finance Committee recommends that the Board of Directors 
ratify the April 2023 disbursements, $2,173,227, for the period from 
April 1, 2023, through April 30, 2023, and to receive and file the 
April 2023 Financial Reports as submitted. 

F. Q3 FY 2022-23 Cash Roll Forward as of March 31, 2023...................................................... 94 

ACTION The Finance Committee recommends that the Board of Directors 
receive and file the Q3 Fiscal Year 2022-23 Cash Roll Forward as 
submitted. 

G. Operations Report (May) ....................................................................................................... 107

a. Monthly Operational Report
b. SOCWA Ocean Outfall Discharges by Agency
c. Quarterly Report on Key Operational Expenses
d. Beach Ocean Monitoring Report
e. Recycled Water Report
f. Pretreatment Report (June)

ACTION The Board will be requested to receive and file subject reports as 
submitted. 

H. Capital Improvement Program Status Report (June) ............................................................. 150

ACTION Information item; receive and file. 

I. Capital Improvement Construction Projects Progress and Change Order
Report (June) [Project Committees 2, 15, & 17] ...................................................................... 153

ACTION Staff recommends that the PC 2 Board approve Change Order 1 for 
$14,624.97 and a revised contract value of $108,609.97 for the J.B. 
Latham Administration Building Roofing Replacement Project; and 
that the Board of Directors receive and file the report. 

iii



South Orange County Wastewater Authority 
Board of Directors Meeting  

July 6, 2023 

Agenda 

 

PAGE NO 

6. ENGINEERING MATTER

A. Contract Award for Aliso Creek Ocean Outfall (ACOO) Seal Replacement Project
[Project Committees 24] ....................................................................................................... 167

ACTION The Engineering Committee recommends that the PC 24 Board of 
Directors approve the contract to J.F. Brennan in the amount of 
$261,753 for the ACOO Seal Replacement Project with a 
contingency of $50,000. 

7. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT

A. General Counsel’s Updates
• JPA Revision Process (Standing item)

B. General Manager’s Status Report ........................................................................................ 169 

ACTION Information Item 

C. Upcoming Meetings Schedule: ........................................................................................... 
• July 6, 2023 – Board of Directors Regular Meeting
• July 13, 2023 – Engineering Committee Meeting – Canceled
• July 18, 2023 – Finance Committee Meeting – Canceled
• July 27, 2023 – Board of Directors Special Facilitated Discussion Meeting
• August 3, 2023 – Board of Directors Regular Meeting

ACTION Information Item. 

D. OTHER MATTERS

Determine the need to take action on the following item(s) introduced by General
Manager, which arose subsequent to the agenda being posted.  [Adoption of this action
requires a two-thirds vote of the Board, or if less than two-thirds are present a unanimous
vote.]

ADJOURNMENT 

THE NEXT SOCWA BOARD MEETING 
JULY 27, 2023 

iv



1 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY 

Jointly with the 
PLANNING & OPERATIONS COMMITTEE 

July 3, 2023 8:30 a.m. 
This meeting will be held in person.  As a convenience for the public, the meeting may also be accessed by 

Zoom Webinar and will be available by either computer or telephone audio as indicated below.  Because this 
is an in-person meeting and the Zoom component is not required, but rather is being offered as a 

convenience, if there are any technical issues during the meeting, this meeting will continue and will not be 
suspended.   

Computer Audio: You can join the Zoom meeting by clicking on the following link: 
https://zoom.us/j/8828665300 

 
    Telephone Audio: (669) 900 9128 fees may apply 

 (877) 853 5247 Toll-free 
    Webinar ID:   882 866 5300# 
 
 
P&O Committee:     Staff:   H.De La Torre, J. Berg, V. Osborn,  
Director McVicker, Chair     T. Dubuque, D. Micalizzi, H. Baez, 
Director Nederhood      M. Baum-Haley, C. Busslinger,  
Director Seckel      T. Baca 
 
Ex Officio Member:  Director Yoo Schneider 
 
MWDOC Committee meetings are noticed and held as joint meetings of the Committee and the entire Board 
of Directors and all members of the Board of Directors may attend and participate in the discussion.  Each 
Committee has designated Committee members, and other members of the Board are designated alternate 
committee members.  If less than a quorum of the full Board is in attendance, the Board meeting will be 
adjourned for lack of a quorum and the meeting will proceed as a meeting of the Committee with those 
Committee members and alternate members in attendance acting as the Committee. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS - Public comments on agenda items and items under the jurisdiction of the 
Committee should be made at this time. 
 
ITEMS RECEIVED TOO LATE TO BE AGENDIZED - Determine there is a need to take immediate action 
on item(s) and that the need for action came to the attention of the District subsequent to the posting of the 
Agenda. (Requires a unanimous vote of the Committee) 
 
ITEMS DISTRIBUTED TO THE BOARD LESS THAN 72 HOURS PRIOR TO MEETING -- Pursuant to 
Government Code section 54957.5, non-exempt public records that relate to open session agenda items 
and are distributed to a majority of the Board less than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the meeting will be 
available for public inspection in the lobby of the District’s business office located at 18700 Ward Street, 
Fountain Valley, California 92708, during regular business hours.  When practical, these public records 
will also be made available on the District’s Internet Web site, accessible at http://www.mwdoc.com. 
 
PRESENTATION ITEM 
 
1. PRESENTATION REGARDING WEROC EXERCISE AND 2023-24 GOALS 
 
DISCUSSION ITEM 
 
2. STATUS REPORT REGARDING THE WEROC EOC PROJECT 

https://zoom.us/j/8828665300
http://www.mwdoc.com/


P&O Committee Meeting  July 3, 2023 
 

2 

 
ACTION ITEMS 
 
3. SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL PRESSURE REGULATING VALVE 

REPLACEMENT PILOT PROGRAM 
 
4. SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY (SDRMA) ELECTION – 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS ELECTION 2023 
 
INFORMATION ITEMS (The following items are for informational purposes only – 
background information is included in the packet. Discussion is not necessary unless 
requested by a Director.) 
 
5. JUNE PUBLIC AFFAIRS HIGHLIGHTS 
 
6. 2023 OC WATER SUMMIT UPDATE 
 
7. MWDOC K-12 CHOICE SCHOOL PROGRAMS UPDATE 
 
8. DEPARTMENT ACTIVITIES REPORTS 

a. Ongoing MWDOC Reliability and Engineering/Planning Projects 
b. WEROC 
c. Water Use Efficiency Projects 
d. Public and Government Affairs 

 
9. REVIEW OF ISSUES RELATED TO PLANNING OR ENGINEERING PROJECTS, 

WEROC, WATER USE EFFICIENCY, FACILITY AND EQUIPMENT 
MAINTENANCE, WATER STORAGE, WATER QUALITY, CONJUNCTIVE USE 
PROGRAMS, EDUCATION, PUBLIC AFFAIRS PROGRAMS AND EVENTS, 
PUBLIC INFORMATION PROJECTS, PUBLIC INFORMATION CONSULTANTS, 
DISTRICT FACILITIES, and MEMBER-AGENCY RELATIONS 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
NOTE: At the discretion of the Committee, all items appearing on this agenda, whether or not expressly listed for 

action, may be deliberated, and may be subject to action by the Committee.  On those items designated for 
Board action, the Committee reviews the items and makes a recommendation for final action to the full 
Board of Directors; final action will be taken by the Board of Directors.  Agendas for Committee and Board 
meetings may be obtained from the District Secretary.  Members of the public are advised that the Board 
consideration process includes consideration of each agenda item by one or more Committees indicated on 
the Board Action Sheet.  Attendance at Committee meetings and the Board meeting considering an item 
consequently is advised. 

 Accommodations for the Disabled.  Any person may make a request for a disability-related modification or 
accommodation needed for that person to be able to participate in the public meeting by telephoning 
Maribeth Goldsby, District Secretary, at (714) 963-3058, or writing to Municipal Water District of Orange 
County at P.O. Box 20895, Fountain Valley, CA 92728.  Requests must specify the nature of the disability 
and the type of accommodation requested.  A telephone number or other contact information should be 
included so that District staff may discuss appropriate arrangements.  Persons requesting a disability-related 
accommodation should make the request with adequate time before the meeting for the District to provide 
the requested accommodation. 



1 

WORKSHOP MEETING OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS WITH MET DIRECTORS 

MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY 
18700 Ward Street, Conference Room 101, Fountain Valley, California 

July 5, 2023, 8:30 a.m. 
 

This meeting will be held in person.  As a convenience for the public, the meeting may also be accessed by Zoom 
Webinar and will be available by either computer or telephone audio as indicated below.  Because this is an in-

person meeting and the Zoom component is not required, but rather is being offered as a convenience, if there are 
any technical issues during the meeting, this meeting will continue and will not be suspended.   

Computer Audio: You can join the Zoom meeting by clicking on the following link: 
  https://zoom.us/j/8828665300 

 
     Telephone Audio: (669) 900 9128 fees may apply 

 (877) 853 5247 Toll-free 
      Webinar ID:   882 866 5300# 
  

AGENDA 
 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION/COMMENTS  
At this time members of the public will be given an opportunity to address the Board concerning items within 
the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board.  Members of the public may also address the Board about a 
particular Agenda item at the time it is considered by the Board and before action is taken. 
 
The Board requests, but does not require, that members of the public who want to address the Board 
complete a voluntary “Request to be Heard” form available from the Board Secretary prior to the meeting. 
 
ITEMS RECEIVED TOO LATE TO BE AGENDIZED 
Determine need and take action to agendize item(s), which arose subsequent to the posting of the Agenda.  
(ROLL CALL VOTE: Adoption of this recommendation requires a two-thirds vote of the Board members 
present or, if less than two-thirds of the Board members are present a unanimous vote.) 
 
ITEMS DISTRIBUTED TO THE BOARD LESS THAN 72 HOURS PRIOR TO MEETING 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.5, non-exempt public records that relate to open session 
agenda items and are distributed to a majority of the Board less than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the 
meeting will be available for public inspection in the lobby of the District’s business office located at 18700 
Ward Street, Fountain Valley, California 92708, during regular business hours.  When practical, these public 
records will also be made available on the District’s Internet Web site, accessible at http://www.mwdoc.com. 
 

NEXT RESOLUTION NO. 2142 
 
 
PRESENTATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
1. PRESENTATION BY MWDOC STAFF ON MET’S CLIMATE ADAPTATION MASTER 

PLAN: RECAP OF THE JUNE 27 WORKSHOP 
 
 Recommendation: Review and discuss the information presented. 
 



Workshop Board Agenda July 5, 2023 
 

2 

 
2. LEGISLATIVE ACTIVITIES 

a. Federal Legislative Report (NRR) 
b. State Legislative Report (BBK) 
c. Legal and Regulatory Report (Ackerman) 
d. County Legislative Report (Whittingham) 
e. MWDOC Legislative Matrix 
f. Metropolitan Legislative Matrix 

 
Recommendation:  Review and discuss the information presented.  
 
 

3. QUESTIONS OR INPUT ON MET ISSUES FROM THE MEMBER AGENCIES/MET 
DIRECTOR REPORTS REGARDING MET COMMITTEE PARTICIPATION 

 
Recommendation:  Receive input and discuss the information presented. 
 

 
ACTION ITEMS 
 
4. CALIFORNIA SPECIAL DISTRICTS ASSOCIATION (CSDA) 2024-2026 BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS  ELECTION – AUTHORIZATION TO VOTE 
 
Recommendation: (1) Review and discuss the candidates running for the CSDA Board 

of Directors, Southern Network, Seat C; and (2) Authorize staff to 
cast the District’s electronic ballot.  

 
INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
 
5. MET ITEMS CRITICAL TO ORANGE COUNTY (The following items are for 

informational purposes only – a write up on each item is included in the packet.  
Discussion is not necessary unless requested by a Director). 

 
a. MET’s Finance and Rate Issues    
b. MET’s Water Supply Condition Update 
c. Water Quality Update    
d. Colorado River Issues 
e. Delta Conveyance Activities and State Water Project Issues 

 
Recommendation: Review and discuss the information presented. 



Workshop Board Agenda July 5, 2023 
 

3 

 
6. METROPOLITAN (MET) BOARD AND COMMITTEE AGENDA DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

a. Summary regarding June MET Board Meetings 
b. MET 4-Month Outlook on Upcoming Issues (not available) 
c. Review items of significance for MET Board and Committee Agendas 

 
 Recommendation: Review and discuss the information presented. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Note: Accommodations for the Disabled.  Any person may make a request for a disability-related modification or 
accommodation needed for that person to be able to participate in the public meeting by telephoning Maribeth Goldsby, 
District Secretary, at (714) 963-3058, or writing to Municipal Water District of Orange County at P.O. Box 20895, Fountain 
Valley, CA 92728. Requests must specify the nature of the disability and the type of accommodation requested. A 
telephone number or other contact information should be included so that District staff may discuss appropriate 
arrangements. Persons requesting a disability-related accommodations should make the request with adequate time 
before the meeting for the District to provide the requested accommodations. 



1 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY 

Jointly with the 
ADMINISTRATION & FINANCE COMMITTEE 

July 12, 2023, 8:30 a.m. 
This meeting will be held in person.  As a convenience for the public, the meeting may also be accessed by 

Zoom Webinar and will be available by either computer or telephone audio as indicated below.  Because this 
is an in-person meeting and the Zoom component is not required, but rather is being offered as a 

convenience, if there are any technical issues during the meeting, this meeting will continue and will not be 
suspended. 

Computer Audio: You can join the Zoom meeting by clicking on the following link: 
https://zoom.us/j/8828665300 

 
    Telephone Audio: (669) 900 9128 fees may apply 

 (877) 853 5247 Toll-free 
    Webinar ID:   882 866 5300# 
 
A&F Committee:     Staff:  H. De La Torre, J. Berg, C. Harris, 
Director Dick, Chair     H. Chumpitazi, M. Baum-Haley,  
Director Thomas     K. Davanaugh 
Director Crane 
 
Ex Officio Member:  Director Yoo Schneider 
 
MWDOC Committee meetings are noticed and held as joint meetings of the Committee and the entire Board 
of Directors and all members of the Board of Directors may attend and participate in the discussion.  Each 
Committee has designated Committee members, and other members of the Board are designated alternate 
committee members.  If less than a quorum of the full Board is in attendance, the Board meeting will be 
adjourned for lack of a quorum and the meeting will proceed as a meeting of the Committee with those 
Committee members and alternate members in attendance acting as the Committee. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS - Public comments on agenda items and items under the jurisdiction of the 
Committee should be made at this time. 
 
ITEMS RECEIVED TOO LATE TO BE AGENDIZED - Determine there is a need to take immediate action 
on item(s) and that the need for action came to the attention of the District subsequent to the posting of the 
Agenda. (Requires a unanimous vote of the Committee) 
 
ITEMS DISTRIBUTED TO THE BOARD LESS THAN 72 HOURS PRIOR TO MEETING -- Pursuant to 
Government Code section 54957.5, non-exempt public records that relate to open session agenda items 
and are distributed to a majority of the Board less than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the meeting will be 
available for public inspection in the lobby of the District’s business office located at 18700 Ward Street, 
Fountain Valley, California 92708, during regular business hours.  When practical, these public records 
will also be made available on the District’s Internet Web site, accessible at http://www.mwdoc.com. 
 
PROPOSED BOARD CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 
 
1. TREASURER'S REPORT 

a. Revenue/Cash Receipt Report – June 2023 
b. Disbursement Approval Report for the month of July 2023 
c. Disbursement Ratification Report for the month of June 2023 
d. GM Approved Disbursement Report for the month of June 2023 
e. Consolidated Summary of Cash and Investment – May 2023 

https://zoom.us/j/8828665300
http://www.mwdoc.com/


A&F Committee Meeting  July 12, 2023 
 

2 

f. OPEB and Pension Trust Fund statements 
 
2. FINANCIAL REPORT - Combined Financial Statements and Budget Comparative 

for the Period Ending May 31, 2023 
 
ACTION ITEM 
 
3. APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY TREASURER 
 
DISCUSSION ITEM 
 
4. STATUS REPORT REGARDING MWDOC’S RESPONSE TO THE 2022-2023 OC 

GRAND JURY REPORT – “HISTORICAL RAIN, YET DROUGHT REMAINS” (oral 
report) 

 
INFORMATION ITEMS – (THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE FOR INFORMATIONAL 
PURPOSES ONLY – BACKGROUND INFORMATION IS INCLUDED IN THE PACKET.  
DISCUSSION IS NOT NECESSARY UNLESS REQUESTED BY A DIRECTOR.) 
 
5. GENERAL MANAGER AUTHORIZED AGREEMENTS 
 
6. DEPARTMENT ACTIVITIES REPORTS 

a. Administration 
b. Finance and Information Technology 

 
7. MONTHLY WATER USAGE DATA AND WATER SUPPLY INFORMATION 
 
OTHER ITEMS 
 
8. REVIEW ISSUES REGARDING DISTRICT ORGANIZATION, PERSONNEL 

MATTERS, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS FINANCE AND INSURANCE 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
NOTE: At the discretion of the Committee, all items appearing on this agenda, whether or not expressly 

listed for action, may be deliberated, and may be subject to action by the Committee.  On those 
items designated for Board action, the Committee reviews the items and makes a 
recommendation for final action to the full Board of Directors; final action will be taken by the 
Board of Directors.  Agendas for Committee and Board meetings may be obtained from the 
District Secretary.  Members of the public are advised that the Board consideration process 
includes consideration of each agenda item by one or more Committees indicated on the Board 
Action Sheet.  Attendance at Committee meetings and the Board meeting considering an item 
consequently is advised. 

 Accommodations for the Disabled.  Any person may make a request for a disability-related 
modification or accommodation needed for that person to be able to participate in the public 
meeting by telephoning Maribeth Goldsby, District Secretary, at (714) 963-3058, or writing to 
Municipal Water District of Orange County at P.O. Box 20895, Fountain Valley, CA 92728.  
Requests must specify the nature of the disability and the type of accommodation requested.  A 
telephone number or other contact information should be included so that District staff may 
discuss appropriate arrangements.  Persons requesting a disability-related accommodation 
should make the request with adequate time before the meeting for the District to provide the 
requested accommodation. 



 

REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY 
18700 Ward Street, Fountain Valley, California 

July 19, 2023, 8:30 a.m. 
 

Teleconference Site: 
Everline Resort, 400 Resort Road, Olympic Valley, California 96146 

(Director You Schneider will participate from the teleconference location.   
Members of the public may attend and participate in the meeting at both in-person locations.) 

 
This meeting will be held in person.  As a convenience for the public, the meeting may also be 
accessed by Zoom Webinar and will be available by either computer or telephone audio as indicated 
below.  Because this is an in-person meeting and the Zoom component is not required, but rather is 
being offered as a convenience, if there are any technical issues during the meeting, this meeting will 
continue and will not be suspended. 

 
Computer Audio: You can join the Zoom meeting by clicking on the following link: 

https://zoom.us/j/8828665300 
 
    Telephone Audio: (669) 900 9128 fees may apply 

 (877) 853 5247 Toll-free 
    Webinar ID:   882 866 5300# 

 

 
AGENDA 

MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS/PARTICIPATION 
At this time, members of the public will be given an opportunity to address the Board concerning 
items within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board.  Members of the public may also address 
the Board about a particular Agenda item at the time it is considered by the Board and before 
action is taken.  If the item is on the Consent Calendar, please inform the Board Secretary before 
action is taken on the Consent Calendar and the item will be removed for separate consideration. 
 
The Board requests, but does not require, that members of the public who want to address the 
Board complete a voluntary “Request to be Heard” form available from the Board Secretary prior to 
the meeting. 
 
ITEMS RECEIVED TOO LATE TO BE AGENDIZED 
Determine need and take action to agendize items(s) which arose subsequent to the posting of the 
Agenda.  (ROLL CALL VOTE: Adoption of this recommendation requires a two-thirds vote of the 
Board members present, or, if less than two-thirds of the Board members are present, a unanimous 
vote of those members present.) 
 
ITEMS DISTRIBUTED TO THE BOARD LESS THAN 72 HOURS PRIOR TO 
MEETING Pursuant to Government Code section 54957.5, non-exempt public records that relate 
to open session agenda items and are distributed to a majority of the Board less than seventy-two 
(72) hours prior to the meeting will be available for public inspection in the lobby of the District’s 
business office located at 18700 Ward Street, Fountain Valley, California 92708, during regular 
business hours.  When practical, these public records will also be made available on the District’s 
Internet Web site, accessible at http://www.mwdoc.com. 
 

 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF WATER USE EFFICIENCY STAFF  



Regular Meeting Agenda      July 19, 2023 
 

 
2 

 
      NEXT RESOLUTION NO. 2142 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR (Items 1 to 6) 
(All matters under the Consent Calendar will be approved by one motion unless a 
Board member requests separate action on a specific item) 
 
1. MINUTES 

 
a. June 7, 2023 Workshop Board Meeting 
b. June 21, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 

 
Recommendation:  Approve as presented. 

 
2. COMMITTEE MEETING REPORTS 

 
a. Planning & Operations Committee Meeting:  June 5, 2023 
b. Administration & Finance Committee Meeting: June 14, 2023 
c. Executive Committee Meeting:  June 22, 2023 

 
Recommendation: Receive and file as presented. 

 
3. TREASURER'S REPORTS 

 
a. MWDOC Revenue/Cash Receipt Register as of June 30, 2023 
b. Disbursement Registers (June/July) 

 
Recommendation: Ratify and approve as presented. 
 
c. Summary of Cash and Investment and Portfolio Master Summary 

Report (Cash and Investment report) as of May 31, 2023 
d. PARS Monthly Statement (OPEB Trust) 

 
Recommendation: Receive and file as presented. 

 
4. FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
a. Combined Financial Statements and Budget Comparative for the Period 

Ending May 31, 2023 
 

Recommendation: Receive and file as presented. 
 

5. SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL PRESSURE REGULATING VALVE 
REPLACEMENT PILOT PROGRAM 

 
Recommendation: Ratify the contract between MWDOC and Santa 

Margarita Plumbing & Air, Inc. (RSM Plumbing) for 
implementation of the Pressure Regulating Valve 
Replacement Pilot Program in the Santa Margarita Water 
District service area. 

 



Regular Meeting Agenda      July 19, 2023 
 

 
3 

 
6. SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY (SDRMA) 

ELECTION – BOARD OF DIRECTORS ELECTION 2023 
 
Recommendation: Authorize President Yoo Schneider, or her designee, to 

cast the District’s ballot for the SDRMA Board of Directors 
election 

 
End Consent Calendar 

 
 
ACTION CALENDAR 
 
7-1 APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY TREASURER 
         RES. NO. _____ 
 

Recommendation: Adopt Resolution appointing Harvey De La Torre as 
Deputy Treasurer (replacing Robert Hunter). 

 
 
INFORMATION CALENDAR (All matters under the Information Calendar will be 
Received/Filed as presented following any discussion that may occur) 
 
 
8. GENERAL MANAGER'S REPORT, JULY 2023 (ORAL AND WRITTEN) 
 

Recommendation: Receive and file report(s) as presented. 
 

9. MWDOC GENERAL INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

a. Board of Directors - Reports re: Conferences and Meetings 
b. Requests for Future Agenda Topics 

 
 Recommendation: Receive and file as presented. 
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Note: Accommodations for the Disabled.  Any person may make a request for a disability-related 
modification or accommodation needed for that person to be able to participate in the public 
meeting by contacting Maribeth Goldsby, District Secretary, at (714) 963-3058, or writing to 
Municipal Water District of Orange County at P.O. Box 20895, Fountain Valley, CA 92728.  
Requests must specify the nature of the disability and the type of accommodation requested.  A 
telephone number or other contact information should be included so that District staff may discuss 
appropriate arrangements.  Persons requesting a disability-related accommodation should make 
the request with adequate time before the meeting for the District to provide the requested 
accommodation.  



 

   MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY 

Street Address: 

18700 Ward Street 

Fountain Valley, California 92708 

 

Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 20895 

Fountain Valley, CA 92728-0895 

 

(714) 963-3058 

Fax: (714) 964-9389 

www.mwdoc.com 

 

Megan Yoo Schneider, P.E. 

President 

 

Bob McVicker, P.E., D.WRE 

Vice President 

 

Randall Crane, Ph.D. 

Director 

 

Larry D. Dick 

Director 

 

Al Nederhood 

Director 

 

Karl W. Seckel, P.E. 

Director 

 

Jeffery M. Thomas 

Director 

 

Harvey De La Torre 

Interim General Manager 

 

MEMBER AGENCIES 
 

City of Brea 

City of Buena Park 

East Orange County Water District 

El Toro Water District 

Emerald Bay Service District 

City of Fountain Valley 

City of Garden Grove 

Golden State Water Co. 

City of Huntington Beach 

Irvine Ranch Water District 

Laguna Beach County Water District 

City of La Habra 

City of La Palma 

Mesa Water District 

Moulton Niguel Water District 

City of Newport Beach 

City of Orange 

Orange County Water District 

City of San Clemente 

Santa Margarita Water District 

City of Seal Beach 

Serrano Water District 

South Coast Water District 

Trabuco Canyon Water District 

City of Tustin 

City of Westminster 

Yorba Linda Water District 

MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY 
AGENCIES MANAGERS MEETING 

 
ZOOM LINK: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84067754649 
Meeting ID: 840 6775 4649 
Passcode: 790252 
Dial-in option: (669) 900-9128   
 

WHEN:  Thursday, July 20, 2022 from 10:30 am to 12:00 pm. 
 

D R A F T   A G E N D A 
 
 

1.    Opportunity to add and discuss items not already listed. 
Page #/Link 

2.    General Meeting Information/Discussion Items: 

2-1. Draft Board Agendas …….…………………………………………………………………………. (Link) 

2-2. WEROC EOC Update…………………………………………………………………………..……. (Link) 

2-3. WROC FY23-24 Goals……………………………………………………………………………….. (Link) 

 

 

3.    Announcements: 

3-1. SWRCB Workshop for WUE Standards……………………………………………… August 16th  

 

4.    Report Items  

4-1. Monthly GM Report …………………………………………………………………….……….… (Link) 
4-2. Legislative Reports …..…………………………………………………………………….………. (Link) 
4-3. WEROC Matrix …………………………………………………………………..…………….…….. (Link) 
4-4. Grant Funding Opportunities ……………………………………...…………………...……. (Link) 
4-5. Additional Reports or Materials………………………………………………………………. (Link) 
 
5.    Next meeting tentatively scheduled for August 17 
 

 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84067754649?pwd=Sk5PUVpObG5xaHZJN2ZCZlZRYUU1QT09
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/ha478gsmhug6ahkfewn98/h?rlkey=amyl3k9vbk53edrv4c9sntpn6&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/a83rixu5wuv6r1vnc3r0i/h?rlkey=rv74nq334ra8p1rsgcczmmcpv&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/md8wukqm8myhazzh24yqa/h?rlkey=nu0rlkc144zujnwhac6ooubo3&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/nh6d5rmsue51zkd698ylo/h?rlkey=5ng4tk1bivy74yvjuz3rck8vb&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/8zte20o8nw62zg88co2xp/h?rlkey=10apntvntjg88idz173bv0oim&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/brx91ediw3vyhbvcb8a01/h?rlkey=821s4pk6xg4rag68zzsleyda3&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/t6reuqps8x3zcs8etf0n8/h?rlkey=5xvcx6a09j1dphkb45j0ieo09&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/hvv1lmpq5q5q6vyo13qqq/h?rlkey=y50dz2i7r398rc7m47l65dx1j&dl=0


   
AGENDA 

JOINT PLANNING COMMITTEE 
WITH BOARD OF DIRECTORS* 

MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT OF ORANGE COUNTY AND 
ORANGE COUNTY WATER DISTRICT 

July 26, 2023, 8:30 A.M. 
This meeting will be held in person.  As a convenience for the public, the meeting may also be accessed by Zoom 

Webinar and will be available by either computer or telephone audio as indicated below.  Because this is an in-person 
meeting and the Zoom component is not required, but rather is being offered as a convenience, if there are any 

technical issues during the meeting, this meeting will continue and will not be suspended.   
Computer Audio: You can join the Zoom meeting by clicking on the following link: 

  https://zoom.us/j/8828665300  
 

      Telephone Audio: (669) 900 9128 fees may apply 
     (877) 853 5247 Toll-free 

       Webinar ID:   882 866 5300# 
 

Teleconference Sites:  
10382 Bonnie Drive, Garden Grove 

20 Civic Center Plaza, Room 813, Santa Ana 
 8865 Citrus Avenue, Westminster 

100 S. Main St., Los Angeles 
Members of the public may attend and participate in the meeting at all locations. 

 
* The meeting of the Joint Planning Committee will be conducted simultaneously with meetings of both Boards of Directors in order to allow 

all Board members to participate in the discussions and to ensure compliance with the Brown Act.  Directors receive no additional 
compensation or stipend as a result of simultaneously convening this Board of Directors meetings.  Items recommended for approval at this 
meeting will be placed on a future Board Agenda for approval by one or both agencies, as determined by the Committee. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS - At this time, members of the public will be given an opportunity to address the 

Committee and the Boards concerning items within the subject matter jurisdiction of either Board. Members of the 
public may also address the Committee about a particular Agenda item at the time it is considered and before 
action is taken. The Committee requests, but does not require, that members of the public who want to address 
the Committee or the Boards complete a voluntary “Request to be Heard” form available from the Board 
Secretary prior to the meeting. 
 
ITEMS RECEIVED TOO LATE TO BE AGENDIZED - Determine there is a need to take immediate action on 

item(s) and that the need for action came to the attention of the Districts subsequent to the posting of the Agenda. 
(Requires a two-thirds vote of those present, or a unanimous vote if less than two-thirds are present.) 

 
ITEMS DISTRIBUTED TO THE COMMITTEE LESS THAN 72 HOURS PRIOR TO MEETING -- 
Pursuant to Government Code section 54957.5, non-exempt public records that relate to open session agenda 
items and are distributed to a majority of the Committee less than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the meeting will 
be available for public inspection in the lobby of the Districts’ business office, located at 18700 Ward Street, 
Fountain Valley, California 92708, during regular business hours.  When practical, these public records will also 
be made available on each of the District’s Internet Web site, accessible at www.ocwd.com or www.mwdoc.com. 
 

1.       Imported water supply update 
2. Groundwater basin update 
3. OCWD LAFCO Focused Municipal Service Review process and update  
4. September OC Water Summit update 
5. Board Room video screen status 
6. Any future agenda items. 
7. Next meeting - October 25th  

 
Accommodations for the Disabled.  Any person may make a request for a disability-related modification or accommodation needed for that 
person to be able to participate in the public meeting by telephoning Christina Fuller, OCWD District Secretary at 714/378-3234, or Maribeth 
Goldsby, MWDOC District Secretary, at (714) 593-5006, or writing to Orange County Water District at P.O. Box 8300, Fountain Valley, CA, 
92728, or Municipal Water District of Orange County at P.O. Box 20895, Fountain Valley, CA 92728. Requests must specify the nature of the 
disability and the type of accommodation requested. A telephone number or other contact information should be included so that District staff 
may discuss appropriate arrangements. Persons requesting a disability-related accommodation should make the request with adequate time 
before the meeting for the District to provide the requested accommodation. 

https://zoom.us/j/8828665300
http://www.ocwd.com/
http://www.mwdoc.com/


 

Agenda Item No. 15 
 

 
 

STAFF REPORT 

To: Board of Directors Meeting Date:  July 27, 2023 

From: Dennis Cafferty, General Manager 

Subject: Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission (OC LAFCO) 

 
 
The Pulse 
 
OC LAFCO produces and distributes a bi-annual newsletter called “The Pulse”. The Spring 
edition is attached for the Board’s information and reference. 
 
 
Southwest Region Municipal Service Review 
 
OC LAFCO initiated the planned Municipal Service Review (“MSR”) and Sphere of Influence  
update in 2022 for six cities, seven special districts (including ETWD), and one joint powers 
authority (SOCWA) in the OC LAFCO-designated “Southwest Region” of the County. OC  
LAFCO retained consultant RSG, Inc. to prepare the MSR, which included conducting 
surveys and interviews with each of the agencies in the region, and collecting demographic, 
fiscal, and other data to support the MSR findings and determinations under State law. OC 
LAFCO also retained Berkson Associates to perform an analysis of available financial data 
and prepare a set of Fiscal Indicators to be published on the OC LAFCO website. 
 
District staff participated in the data gathering process through written responses as well as 
an interview with the LAFCO consultant. 
 
The Public Draft MSR for the Southwest Region is now available for review and comment. 
District staff reviewed the draft MSR and provided comments to the consultant. The draft 
MSR is attached for review and reference. 
 
 



Welcome to the Spring Edition of The Pulse, where Orange County agencies and other interested parties may learn about 
the Commission’s latest activities and projects. This edition reflects on the activities of OC LAFCO for the first half of the 
2022-2023 fiscal cycle, introduces new members of the Commission and staff, and includes an added feature – “local agency 
spotlights” – to the agency’s publication.

 1  Welcoming Commissioners 
and Staff

 2  Looking Back to Spring Forward

 4 Legislative Affairs

 5  Staying Connected

 5 Agency Spotlights

Pulse

THE

MAY 2023

Irvine and 
Greater Orange 

County

Greetings from OC LAFCO

Welcoming Commissioners 

And Staff

CONTINUED

Contents

S P R I N G  E D I T I O N

The Commission began 2023 
with changes and additions to 
the board and staff. In March, 
Commissioner Andrew Do was 
seated as the Regular County 
Member, and Commissioner 
Katrina Foley returned to the 
Commission as the Alternate 
County Member. Commissioner 
Do is County Supervisor of First 
District, which includes the cities of 
Cypress, Fountain Valley, a portion 
of Garden Grove, Huntington 

Beach, La Palma, Los Alamitos, 
Seal Beach, Westminster, and the 
unincorporated areas of Midway 
City, Rossmoor and the Bolsa Chica 
wetlands. Commissioner Foley is 
County Supervisor of Fifth District, 
which includes the cities of Aliso 
Viejo, Costa Mesa, Dana Point, a 
large portion of Irvine, Laguna 
Beach, Laguna Hills, Laguna Niguel, 
Laguna Woods, Newport Beach,  
San Clemente, San Juan Capistrano, 
and the unincorporated areas of 



THE Pulse by OCLAFCO page 2

CONTINUED

WELCOMING COMMISSIONERS AND STAFF

Coto de Caza, Emerald Bay, Ladera 
Ranch, Las Flores, Stonecliffe, 
Wagon Wheel and Rancho Mission 
Viejo. OC LAFCO also welcomed 
Commissioner Carol Moore 
as the Alternate City Member. 
Commissioner Moore is a council 
member and former Mayor of the 
City of Laguna Woods and was 
appointed by the City Selection 
Committee this past March. 

The new year also brought an 
additional staff member, Amanda 
Castro, to the OC LAFCO team. As a 
Policy Analyst, Amanda will manage 
key projects including city, district, 
and small island annexations, MSRs, 
fiscal indicators and shared services 
web-based programs, legislative 
affairs, and external engagement 
and communication. She brings 
years of LAFCO knowledge and 

Commissioner Do Commissioner Foley Commissioner Moore Amanda Castro

government experience to the 
team, including tenure with Fresno 
LAFCO and the United States 
Census Bureau. Amanda has begun 
engaging our local agencies by 
participating in agency tours and 
attending regional meetings. Be sure 
to introduce your agency directly 
to Amanda at our next Commission 
meeting or by contacting her at the 
OC LAFCO office.

Seeking to create more logical 
boundaries and enhance the delivery 
of municipal services remain the 
drivers for the annexation of 
County unincorporated islands. 
This long-standing effort of OC 
LAFCO continued this year by 
engaging cities with high interest 
in annexing adjacent islands. Recent 
discussions have occurred with 

Looking Back To Spring Forward

Over the past several months, the Commission has approved changes in jurisdictional boundaries, conducted multiple 
MSRs and continued to refine OC LAFCO’s key resources and tools, including the agency’s website, fiscal trends web-based 
program and the municipal services dashboard.  Below are highlights of the many accomplishments of the Commission 
to-date for the current fiscal year and the projects and activities that will continue on through June and beyond.

Unincorporated Islands Program
staff from the cities of Fountain 
Valley and Westminster, which, 
respectively, have one and four 
remaining adjacent unincorporated 
areas. Future community workshops 
to inform residents of the North 
Fountain Valley island on the 
potential benefits of joining 
the City are expected to occur 
this Spring, and Westminster is 

currently exploring the feasibility 
of annexation and other research 
on islands surrounded by the 
City’s boundary. If these areas are 
successfully annexed, the current 
total of 25 County unincorporated 
areas would decrease to 20.  

You can find out more about all of 
Orange County’s unincorporated 
islands by visiting the OC LAFCO 

COMMISSIONERS STAFF

https://oclafco.org/


THE Pulse by OCLAFCO page 3

Orange County Water District (OCWD) MSR
One of the MSRs underway for affected agencies is the OCWD MSR. The District’s MSR will include the mandatory five-
year cycle review of OCWD’s services and operations and a feasibility assessment of the potential consolidation of OCWD 
and the Municipal Water District of Orange County (MWDOC). The latter was added to the District’s MSR review through 
an application filed by OCWD. An initial step in the process was completed when the Commission approved agreements 
with consultants, Webb Associates and John J. Schatz, to conduct and prepare the components of the scope of work for 
the MSR. Key components of the scope include a review of OCWD’s sustainability relevant to the current management 
of the groundwater basin, fiscal analysis involving potential consolidation, and identification of legal impediments and 
requirements for potential consolidation. Another pertinent part of the MSR process includes the engagement of the 
affected agencies, which will be notified following the kickoff process that will begin in June 2023.

Southwest and West Reviews 
As we head into Spring, the release of Public Review Drafts for the Southwest and West MSRs is within sight.  In 
consultation with Commission staff, RSG, a firm hired by OC LAFCO to prepare the MSRs, has engaged agencies within 
these regions to assess the municipal services they respectively deliver.  Some highlights expected in the reports include 
discussions on public safety costs, adequacy of water and wastewater infrastructures, and shared services arrangements 
benefiting the two regions.  Additionally, fiscal expert, Richard Berkson of Berkson Associates, developed fiscal indicators for the 
MSRs through data sources collected and feedback from each agency.  

The next critical milestone of the process will be to engage the agencies in a final review of the reports before releasing the 
drafts in late May for a 30-day public review period. The Final Draft MSR is expected to be considered by the Commission in early 
Summer. The Southwest and West regions include the following agencies:  

LOOKING BACK TO SPRING FORWARD

website and selecting the Unincorporated Areas resource page. Success of the Unincorporated Islands Program is also 
highlighted in a later section of this edition through an agency spotlight on the pre and post-annexation events of the 
Hamer Island annexation to the City of Placentia.

Municipal Service Reviews (MSRs)

Over the past year, OC LAFCO continued moving the needle on preparing fourth-cycle MSRs and sphere reviews for cities, 
special districts, and joint power authorities that are delivering municipal services in Orange County.  You can find the MSR 
schedule for the current cycle by visiting the MSR webpage on the OC LAFCO website.  The schedule is reviewed and updated 
periodically, as needed, so be sure to check in on the schedule regularly.  Below is an update on MSRs currently underway.

Southwest MSR Region

CITIES SPECIAL DISTRICTS/JPA

Aliso Viejo El Toro Water District

Dana Point Laguna Beach County Water District

Laguna Beach Moulton Niguel Water District

Laguna Hills South Coast Water District

Laguna Woods  Emerald Bay 
Community Services District 
Three Arch Bay 
Community Services District 
South Orange County 
Wastewater Authority

West MSR Region

CITIES SPECIAL DISTRICTS/JPA

Buena Park Garden grove Sanitary District

Cypress Midway City Sanitary District

Fountain Valley Buena Park Library District

Garden Grove Cypress Recreation and Park District

La Palma 

Stanton

Westminster

CONTINUED

https://oclafco.org/


THE Pulse by OCLAFCO page 4

LOOKING BACK TO SPRING FORWARD

Next Up for MSRs
The conducting of two additional MSRs – Orange County Mosquito and Vector Control District (OCMVCD) and Central 
Region – is expected to begin in late summer and continue through the next fiscal year. OCMVCD provides mosquito 
abatement and vector control services countywide, and the Central Region encompasses six cities and four special districts:  
Anaheim, Irvine, Orange, Santa Ana, Tustin, Villa Park; and East Orange County Water District, Irvine Ranch Water District, 
Serrano Water District, and Silverado-Modjeska Parks and Recreation District. Is your agency listed here? If so, you will be 
contacted in advance of the MSR process beginning. Prior to that, you may reacquaint yourself with your agency’s previous 
MSRs by visiting the MSR webpage on the OC LAFCO website.

From Race to Crawl for Routine OC LAFCO Applications 
This year’s field looks different for applications filed involving boundary changes, MSRs, or other changes of organization. 
We ended the prior fiscal year with eight applications filed to where we are today with three applications currently 
underway or pending. Filed applications include a city annexation, an MSR, and a request to exercise and extend a new 
service. The city annexation will be considered by the Commission in May, and the OCWD MSR process is underway and 
expected to be completed in 2024. The timeline for the application to extend a new service filed by the Capistrano Bay 
Community Services District is unknown at this time as the District is performing its due diligence in gathering the 
pertinent information relative to its path forward on this effort.

Through the Commission’s local guidelines on the agency’s effort in 
legislative affairs, OC LAFCO staff monitors legislation of LAFCO 
interest through participation on the California Association 
of LAFCOs Legislative Committee. This Spring, the OC 
LAFCO Legislative Ad Hoc Committee, comprised of 
Commissioners Bucknum, McGregor and Wagner 
will convene to further enhance the Commission’s 
effort in this area by expanding the guidelines 
to incorporate general procedures for engaging 
external stakeholder groups to include the 
California Special Districts Association, 
California State Association of Counties, 
League of California Cities, and Orange County 
Division of the League of California Cities. 

In addition to proactive monitoring of 
legislation, a component of the Commission’s 
legislative engagement is external outreach. 
Bi-yearly, Commission staff introduces OC LAFCO 
to Orange County’s continuing and new Senators 
and Assembly members and provides an overview 
of the Commission’s current activities and media kit. 
Each legislator is also invited to participate in a meeting 
with staff to hear about the happenings of OC LAFCO 
occurring across the County and to ask any questions. 

If members of your city council, district board, or staff are interested 
in learning more about OC LAFCO or would like to receive the agency’s media 
kit, you may contact the OC LAFCO office.

Legislative Affairs

Old Orange 
County 

Courthouse in 
Santa Ana, CA 

https://oclafco.org/


THE Pulse by OCLAFCO page 5

OC LAFCO also stays connected to local issues through staff’s participation through attending general meetings and events 
organized by Orange County’s cities, special districts and other associations and organizations.

Prior to going through the annexation process, how 
much experience did you have with LAFCO?

Arrula: Prior to the City annexing the Hamer 
unincorporated island, I did not have any experience 
with OC LAFCO. However, in a prior role with the City of 
Claremont, I did interact with Los Angeles LAFCO through 
a complex annexation process.

As a city that recently annexed an unincorporated 
island, why do you believe annexing these areas to 
adjacent cities is important?

Arrula: Prior to annexing Hamer Island, the City was 
already providing fire protection and emergency response 
services to island residents through an agreement with 
the County. Upon our analysis and research, it made sense 
for the City to extend other municipal services to an 
area surrounded by Placentia. The organic extension of 
these services by the City supports the delivery of quality 
services to residents more efficiently.

To carry forward OC LAFCO’s local mission to serve the agencies and residents of Orange County, the Commission 
proactively stays connected to the communities through its participation in regional activities and events. Highlighted 
below are the regional organizations and associations that the Commission engages through its participation as a member 
or contributing partner:

Staying Connected

 Ĉ  California Association of Local Agency Formation 
Commission (CALAFCO)

 Ĉ Center for Demographic Research (CDR) 
 Ĉ Orange County Council of Governments (OCCOG)

 Ĉ Orange County Business Council (OCBC)
 f  Committees Economic Development, 

Government Affairs, Housing, Infrastructure, and 
Workforce.

Agency Spotlights

City of Placentia

On a rainy Tuesday afternoon, Executive Officer Carolyn Emery chatted with City 
Administrator, Damien Arrula, about Placentia’s recent experience with OC LAFCO that 
led to the successful annexation of a small unincorporated island commonly known 
as the “Hamer Island.” Read on to learn more about Damien’s experience with the 
Commission’s statutory process and how the collaborative effort of the City, County and 
OC LAFCO has now become the model for annexing unincorporated islands.

Specifically for 
Placentia, what 
efficiencies or enhanced 
services are the residents 
of the former Hamer Island now 
experiencing?

Arrula: An area where residents are experiencing 
enhanced services is public safety. With annexation, 
residents now receive faster response times for fire and 
emergency response services. Additionally, police services 
delivered by the City are provided through a sophisticated 
and advanced system that is fully staffed and has also 
resulted in faster response times for the former island 
residents. Other things that came with the annexation 
are the benefits of the City’s parks and streets and roads 
initiatives and other services that include programs 
for seniors, the homeless, and an innovative fiber optic 
broadband project that will deliver incredibly fast internet 
services at the same or lower cost than they already pay 
today. The City takes great pride in efficiently delivering 
services that affect our residents’ quality of life and 
allowing them to have a local voice.

CONTINUED

https://oclafco.org/


THE Pulse by OCLAFCO page 6

AGENCY SPOTLIGHTS: CITY OF PLACENTIA

Joining cities after years of being a part of the County 
can be challenging for residents. How has the City 
assisted the former island residents with this transition?

Arrula: During the process and following annexation, 
we engaged residents through workshops and lots of 
correspondence from the City.  Our staff and council 
listened to and continue to be responsive to their 
concerns.  Because of this, the feedback from the 
community has been generally positive.  

Now that you have experienced the process of 
successfully annexing an island for which past 
efforts were unsuccessful, what words of wisdom 
or guidance would you share with other cities 
considering annexation of a community?

Arrula: Do your homework and talk with other City 
Managers that have been through the process. Second, 
take time with and show the value of joining the city to 
future residents. Listening to their concerns and addressing 
relevant issues are important. Lastly, make sure you are 
being genuine and create a trust for future residents in 
what we do and how we serve [as public agencies].

Downtown 
City of Placentia

Damien Arrula was appointed City Administrator in 2016. He has been with the City since 2014 and previously served 
as Assistant City Administrator. As City Administrator, one of his many accomplishments includes the establishment of 
the City’s Fire and Life Safety department. Located in the northern portion of Orange County, the City of Placentia was 
incorporated in 1926 as a charter city governed by a five-member city council elected by district. The City is home to 51,300 
residents of Orange County and encompasses a variety of residential, commercial, industrial, recreational, and transit-
oriented land uses.

Rossmoor Community Services District (RCSD)
On a different day, but absent the rain, Senior Analyst Gavin Centeno caught up with RCSD’s General Manager, Joe Mendoza.  
Joe’s day was filled with District activities, but Gavin was able to catch up with him to learn more about his management of 
the District’s services and the community of Rossmoor. 

What have you heard from Rossmoor residents involving 
the distinguishing characteristics of residing in an 
unincorporated community?

Mendoza: Overall, the comments and experiences shared 
are positive.  The residents feel a sense of community and 
enjoy living in an unincorporated area. They’ve expressed 
that they are pleased with the select services provided by 
the Rossmoor Community Services District. However, the 
residents also feel that there are opportunities to enhance 
other services provided by the County. The District, 
alongside the community, continues to engage the County 
staff and elected officials on key areas that the residents 
feel are important for Rossmoor.  

CONTINUED

Downtown 
City of Placentia

As a public agency providing 
services and locally 
representing Rossmoor 
residents, what would 
you say those key 
areas of interest for 
the community are 
today?

Mendoza: The District 
recently sent out a survey 
a few months ago to get 
feedback from residents on 
both amenities and programs for the community.  

https://oclafco.org/


THE Pulse by OCLAFCO page 7

AGENCY SPOTLIGHTS: ROSSMOOR COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT (RCSD)

We received an overwhelming response from residents 
indicating a high interest in senior services, public safety, 
and traffic congestion occurring in Rossmoor.

What do you believe are the benefits of having the RCSD 
to represent and serve the Rossmoor community?

Mendoza: I believe there are many benefits for the 
Rossmoor residents to be represented by a locally-elected 
legislative body. The District operates and provides 
quality-of-life services to residents in a cost-effective 
manner and represents independence and local control.

Your district is scheduled to begin participation in the 
OC LAFCO Municipal Service Review (MSR) process late 
next year. What areas are you looking forward to OC 
LAFCO highlighting in the MSR report involving the 
District and the community?

Joe Mendoza was appointed General Manager of RCSD in 2019. As General Manager, he has enhanced programs and 
increased engagement with the Rossmoor Community by proactively encouraging residents’ involvement in the activities 
of the District. With its headquarters located in the center of the Rossmoor community, RCSD serves a population of 
approximately 10,000 residents, with a service area of 1.54 square miles located in the northwestern portion of Orange 
County, adjacent to the cities of Los Alamitos and Seal Beach. Municipal services provided by the District include park and 
recreation services, street lighting, street sweeping, tree and landscape maintenance, and maintenance of the Rossmoor 
community wall and entry.

Mendoza: An added value to the MSR would be to 
highlight the need for more funding for unincorporated 
areas to support the provision of public safety.

What do you view as generally most challenging for 
public agencies now that we are through the pandemic?

Mendoza: I believe the challenges for public agencies 
are the hiring and retention of employees. Many public 
agencies like RCSD are experiencing competition from 
surrounding public agencies and private companies that 
include offering higher salaries. It’s difficult for agencies 
with restrictive budgets to compete with higher salaries 
and other competitive opportunities.

For questions on this publication, you may contact the OC LAFCO office at 714.640.5100.  
We invite you to also visit our website at oclafco.org.

Anaheim 
Convention Center,  

Anaheim, CA

https://oclafco.org/


   
 

   
 

 

 
 
 
 
Local Agency Formation Commission of Orange County 
 
2677 North Main Street, Suite 1050 
Santa Ana, CA 92705 

 

 
 

Municipal Service Review and  
Sphere of Influence Update 
 
Southwest Region 
 
Orange County LAFCO  
Public Review Draft – June 16, 2023 



   
 

 
 

2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
I. Executive Summary ........................................................................................................ 6 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................................6 

Southwest Region Cities and Special Districts Reviewed ..................................................................6 

MSR Determinations Summary .......................................................................................................8 

SOI Determinations Summary ....................................................................................................... 10 

II. Background .................................................................................................................. 12 

Legal Requirements and Purpose .................................................................................................. 12 

Authority and Powers of LAFCO .................................................................................................... 12 
LAFCO Responsibilities ........................................................................................................................................ 12 
Planning Authorities ........................................................................................................................................... 12 
Sphere of Influence Updates .............................................................................................................................. 13 

Municipal Service Reviews ............................................................................................................ 13 
Prior Municipal Service Reviews ......................................................................................................................... 14 
Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities (DUCs) ........................................................................................ 14 
Unincorporated Areas ......................................................................................................................................... 15 

Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission .................................................................... 15 
Commission Composition ................................................................................................................................... 15 
Meeting and Contact Information ...................................................................................................................... 16 

Methodology and Data Sources .................................................................................................... 17 

III. Agency Profiles ............................................................................................................. 18 

IV. Growth and Population Projections ............................................................................... 61 

V. Present and Planned Land Uses ..................................................................................... 63 

VI. Location and Characteristics of Any DUCs ...................................................................... 64 

VII. Capacity of Facilities and Adequacy of Services ............................................................. 64 

Regional Overview ....................................................................................................................... 64 

Law Enforcement and Security Services ........................................................................................ 65 

Fire Protection and Emergency Medical Services ........................................................................... 65 

Water Services ............................................................................................................................. 66 

Wastewater Services .................................................................................................................... 67 

Solid Waste Services ..................................................................................................................... 68 

Stormwater Protection Services .................................................................................................... 68 

Other Public Works (Electric, Lighting, Utilities, Streets/Road Maintenance) .................................. 68 

Parks, Recreation and Open Space ................................................................................................ 69 

Library Services ............................................................................................................................ 69 

Animal Control Services ................................................................................................................ 69 



   
 

 
 

3 

Code Enforcement ........................................................................................................................ 70 

VIII. Financial Ability to Provide Services .............................................................................. 70 
OC LAFCO Fiscal Indicators ................................................................................................................................. 70 
Fiscal Indicators for Southwest Region ............................................................................................................... 71 

IX. Opportunities for Shared Facilities ................................................................................ 72 
Water and Wastewater Services ......................................................................................................................... 72 
Law Enforcement Services .................................................................................................................................. 73 
Animal Control Services ...................................................................................................................................... 73 

X. Accountability, Government Structure and Operational Efficiencies ............................... 74 
 
  



   
 

 
 

4 

TABLE OF FIGURES 
 
Table 1: Southwest Region Agencies ..................................................................................... 6 
Table 2: OC LAFCO Commission Roster ..............................................................................16 
Table 3: Regional Population and Housing Trends ..............................................................61 
Table 4: Agency Individual Population Growth ....................................................................62 
Table 5: Agency Individual Housing Unit Growth .................................................................63 
Table 6: Summary of Fiscal Indicators Project and CA Auditor Rankings .........................72 
 
 
  



   
 

 
 

5 

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED 
 
ACS American Community Survey  
ACFR Annual Comprehensive Financial Report  
ADU  Accessory Dwelling Unit  
CASA Coastal Animal Services Authority 
CKH                                  Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000  
CSA County Service Area 
DOF California Department of Finance  
DUC  Disadvantaged Unincorporated Community  
ETWD El Toro Water District 
GIS  Geographic Information Systems  
HOA Homeowner’s Association 
JPA Joint Powers Authority 
LAFCO  Local Agency Formation Commission 
LBCWD Laguna Beach County Water District 
MHI  Median Household Income  
MNWD Moulton Niguel Water District 
MSR Municipal Service Review  
OCFA Orange County Fire Authority 
OC LAFCO Orange County LAFCO 
OCPL Orange County Public Library  
OCSD Orange County Sheriff’s Department  
SCWD South Coast Water District 
SCE Southern California Edison 
SDG&E San Diego Gas & Electric 
SMWD Santa Margarita Water District 
SOI  Sphere of Influence  

 SOCWA          South Orange County Wastewater Authority 
 
 
  



   
 

 
 

6 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
INTRODUCTION 

 
The Local Agency Formation Commission of Orange County (“OC LAFCO”) initiated this 
Municipal Service Review (“MSR”) and Sphere of Influence (“SOI”) update in 2022 for six cities, 
seven special districts, and one joint powers authority (“JPA”) in the OC LAFCO-designated 
“Southwest Region” of the County. OC LAFCO retained consultant RSG, Inc. (“RSG”) to prepare 
the MSR, which included conducting surveys and interviews with each of the agencies in the 
region, and collecting demographic, fiscal, and other data to support the MSR findings and 
determinations under State law. OC LAFCO also retained Berkson Associates (“Berkson”) to 
perform an analysis of available financial data and prepare a set of Fiscal Indicators to be 
published on the OC LAFCO website. 

 
SOUTHWEST REGION CITIES AND SPECIAL DISTRICTS REVIEWED 

 
The OC LAFCO Southwest Region consists of 14 total agencies. These agencies are principally 
located around the Laguna Beach and Dana Point coastlines and inland as far as the Interstate 
5 Freeway (“I-5”) corridor. The agencies are listed in Table 1: 
 
Table 1: Southwest Region Agencies 
 

Cities Special Districts/JPA 
Aliso Viejo El Toro Water District – (“ETWD” or “El Toro”) 
Dana Point Laguna Beach County Water District – (“LBCWD”) 
Laguna Beach Moulton Niguel Water District – (“MNWD” or “Moulton Niguel”) 
Laguna Hills South Coast Water District – (“SCWD” or “South Coast”) 
Laguna Niguel Capistrano Bay Community Services District 
Laguna Woods Emerald Bay Service District 
 Three Arch Bay Community Services District 
 South Orange County Wastewater Authority – (“SOCWA”) 

 
 

A map depicting the incorporated cities of the Southwest Region is shown following this page:  



   
 

 
 

7 

 



   
 

 
 

8 

MSR DETERMINATIONS SUMMARY 
 
As further detailed in the body of this report, RSG makes the following MSR determinations for 
the Southwest Region agencies based on our data collection, surveys, and interviews: 
 
1. Population, Growth, and Housing 
 

Within the Southwest Region there is limited potential for population and housing growth due 
to existing buildout and geography. Population and housing growth projections through 2027 
show only five (5) agencies with positive growth rates, with a majority expecting small 
declines.  

 
2. Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 
 

OC LAFCO previously designated a total of seven (7) areas in the County as disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities (“DUCs”). However, none of these DUCs are in the Southwest 
Region. 

  
3. Capacity of Facilities and Adequacy of Services 
 

Within the Southwest Region, the present and planned capacity of facilities is generally 
appropriate for the projected slow growth in population. Additionally, there are adequate law 
enforcement, fire, water, wastewater, public works, parks and recreation, animal control, and 
code enforcement services being provided among the agencies reviewed in this MSR.  
 
With the exception of Laguna Beach, which was incorporated 96 years ago, all of the other 
cities in the Southwest Region are relatively young, with none older than 34 years. These 
cities are almost all master planned communities with infrastructure and facilities designed to 
facilitate their growth over time. As a result, none of the cities reported any structural 
challenges.  
 
The special districts in the Southwest Region are about twice as old as most of the cities. This 
age is reflected in the water infrastructure, which ranges from 30 to 50 years old. However, 
the water districts did not indicate any significant cause for concern regarding facilities or 
service delivery. All of the districts have adequate planning and reporting systems in place to 
prepare for maintenance and replacement of their water infrastructure and facilities. For 
stormwater services, two of the CSDs are reporting issues with their current systems. 
Capistrano Bay CSD with its small and beachfront area, has experienced higher tides in recent 
years. The threat of damage from the tides has pushed the agency to look into expanding 
their powers to include stormwater management, primarily to combat beach erosion. Three 
Arch Bay CSD has stormwater infrastructure that is on average 75 years old. Having been 
built for far more open space in a different era, the drainage and runoff systems are no longer 
efficient enough for runoff created from new development. Both CSDs have taken the 
following steps to address the issues: Capistrano Bay CSD has initiated an application with 
OC LAFCO to activate latent powers for stormwater management, and Three Arch Bay CSD 
is developing a new master plan to upgrade their infrastructure. 

 
4. Financial Ability to Provide Services 
 

Most of the agencies of the Southwest Region have the ability to maintain their current service 
levels. Based on financial indicators prepared by Berkson & Associates, all agencies report 



   
 

 
 

9 

high amounts of reserves, moderate growth in revenues, and moderate expenditure growth. 
However, the cities of Aliso Viejo and Laguna Woods both expressed concern that the costs 
to provide law enforcement to their cities under the current OC Sheriff contracts are not 
sustainable. Aliso Viejo is concerned that these rising costs may result in a projected fund 
deficit in the near future. Therefore, they are seeking opportunities to increase revenues, such 
as larger scale economic development projects, to offset the negative financial outlook. Aliso 
Viejo indicated that it has ample reserves to maintain all of its services and obligations in the 
short term if it incurs a deficit. Laguna Woods did not foresee a deficit arising in their budget 
from rising law enforcement costs in the short term, but expressed a desire to see more 
collaboration on operational decisions, labor negotiations, and factors that could potentially 
lower or moderate costs under the OC Sheriff contract. No other agency reviewed in this MSR 
expressed similar fiscal concerns.  

 
5. Opportunities for Shared Facilities 
 

Existing shared facilities and/or services include those for animal control through the Mission 
Viejo Department of Animal Services, the Laguna Beach Animal Services Division, and the 
Coastal Animal Services Authority. No concerns or suggested changes were reported for 
these partnerships.  
 
Two areas were identified through this MSR as potential opportunities for shared facilities: 
wastewater facilities managed through SOCWA, and joint law enforcement services.  

 
SOCWA’s current facilities are run by the JPA through project committee agreements between 
the relevant agencies in the area. Not all participating agencies within SOCWA are a party to 
every facility and service agreement that SOCWA oversees. One Southwest Region agency, 
Moulton Niguel Water District (“MNWD”), expressed their desire for SOCWA to transition 
facilities to the member agencies where they are located. MNWD had requested that OC 
LAFCO include a review of the discussions regarding SOCWA in this MSR as part of LAFCO’s 
standard review of the JPA as a municipal service provider. MNWD is one of the largest 
member agencies of SOCWA and has taken the position that SOCWA should shift operations 
of local assets to member agencies and retain only a coordination and management role. 
Other agencies in the Southwest Region were aware of these requests from MNWD but did 
not express support nor opposition. The other agencies, particularly South Coast Water 
District (“SCWD”), did indicate that they were not opposed to alternatives but would prefer a 
resolution that works within the existing structure of SOCWA. Both SOCWA and MNWD have 
made significant steps towards facilitating further discussion on a potential resolution of the 
issues. SOCWA has hired a facilitator to manage regular board meetings specifically on the 
subject, while MNWD has led regular external meetings for any interested member agency, 
though mostly with SCWD and Santa Margarita Water District (“SMWD”). 

 
Regarding law enforcement services, the Cities of Aliso Viejo and Laguna Woods have held 
informal internal and external discussions about how to reduce costs, including looking at 
alternatives to how services are provided under their contracts with the Orange County 
Sheriff’s Department (“OCSD”). The Cities indicated that perhaps the efficiency and 
effectiveness of a regional OCSD policing model could reduce each city’s cost, but this would 
need to be explored further. Aliso Viejo and Laguna Woods previously discussed this option 
with former Sheriff Sandra Hutchens. However, the OCSD could not commit to studying the 
issue further and has not studied the issue since. 
 

 



   
 

 
 

10 

6. Accountability for Community Service Needs 
 

Agencies in the Southwest Region have well-established structures for accountability. With 
the variety of different entities in the region, significant layering exists to provide residents with 
multiple opportunities for input. However, there were two issues of representation raised in 
the MSR process, one of which may be resolved through an SOI update and subsequent 
annexation.  
 
The residents of South Laguna Beach are seeking direct representation on the South Coast 
Water District (“SCWD”) board. The area is serviced by SCWD but is not formally within the 
District boundary. Residents currently have no voting power in District elections and instead 
receive representation through an advisory committee staffed by residents and elected 
officials. The City of Laguna Beach would like to see these residents formally represented on 
the SCWD board with equal voting rights to those residents within the SCWD boundary. This 
would require an amendment to the sphere of influence of SCWD and a subsequent 
annexation. SCWD, through the process of this MSR, has expressed support for such an 
amendment and future annexation. 
 
Another issue identified through this MSR is the service delivery and overall governance 
structure of SOCWA. Moulton Niguel Water District has expressed concerns with SOCWA’s 
ability to meet the changing needs and objectives of its member agencies relating to 
wastewater reuse and treatment. This subject is closely related to the subject of SOCWA's 
facilities ownership and use mentioned in the prior determination. Resolution of SOCWA-
related concerns, particularly with the structure and purpose of the JPA, falls outside the 
purview of OC LAFCO and would need to be addressed among the member agencies of 
SOCWA. However, OC LAFCO staff has noted that any resolution of the situation that involves 
out-of-area service agreements between member agencies would require LAFCO review. 

 
SOI DETERMINATIONS SUMMARY 
 
As further detailed in the body of this report, RSG makes the following SOI determinations for the 
Southwest Region agencies based on our data collection, surveys, and interviews:  
 

1. Present and Planned Land Uses 
 
The agencies of the Southwest Region are largely built out with very little remaining open 
space for new construction. There are no significant agriculture uses.  
 

2. Present and Probable Need for Facilities and Services 
 
Agencies in the Southwest Region are providing adequate services to their residents and 
customers, and generally have the capacity to keep up with expected growth without 
adding new facilities or services.  
 

3. Present Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services 
 
Agencies in the Southwest Region are providing adequate services to their residents and 
customers, and generally have the capacity to keep up with expected growth without 
adding new facilities or services.  
 



   
 

 
 

11 

4. Social or Economic Communities of Interest. 
 
OC LAFCO previously designated a total of seven (7) areas in the County as 
disadvantaged unincorporated communities (“DUCs”). However, none of these DUCs are 
in the Southwest Region. 
 

5. Present and Probable Need for Public Facilities and Services by any DUCs within 
the Existing SOIs  

 
OC LAFCO previously designated a total of seven (7) areas in the County as 
disadvantaged unincorporated communities (“DUCs”). However, none of these DUCs are 
in the Southwest Region. 
 

SOI Updates 
 
In the course of our review, RSG was made aware of one request for an SOI adjustment among 
the Southwest Region agencies:  
 
As discussed in further detail in Sections VII and X below, staff of the City of Laguna Beach related 
concerns from residents of the southern area of Laguna Beach area regarding a lack of formal 
voter representation on the board of SCWD, the water, recycled water, and wastewater service 
provider for the area. While the southern Laguna Beach area is within the City of Laguna Beach 
boundary, it is not within any water district boundary nor SOI. Residents have expressed 
dissatisfaction with the current representation arrangement, which is a committee established by 
SCWD comprised of residents and elected officials. In terms of service quality however, SCWD 
reported that residents have only complimented the agency and would prefer being able to 
participate in the election process to vote for a member of the SCWD’s Board of Directors that 
directly represents them. The City of Laguna Beach has requested that OC LAFCO take steps 
towards increasing the size of SCWD’s SOI to include South Laguna Beach, with the intent of 
eventual annexation into the District. Additionally, SCWD supports this process. They felt 
residents were interested in future annexation into SCWD, which aligns with the request from 
Laguna Beach. RSG recommends that OC LAFCO facilitate discussions between the City of 
Laguna Beach and SCWD on the subject. The discussions should include the encouragement of 
SCWD to file an application to absorb the South Laguna Beach area into its SOI, with the goal of 
a future or concurrent annexation into SCWD.  OC LAFCO staff notes that South Laguna Beach 
residents would experience more direct representation by SCWD if annexed into the District.  Staff 
would encourage the District, if it decides to move forward, to file an application for an SOI 
amendment and a concurrent annexation of the area. 
 
  



   
 

 
 

12 

II. BACKGROUND 
 
LEGAL REQUIREMENTS AND PURPOSE 
 
In 1963, the California Legislature created for each County a Local Agency Formation 
Commission (“LAFCO”) to oversee the logical formation and determination of local agency 
boundaries that encourage orderly growth and development essential to the social, fiscal, and 
economic well-being of the State.  LAFCOs’ authority to carry out this legislative charge is codified 
in the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Reorganization Act of 2000 (“CKH”). For nearly 60 years, the CKH 
has been amended to give more direction to LAFCOs and, in some cases, expand the authorities 
of the Commissions. One of the most important revisions to CKH by the Legislature occurred in 
2000, which added a requirement that LAFCOs review and update the “spheres of influence” for 
all cities and special districts every five years and, in conjunction with this responsibility, prepare 
comprehensive studies that are known as 
“municipal service reviews.”  
 
AUTHORITY AND POWERS OF LAFCO 
 
Codified within CKH are the procedures and 
processes for LAFCOs to carry out their 
purposes as established by the Legislature.  
LAFCOs’ purposes are guided and achieved 
through their regulatory and planning powers 
and acknowledge that the local conditions of 
the 58 California counties shall be considered 
in part to the Commissions’ authorities. 
 
LAFCO RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
LAFCOs’ regulatory authorities include the reviewing, approving, amending or denying of 
proposals to change the jurisdictional boundaries of cities and special districts.  Specifically, these 
types of boundary changes commonly referred to as “changes of organization,” include: 

• City Incorporation 
• City Disincorporation 
• District Formation 
• District Dissolution 
• City and District Annexations and Detachments 
• City and District Consolidations 
• Merger of a City and District 
• Establishment of a Subsidiary District 
• Activation of new or different functions or classes of services, or divestiture of power 

to provide services for special districts. 
 

PLANNING AUTHORITIES 
 
LAFCOs’ planning authorities are carried out through the establishment and updating of agencies’ 
SOIs, which is a tool used to define a city or special district’s future jurisdictional boundary and 

CKH ACT (G.C. SECTION 56301) – 
PURPOSES OF LAFCOs 
“Among the purposes of a commission are 
discouraging urban sprawl, preserving open-
space and prime agricultural lands, encouraging 
the efficient provision of government services, 
and encouraging the orderly formation and 
development of local agencies based upon local 
conditions and circumstances.” 
 
 



   
 

 
 

13 

service areas. Through the reform of CKH in 2000, LAFCO’s planning responsibility includes the 
preparation of comprehensive studies (MSRs) that analyze service or services within the county, 
region, subregion, or other designated geographic area. The determinations that LAFCOs must 
review, analyze, and adopt for SOIs and MSRs are discussed below. 
 
SPHERE OF INFLUENCE UPDATES 
 
In 1972, LAFCOs throughout the state were tasked with determining and overseeing the SOIs for 
local government agencies. A SOI is a planning boundary that may be outside of an agency’s 
jurisdictional boundary (such as the city limits or a special district’s service area) that designates 
the agency’s probable future boundary and service area. The purpose of a SOI is to ensure the 
provision of efficient services while discouraging urban sprawl and the premature conversion of 
agricultural and open space lands, and by preventing overlapping jurisdictions and duplication of 
services. On a regional level, LAFCOs coordinate the orderly development of a community 
through reconciling differences between different agency plans. This is intended to ensure the 
most efficient urban service arrangements are created for the benefit of area residents and 
property owners. Factors considered in a SOI update include current and future land use, capacity 
needs, and any relevant areas of interest such as geographical terrain, location, and any other 
aspects that would influence the level of service.  
 

 
From time-to-time, an SOI may be modified as determined by LAFCO using the procedures for 
making sphere amendments as outlined by CKH. Pursuant to Government Code Section 56430, 
a LAFCO must first conduct a MSR prior to updating or amending a SOI. 
 
MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEWS 
 
Section 56425(g) of CKH requires that LAFCOs evaluate an SOI every five years, or when 
necessary. The vehicle for doing this is known as a Municipal Service Review.   
 

Per Government Code Section 56425, a LAFCO shall consider and prepare a written 
statement of its SOI determinations on the following five (5) factors: 

1. The present and planned land use in the area, including agricultural and open space 
lands. 

2. The present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area. 
3. The present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the agency 

provides or is authorized to provide. 
4. The existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area. 
5. If a city or special district provides public facilities or services related to sewers, 

municipal industrial  water, or structural fire protection, the Present and Probable 
Need for those facilities and services of any disadvantaged unincorporated 
communities within the existing sphere of influence.  
 



   
 

 
 

14 

 
The focus of an MSR is to ensure that public services are being carried out efficiently and the 
residents of any given area or community are receiving the highest level of service possible, while 
also discouraging urban sprawl and the premature conversion of agricultural lands. If an MSR 
determines that certain services are not being carried out to an adequate standard, LAFCO can 
recommend changes be made through making sphere changes and dissolution or consolidation 
of service providers to provide the best service possible to the population. 

 
PRIOR MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEWS 
 
Three cycles of MSRs were completed by OC LAFCO prior to this one. The first was produced in 
2005, the second in 2008, and the third in 2013. Each MSR cycle has provided OC LAFCO with 
new and important information regarding the delivery of services to OC residents. OC LAFCO has 
learned that generally, all of the agencies in the County are well run and provide a high level of 
service. The high level of service is especially apparent in the Southwest Region. Prior MSRs 
have not singled out any significant issues among Southwest agencies. 
 
In the interest of furthering OC LAFCO’s goals, the MSR process over the prior cycles has 
produced key resources to help coordinate services, provide accountability, and increase 
transparency. Resources like the Fiscal Indicators and the Shared Services programs have 
provided agencies with a central location to access OC LAFCO services. OC LAFCO has also 
partnered with local experts such as those in the California State University of Fullerton’s (“CSUF”) 
Demographic Research Unit, to track trends that help develop the data for Disadvantaged 
Unincorporated Communities (“DUCs”). 
 
DISADVANTAGED UNINCORPORATED COMMUNITIES (DUCS) 
 
As part of this MSR, RSG was asked to consider the location, characteristics and adequacy of 
services and public facilities related to Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities in any of the 
SOIs within the Region. DUCs are defined as inhabited territory located within an unincorporated 
area of a county in which the annual median household income is less than 80 percent of the 
statewide median household income. State law considers an area with 12 or more registered 
voters to be an inhabited area. CKH requires identification and analysis of service issues within 
DUCs as part of MSR/SOI updates. State law (SB 244) also places restrictions on annexations to 
cities if the proposed annexation is adjacent to a DUC.  

Pursuant to Government Code Section 56430, MSRs make determinations on seven (7) 
required topics as follows: 

1. Growth and population projections for the affected area.  
2. Location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities 

within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 
3. Present and planned capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services, 

adequacy of public services, infrastructure needs, or deficiencies related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, and structural fire protection in any disadvantaged, 
unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

4. Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 
5. Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 
6. Accountability for community service needs, including government structure and 

operational efficiencies.  
7. Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by 

Commission Policy.  



   
 

 
 

15 

 
OC LAFCO previously designated a total of seven (7) DUCs in the County. However, none of 
these DUCs are in the Southwest Region. 

 
UNINCORPORATED AREAS 
 
There are several unincorporated islands (territory completely or substantially surrounded by 
cities) and other unincorporated areas within the County that should eventually be transitioned to 
an adjacent city over time and when feasible. CKH, in various sections of the statute, requires 
LAFCO to address these areas during MSR/SOI updates and annexation proceedings. For over 
20 years, OC LAFCO has worked collaboratively with the County and multiple cities on the 
transitioning of unincorporated areas to the jurisdiction of adjacent cities. Today, that effort 
continues and includes addressing the feasibility of annexation and infrastructure deficiencies and 
other challenges. 
 
In the Southwest Region, unincorporated areas include the Aliso and Wood Canyons Wilderness 
Park and the Emerald Bay residential community. Services to these areas are provided by 
multiple agencies that include the County, Emerald Bay Community Services District, and Laguna 
Beach County Water District. The Aliso and Wood Canyons Wilderness Park is serviced as part 
of the County’s park system by County Service Area (“CSA”) 26. The park receives fire protection 
services from the Orange County Fire Authority. Emerald Bay is served, either through contract 
or direct action, by the Emerald Bay Community Services District. More on these services and 
providers is discussed in Section VII. Due to geography and resident preferences, these areas 
are unlikely to be annexed by neighboring cities in the near future. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
 
OC LAFCO is responsible for overseeing the 
boundaries, establishing and updating SOIs, 
and preparing MSRs for the County’s 34 
cities and 34 independent and dependent 
special districts.  Since its creation, the 
Commission has formed nine cities, 
approved multiple changes of organization 
and reorganization involving cities and 
special districts, and encouraged orderly 
development through the establishment of agency SOIs and preparation of numerous studies.  
OC LAFCO has also provided proactive leadership on efficient government through its 
Unincorporated Islands Program and an innovative presence through its Shared Services and 
Fiscal Indicators Web-based programs.  In addition to State law, the Commission’s authority is 
guided through adopted policies and procedures that assist in the implementation of the 
provisions of the CKH Act and consideration of the local conditions and circumstances of Orange 
County. 
 
COMMISSION COMPOSITION 
 
OC LAFCO is comprised of eleven (11) members, with seven serving as regular members and 
four serving as alternate members. The members include: three (3) County Supervisors, three (3) 
City Council members, three independent Special District members, and two (2) at-large 
representatives of the general public. All members serve four-year terms and there are no term 

MISSION: 
OC  LAFCO serves Orange County cities, 
special districts, and the county to ensure 
effective and efficient delivery of municipal 
services. 
 



   
 

 
 

16 

limits.  In accordance with the statute, while serving on the Commission, all commission members 
shall exercise their independent judgement on behalf of the interests of residents, property 
owners, and the public as a whole.  Table 2 depicts the current members of the Commission and 
their respective appointing authority and term. 
 
Table 2: OC LAFCO Commission Roster  
 
Commissioners Appointing Authority Current Term 

Regular Members 

Douglass Davert, Chair 
Special District Member 

Independent Special 
District Selection 
Committee 

2022–2026 

Donald P. Wagner, Vice Chair  
County Member Board of Supervisors 2022–2026 

Derek J. McGregor, Immediate Past 
Chair 
Public Member 

Commission 2022–2026 

Andrew Do, County Member Board of Supervisors 2019–2023 

Wendy Bucknum, City Member City Selection Committee 2020–2024 

James Fisler, Special District 
Member 

Independent Special 
District Selection 
Committee 

2020–2024 

Bruce Whitaker, City Member City Selection Committee 2022–2026 

Alternate Members 

Carol Moore, City Member City Selection Committee 2020–2024 

Kathryn Freshley, Special District 
Member 

Independent Special 
District Selection 
Committee 

2022–2026 

Katrina Foley, County Member Board of Supervisors 2019–2023 

Lou Penrose, Public Member Commission 2021–2025 
 
Carolyn Emery, Executive Officer 
Scott C. Smith, General Counsel 

 
MEETING AND CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
The Commission’s regular meetings are held on the second Wednesday of the month at 8:15 
a.m. Currently, the meetings are conducted at County Administration North (CAN), First Floor 
Multipurpose Room 101, 400 W. Civic Center Drive, Santa Ana, CA 92701. The OC LAFCO 
administrative offices are centrally located at 2677 North Main Street, Suite 1050, Santa Ana, CA 
92701. Commission staff may be reached by telephone at (714) 640-5100. The agency’s 
agendas, reports and other resources are available online at www.OCLAFCO.org. 

http://www.oclafco.org/


   
 

 
 

17 

 
METHODOLOGY AND DATA SOURCES 
 
RSG worked in coordination with OC LAFCO staff throughout the duration of this MSR. To fully 
understand key factors and current issues involving the cities, RSG conducted an initial working 
session with OC LAFCO staff to determine the project scope and process and formalize overall 
MSR objectives, schedules, agency services to review, fiscal criteria, and roles and 
responsibilities of OC LAFCO, RSG, and other consultants. Key tasks and activities in the 
completion of this MSR included a thorough review of available relevant agency data and 
documents; interviews with agencies; development of agency profiles; MSR and SOI 
determination analysis; preparation of administrative and public review drafts of the MSR; 
incorporation of agency, OC LAFCO, and public comments; and consideration by OC LAFCO of 
adoption of the final MSR.  
 
It is important to acknowledge that the data presented in this report represents the best 
information available during the data collection phase, which was largely completed between May 
and November of 2022. This report represents a snapshot in time, and there may be material 
changes since then that are not reflected in this report. 
 
For subject agencies that are incorporated cities, this MSR uses the Federal Decennial Census 
(“Census”) or California’s State Department of Finance (“DOF”) Population and Housing 
Estimates from January 1, 2022. Produced by DOF’s Demographic Research Unit, the estimates 
are released annually and are the official population and housing unit tallies used in most State 
programs and for jurisdictional appropriation limits. The estimates are restricted to cities and 
counties and do not encompass all potential taxing entities or districts in the State. The data from 
DOF only reports on total population, total housing units, housing type, and unit occupancy status. 
Therefore, RSG relied on additional sources and tools to provide a more complete demographic 
picture. 
 
Some of the demographic data reported in this MSR comes from ESRI’s Business Analyst online 
software. The platform uses Geographic Information Systems (“GIS”) to produce a variety of 
comparison reports for areas both smaller and larger than most official data sources, such as the 
Census or DOF. Subjects in this MSR pertaining to growth rates, poverty rates, number of workers 
in the jurisdiction, and number of businesses all were produced in part by inputting boundary 
shapefiles into the GIS functions of Business Analyst. Where applicable, this MSR notes agency 
disagreements with certain reported demographic numbers or rates. Population and housing unit 
data for the special districts was derived from ESRI, but not for the cities. All demographic data is 
from the year 2022 unless otherwise stated. 
 
Summary fiscal health data was researched and provided to RSG by another consultant, Berkson 
& Associates, as part of a separate and independent engagement with OC LAFCO to populate a 
set of “Fiscal Indicators” that will appear on OC LAFCO’s website. The Fiscal Indicators provide 
the latest three years of revenue, expenditures, net position, and reserves data reported in the 
agencies’ financial audits and budgets. Berkson & Associates also provided a summary of the 
trends for each line item. OC LAFCO’s partnership with Berkson & Associates to develop the 
Fiscal Indicators website aided RSG in the review of the Southwest agencies’ finances. As a 
result, this MSR did not undertake an extensive review of each agencies’ finances but consulted 
with Berkson to present and briefly summarize their findings. 
  



   
 

 
 

18 

III. AGENCY PROFILES 
 
As part of this MSR, OC LAFCO and RSG examined a range of municipal services provided by 
each agency in the Southwest Region. This section provides summaries of the governing 
structure, population, service area, types of services, and the service providers of each agency. 
The profile of each Southwest Region city covers the key services provided in the city, while the 
special district profiles provide detail only on the services they are legally authorized to provide. 
A demographic summary and a map of each agency are shown following the profile table. 
 
Summary financial trends of each agency going back to FY 2018-19 are also shown in this 
section. All financial tables were produced using the Fiscal Indicators data described in the prior 
section. Please note that trends shown are exclusive of transfers in and out: transfers of net 
revenue to capital funds and other uses are not shown; transfers to designated operating reserves 
may not be required if agency reserve targets are being met. 
  
Below is a list of the agencies profiled: 
 
Cities 
 

• Aliso Viejo 
• Dana Point 
• Laguna Beach 
• Laguna Hills 
• Laguna Niguel 
• Laguna Woods 

 
Special Districts and JPA 
 

• El Toro Water District 
• Laguna Beach County Water District 
• Moulton Niguel Water District 
• South Coast Water District 
• Emerald Bay Service District 
• Capistrano Bay Community Services District 
• Three Arch Bay Community Services District 
• South Orange County Wastewater Authority (JPA) 

 
  



   
 

 
 

19 

City of Aliso Viejo  
Incorporated July 1, 2001 

 
Agency Information 

Address 12 Journey, Aliso Viejo, CA 92656 
Primary Contact Dave Doyle, City Manager 
Contact Information 949-425-2520 
Website www.avcity.org  
Governance 5 Council Members, Elected At-Large 
Total City Staff 25 Full Time, 17 Part Time 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 6.92 
Population  50,782 
Unincorporated Population of SOI  N/A 

 
Service Summary 

Service or Department Provider 
Law Enforcement OCSD 
Fire Protection/Emergency Medical  OCFA 
Building/Planning Aliso Viejo 
Housing Aliso Viejo  
Code Enforcement Aliso Viejo 
Animal Control Aliso Viejo (Contractual agreement with 

Mission Viejo)  
Parks and Recreation Aliso Viejo, Aliso Viejo Community 

Association (HOA) 
Library County of Orange 
Museum N/A 
Landscape Maintenance Aliso Viejo Community Association (HOA) 
Lighting N/A 
Streets/Road Maintenance Aliso Viejo  
Electricity/Gas SCE /SoCal Gas/SDG&E 
Solid Waste CR&R 
Stormwater Protection Aliso Viejo  
Water Moulton Niguel Water District, El Toro Water 

District 
Wastewater  Moulton Niguel Water District, El Toro Water 

District, SOCWA 
Wholesale Water Municipal Water District of Orange County 
Cemetery Orange County Cemetery District 
Vector Control Orange County Mosquito & Vector Control 

District 
  
 
 
 
 

http://www.avcity.org/


   
 

 
 

20 

 
 
Demographics Summary 
 

 
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 

  
 
 



   
 

 
 

21 

 



   
 

 
 

22 

 

City of Dana Point  
Incorporated January 1, 1989 

 
Agency Information 

Address 33282 Golden Lantern, Dana Point, CA 
92629 

Primary Contact Mike Killebrew, City Manager 
Contact Information 949-248-3513  
Website www.danapoint.org  
Governance 5 Council Members, Elected by District 
Total City Staff 67 Full Time, 8 Part Time 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 6.51 
Population 32,943 
Unincorporated Population of SOI N/A 

 
Service Summary 

Service or Department Provider 
Law Enforcement OCSD 
Fire Protection/Emergency Medical  OCFA 
Building/Planning Dana Point  
Housing Dana Point 
Code Enforcement Dana Point  
Animal Control Dana Point (contractual agreement with 

Coastal Animal Services Authority)  
Parks and Recreation Dana Point  
Library County of Orange 
Museum N/A 
Landscape Maintenance Dana Point   
Lighting SDGE 
Streets/Road Maintenance Dana Point  
Electricity/Gas San Diego Gas & Electric 
Solid Waste CR&R 
Stormwater Protection Dana Point  
Water South Coast Water District, Moulton Niguel 

Water District 
Wastewater  SCWD, SOCWA, SMWD 
Wholesale Water Municipal Water District of Orange County 
Cemetery Orange County Cemetery District 
Vector Control Orange County Mosquito & Vector Control 

District 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.danapoint.org/


   
 

 
 

23 

Demographics Summary 
 

 
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 



   
 

 
 

24 



   
 

 
 

25 

 

City of Laguna Beach  
Incorporated June 29, 1927 

 
Agency Information 

Address 505 Forest Ave, Laguna Beach, CA 92651 
Primary Contact Shohreh Dupuis, City Manager 
Contact Information (949) 497-0704 
Website www.lagunabeachcity.net  
Governance 5 Council Members, Elected At-Large 
Total City Staff 290.68 FTE 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 8.84 
Population  22,706 
Unincorporated Population of SOI N/A 

 
Service Summary 

Service or Department Provider 
Law Enforcement Laguna Beach  
Fire Protection/Emergency Medical  Laguna Beach  
Building/Planning Laguna Beach  
Housing Laguna Beach 
Code Enforcement Laguna Beach  
Animal Control Laguna Beach  
Parks and Recreation Laguna Beach  
Library County of Orange 
Museum Laguna Art Museum 
Landscape Maintenance Laguna Beach  
Lighting Laguna Beach, SCE, SDG&E  
Streets/Road Maintenance Laguna Beach  
Electricity/Gas SCE/SDG&E/SoCal Gas 
Solid Waste Waste Management 
Stormwater Protection N/A 
Water Laguna Beach County Water District, South 

Coast Water District 
Wastewater  Laguna Beach, SOCWA, SCWD 
Wholesale Water Municipal Water District of Orange County 
Cemetery Orange County Cemetery District 
Vector Control Orange County Mosquito & Vector Control 

District 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.lagunabeachcity.net/


   
 

 
 

26 

Demographics Summary 
 

  
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 

 



   
 

 
 

27 

 



   
 

 
 

28 

City of Laguna Hills  
Incorporated December 20, 1991 

 
Agency Information 

Address 24035 El Toro Rd, Laguna Hills, CA 92653 
Primary Contact Jarad Hildenbrand, City Manager 
Contact Information 949-707-2620 
Website www.ci.laguna-hills.ca.us  
Governance 5 Council Members, Elected At-Large 
Total City Staff 25 Full Time, 2.75 Part Time 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 6.65 
Population  30,750 
Unincorporated Population of SOI N/A 

 
Service Summary 

Service or Department Provider 
Law Enforcement OCSD 
Fire Protection/Emergency Medical  OCFA 
Building/Planning Laguna Hills  
Housing Laguna Hills 
Code Enforcement Laguna Hills 
Animal Control Laguna Hills (contractual agreement with 

Mission Viejo)  
Parks and Recreation Laguna Hills  
Library County of Orange 
Museum N/A 
Landscape Maintenance Laguna Hills  
Lighting Laguna Hills  
Streets/Road Maintenance Laguna Hills  
Electricity/Gas SCE/SoCal Gas 
Solid Waste CR&R 
Stormwater Protection Laguna Hills  
Water Moulton Niguel Water District, El Toro Water 

District 
Wastewater  Moulton Niguel Water District, El Toro Water 

District, SOCWA 
Wholesale Water Municipal Water District of Orange County 
Cemetery Orange County Cemetery District 
Vector Control Orange County Mosquito & Vector Control 

District 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ci.laguna-hills.ca.us/


   
 

 
 

29 

Demographics Summary 
 

 
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 



   
 

 
 

30 



   
 

 
 

31 

 

City of Laguna Niguel  
Incorporated December 1, 1989 

 
Agency Information 

Address 30111 Crown Valley Pkwy, Laguna Niguel, 
CA 92677 

Primary Contact Tamara Letourneau, City Manager 
Contact Information 949-362-4300 
Website www.cityoflagunaniguel.org  
Governance 5 Council Members, Elected At-Large 
Total City Staff 64 FTE 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 14.79 
Population  64,316 
Unincorporated Population of SOI N/A 

 
Service Summary 

Service or Department Provider 
Law Enforcement OCSD 
Fire Protection/Emergency Medical  OCFA 
Building/Planning Laguna Niguel  
Housing Laguna Niguel  
Code Enforcement Laguna Niguel  
Animal Control Laguna Niguel (contractual agreement with 

Mission Viejo) 
Parks and Recreation Laguna Niguel 
Library Laguna Niguel  
Museum County of Orange 
Landscape Maintenance Laguna Niguel 
Lighting Laguna Niguel  
Streets/Road Maintenance Laguna Niguel  
Electricity/Gas SDG&E, SCE, SoCal Gas 
Solid Waste CR&R 
Stormwater Protection Laguna Niguel 
Water Moulton Niguel Water District 
Wastewater  Moulton Niguel Water District, SOCWA 
Wholesale Water Municipal Water District of Orange County 
Cemetery Orange County Cemetery District 
Vector Control Orange County Mosquito & Vector Control 

District 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.cityoflagunaniguel.org/


   
 

 
 

32 

 
Demographics Summary 
 

  
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 

 



   
 

 
 

33 

 



   
 

 
 

34 

City of Laguna Woods  
Incorporated March 24, 1999 

 
Agency Information 

Address 24264 El Toro Rd, Laguna Woods, CA 92637 
Primary Contact Christopher Macon, City Manager 
Contact Information 949-639-0525 
Website www.cityoflagunawoods.org  
Governance 5 Council Members, Elected At-Large 
Total City Staff 10.25 FTE 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 3.31 
Population 17,514 
Unincorporated Population of SOI N/A 

 
Service Summary 

Service or Department Provider 
Law Enforcement OCSD 
Fire Protection/Emergency Medical  OCFA 
Building/Planning Laguna Woods, (contractual agreement with 

Bureau Veritas North America) 
Housing Laguna Woods 
Code Enforcement Laguna Woods, (contractual agreement with 

Willdan Engineering) 
Animal Control Laguna Woods (contractual agreement 

Laguna Beach) 
Parks and Recreation Laguna Woods  
Library County of Orange 
Museum N/A 
Landscape Maintenance Laguna Woods, (contractual agreement with 

BrightView Landscape Services (HOA)) 
Lighting Laguna Woods, (contractual agreement with 

Siemens Mobility) 
Streets/Road Maintenance Laguna Woods  
Electricity/Gas SCE/SoCal Gas 
Solid Waste CR&R 
Stormwater Protection Laguna Woods  
Water El Toro Water District 
Wastewater  El Toro Water District, SOCWA 
Wholesale Water Municipal Water District of Orange County 
Cemetery Orange County Cemetery District 
Vector Control Orange County Mosquito & Vector Control 

District 
 
 
 
 

http://www.cityoflagunawoods.org/


   
 

 
 

35 

 
 
 
Demographics Summary 
 

  
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 



   
 

 
 

36 



   
 

 
 

37 

 

El Toro Water District 
Incorporated in 1960 

 
District Information 

Address 24251 Los Alisos Blvd, Lake Forest, CA 
92630 

Primary Contact Dennis Cafferty, General Manager 
Contact Information dcafferty@etwd.com  
Website www.etwd.com 
Governance 5 Board Members, Elected At-Large  
District Type Independent Special District 
Total Agency Staff 60 Full Time, 2 Part Time 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 8.24 
Communities Served  City of Laguna Woods, and portions of the 

Cities of Aliso Viejo, Lake Forest, Laguna 
Hills, and Mission Viejo  

Population Served  53,062 
Municipal Water Connections 9,536 

 
Services Provided 

• Potable water for various customer uses with approximately 287 million gallons of 
reservoir space. 

• Sanitation/Wastewater services with 158 miles of sewer lines. 
• Recycled water services with 24.9 miles of dedicated pipelines. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:dcafferty@etwd.com
http://www.etwd.com/


   
 

 
 

38 

 
Demographics Summary 
 

  
 

Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 



   
 

 
 

39 



   
 

 
 

40 

 

Laguna Beach County Water District 
Incorporated in 1925 

Became Subsidiary of City on November 1, 2000 
District Information 

Address 306 3rd St, Laguna Beach, CA 92651 
Primary Contact Keith Van Der Maaten, General Manager 
Contact Information 949-494-1041 
Website www.lbcwd.org 
Governance 5 City Council Members ; 5 Water 

Commissioners appointed by City Council 
District Type Dependent Special District  

(Subsidiary of the City of Laguna Beach) 
Total Agency Staff 39 FTE 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 8.5 
Communities Served  City of Laguna Beach and Unincorporated 

Community of Emerald Bay 
Population Served  18,257 
Municipal Water Connections 8,703 

 
Services Provided 

• Provides water for various customer uses through 21 water storage reservoirs, a 
capacity of 33.5 million gallons. 

• Potable water provided to customers. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.lbcwd.org/


   
 

 
 

41 

Demographics Summary 
 

  
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 

 
 



   
 

 
 

42 

 



   
 

 
 

43 

Moulton Niguel Water District 
Incorporated in 1960 

 
District Information 

Address 26161 Gordon Rd, Laguna Hills, CA 92653 
Primary Contact Joone Lopez, General Manager 
Contact Information 949-831-2500 
Website www.mnwd.com  
Governance 7 Board Members, Elected At-Large 
District Type Independent Special District 
Total Agency Staff 180 FTE 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 36.83 
Communities Served  Cities of Aliso Viejo and Laguna Niguel, and 

portions of Laguna Hills, Mission Viejo, Dana 
Point, and San Juan Capistrano 

Population Served  170,167 
Municipal Water Connections 55,013 

 
Services Provided 

• Potable water, wastewater, and recycled water services are provided to customers. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.mnwd.com/


   
 

 
 

44 

Demographics Summary 
 

  
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 

 
 



   
 

 
 

45 

 



   
 

 
 

46 

South Coast Water District 
Incorporated in 1932 

 
District Information 

Address 31592 West St, Laguna Beach, CA 92651 
Primary Contact Jody Brennan, Clerk of the Board 
Contact Information 949-499-4555 
Website www.scwd.org  
Governance 5 Board Members, Elected by District 
District Type Independent Special District 
Total Agency Staff 95 FTE 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 8.99 
Communities Served  South Laguna Beach, portions of San 

Clemente and San Juan Capistrano, City of 
Dana Point 

Population Served  33,897 
Municipal Water Connections 12,562 

 
Services Provided 

• Potable water, wastewater, and recycled water services are provided to customers. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.scwd.org/


   
 

 
 

47 

Demographics Summary 
 

  
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 
 

  
 



   
 

 
 

48 



   
 

 
 

49 

 

Capistrano Bay Community Services District 
Incorporated in 1959 

 
District Information 

Address 35000 Beach Rd, Capistrano Beach, CA 
92624 

Primary Contact Donal Russell, General Manager 
Contact Information 949-496-6576 
Website www.capobay.org  
Governance 5 Board Members, Elected At-Large 
District Type Independent Special District 
Total Agency Staff 2 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 0.06 
Communities Served  Portion of City of Dana Point 
Population Served  145 

 
Services Provided 

• Provides Security, Streets/Roads Maintenance, Street Lighting, and Trash/Solid 
Waste Pickup services to residents. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.capobay.org/


   
 

 
 

50 

Demographics Summary 
 

  
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 

 

 
 



   
 

 
 

51 



   
 

 
 

52 

 

Emerald Bay Service District 
Incorporated in 1961 

 
District Information 

Address 600 Emerald Bay Laguna Beach, California 
92651 

Primary Contact Michael Dunbar, General Manager 
Contact Information 949-494-8572 
Website www.emeraldbayservicedistrict.org  
Governance 5 Board Members, Elected At-Large 
District Type Independent Special District 
Total Agency Staff 1 FTE 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 0.23 
Communities Served  Unincorporated Area of Emerald Bay  
Population Served  2,000 

 
Services Provided 

• Provides Parks and Recreation, Security Services, Streets & Roads Maintenance, 
Water, Wastewater, Solid Waste, and Fire Protection to residents. 

• Provides retail water service through contract with Laguna Beach County Water 
District. 

 
*For special events the District contracts with OC Sheriff to provide law enforcement; routine 
law enforcement is provided through County jurisdiction of unincorporated areas with the 
OC Sheriff as the District does not have full law enforcement authority.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.emeraldbayservicedistrict.org/


   
 

 
 

53 

 
Demographics Summary 
 

   
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 

 

   
 
 



   
 

 
 

54 



   
 

 
 

55 

 

Three Arch Bay Community Services District 
Incorporated in 1957 

 
District Information 

Address 5 Bay Drive, Laguna Beach, CA 
Primary Contact Jeremy Pipp, General Manager 
Contact Information 949-499-4567 
Website www.threearchbaycsd.org  
Governance 5 Board Members, Elected At-Large 
District Type Independent Special District 
Total Agency Staff 0 (No in-house Employment; District has 

Professional Services Agreement with Three 
Arch Bay Association) 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 0.23 
Communities Served  Portion of City of Laguna Beach 
Population Served  1,004 

 
Services Provided 

• Provides Security and Stormwater Protection services to residents. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.threearchbaycsd.org/


   
 

 
 

56 

Demographics Summary 
 

   
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 

 

 
 



   
 

 
 

57 

 



   
 

 
 

58 

South Orange County Wastewater Authority 
Founded in 2001 

 
District Information 

Address 34156 Del Obispo St, Dana Point, CA 92629 
Primary Contact Danita Hirsh, Executive Assistant to General 

Manager 
Contact Information 949-234-5452 
Website www.socwa.com  
Governance Joint Powers Authority comprised of 7 

Member Agencies 
Total Agency Staff 62 FTE 

 
Service Area Information 

Incorporated Area (Sq. Mi.) 221 
Communities Served  Cities of Aliso Viejo, Dana Point, Laguna 

Beach, Laguna Hills, Laguna Niguel, Laguna 
Woods, Lake Forest, Mission Viejo, Rancho 
Santa Margarita, San Juan Capistrano, San 
Clemente, and unincorporated communities. 

Member Agencies Emerald Bay CSD, ETWD, City of Laguna 
Beach, MNWD, City of San Clemente, Santa 
Margarita Water District, and SCWD 

Population Served  593,660 
 

Services Provided 
• Provides a variety of wastewater support services to member agencies including 

recycled water and National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permits. 
• Operates three wastewater treatment plants and two ocean outfalls within the 

Southwest and Southeast MSR Regions of Orange County. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.socwa.com/


   
 

 
 

59 

Demographics Summary 
 

  
 
Cash Flow FY 18-19 to FY 20-21 

 

 



   
 

 
 

60 



   
 

 
 

61 

IV. GROWTH AND POPULATION PROJECTIONS 
 

 
The Southwest Region covers an incorporated population of about 219,000 people spread across 
the six cities of Aliso Viejo, Dana Point, Laguna Beach, Laguna Hills, Laguna Niguel, and Laguna 
Woods. The seven special districts in the region provide services to about 278,000 people. These 
population totals are different because district boundaries extend beyond the Southwest cities’ 
boundaries to include residents in the cities of Lake Forest, Mission Viejo, San Clemente, and 
San Juan Capistrano, all of which are not in this MSR. SOCWA, a Joint Powers Authority with 
cities and districts as member agencies, has an approximate service population of 594,000 since 
it extends well beyond the Southwest Region.  
 
Collectively, the cities in the Southwest Region are expected to increase slightly in population by 
2027. In contrast, the special districts are projected to decline over the same period. Cities are 
projected to increase by 0.7%, while special districts and SOCWA are both expected to decline 
by 0.7% respectively.  
 
As is the larger trend across the County and State of California, development of new housing 
units has slowed in recent years. Using estimates from DOF, Southwest Region cities developed 
approximately 5,100 new units, an increase of 5.3%, from 2010 to 2022. However, projections for 
the subsequent five years, from 2022 to 2027, show housing growth shrinks to an increase of just 
0.1%. Table 3 shows both population and housing trends for the Southwest region. 
 
Table 3: Regional Population and Housing Trends 
  

 
 
Individually, some agencies’ populations are projected to decline while others increase:  

• Aliso Viejo, Dana Point, Laguna Hills, Laguna Woods, and South Coast Water District are 
all projected to increase residents by 2027.  

Pursuant to Government Code Section 56430, MSRs make determinations on seven (7) 
required topics, including: 

1. Growth and population projections for the affected area.  



   
 

 
 

62 

• If projections hold, Dana Point would lead with population growth increasing by 3.19%, or 
about 1,000 people.  

• The Capistrano Bay CSD is expected to see the largest percentage decline at -2.76%. 
• SOCWA, as a JPA made up of multiple member agencies (some of which are not under 

review in this MSR), is projected to see the largest gross decline in residents with a drop 
of about 4,400. 

 
Table 4 lists the agencies past and projected growth, sorted in order of their projected 2022 to 
2027 growth.  
 
Table 4: Agency Individual Population Growth 
 

  
 
Housing unit growth on a per agency basis follows a similar pattern as population. A majority of 
the agencies are projected to grow their housing stock by less than 1% by 2027.  

• The largest percentage increase is again expected in Dana Point with an increase of 
2.47%.  

• Aliso Viejo, Laguna Niguel, and Laguna Beach are the only agencies with projected 
declines in their housing unit totals.  

• SOCWA is expected to see the largest gross increase in housing units with about 1,400 
projected to be added by 2027.  

 
All agencies are listed by order of their 2022 to 2027 projected growth in Table 5. Past growth 
from 2010 to 2022 is also shown. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   
 

 
 

63 

 
Table 5: Agency Individual Housing Unit Growth 
 

  
 

V. PRESENT AND PLANNED LAND USES 
 

 
The agencies of the Southwest Region are largely built out with very little remaining land available 
or designated to allow for development, and that is not otherwise zoned for open space. The vast 
majority of agencies’ land is zoned for residential uses with pockets of commercial and industrial. 
Since they are mostly built out, the cities are planning for infill growth, minimally supplemented by 
acquisition and rezoning of incremental amounts of land. There are no significant agriculture uses 
in the Southwest Region. 
 
Following are individual agency notes on development and land use:  

• The City of Laguna Woods explicitly mentioned rezoning as part of their plan to comply 
with state housing laws.  

• The City of Aliso Viejo is in the process of reviewing various economic development 
projects, one of which could develop a significant town center for the city.  

• The City of Laguna Niguel is considering the rezoning and repurpose of a one million 
square foot federal building, potentially for new housing development.  

 
Overall, options for changing current land uses for new development are limited and some 
agencies, such as the City of Laguna Beach, noted a lack of capacity for additional growth with 
the current infrastructure. 

Per Government Code Section 56425, a LAFCO shall consider and prepare a written 
statement of its SOI determinations on five (5) factors, including: 

1. the present and planned land use in the area, including agricultural and open 
space lands. 



   
 

 
 

64 

 

VI. LOCATION AND CHARACTERISTICS OF ANY DUCS 
 

 
The Southwest Region does not presently contain any OC LAFCO-designated Disadvantaged 
Unincorporated Communities (DUCs). Due to the lack of inhabited unincorporated space in the 
region, no DUCs are expected to be designated in the near future. 

VII. CAPACITY OF FACILITIES AND ADEQUACY OF SERVICES 
 

 
REGIONAL OVERVIEW 
 
Overall, agencies in the Southwest Region are providing adequate services to their residents and 
customers. Agencies reported no complaints from residents and customers and all agencies 
expressed confidence that they have the resources to maintain the current levels of service. This 
section of the report discusses the major public services provided by the agencies in the 
Southwest Region and their capacity to deliver those services with the existing staff and public 
facilities. Many of the special districts in the Southwest Region are water districts, so a majority 
of the typical city services discussed in this section are not applicable to those agencies. 
 
 
 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 56430, MSRs make determinations on seven (7) 
required topics, including: 

2. Location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities 
within or contiguous to the sphere of influence(s); 

 
Per Government Code Section 56425, a LAFCO shall consider and prepare a written 
statement of its SOI determinations on five (5) factors, including: 

4. the existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area. 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 56430, MSRs make determinations on seven (7) 
required topics, including: 

3. Present and planned capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services, 
adequacy of public services, infrastructure needs, or deficiencies related to 
sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire protection in any 
disadvantaged, unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of 
influence. 

 
Per Government Code Section 56425, a LAFCO shall consider and prepare a written 
statement of its SOI determinations on five (5) factors, including: 

2. the present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area; 
3. the present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the 

agency provides or is authorized to provide; and 
5. the present and probable need for those public facilities and services of any 

disadvantaged unincorporated communities within the existing sphere of 
influence. 



   
 

 
 

65 

LAW ENFORCEMENT AND SECURITY SERVICES 
 
Law enforcement and/or police protection is provided by the Orange County Sheriff’s Department 
(“OCSD”) for five cities (all but one) and the unincorporated areas in the Southwest Region. In 
contrast, the City of Laguna Beach provides this service through its own Police Department.  
 
Under State law, CSDs are permitted to administer and provide law enforcement as well as 
security services that otherwise are not being provided in their jurisdictions. Security services are 
defined in CSD law, or Government Code§ 61100(j), as any service, including burglar protections 
and fire alarms, with the goal of protecting lives and property. The three CSDs in the Southwest 
Region are all authorized to provide security services to their districts. Capistrano Bay and Three 
Arch Bay CSDs both contract for security services to private security vendors. Neither district is 
currently providing law enforcement to their jurisdiction, nor are they authorized. Emerald Bay 
CSD is authorized to provide their district with law enforcement services for private events. They 
currently contract with OCSD for their annual July 4th fireworks presentation but also for some 
other community events. Additionally, Emerald Bay covers a portion of the costs to fund 24/7 
private internal security services, while the rest of the costs are covered by the Emerald Bay 
Community Association. 
 
The agencies reported no issues or concerns relating to the quality or adequacy of OCSD services 
in the Region. However, the rising cost of OCSD services were cited as a concern by the cities of 
Laguna Woods and Aliso Viejo. Among their cost concerns was the absence of more efficient 
regionalization of patrol and administrative functions. For more on this issue see Section VIII – 
Opportunities for Shared Services. 
 
FIRE PROTECTION AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL 
 
Fire protection is almost universally provided to the agencies of the Southwest Region by the 
Orange County Fire Authority (“OCFA”). The City of Laguna Beach remains the exception, 
providing fire protection services from their own fire department. OCFA formed originally as a 
department of the County government in 1980. The department was governed by the County 
Board of Supervisors at that time. However, as the County expanded and more cities 
incorporated, particularly those in South Orange County, local residents and governments 
requested more input in how the department was run. Initially the plan was for the department to 
become a fire district, but after several years of discussion the agencies agreed to structure OCFA 
as a Joint Powers Authority in 1995. OCFA has since expanded to include 23 cities, 77 fire 
stations, and 2 million residents served. 
 
The cities who receive OCFA fire protection are either members of the JPA or contract directly 
with the Authority. The community of Emerald Bay CSD also receives OCFA services for fire 
protection. However, as they do not have active statutory power to provide this service, it is 
provided through the County. Emerald Bay does provide additional services to enhance the 
community’s fire security, including, but not limited to, the land and building structure for Fire 
Station 11, which serves the community, maintenance, repair and replacement of fire hydrants, 
perimeter defensible space, and emergency preparedness committee support. 
 
Agencies reported no complaints regarding fire services in their jurisdictions, nor any concerns 
about adequacy of service or capacity. 
 
 



   
 

 
 

66 

WATER SERVICES 
 
Retail water services in the Southwest Region are provided by four of the special districts under 
review in this MSR:  

• El Toro Water District (“ETWD”), 
• Emerald Bay Service District (“Emerald Bay”) – through an out-of-area service agreement 

with LBCWD,  
• Laguna Beach County Water District (“LBCWD”),  
• Moulton Niguel Water District (“MNWD”), and  
• South Coast Water District (“SCWD”).  

 
There is a wide range of eligible government entities in California that can provide water services 
to residents in the state. Cities, water districts, and CSDs all can exercise their legal authority to 
govern this service area. They can also relinquish this power to another district or simply contract 
with them instead. All water districts in the Southwest Region were formed before the 
incorporation of the cities where they provide service. The oldest district is LBCWD at 97 years 
old. As a result, none of the cities reviewed in this MSR currently exercise their power to contract 
or provide water service. 
 
There were no complaints or issues reported by the districts relating to service delivery or 
capacity. The age of the water infrastructure in each agency varied but was generally within the 
range of 30 to 50 years old, with the exception of some parts of Laguna Beach. All water districts 
indicated they had adequate capacity to handle growth with no reported deficiencies. The 
agencies confirmed they have sufficient planning and infrastructure to address any future 
maintenance and replacement needs. 
 
Service delivery provided by districts generally follows city boundaries. However, the southern 
area of Laguna Beach, which was annexed into the City in 1987, was not annexed into LBCWD 
or any other water district. Because the community was already receiving its water service from 
SCWD, the residents supported continued provision of the service by SCWD through an 
agreement with the City. However, since the area is not within the SCWD district boundary, 
residents may not participate in the election process for the District’s board members. The service 
agreement attempts to provide southern Laguna Beach residents with some representation 
through an advisory committee staffed by several residents from South Laguna Beach and 
several elected officials from both the City of Laguna Beach and SCWD.  The advisory committee 
meets quarterly to discuss water and sewer related projects, programs, and topics of interest. The 
chair of the committee then provides an end-of-month report to the Laguna Beach City Council 
reporting on SCWD matters within the Laguna Beach boundaries.  
  
Through RSG’s interviews with staff of LBCWD, SCWD, and the City of Laguna Beach, various 
perspectives were provided about the current arrangement. LBCWD did not indicate awareness 
of any discussions regarding potential annexation to their District, but staff noted they could 
provide water services to the area if so desired. SCWD expressed both their own satisfaction and 
the residents’ positive reviews of the services they provide. According to SCWD, residents of 
South Laguna Beach have also expressed interest in being annexed to the District. SCWD has 
also indicated its support and interest in inclusion of the area in the SCWD’s SOI and annexation. 
The staff of the City of Laguna Beach indicated that an SOI adjustment could be initiated with OC 
LAFCO, adding it to the SCWD SOI for a later annexation into that water district. However, OC 
LAFCO staff recommends the processing of both actions simultaneously for consideration by the 



   
 

 
 

67 

Commission.  More on this is discussed in Section IX – Accountability, Government Structure, 
and Operational Efficiencies. 
 
Wholesale water service within the Southwest Region is provide by the Municipal Water District 
of Orange County ("MWDOC"). MWDOC was formed in 1951 to import wholesale water from the 
Metropolitan Water District of Southern California.  Governed by a seven-member board, the 
district’s countywide service area includes fourteen cities, thirteen special districts and one private 
water agency.  In addition to wholesale water services, MWDOC also provides other water 
resources and programs within the Southwest Region that includes planning efforts in water 
supply development, water use efficiency, and water education and emergency preparedness. 
 
 
WASTEWATER SERVICES 
 
Wastewater and sewer services are provided to Southwest Region agencies by three (3) of the 
water districts operating in the area:  ETWD, MNWD, and SCWD. Additionally, Emerald Bay CSD 
and the City of Laguna Beach both retain the power to provide wastewater services to their 
respective jurisdictions. A Laguna Beach Councilmember has discussed with the Laguna Beach 
City Council the potential of transferring wastewater services from the City of Laguna Beach to 
LBCWD in order to make the district an independent agency again, but this has not moved beyond 
conceptual discussion. Regardless, such a transfer of powers would need to be studied in detail, 
including operational and fiscal assessments, and an application filed with OC LAFCO to facilitate 
the proceedings for the formation of an independent special district and the analysis of and 
analysis of any service and governance changes.  
 
All agencies in the Southwest Region receive wastewater services in some capacity from 
SOCWA. Services provided by SOCWA generally fit into two areas: 

1. Permitting and regulatory support for the operation of all wastewater treatment plants in 
South Orange County. 

2. Operation of three wastewater treatment plants. 

SOCWA’s JPA agreement previously included ten (10) agencies but has recently been reduced 
to seven (7) voting member agencies including five (5) Southwest Region entities: ETWD, MNWD,  
SCWD, Emerald Bay CSD, and the City of Laguna Beach. The two (2) agencies that are not in 
the Southwest Region and were not reviewed as part of this MSR are the Santa Margarita Water 
District (“SMWD”) and the City of San Clemente. As of July 1, 2023, these three (3) agencies are 
no longer members of SOCWA: the Irvine Ranch Water District (“IRWD”), Trabuco Canyon Water 
District (“TCWD”), and the City of San Juan Capistrano. San Juan Capistrano wastewater 
services and infrastructure were assumed by SMWD through an annexation to the district in 2018. 
 
Wastewater services that have been provided by SOCWA and its predecessors in the Southwest 
Region were facilitated through JPA agreements. Most of these agreements were initiated in the 
1970s following the adoption of the Federal Clean Water Act to obtain grant funding through the 
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) to construct treatment plants and other infrastructure. 
The JPA agreements were under three entities, the Aliso Water Management Authority (“AWMA”), 
the Southeast Regional Reclamation Authority (“SERRA”) and the South Orange County 
Reclamation Authority (“SOCRA”). Since that time, the agencies recognized there would be a 
benefit to the consolidation of these separate JPAs into what is now known as SOCWA. 
 



   
 

 
 

68 

The regional SOCWA approach to wastewater management has not gone without critiques from 
some member agencies, particularly the larger districts. MNWD has been one of the leading 
voices for a reexamination of the agreements that govern the management of SOCWA facilities 
as well as the overall purpose and structure of SOCWA itself. Outside of the Southwest Region 
agencies, SMWD has also requested a review and potential changes to the arrangement. MNWD 
staff has stressed, in their view, that SOCWA as currently structured is not ideally situated to meet 
the changing wastewater treatment environment. Among their concerns is that SOCWA lacks the 
direct ability to develop certain water reuse projects, implement capital financing, and interface 
with customers. SOCWA staff is aware of the evolving issues and has hired a facilitator, at the 
request of SCWD, to move this discussion into a more productive forum. Additionally, SOCWA 
staff noted that the agencies have full authority to make any changes they desire to the JPA 
agreement, provided they get the appropriate majority. Separately, MNWD has partnered with 
SCWD and SMWD to host regular meetings on the subject, particularly on which agencies are 
best suited to manage certain treatment plants. SCWD has expressed their support of the current 
SOCWA structure, as well as the facilitated discussion currently in progress to identify potential 
improvements and efficiencies to the existing structure. Notably, the other agencies reviewed in 
this MSR did not express similar interest in a reexamination of the SOCWA arrangements, nor 
did they share any complaints or concerns about SOCWA’s service level. More on this is 
discussed in Section IX – Accountability, Government Structure, and Operational Efficiencies. 
 
SOLID WASTE SERVICES 
 
Solid waste pickup in the Southwest Region is provided by CR&R, Capistrano Bay CSD, and 
Waste Management. Five (5) jurisdictions receive solid waste pick up from CR&R, while Laguna 
Beach and the community within Emerald Bay CSD receive pick up from Waste Management. 
Agencies reported no complaints or issues with solid waste services. 
 
STORMWATER SERVICES 
 
Stormwater services are provided by the respective Public Works or Planning and Environmental 
Services departments. Additionally, only one CSD, Three Arch Bay, provides this service. 
Capistrano Bay CSD is currently seeking to activate the latent power allowing them to provide 
stormwater protection within their jurisdiction and has filed an application with OC LAFCO to 
proceed. Citing rising sea levels and tides, the Capistrano Bay CSD believes it needs the ability 
to manage stormwater impacts to help protect homes within their service area.  
 
Three Arch Bay CSD indicated that their stormwater infrastructure is at or near capacity with an 
average age of around 75 years old. Their system was designed for a far less developed area 
with more open space. After becoming built out over the last several decades, more runoff is 
produced than the infrastructure can handle. To address this, Three Arch Bay CSD has begun a 
master plan update that will assess the needs for enhancement or replacement, and what funding 
options are available. The agency indicated that more details would become available once the 
master plan was complete.  
 
The remaining agencies in the Southwest Region reported no complaints or issues with 
stormwater services.   
 
OTHER PUBLIC WORKS (ELECTRIC, LIGHTING, UTILITIES, STREETS/ROAD 
MAINTENANCE) 
 



   
 

 
 

69 

Lighting services in the Southwest Region are provided by each City’s Public Works department 
and the Capistrano Bay CSD, either through contract or in-house staff. The City of Laguna Beach 
provides this service through a partnership with Southern California Edison (“SCE”) and San 
Diego Gas and Electric (“SDG&E”) as well as their own Public Works department. The cities of 
Laguna Niguel and Laguna Hills provide the service in-house. Some residential streetlights in 
Laguna Woods are owned and maintained by the city. In all other cases, lighting is managed by 
the utilities.  
 
Electricity and gas services are generally provided to the agencies of the Southwest Region 
directly from SCE, SDG&E, and Southern California Gas (“SoCal Gas”). 
 
Street and road maintenance services are provided or managed by the Public Works departments 
of each city or agency, or through the community or homeowner’s association (“HOA”). Emerald 
Bay and Capistrano Bay CSDs both are authorized and actively provide this service. In Emerald 
Bay the CSD maintains curbs and gutters as well as provides street sweeping services, while the 
Emerald Bay Community Association, which functions as the HOA for the area, provides direct 
street and road maintenance. 
 
Agencies reported no complaints or issues with any of the services covered in this section. 
 
PARKS, RECREATION AND OPEN SPACE 
 
Parks and recreation services in the agencies of the Southwest Region are provided by either a 
CSD or City department. Among CSDs, only Emerald Bay CSD has the active power to provide 
parks and recreation services to their residents. Capistrano Bay residents receive this service 
from the City of Dana Point, while Three Arch Bay residents receive this service from the Three 
Arch Bay Association. No issues were reported by any Southwest Region agency. The Region 
does not contain any Recreation and Parks Districts or other regional cooperatives, but it does 
possess two regional wilderness parks that border several of the cities in the Southwest area: the 
Laguna Canyon Wilderness Park, and the Aliso and Woods Canyon Wilderness Park. Both parks 
are unincorporated and managed by CSA 26. The parks also receive OCFA protection. In addition 
to the regional parks, each agency possesses a variety of recreation and park facilities within their 
respective jurisdictions. 
 
LIBRARY SERVICES 
 
Library services in the Southwest Region are provided to each City and the adjacent 
unincorporated areas by the Orange County Public Library (OCPL) System. No complaints or 
issues were reported by the agencies relating to library services. 
 
ANIMAL CONTROL 
 
Animal control services in the Southwest Region are provided by three entities: the City of Mission 
Viejo Department of Animal Services, the City of Laguna Beach Animal Services Division, and 
the Coastal Animal Services Authority (“CASA”). Mission Viejo provides animal control services 
to the Cities of Aliso Viejo, Laguna Hills, and Laguna Niguel through a contractual agreement. A 
similar arrangement is in place whereby the City of Laguna Beach provides this service to Laguna 
Woods. The CASA is a JPA inclusive of the cities of San Clemente and Dana Point. One council 
member from each city sits on the board. Animal control services are provided to both cities 



   
 

 
 

70 

through this JPA. No complaints or concerns were provided by the agencies regarding animal 
control services. 
 
CODE ENFORCEMENT 
 
Code enforcement services are provided by the cities and the County in the Southwest Region. 
Each city enforces municipal and building codes through their Community Development or Code 
Enforcement departments or divisions, either through contract or in-house staff. Emerald Bay 
receives code enforcement services from the County of Orange Public Works Neighborhood 
Preservation Department as part of their unincorporated area services. Southwest Region 
agencies reported no complaints or issues regarding the quality or adequacy of code 
enforcement. 

VIII. FINANCIAL ABILITY TO PROVIDE SERVICES 
 

 
The development of the fiscal indicators web-based program (formerly fiscal trends) began in 
2008. The intent of the program began with the opportunity to generally compare the performance 
of Orange County local agencies, and ultimately became a resource for the Commission in the 
preparation of MSRs through the housing of accurate and meaningful data.  Since that time, the 
web-program has experienced functional improvements and structure enhancements that assist 
in evaluating the efficiency and effectiveness of municipal service delivery in Orange County. 
More recently, the fiscal indicators have been simplified while maintaining the goal of its 
effectiveness as one of OC LAFCO’s livable and ongoing resources.     
 
The Southwest MSR process included the gathering of data needed for the fiscal indicators and 
was discussed with the agencies of the Southwest region. More details on each of the indicators 
is provided in the next section of the report as well as the performance of each agency relative to 
the indicators. 
 
OC LAFCO FISCAL INDICATORS 
 
Fiscal indicators help measure and describe prospects for fiscal health. Indicators can flag trends 
that warrant further evaluation and planning to avoid potential service reductions and declining 
reserves. The OC LAFCO fiscal indicators are based on the State of California Auditor’s indicators 
of cities’ fiscal risk.1 Multi-year trends in growth (or decline) of agency operating revenues and 
expenditures, and levels of reserves, are adapted and applied to agencies in Orange County.  
Agency annual financial reports provide the source data for three key indicators used by OC 
LAFCO and further described below: 
 
• Annual Change in Revenues compares revenue growth to long-term inflation (historically 

about 2-3%) – Low revenue growth below inflation indicates a potential long-term problem 

 
1 See the California Auditor’s “Local Government High Risk Dashboard” 
https://www.auditor.ca.gov/local_high_risk/data_download 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 56430, MSRs make determinations on seven (7) 
required topics, including: 

4. Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

https://www.auditor.ca.gov/local_high_risk/data_download


   
 

 
 

71 

keeping pace with inflationary cost increases.  Declining revenues can be a symptom of the 
pandemic and/or weakening economic conditions. 

 
• Annual Change in Expenditures compares expenditure growth to long-term inflation. 

Expenditure growth consistently above inflation and/or above revenue growth indicates a 
potential structural imbalance and potential future revenue shortfalls.  Excessive expenditures 
could require reserve drawdowns and service reductions. 

 
• Adequate Operating Reserves are essential to manage cash flow during the year, handle 

contingencies and emergencies, provide a "rainy day" account for future economic downturns, 
and assure funding for asset repair/replacement and expansion of facilities and infrastructure.  
Operating reserves typically provide at least two months of operating funds (i.e., 16.7% of 
annual expenditures).  If financial reports do not document specific reserve accounts, other 
metrics include unallocated fund balances or unrestricted net position as reported by agency 
audits. "Cash" does not always indicate unencumbered funds available for cash flow and 
contingencies.  Additional reserves are usually required for capital improvements, pensions,  
and other uses. 

 
The fiscal indicators are intended to provide an initial review of annually reported financial data. 
Further in-depth analysis may be indicated to better understand the cause of financial trends and 
potential remedies. For example, additional research could clarify whether declining expenditures 
positively reflect prudent management or are the result of weak revenues. Other factors that could 
influence indicators include the impacts of the pandemic; the economic climate; State and Federal 
regulatory changes; infrastructure needs and improvements; changes in service levels and 
contracts; unfunded OPEB and pension obligations; development, population growth, and 
increased need for services. 
 
FISCAL INDICATORS FOR SOUTHWEST REGION 
 
The financial capacity of each agency in the Southwest Region is generally adequate for providing 
services at the current levels. This MSR relies on data from the concurrent Fiscal Indicators 
project conducted by Berkson & Associates on behalf of OC LAFCO, which assesses the short-
term financial trends of the Southwest Region agencies. Table 6 provides a summary of trends 
reported by the Fiscal Indicators. Three variables (revenues, expenditures, and reserves) are 
measured for each Southwest Region agency over four fiscal years (FY 17-18 to FY 20-21). The 
variables are then ranked on a scale from “high” to “declining”. For revenues and reserves, the 
“high” designation indicates the most positive outcome, while “declining” represents the lowest. 
The inverse applies for expenditures with “high” indicating the most negative outcome and 
“declining” indicating the most positive one. In addition, the California Auditor’s “fiscal condition 
rank” is shown for each city2. Cities ranked higher numerically are considered lower risk by the 
Auditor, with cities ranked in the 400s being the most financially sound. Most agencies in the 
Southwest possess high reserve amounts, moderate expenditure growth, and moderate revenue 
growth. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 Rankings produced by the Auditor’s “Local Government High Risk Dashboard” 
https://www.auditor.ca.gov/local_high_risk/data_download 

https://www.auditor.ca.gov/local_high_risk/data_download


   
 

 
 

72 

Table 6: Summary of Fiscal Indicators Project and CA Auditor Rankings 
 
 

 
 
The City of Aliso Viejo was the only agency expressing concerns about expenditure growth 
exceeding that of revenues, as confirmed by the data reported in the Fiscal Indicators. Aliso Viejo 
is exploring options to increase their revenues including economic development projects and 
public benefit agreements with developers. 
 
Two Southwest Region agencies, the Cities of Aliso Viejo and Laguna Woods, expressed 
particular concern about rising costs for the OC Sheriff’s law enforcement services. Aliso Viejo 
indicated that the associated costs may contribute to a potential fund deficit at some point in the 
future. Both agencies mentioned a desire to have a more collaborative relationship with OCSD 
on matters relating to cost increases, since law enforcement represents such a significant share 
of their overall budgets. One cost issue noted as an example was the use of three captains and/or 
patrols in an area no larger in population than the City of Mission Viejo, which has only one. 
Vehicle storage/maintenance and labor agreements were also noted as drivers of the cost 
increases. The cities have held informal internal and external discussions about how to reduce 
costs, including the discussion of alternatives such as a more regionalized OCSD policing model.  
Other agencies that contract for this service, including Dana Point and Laguna Niguel, did not 
indicate similar concerns with the costs of OC Sheriff services. 
 

IX. OPPORTUNITIES FOR SHARED FACILITIES 
 

 
WATER AND WASTEWATER 
 
The Southwest Region has several existing regional cooperatives including its four water districts 
as well as the SOCWA JPA. Within SOCWA there are numerous shared facilities for wastewater 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 56430, MSRs make determinations on seven (7) 
required topics, including: 

5. Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities; 



   
 

 
 

73 

collection and treatment. These are managed by SOCWA through separate project agreements 
or committees among various member agencies. Many of these agreements predate SOCWA 
and are due to expire in the coming decade. MNWD has expressed strong interest in assuming 
management of SOCWA’s regional facilities in its jurisdiction and sees a potential benefit if many 
of SOCWA’s assets were operated by each member agency themselves. In their view (which is 
shared by the Santa Margarita Water District), SOCWA is not structured to meet the wastewater 
service needs of some member agencies and should shift to a coordination and management-
oriented role. This would require SOCWA to relinquish their facilities ownership while keeping 
their powers to manage ocean outfalls, acquire EPA certification, and apply for NPDES permits. 
In turn, the local water districts and city departments would assume control of the wastewater 
facilities and bring those operations in-house. Alternatively, SCWD has expressed a strong 
interest in preserving the existing structure of SOCWA while also expressing openness to 
evaluating the agreements for efficiencies and improvements. The other three Southwest Region 
SOCWA member agencies are aware of the MNWD and SMWD concerns and proposals. 
However, they did not express a desire to advance these ideas during the MSR process but 
stressed their openness to reevaluating the project agreements as they approach their respective 
expiration dates.  
 
SOCWA staff is also aware of the discussions between member agencies and noted that any 
change in the operations and ownership of SOCWA’s wastewater treatment facilities will need to 
account for the agencies serviced by the respective facility. As of the writing of this MSR, SOCWA 
staff confirmed that a facilitator had been hired by the SOCWA board in order to hold and guide 
productive meetings on the subject. Additionally, MNWD, SMWD, and SCWD have been hosting 
weekly meetings amongst their agencies’ staff to produce workable alternatives to the issues 
MNWD and SMWD have highlighted. These meetings have discussed, among other things, who 
would become the responsible operator for the Regional Treatment Plant, the Coastal Treatment 
Plant, and the J.B. Latham Treatment Plant in the event of a SOCWA reorganization.  
 
MSRs are intended to plant seeds for exploring alternative options for service delivery. Since this 
issue has been raised by two large agency members of SOCWA, and the other members, 
including the JPA, have expressed an openness to exploring options, both SOCWA and the 
relevant interested member agencies should consider commissioning a thorough focused study 
on the matter. The study should explore options that support efficiency and the long-term fiscal 
and operational sustainability of the infrastructure and service areas. Any study into the issue 
should account for the existing service areas of each facility, including any agencies not a part of 
the MNWD, SMWD, and SCWD meetings. 
 
LAW ENFORCEMENT 
 
As mentioned previously, the Cities of Laguna Woods and Aliso Viejo have concerns with the 
rising costs of the current OC Sheriff’s contract. Through agency interviews and survey responses 
while conducting this MSR, a regional policing model through OCSD was floated informally as 
one of a few potential solutions to reduce costs. 
 
ANIMAL CONTROL 
 
As mentioned in Section VII, there are three existing joint ventures for animal control in the 
Southwest Region. The first is through the Mission Viejo Department of Animal Services and its 
contract services with the Cities of Aliso Viejo, Laguna Hills, and Laguna Niguel. The second is 
through the Laguna Beach Animal Services Division which contracts with the City of Laguna 



   
 

 
 

74 

Woods, in addition to operating within the City of Laguna Beach. The third joint venture is the 
Coastal Animal Services Authority or CASA. As explained earlier, CASA is a JPA between the 
cities of Dana Point and San Clemente, the latter of which is not reviewed in this MSR. These 
joint ventures provide adequate service and neither partnership had any issues reported. Animal 
Control is currently the only instance where facilities are shared and services are contracted 
directly between cities. All other regional cooperatives involve the County, the water districts, or 
SOCWA. 
 

X. ACCOUNTABILITY, GOVERNMENT STRUCTURE AND 
OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCIES 
 

 
Overall, agencies in Southwest Region of Orange County function at an efficient level and do not 
have many structural problems. This is largely due to four things: the high amount of contract or 
third-party labor, successful regional cooperation, the high value of land and property, and the 
fact that most of the region was developed as several master planned communities. Outside of 
the City of Laguna Beach, LBCWD, and SCWD, every agency is under 65 years old. All other 
cities besides Laguna Beach are even younger at around 33 years of age. The water districts 
formed first during the area’s agricultural days in the 1960s. From there almost every city 
developed as a general plan community with the eventual goal of incorporation. From 1989 to 
2001 the cities of Dana Point, Laguna Niguel, Laguna Hills, Laguna Woods, and Aliso Viejo all 
incorporated. This development process is unique in comparison to some of the older parts of the 
County where governance and planning structures were produced after development had already 
taken place.  
 
Overall, the Southwest Region agencies implement policies and procedures that ensure 
transparency and accountability to the public, including appropriate elections and public notice of 
agency meetings and actions. Each agency has a formal governing body that is elected, and all 
the agencies conduct regularly scheduled public hearings. Many agencies stream their public 
hearings on platforms such as Zoom. All of the Southwest agencies maintain websites that 
contain general information on City and District departments, activities, and events.  
 
All cities in the Southwest Region are general law cities with a Council-Manager form of 
government. Additionally, all cities have a five-member City Council elected at-large or by district. 
The CSDs in the region are also governed by five Board Members each elected at-large or by 
district. The CSDs function with minimal in-house staff. Only two employees work at the 
Capistrano Bay CSD, one at Emerald Bay CSD, and none are employed directly by the Three 
Arch Bay CSD. For Emerald Bay and Three Arch Bay, most work is contracted out to the local 
homeowners or community association. In Emerald Bay, work contracted to the Emerald Bay 
Community Association is governed by a management services agreement. The agreement 
includes the cost of office rent, a facilities lease, and administrative expenses, as well as the cost 
of an administrative assistant position for a certain amount of time per month. According to the 
Emerald Bay FY 2022-23 budget, the management services covered under the agreement cost 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 56430, MSRs make determinations on seven (7) 
required topics, including: 

6. Accountability for community service needs, including government structure and 
operational efficiencies. 

7. Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by 
Commission Policy. 



   
 

 
 

75 

the district approximately $372,000. Three Arch Bay has a similar management services 
agreement with the Three Arch Bay Association, an HOA that covers the same geographic area 
as the CSD. Under the Three Arch Bay agreement, the association provides general manager, 
secretarial, and clerical services to the district. It also covers related administrative expenditures 
and facilities leases. The Three Arch Bay management services agreement costs the district 
approximately $480,000 as of the FY 2022-23 budget. 
 
In the Fall of 2021, two residents of Three Arch Bay CSD raised concerns with OC LAFCO 
regarding the district’s use of unauthorized service provisions and its use of district funds. In 
response to these concerns, OC LAFCO engaged with the district staff to understand the services 
that were being provided. Subsequently, the CSD indicated that they would not be providing any 
services that have not been appropriately authorized by OC LAFCO and they do not intend to file 
an application with the Commission to provide such services. Should the CSD’s position change 
in the future, an application must be filed with OC LAFCO. 
 
Southwest Orange County is also unique in that it possesses four locally controlled water districts 
as opposed to large regional ones. Two of these water districts (ETWD and MNWD) are 
considered “California Water Districts”, while one (LBCWD) is considered a “County Waterworks 
District” and a dependent district, and one other (SCWD) is considered a “County Water District”. 
The differences between the three district styles lie in their formation. A California Water District, 
according to Government Code Section 34153, is formed when the owners of a majority of the 
land in an area capable of using water beneficially for irrigation, domestic, industrial, or municipal 
purposes, and which can be serviced from common sources or supply and by the same system 
of works, petition LAFCO for the formation of a district. In other words, it is created from a petition 
of private landowners. A County Waterworks District is formed when a petition is sent to LAFCO 
that has acquired signatures from 25% of the residences in the area designated to be within the 
future district. As opposed to being based on land ownership, a Waterworks district is based on 
a percent of total residences. Additionally, a County Waterworks District must be wholly within 
one county, as opposed to the similarly named “County Water District”, which can be made up of 
multiple counties but does not have to be. 
 
Following are specific individual agency findings for this topic area: 

• The City of Laguna Beach recently reached an agreement with the County to take 
ownership and responsibility for the beaches in South Laguna; mainly Aliso, Camel Point, 
Laguna Royale, Table Rock, Thousand Steps, and West Street. The agreement went into 
effect on March 1, 2023. Although the County will retain its property tax share for this part 
of County Service Area (“CSA”) 26, it agreed to pay the city a $22 million lump-sum to 
cover the transfer of operations. This new arrangement improves local accountability for 
the operations of the lifeguard towers and public facilities there and also streamlines 
government service. 

  
• In the southern area of the City of Laguna Beach (“South Laguna”), the lack of directly 

elected representation on the SCWD board is a concern of residents and representatives 
of the City of Laguna Beach. In particular, residents have provided feedback suggesting 
that since SCWD now conducts district elections for Board Members, the voice of south 
Laguna Beach residents is more limited than when Board Members were elected at-large. 
At-large board members, in their view, had less of an obligation to focus only on their own 
district voters' concerns. The residents have not expressed concerns about the quality of 
service, only the form of representation. As mentioned previously, SCWD staff generally 
reported satisfaction from residents and were not aware of any push for the southern 
Laguna Beach area to be formally annexed into SCWD. They were not opposed to the 



   
 

 
 

76 

idea and reported that there is interest in annexation. The issue was raised in the MSR 
survey and interviews with City of Laguna Beach staff, who were interested in studying an 
amendment to the SOI boundary so that southern Laguna Beach can eventually be 
annexed into SCWD, allowing residents to vote in the district’s election process. 
 
A map of the area is shown on the following page:



   
 

 
 

77 

 
 



   
 

 
 

78 

 
 

• OC LAFCO staff participated in discussions with the City of Laguna Beach regarding the 
provision of water and sewer services by multiple providers within their jurisdictional 
boundary. As indicated in other sections of this report, the City and respective providers 
acknowledge that generally the services are being provided efficiently and do not see a 
need for consolidation or reorganization; however, there have been past inquiries from the 
City and LBCWD representatives involving potential reorganization involving the delivery 
of these services to improve efficiency. OC LAFCO staff acknowledges these discussions 
and notes that a change of organization (i.e. formation of district, reorganization, 
divestiture of services) would require an in-depth multi-year study involving the operational 
and fiscal assessments. 
 

• Governance structure has also been raised as an issue within SOCWA. Though the 
problem has evolved over the years, the current issue relating to facilities ownership stems 
from concerns previously shared by MNWD. In terms of accountability and governance 
structure, MNWD has expressed dissatisfaction with SOCWA’s ability to adapt to new 
trends in wastewater treatment services and regulations. In MNWD’s view, a transition of 
assets to the member agencies would enable agencies to better implement water reuse 
programs, seek outside funding, and integrate new projects into the regional infrastructure. 
As with all other SOCWA related subjects in this MSR, the same level of concern was not 
expressed by the other member agencies interviewed. SCWD emphasized their interest 
in preserving the existing SOCWA structure. The other three Southwest Region agencies 
did express a willingness to explore alternative methods of governance within SOCWA, 
provided they go through the proper channels. SOCWA staff has stressed that any 
changes to the JPA agreement, including a redistribution of assets, is open for discussion. 
SOCWA staff also noted that any reorganization discussions should take into account 
what they viewed as beneficial contractor pricing from SOCWA’s ability to request 
proposals regionally. OC LAFCO staff is aware of current SOCWA Board discussions, 
member agency meetings, and potential proposals involving the reorganization of 
SOCWA. OC LAFCO staff has noted the complexity of the issues involving SOCWA and 
that LAFCOs do not have authority over JPAs. However, staff also notes, that in 
accordance with state law, LAFCOs are required to review the municipal services 
delivered by JPAs through the MSR process, and JPAs that provide municipal services 
are required to submit copies of their agreements, including subsequent amendments, to 
their respective LAFCO in accordance with Government Code Section 6503. In addition, 
if SOCWA’s assets ever transition to the ownership of any single member agency, any 
provision of service outside of said agency’s service area may require OC LAFCO review. 

 
• Through this MSR, Capistrano Bay CSD expressed concern with an ongoing boundary 

issue at the south end of their district at Poche Beach. In the past the beach was shown 
as a part of the district’s boundary but was excluded from their SOI for an unknown reason. 
The CSD staff believed that the Poche Beach area may never have been part of their 
district. However, OC LAFCO staff investigated this issue thoroughly and found that the 
boundary of the district and its SOI should both include Poche Beach. The error on the 
SOI map file was corrected and now shows the SOI and boundary are coterminous.



   
 

 
 

79 

 
No additional matters related to effective and efficient service delivery have been identified for 
review in this MSR by OC LAFCO or the Southwest Region agencies. 
 
 
 
 



 
SOUTH ORANGE COUNTY AGENCIES’ GROUP CONSISTS OF MEMBERS AND REPRESENTATIVES FROM 

City of San Clemente •  El Toro Water District • Emerald Bay Service District 

 Irvine Ranch Water District • Laguna Beach County Water District • Moulton Niguel Water District 

Santa Margarita Water District • South Coast Water District • Trabuco Canyon Water District 

SOUTH ORANGE COUNTY AGENCIES GROUP JOINT MEETING  
WEDNESDAY, JULY 26, 2023 

12:00 P.M. to 1:30 P.M. 
AGENDA 

 
EL TORO WATER DISTRICT 

24251 LOS ALISOS BLVD., LAKE FOREST, CA 92630 
 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
 

2. OC Grand Jury Report 

 

3. MWDOC Update/Discussion 

a. MWDOC Current Issues 

b. Other Matters 

 
4. MET Update/Discussion  

a. MET Current Issues 

b. MET Water Supply Issues 

c. Colorado River Negotiations 

d. Other Matters 

 
5. Legislative/Regulatory Update 

a. Local 

i. OC-LAFCO Matters 

b. State 

c. Federal 

 

6. Regional Project Interests/Updates 

a. Regional Recycled Water Discussion 

b. South County Emergency GW Supply Project 

c. Doheny Ocean Desalination Project Update 

d. San Juan Watershed Project 

e. R-6 Reservoir Floating Cover and Liner Replacement Project 

f. Other Project Interests/Updates 

 
7. Any Agency/City Updates 

 
8. Adjournment 



 
 
 
            Executive Committee Meeting 

Tuesday, July 11, 2023 
7:30 a.m. 

The next meeting of the ISDOC Executive Committee will be via teleconference only.   
The MWDOC/OCWD offices are closed to the public.  Please use the information below to access the meeting. 

 
Join Zoom Meeting 

 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/3840960436 

 
Dial by your location 

669 900 9128 US (San Jose) 
877 853 5247 US Toll-free 
888 788 0099 US Toll-free 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

I. Welcome, Introductions 
[Please mute yourself when not speaking.  Please raise hand on Zoom if you have a 
question or comment.] 
 

II. Approval of Minutes  
• Approval of June 6, 2023 and June 22, 2023 Minutes 

 
III. Public Comments on items not on the agenda 

 
IV. New Business  

 
V. Old Business  

• Website Maintenance Evaluation Volunteer Options – Placentia Library 
• Website Maintenance Recommendations – Website Committee 

 
VI. Treasurer’s Report – Director Jacobs 

• Report of accounts 
 

VII. CSDA Report – Director Schafer or Chris Palmer 
• Receive, discuss and file the CSDA Report 

 
VIII. LAFCO Report – Director Fisler 

• Receive, discuss and file the LAFCO report 

Mailing Address 
 

P.O. Box 20895 
Fountain Valley, CA  92728 
 
 
Meeting Location 
 

MWDOC/OCWD 
18700 Ward Street 
Fountain Valley, CA  92708 
 
 
(714) 963-3058 
(714) 964-5930 fax 
 
https://isdoc.specialdistrict.org/  
 
 
Executive Committee 
 
President  
Hon. Greg Mills 
Serrano Water District 
 
1st Vice President  
Hon. Bob McVicker 
Municipal Water District   
Orange County 
 
2nd Vice President  
Hon. Paul Mesmer 
Surfside Colony Community 
Services District 
 
3rd Vice President  
Hon. Scott Nelson 
Placentia Library District 
 
Secretary 
Vacant 
 
Treasurer 
Hon. Saundra Jacobs 
Santa Margarita Water District  
 
Immediate Past President 
Hon. Mark Monin  
El Toro Water District 
 
Staff Administration 
 
Heather Baez  
Municipal Water District of Orange 
County 
 
Tina Dubuque 
Municipal Water District of Orange 
County  
 
 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/3840960436
https://isdoc.specialdistrict.org/


 - 2 - 

 
IX. ACWA Report – Director Jacobs 

• Receive, discuss and file the ACWA report   
 

X. OCCOG Report – Director Scheafer 
•  Receive, discuss and file OCCOG report 

 
XI. California Association of Sanitation Agencies (CASA) Report – OCSD Representative  

a. Receive, discuss and file the CASA report 
 

XII.  Subcommittee Reports  
• Programs – Director McVicker 
• Membership - Director Mesmer 
• Legislative – Trustee Nelson 

 
XIII.   Adjourn 

 



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

. 
 

 
 Executive Committee Meeting 

(Virtual Meeting via Zoom) 
Tuesday, June 6, 2023, 7:30 a.m. 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

I. WELCOME: 
President Greg Mills called the meeting to order at 7:33 a.m. and welcomed all. 
 
DIRECTORS PRESENT: 

Greg Mills President Serrano Water District (SWD) 
Bob McVicker 1st Vice President Municipal Water District of Orange County (MWDOC) 
Paul Mesmer 2nd Vice President Surfside Colony Community Services District 
Scott Nelson 3rd Vice President Placentia Library District 
Vacant Secretary  
Saundra F. Jacobs Treasurer Santa Margarita Water District (SMWD) 
Mark Monin Immediate Past President El Toro Water District (ETWD) 

 
DIRECTORS ABSENT: 
None 
 
SUPPORT STAFF PRESENT: 

Heather Baez MWDOC 
Tina Dubuque MWDOC 
Sharon Brimer Recording Secretary 

 
OTHERS PRESENT: 

Arlene Schafer Costa Mesa Sanitary District 
Alicia Dunkin Orange County Water District 
Chris Palmer California Special Districts Association (CSDA) 
David Anderson Water Emergency Response Organization of Orange County (WEROC) 
Gavin Centeno Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission (OCLAFCO) 
Jeanette Contreras Placentia Library District 
Jerry Legg Five Star Bank 
Jim Fisler Mesa Water District (MWD) 
Mike Scheafer Costa Mesa Sanitary District (CMSD) 
Steven Faessel Orange County Sanitation District  

 
  



ISDOC Executive Committee Meeting of June 6, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

 
II. MEETING MINUTES: 

 
MOTION: 

Motion by Director Jacobs, second Director McVicker, to approve the meeting minutes of the May 
2, 2023, Executive Committee Meeting. The motion passed unanimously. 

 
III. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  

 
None 

 
IV. NEW BUSINESS  
 

None 
 
V. Old Business 
 

• Website Maintenance Evaluation Volunteer Options  - Placentia Library 
 

No report for this meeting. 
 

• Website Maintenance Recommendations – Website Committee 
 

No report for this meeting. 
 

• Scholarship Recommendations (CSDA) Update – Ad-hoc Committee 
 

Director Jacobs referred to the draft letter for the CSDA scholarship program. A recommendation 
was made to have the CSDA Special District Leadership Foundation process applications and 
submit candidates to the ISDOC Executive Board for final selection. The ISDOC Scholarship would 
cover CSDA conference registration fees (no travel, mileage, or accommodations).   
 
Member agencies with annual budgets of no more than $20 million in revenues are eligible for 
the scholarship. There are 17 qualifying members. The conference fees are $675 for early bird 
registration (before August 5, 2023). Total scholarships would be $1350. 
 
It was noted that the applications must be submitted no later than August 1, 2023. 
 

MOTION: 
Motion by Director Jacobs, second Director Mesmer, to approve the letter to be sent to qualifying 
member agencies for the ISDOC sponsored CSDA registration for the CSDA Annual Conference 
August 28-31, 2023, in Monterey, CA. The motion passed unanimously. 

 
VI. Treasurer's Report – Director Jacobs 

 
Director Jacobs reported the bank balance was $9,593.53. ISDOC will be funding two CSDA 
scholarships. Funds for the two scholarships will be sent to the CSDA Special District Leadership 
Foundation. 
 



ISDOC Executive Committee Meeting of June 6, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 5 
 

A Zelle account is being set up through Union Bank to handle luncheon fees once ISDOC returns to in-
person luncheons and dues. This procedure will allow ISDOC to receive money electronically. 
 

VII. California Special Districts Association (CSDA) Report – Director Schafer 
 
Director Schafer reported 200 people were present for Legislative Days in Sacramento. At a national 
level, CSDA is being recognized.  
 
The Taste of the City is an event at the CSDA Annual Conference, August 28 – 31, 2023, in Monterey, 
and there is a request for funds from member agencies. The funds are used to purchase items for the 
auction. CSDA has a deadline of August 1, 2023, for money donations. 
 
Director Schafer noted that she is running for re-election for CSDA Board of Directors, Southern 
Network, Seat C.  
 
CSDA Board is considering raising the membership dues for 2024.   
 
Chris Palmer reported that a big issue is a rule that was issued by the California Air Resources Board 
(CARB) that beginning in 2024, 50% of medium and heavy-duty utility vehicle purchases must be Zero 
Emission Vehicles (ZEV) and 100% by 2027. CARB is holding a series of webinars to provide 
information on the new regulation 
AB 1594 (Garcia) would require any state regulation that seeks to require the procurement of 
medium- and heavy-duty ZEVs to ensure that those vehicles can support a public agency utility’s 
ability to maintain reliable water and electric service, respond to disasters in an emergency capacity, 
and provide mutual aid assistance statewide and nationwide. 
 
Chris Palmer asked if his “Take Action” brief be circulated via email.   

 
VIII. LAFCO Report – Director Fisler 

 
Director Fisler reported the next meeting is on June 14, 2023, at 8:15 a.m. 

• Commission appointment of Bruce Whitaker as a city member who is the Mayor Pro Tem for 
the City of Fullerton. He also serves on the Orange County Sanitation District and the Orange 
County Water District and will be sworn in at the June meeting.  

• Update on legislation –AB 557 (Hart), Local agencies and teleconferencing, and AB 1637 
(Irwin)– would require Local Governments to switch to using a .gov or ca.gov for website 
addresses and email. The current bill no longer includes special districts or LAFCOs. 

• Considering a professional services agreement with Chase Design, Inc. to complete design 
improvements to the agency's website.  

• Considering Legislative Policy and Guidelines with amendments to Stakeholder Engagement, 
Procedures.  

• 2023 Cal LAFCO Annual Conference at the Hyatt Regency, Monterey, CA, October 18 – 20, 
2023. 

 
IX. ACWA Report – Director Jacobs  
 

Director Jacobs reported: 
• Cathy Green, Director of Orange County Water District, is running for ACWA president 
• Ernesto A. Avila, Director of Contra Costa Water District, is running for ACWA Vice-President 



ISDOC Executive Committee Meeting of June 6, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 5 
 

• Voting will be done electronically.  
• Chuck Gibson, Director of Santa Margarita Water District, is running for the Region 10 seat. 
• The Quench California sub-committee is working on a follow-up project using polling 

questions to determine the effectiveness of the "Quench California" program intended to 
educate Californians on funding water infrastructure.  

• ACWA State Legislative Committee is asking for support for Governor Newsom's 
Infrastructure Trailer Bill package. 

• The ACWA State Legislative Committee has taken an oppose position on three water rights 
bills, AB 460, AB 1337 and SB 389.  

• Region 10 Meeting, June 29, 2023, at 8:00 a.m. Oceanside, CA – Flowing Forward – Water 
Infrastructure for the 21st Century. 

• ACWA Fall Conference is November 28 - 30, 2023, in Indian Wells, CA 
 

X. Orange County Council of Governments (OCCOG) Report – Director Scheafer 
 
Director Scheafer reported: 
• May 25, 2023, the meeting included a legislative update—topic AB 1637. OCCOG has taken an 

oppose position. 
• The 23/24 budget will be the same as the 22/23, with no dues increase. 
• 23/24 Work plan will mirror 22/23. OCCOG is planning to engage in more advocacy.  
• Adjourned meeting in memory of former Mayor of Tustin and former OC LAFCO 

Commissioner Dr. Allan Bernstein. 
 

XI. Orange County Operational Area Report – Director Monin 
 
As the Alternate Director, Director McVicker commented that he attended the Emergency 
Management Council Operational Area Executive Board quarterly meeting. Two topics were: a NIMS 
update and GWRS information.  
 

XII. California Association of Sanitation Agencies (CASA) Report –  OCSD Representative 
 

No report for this meeting 
 

XIII. Subcommittee Reports 
 

• Programs – Director McVicker  
Director McVicker reported on the program  for the June 22, 2023 meeting. 

o Program: Policy Changes Affecting Special Districts featuring CSDA Advocacy & Public 
Affairs Director Kyle Packham as speaker. 

o Spotlight District: Serrano Water District 
o Associate Member Spotlight: Duran Kinst Strategies (DKS) 
o 43 people are currently registered 

 
September Program: Daryl Johnson, OCTA. Director McVicker noted that OCTA prefers an in-
person meeting, and that this is placed on the agenda for discussion next month 
 
Director Monin recommended a hybrid meeting.  
 

• Membership – Director Mesmer 



ISDOC Executive Committee Meeting of June 6, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 
Director Mesmer reported invitations are going out to potential associate members. 
 

• Legislative – Trustee Nelson. 
 
Trustee Nelson reported: 
• AB 1637 was amended to exclude special districts.  
• California Air Resources Board (CARB) – Zero-Emission Vehicle (ZEV) Regulation requires all 

districts and municipalities to meet 50% of medium and heavy-size local government vehicle 
purchases must be ZEV by 2024 and 100% by 2027.  

• SB706 – Progressive design-build. Allows agencies to combine design and build together for 
more efficient construction projects. 

 
Director Jacobs reported she invited Director of Environmental Compliance Amber Baylor with 
South Orange County Wastewater Authority (SOCWA) to attend ISDOC meetings and provide the 
CASA report.  

 
XIV. Adjourn:  

 
President Mills thanked the attendees and staff for their participation and assistance. The meeting 
was adjourned at 8:24 a.m.  
 
The next ISDOC Quarterly Meeting is June 22, 2023, at 11:30 a.m. via Zoom. 
 
The next ISDOC Executive Committee meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, July 11, 2023, at 7:30 a.m. via 
Zoom.   
 

 
Signed:   

 Greg Mills, ISDOC President 
 

 



 

 
 

. 
 
 
 

 
 ISDOC QUARTERLY MEETING 
 (Virtual Meeting via Zoom) 
 Thursday, June 22, 2023, 11:30 a.m. 
 
 MEETING MINUTES 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: 
 
President Greg Mills called the meeting to order at 11:34 a.m. and welcomed all. 
 
DIRECTORS PRESENT: 
Greg Mills President Serrano Water District (SWD) 
Bob McVicker 1st Vice President Municipal Water District of Orange County 

(MWDOC) 
Paul Mesmer 2nd Vice President Surfside Colony Community Services District 
Vacant Secretary  
Saundra F. Jacobs Treasurer Santa Margarita Water District (SMWD) 
Mark Monin Immediate Past 

President 
El Toro Water District (ETWD) 

 
DIRECTORS ABSENT: 
Scott Nelson 3rd Vice President Placentia Library District 

 
SUPPORT STAFF PRESENT: 
Heather Baez MWDOC 
Christina Hernandez MWDOC 
Sharon Brimer Recording Secretary 

 
PRESENTERS: 
Kyle Packham Advocacy and Public Affairs Director, California Special Districts 

Association (CSDA) 
Jerry Vilander General Manager, Serrano Water District 
Michelle Wolf Brand Ambassador Duran Kinst Strategies (DKS) 

  



ISDOC Quarterly Meeting of June 22, 2023 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:   
Al Nederhood 
Amanda Castro 
Bernard Hartmann 
Bob Ooten 
Brad Reese 
Brenda Manriquez 
Bruce Whitaker 
Chris Palmer 
David Duran 
Denis Bilodeau 
Dick Fiore 
Frank Bryant 

Gavin Centeno 
John Sears 
Jerry Haight 
Jim Leach 
Jerry Legg 
John Sears 
Kelly Rowe 
Mark Nguyen 
Roger Yoh 
Stephen Faessel 
Tim Deutsch

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
President Greg Mills led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

III. INTRODUCTIONS: 
 
President Mills introduced program presenter CSDA Advocacy and Public Affairs 
Director Kyle Packham and provided a brief overview of Mr. Packham's experience 
and education. 
 

IV. PROGRAM:  
 
Kyle Packham, CSDA 
 
• AB 557 (Hart) Emergency Remote Meetings –  

o Eliminates AB361 (Rivas) sunset and adjusts renewal period from 30-45 
days). CSDA position:  Sponsor 

• Other Brown Act legislation includes: AB 817 (Pacherco), AB 1379 (Papan), SB 
411 (Portantino), SB 537 (Becker) 

• AB 1637 (Irwin) ".Gov" website and email mandate -Special Districts have been 
removed from the bill. Mr. Packham recommended each District consider securing 
a ".gov" website domain to prepare for federal legislation. 

• AB 764 (Bryan) Fair Maps Act – Extends limited statutory redistricting procedural 
requirements to special districts. CSDA position – Oppose unless amended.   

• AB 480 – (Ting) Surplus Land Act (SLA) – CSDA position – Oppose unless 
amended.   

• SB 747 (Caballero)  SLA Adjustments- CSDA Position:  Support if amended 
• AB 516 (Ramos) Mitigation Fee Act Requirements. CSDA position: Concerns 
• AB 400 (Rubio)  Local agency design-build projects 
• AB 706 (Caballero) – Allow local governments to use design-build processes.  
• State Budget 

• CARB Zero Emission Vehicles (ZEV) Mandate 
o Advanced Clean Fleets (ACF) regulation 
o Milestone Option by Group and Year 



ISDOC Quarterly Meeting of June 22, 2023 

 
 

• Voter Limitation Initiative – Initiative 1935 (21-0042A) Limits the ability of voters 
and state and local governments to raise revenues for government services. 
Initiative constitutional amendment. – CSDA Position:  Oppose 

• National Special Districts Coalition (NSDC) – The National Special Districts 
Coalition is the only national organization representing and advocating for all 
special districts at the national level.  

• CSDA.net/Take-Action – This website contains information on legislation and 
sample letters and resolutions for use when action is needed either in support 
of or in opposing positions. 

 
Mr. Packham responded to questions from the Board, and the Board thanked him for 
the presentation. Mr. Packham thanked ISDOC for the two scholarships. 
 

V. MEMBER DISTRICT SPOTLIGHT:  Serrano Water District 
 

Serrano Water District General Manager Jerry Vilander proceeded with the 
presentation that provided an overview of the District's scope, operations, and 
responsibilities. He noted that the Serrano Ditch Company was established in 1876. In 
1927, Serrano Irrigation District (SWD) was formed. Serrano is an "Enterprise 
Activities" special district, and as such, it is financed entirely by water-related 
revenues. 
 
He offered a current major project is the replacement of the Santiago Reservoir 
spillway and outlet tower. Today SWD (25%) and IRWD (75%) share ownership of the 
Santiago Reservoir water rights (lands underneath and surrounding it at 50/50). The 
District maintains the C. L. "Larry" Pharris Jr. Filtration Plant, one of the first PFAS 
Treatment Plants in Orange County, the Walt E. Howiler Jr. Treatment Plant, and the 
Lockett Reservoir (3 million gallons). 

 
GM Vilander responded to questions from the Board, and the Board thanked him for 
the presentation. 
 

VI. ASSOCIATE MEMBER SPOTLIGHT: Duran Kinst Strategies 
 

Duran Kinst Strategies Brand Ambassador Michelle Wolf proceeded with the 
presentation that highlighted the following: 

• DKS is committed to crafting strategies that help small businesses and 
organizations compete in a fast-paced, digital marketplace. 

• Ms. Wolf reviewed the team and the reasons why an organization should use 
DKS services. 

 
The Board thanked Ms. Wolf for the presentation. 

 
VII. REPORTS 
 

a. Executive Committee (EC) Report– Greg Mills 
• The Scholarship letter was sent to members who qualify.  
• The Executive Committee's ad hoc Website Committee is reviewing its 

website and how it will function and be updated. 



ISDOC Quarterly Meeting of June 22, 2023 

 
 

 
 

• The EC is discussing the format for its quarterly meetings, regarding virtual-
only or in-person. 

 
b. Treasurer's Report  
 

President Mills reported: 
• There is a $9,593.59 bank balance as of May 31, 2023. There is a future 

expense for two CSDA conference attendees not to exceed $2,000.  
• Working on a Zelle account for luncheon payments.  
 

c. OC LAFCO Report  
 

President Mills reported that Director Fisler informed him that the July 2023 OC 
LAFCO meeting was canceled. 

 
VIII. NEW BUSINESS: 

 
Director Nederhood spoke in favor of alternating virtual and in-person meetings 
quarterly meetings.  
 
Director Schafer spoke in favor of alternating virtual and in-person meetings quarterly 
meetings.  

 
IX. ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

 
Director Schafer reported on the 2023 Special Districts Legislative Day in 
Sacramento, noting there were an estimated 200 attendees. The CSDA Executive 
Committee voted for a dues increase in 2024. The 2023 CSDA Annual Conference & 
Exhibitor Showcase scheduled for August 28-31, 2023, in Monterey is coming up. 
CSDA is requesting chapters for donations for its silent action. There is a due date of 
August 1, 2023, for donations.  
 
President Mills offered the donation request will be taken at the next Executive 
committee meeting. 
 
Directors Nederhood and Schafer are running for CSDA Seat C.  
 

X. ADJOURN:  
 
President Mills thanked the various attendees and staff for their assistance and 
participation. The meeting was adjourned at 12:50 p.m.  
 
The next ISDOC Executive Committee Meeting is July 11, 2023, at 7:30 a.m.  

  



ISDOC Quarterly Meeting of June 22, 2023 

 
 

 
The next ISDOC Quarterly Luncheon is scheduled for Thursday, September 28, 2023, 
at 11:30 a.m.  
 

 
Signed:   

 Greg Mills, ISDOC President 
 

 



 
 

Water Advisory Committee of Orange County (WACO) Meeting 
 

Friday, July 7, 2023 
7:30 a.m. – 9:00 a.m. 

 
Virtual: 

https://ocwd.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZMudOispj4rGN3fvqHBjUBVhWAQ
x90hhkiV 

  
or  
 

In Person:  
OCWD/MWDOC Board Room 

18700 Ward Street, Fountain Valley, CA 92708 
 

………………………………………..………….. 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. Welcome, Pledge of Allegiance, & Announcements 
 

• Mark Monin, El Toro Water District 
 

2. Reports  
 

• Water Emergency Response of Orange County (WEROC) – 
Vicki Osborn, MWDOC 

 

• Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MET) – 
Linda Ackerman, MWDOC  

 

• Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) – Cathy 
Green, OCWD   

 
3. Program 
 
“A Board Level Guide to Digital Transformation and AI in the Water 

Sector: Opportunities and Risks” 
 

Ben Stanford, Ph.D. 
Associate Vice President & Digital Services Lead 

Hazen and Sawyer 
 

4. Adjourn 
………………………………………..………….. 

 
Next WACO Meeting 

 
Friday, August 4, 2023 at 7:30 a.m.  
 
Next WACO Planning Committee Meeting 
 
Tuesday, July 18, 2023 at 7:30 a.m. via Zoom 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

      

Officers 
 
Chair 
Hon. Mark Monin 
El Toro Water District 
 
Vice Chair 
Hon. Greg Mills 
Serrano Water District 
 
 
Staff Contacts 
 
Medha Paliwal / Dani Berch 
Orange County Water District (OCWD) 
(714) 378-3200 
www.ocwd.com/news-events/events/waco 
 
Heather Baez / Christina Hernandez  
Municipal Water District of Orange County 
(MWDOC) 
(714) 963-3058 
www.mwdoc.com/waco 
 
 
 
Stay connected with OCWD and MWDOC 
 

 
  
    
  

 

 

 

https://ocwd.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZMudOispj4rGN3fvqHBjUBVhWAQx90hhkiV
https://ocwd.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZMudOispj4rGN3fvqHBjUBVhWAQx90hhkiV


 
 

 

  
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
   

WACO Planning Committee 
Tuesday, July 18, 2023 at 7:30 A.M. 

 
Join Zoom Meeting: https://zoom.us/j/92882659982  

Meeting ID: 928 8265 9982   
Phone Audio: 669-900-9128 

 
AGENDA 

 
WELCOME 
 
ACTION ITEMS 
 

1. August 4, 2023 WACO Meeting 
o Reports: WEROC, MET, CSDA, ACWA 

Program: PFAS – Updated Regulations and Potential Impacts to Orange County 
& Overview of OC San’s Supercritical Water Oxidation Pilot Project 

o Speakers: Jason Dadakis, P.G., C.HG, Executive Director of Water Quality and 
Technical Resources, Orange County Water District and Rob Thompson, P.E., 
General Manager, Orange County Sanitation District 
 

2. September 8, 2023 WACO Meeting (2nd Friday of the month)  
o Reports: WEROC, MET, ACWA 
o Program: Are Local Water/Wastewater Infrastructure Ready For the Big One? 
o Speakers: Annde Ewertsen, Executive Director, Alfred E. Alquist Seismic Safety 

Commission & Karl Kuebitz, P.E., Engineering Manager, Brady Engineering 
 

3. October 6, 2023 WACO Meeting  
o Reports: WEROC, MET, ACWA 
o Program: Airborn Electromagnetic Survey to Facilitate Groundwater Storage 
o Speaker: Professor Rosemary Knight, Stanford University  

 
4. November 3, 2023 WACO Meeting  

o Reports: WEROC, MET, CSDA, ACWA 
o Program: OC San’s Supercritical Water Oxidation Pilot Project 
o Speaker: Rob Thompson, P.E., General Manager, Orange County Sanitation 

District 
 
DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

1. Future WACO meetings: virtual only  
  

2. Discuss potential topics for future meetings (may want to consider updating this list, 
given topics are booked through November 2023) 
o Mega floods/improve predictability, Daniel Swain, UCLA Climate Scientist  
o Unexpected flooding in Kentucky/FEMA  
o Media training/crisis communications   
o LAFCO situation in San Diego – what happened, where did it end up 
o Electrification, advanced car fleets, air quality  
o Colorado River negotiations – JB Hamby, IID Vice President and Chairman, 

Colorado River Board of California 
o Desal in CA: Present & Future – CalDesal Executive Director Glenn Farrel 

(Glenn is speaking at OC Water Summit – may want to hold, or remove) 
o Statewide snowmelt: How much was captured and how much went to the ocean  
o Tulare Lake (ties into mega flood topic) –Jason Philips from Central Valley  
o San Joaquin Valley flood control (ties into Tulare Lake)  
o Salton Sea/Imperial Irrigation District (IID)  
o Global Warming: Natural or Manmade? w/ speaker Roy Spencer, Ph.D., 

Climatologist, Author & Former NASA Scientist (can also speak to related topics 
such as Urbanizations Effects on Temperatures and Colorado River shortages)  

o San Joaquin Blueprint update on looking at the Delta via subsurface diversions  
o Updating California Water Laws to Address Drought and Climate Change w/ 

Holly Doremus, Professor of Law, Berkeley  
o Jay Lund, CALVIN Model  

 
 
 

Mailing Address 
P.O. Box 20895 
Fountain Valley, CA  92728 
 
Meeting Location 
Virtual - Zoom 
 
(714) 378-8232 
(714) 963-0291 fax 
 
www.mwdoc.com/waco 
www.ocwd.com/news-events/events/waco   
 
 
Officers 
 
Chair 
Hon. Mark Monin 
El Toro Water District 
 
Vice Chair 
Hon. Greg Mills  
Serrano Water District 
 
 
Staff Contacts: 
 
Medha Paliwal/Dani Berch  
Orange County Water District 
 
Heather Baez/Christina Hernandez 
Municipal Water District of Orange County 
 
 
 
Stay connected with OCWD and MWDOC 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://zoom.us/j/92882659982


 - 2 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
  

 
 

3. Discussion of July 7 meeting: A Board Level Guide to Digital 
Transformation and AI in the Water Sector: Opportunities and Risks 

 
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
 

1. WACO meetings: Zoom meeting ID and meeting link change monthly 
 

2. Planning meetings: Zoom link is the same every month 
 

3. Meeting materials are posted at: https://www.mwdoc.com/waco/  
 

4. Upcoming meetings:  
• WACO meeting: Friday, August 4  
• WACO planning meeting: Tuesday, August 15  

 
ADJOURN 
 
 
 
 

https://www.mwdoc.com/waco/


DATES TO REMEMBER  

JULY/AUGUST 2023 

 
 

1. July 26 – 12 noon – South County Agencies Meeting (ETWD) 
 

2. July 27 – 7:00 p.m. – Regular Board Meeting/Public Hearing 
 
3. July 28 – DISTRICT OFFICE CLOSED 
 
4. Aug 1 – 7:30 a.m. – ISDOC Executive Committee Meeting 
 
5. Aug 1 – 10:00 a.m. – RRC Meeting 
 
6. Aug 2 – 8:30 a.m. – MWDOC/MET Directors Workshop 
 
7. Aug 3 – 8:30 a.m. – SOCWA Board Meeting 
 
8. Aug 4 – 7:30 a.m. – WACO 
 
9. Aug 4 – 12 noon – Pres/VP/GM Meeting 

 
10. Aug 7 – 1:30 p.m. – SOCWMA Management Committee Meeting 
 
11. Aug 9 – 8:15 a.m. – LAFCO 
 
12. Aug 9 – 8:30 a.m. – MWDOC Admin/Finance 
 
13. Aug 9 – 11 – CASA Annual Conference (San Diego) 
 
14. Aug 11 – DISTRICT OFFICE CLOSED 
 
15. Aug 14 – 11:00 a.m. – Agenda Review 
 
16. Aug 15 – 7:30 a.m. – WACO Planning Committee 
 
17. Aug 15 – 10:30 a.m. – SOCWA Finance Committee Meeting 
 
18. Aug 16 – 8:30 a.m. – MWDOC Board Meeting 
 
19. Aug 17 – 10:30 a.m. – MWDOC Managers Meeting 
 
20. Aug 18 – 12 noon – Pres/VP/GM Meeting 
 
21. Aug 21 – 7:30 a.m. – Regular Engineering/Finance Committee Meetings 
 
22. Aug 24 – 7:30 a.m. – Regular Board Meeting 
 

 
 

 



23. Aug 25 – DISTRICT OFFICE CLOSED 
 
24. Aug 28-31 – CSDA Annual Conference (Monterey) 

 


























	July 27, 2023 Board Agenda
	Item #2 - Consent Cal Min and Conf
	Item #2 - Board Minutes
	Item #2 Consent Cal - part 2
	Item #2 Consent Cal - part 3

	Item #3 - Rate Schedules Increases
	Rate Schedules_Board_0723.pdf
	Rate Schedules_Board_0723.pdf
	Rate Schedules_Board_0723.pdf
	1-W -General Metered Water - July 2023_Redline.pdf
	1-S -General Sewer Service - July 2023_Redline.pdf
	3-S Recycled Water - July 2023_Redline.pdf
	4-W Private Fire Protection -July 2023_Redline.pdf

	ETWD-2023-Prop-218-Notice_Final.pdf

	2-S -General Sewer Service - July 2023_Redline.pdf

	Item #5 - Res No 23-7-2 Rules and Regs - Rates
	23-7-2 Rules and Regs - Rates.pdf
	1-W -General Metered Water - July 2023_Clean.pdf
	1-S -General Sewer Service - July 2023_Clean.pdf
	2-S -General Sewer Service - July 2023_Clean.pdf
	3-S Recycled Water - July 2023_Clean.pdf
	4-W Private Fire Protection -July 2023_Clean.pdf

	Item #7 - ACWA Board Officers Election
	ACWA Election_Board_0723.pdf
	Cathy-Green-Bio-and-Resume.pdf
	Green ACWA President Flyer_03[11].pdf
	Green 2023 Bio_Final[14].pdf

	Avila-SOQ-summary-and-resume.pdf
	ACWA-Vice-President-Statement-of-Qualifications.pdf
	Board-Ballot-2023_10.pdf

	Item #8 - OC Grand Jury Report
	OC Grand Jury_Board_0723.pdf
	Grand Jury Report_Historic_Rain_Yet_Drought_Remains (002).pdf
	SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	REASON FOR STUDY
	METHOD OF STUDY
	INVESTIGATION AND ANALYSIS
	Climate
	Water Demands
	Overview of Water Suppliers and Agencies
	Metropolitan Water District (MET) – (Water Wholesaler)
	Municipal Water District of Orange County (Water Wholesaler)
	Orange County Water District (Water Wholesaler)
	Water Retailers
	State of California Managed Supplies
	Federal Intervention
	Water Justice
	Actions to Secure and Strengthen Supply
	Effective Management of Initiatives
	Public Awareness of the Need for Action
	Effect on Local Economy
	Drinking Water Obtained from the Sea

	COMMENDATIONS
	FINDINGS
	RECOMMENDATIONS
	REQUIRED RESPONSES
	Findings – 90 Day Response Required
	Recommendations – 90 Day Response Required
	REQUESTED RESPONSES
	Findings – 90 Day Response Requested
	F1, F2, F3, F4, F5, F6, F7, F8, F9, F10, F11, F12
	Recommendations – 90 Day Response Requested
	GLOSSARY
	REFERENCES
	APPENDIX A: ACTIONS BY LOCAL AGENCIES TO SECURE SUPPLY
	Purchase of water rights
	Utilization of other supplies
	Water Efficiency to Increase Supply

	BIBLIOGRAPHY
	NOTICE
	ENDNOTES


	Item #9 - GM Report
	GM - page 1
	GM - Potable and RW Sales
	GM - Customer Service report
	GM - Total RW Production
	GM - Weekly Wtr Quality System Status
	GM - Wtr Supply Conditions
	GM - Collection System Activity Report
	GM - Monthly Potable Wtr Quality Report
	GM  - Flouride Charts
	Sheets and Views
	ETWDSITEMAPB-Layout 1

	ETWDSITEMAPC.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	ETWDSITEMAPC-Layout 1


	ETWDSITEMAPF.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	ETWDSITEMAPF-Layout 1


	ETWDSITEMAPN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	ETWDSITEMAPN-Layout 1


	ETWDSITEMAPT2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	ETWDSITEMAPT2-Layout 1


	ETWDSITEMAPH2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	ETWDSITEMAPH2-Layout 1



	GM - Spill Summary
	GM - WILL SERVE SUMMARY REPORT
	GM - Battery Report
	Worksheets
	Sheet1 (2)



	Item #10 - Legislative reports
	2a NRR mwdoc board report 7.23
	2b BB&K monthly report
	2e MWDOC Bill Matrix June 2023
	2f MWD Bill Matrix

	Item #11 - Public Education and Outreach Report
	Item #12 - Water Use Efficiency Report
	Item #13 - SOCWA - July 6, 2023
	0 - Notice Board Agenda_2023.07.06

	Item #14 - MWDOC
	MWDOC - July 3, 2023
	MWDOC - July 5, 2023
	MWDOC - July 12, 2023
	MWDOC - July 19, 2023
	MWDOC - July 20, 2023
	MWDOC - July 26, 2023

	Item #15 - OC LAFCO
	OC LAFCO_Board_0723.pdf
	OCLAFCO_Newsletter_0523_FINAL.pdf
	OC-LAFCO-Southwest-MSR-Public-Review-Draft.pdf
	I. Executive Summary
	Introduction
	Southwest Region Cities and Special Districts Reviewed
	MSR Determinations Summary
	SOI Determinations Summary

	II. Background
	Legal Requirements and Purpose
	Authority and Powers of LAFCO
	LAFCO Responsibilities
	Planning Authorities
	Sphere of Influence Updates

	Municipal Service Reviews
	Prior Municipal Service Reviews
	Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities (DUCs)
	Unincorporated Areas

	Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission
	Commission Composition
	Meeting and Contact Information

	Methodology and Data Sources

	III. Agency Profiles
	IV. Growth and Population Projections
	V. Present and Planned Land Uses
	VI. Location and Characteristics of Any DUCs
	VII. Capacity of Facilities and Adequacy of Services
	Regional Overview
	Law enforcement and security services
	Fire Protection and Emergency Medical
	Water Services
	Wastewater Services
	Solid Waste Services
	Stormwater Services
	Other Public Works (Electric, Lighting, Utilities, Streets/Road Maintenance)
	Parks, Recreation and Open Space
	Library Services
	Animal Control
	Code Enforcement

	VIII. Financial Ability to Provide Services
	OC LAFCO Fiscal Indicators
	Fiscal Indicators for Southwest Region

	IX. Opportunities for Shared Facilities
	Water and Wastewater
	Law Enforcement
	Animal Control

	X. Accountability, Government Structure and Operational Efficiencies


	Item #16 - SOCAG Agenda
	Item #17 - ISDOC
	ISDOC
	ISDOC - part 2
	ISDOC - part 3

	Item #18 - WACO
	WACO - July 7, 2023
	WACO - July 18, 2023
	WACO Planning Committee


	Item #19 - DATES TO REMEMBER- July - August 2023
	ETWD Glossary of Water Terms - Acronyms

	Button 49: 
	Text Field 59: 
	Text Field 60: 
	Text Field 61: 
	Radio Button 2: Off
	Radio Button 3: Off
	Radio Button 1: Off
	Check Box 85: Off
	Check Box 84: Off
	Check Box 86: Off
	Check Box 91: Off
	Check Box 90: Off
	Check Box 89: Off
	Check Box 98: Off


